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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 40-F
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13(a) OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Commission File Number 001-33574.

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

MAG SILVER CORP.
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)
BRITISH COLUMBIA
(Province or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)
1040
(Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number (if applicable))
Not Applicable
(I.R.S. Employer Identification Number (if applicable))
800 West Pender Street, Suite 770
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 2V6
Tel: (604) 630-1399
(Address and telephone number of Registrant's principal executive offices)
Puglisi & Associates
850 Library Avenue, Suite 204
Newark, DE 19711
Tel: (302) 738-6680
(Name, address (including zip code) and telephone number (including area code)
Of agent for service in the United States)
Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act.
Title of each class

Trading Symbol(s)

Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Shares, without par value

MAG

NYSE American

Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None.
Securities for which there is a reporting obligation pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Act: None.

For annual reports, indicate by check mark the information filed with this Form:
X Annual information form

X Audited annual consolidated financial statements

Indicate the number of outstanding shares of each of the Registrant’s classes of capital or common stock as of the close of the period covered by the
annual report.
94,813,122 outstanding shares of the Registrant’s common stock as of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements
for the past 90 days.
Yes [X]

No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of
Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to submit such
files).
Yes [X]

No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Emerging growth company ☐
If an emerging growth company that prepares its financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, indicate by check mark if the Registrant has elected
not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the
Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal
control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that
prepared or issued its audit report. [X]

EXPLANATORY COMMENT
MAG Silver Corp. (the “Company” or the “Registrant”) is a British Columbia corporation and a “foreign private issuer” as defined in Rule 3b-4
promulgated under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”). Under the SEC’s rules, the Company is eligible to prepare and file this annual report on Form 40-F, and to present the disclosures herein
primarily in accordance with Canadian disclosure requirements, which differ in certain material respects from those which the SEC requires of United
States companies.
For example, the Company has prepared its financial statements, which are included as Exhibit 99.2 to this annual report on Form 40-F, in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and such statements are
not in many respects directly comparable to financial statements of United States companies.
Similarly, and as discussed in greater detail below in “ESTIMATES OF RESOURCES AND RESERVES,” the resource and reserve estimates included
in the accompanying Annual Information Form (including the Schedules thereto), found at Exhibit 99.1 of this Form 40-F Annual Report, and
management’s discussion and analysis for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 filed as Exhibit 99.2 to this Annual Report on Form 40-F, have been
prepared in accordance with the requirements of National Instrument 43-101 – Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (“NI 43-101”), which differ
from the practices used to estimate resources and reserves in reports and other materials filed with the SEC by United States companies.
As a “foreign private issuer”, the Company is exempt from certain proxy-related requirements found in Sections 14(a), 14(b), 14(c), and 14(f) of the
Exchange Act, and the insider reporting, “short swing profit” and short sale provisions found in Section 16 thereof are not applicable to the Company’s
common shares.
PRINCIPAL DOCUMENTS
The following documents have been filed by the Company with this Annual Report on Form 40-F, and are incorporated herein by reference:
A. Annual Information Form
The Company’s Annual Information Form (“AIF”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020: see Exhibit 99.1 of this Annual Report on Form 40-F.
B. Audited Annual Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Management’s Discussion and Analysis
The Company’s Audited Annual Consolidated Financial Statements including the reports of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm with
respect thereto and accompanying Management’s Discussion and Analysis for fiscal year ended December 31, 2020: see Exhibit 99.2 of this Annual
Report on Form 40-F. The Company’s Audited Annual Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by
IASB.

CAUTIONARY COMMENT ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Forward Looking Statements
Certain information contained in this Annual Report on Form 40-F, including any information relating to the Company’s future oriented financial
information are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the US Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and applicable Canadian
securities laws (collectively “forward-looking statements”). All statements in this Annual Report on Form 40-F, other than statements of historical facts
are forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements and information include, but are not limited to, statements regarding the future price of
silver, gold, lead, zinc and copper, the estimation of mineral resources, preliminary economic estimates relating to the Minera Juanicipio Project (the
“Juanicipio Project”), estimates of the time and amount of future silver, gold, lead, zinc and copper production for specific operations, estimated future
exploration and development expenditures and other expenses for specific operations, permitting timelines, the Company’s expectations regarding
impairments of mineral properties, the expected timeline to commercial production at the Juanicipio Project, the expected timeline to complete
construction at the Juanicipio Project, the expected capital requirements to achieve commercial production at the Juanicipio Project, the Company’s
expectations regarding the sufficiency of its capital resources and requirements for additional capital, litigation risks, currency fluctuations, environmental
risks and reclamation cost, the Company’s commitment to corporate social responsibility, and changes to governmental laws and regulations. Forwardlooking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as “seek”, “anticipate”, “plan”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “may”,
“will”, “project”, “predict”, “potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, “could”, “might”, “should”, “believe” and similar expressions. These forward-looking
statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from results
projected in such forward-looking statements. Although the Company believes the expectations expressed in such forward-looking statements are based
on reasonable assumptions, such statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results or developments may differ materially from those
in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in forward-looking statements including, but not
limited to, the potential for no commercially mineable deposits due to the speculative nature of the Company’s business; none of the properties in which
the Company has an interest having any mineral reserves; the Company’s material property is in the development stage and many such projects
experience cost overruns or delays; estimates of mineral resources being based on interpretation and assumptions which are inherently imprecise; no
guarantee of surface rights for the Company’s mineral properties or those it has an interest in; no guarantee of the Company’s ability to obtain all
necessary licenses and permits that may be required to carry out exploration and development of its mineral properties or those it has an interest in; risks
related to the properties in which the Company has an interest being primarily located in foreign jurisdictions, including Mexico, which may be subject to
political instability, governmental relations, adverse government policies and increased police and military enforcement action against criminal activities;
the effect of global economic and political instability on the Company’s business; the effect of the COVID-19 outbreak as a global pandemic on the
Company’s business; risks related to maintaining a positive relationship with the communities in which the Company operates; risks related to the
Company’s ability to finance substantial expenditures required for commercial operations on its mineral properties or those it has an interest in; the
Company’s history of losses and no revenues from operations;

risks related to the Company’s ability to arrange additional financing, and possible loss of the Company’s interests in its properties or those it has an
interest in due to a lack of adequate funding; risks related to access and availability of infrastructure, power and water; risks related to ground water levels
at the Juanicipio Project; risks related to a lack of access to a skilled workforce; risks related to the Juanicipio Project mine plan and mine design and the
development timeline to production; risks related to the Juanicipio Project not achieving the financial results and the development timeline consistent with
the 2017 PEA (as defined herein); risks related to the capital requirements for the Juanicipio Project and the timeline to production; risks related to the
Company’s decision to participate in the development of the Juanicipio Project; risks related to the mine plan and mine design; risks related to title,
challenge to title, or potential title disputes regarding the Company’s mineral properties or those it has an interest in; risks related to the Company being a
minority shareholder of Minera Juanicipio, S.A. de C.V. (“Minera Juanicipio”); risks related to disputes with joint venture shareholders; risks related to
the influence of the Company’s significant shareholders over the direction of the Company’s business; the potential for legal proceedings to be brought
against the Company; risks related to environmental regulations; the highly competitive nature of the mineral exploration industry; risks related to
equipment shortages, access restrictions and lack of infrastructure on the Company’s mineral properties or those it has an interest in; the Company’s
dependence upon key personnel, some of whom may not have entered into written agreements with the Company, and other qualified management; the
Company’s dependence on certain related party service providers (Minera Cascabel S.A. de C.V. and IMDEX Inc.) to supervise operations in Mexico; the
Company’s dependence on Fresnillo plc (“Fresnillo”) to attract, train and retain qualified personnel; the Company’s dependence on Fresnillo to supervise
and operate the Juanicipio Project; risks related to directors being, or becoming, associated with other natural resource companies which may give rise to
conflicts of interest; currency fluctuations (particularly the C$/U.S.$ and U.S.$/Mexican Peso exchange rates) and inflationary pressures; risks related to
mining operations generally; risks related to fluctuation of mineral prices and marketability; risks related to the adverse application of new or existing
laws, including without limitation anti-corruption laws, human rights laws and Mexican foreign investment, income tax laws and Mexican laws; the
Company being subject to Canadian disclosure practices concerning its mineral resources which allow for more disclosure than is permitted for domestic
U.S. reporting companies; risks related to maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting; funding and property commitments that may
result in dilution to the Company’s shareholders; the volatility of the price of the Company’s common shares; the uncertainty of maintaining a liquid
trading market for the Company’s common shares; the Company could in the future be classified as a “passive foreign investment company” which may
have adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences for U.S. shareholders; the difficulty of U.S. litigants effecting service of process or enforcing any
judgments against the Company, as the Company, its principals and assets are located outside of the United States; all of the Company’s mineral property
assets being located outside of Canada; risks related to the decrease of the market price of the common shares if the Company’s shareholders sell
substantial amounts of common shares; risks related to future sales or issuances of equity securities diluting voting power and reducing future earnings
per share; risks related to dilution to existing shareholders if new shares are issued; risks related to dilution to existing shareholders if deferred share units,
restricted share units or performance share units are converted into common shares of the Company; the history of the Company with respect to not
paying dividends and anticipation of not paying dividends in the foreseeable future; and the absence of a market through which the Company’s securities,
other than common shares, may be sold. The reader is referred to the Company’s filings with the SEC and Canadian securities regulators for disclosure
regarding these and other risk factors. There is no certainty that any forward-looking statement will come to pass and investors should not place undue
reliance upon forward-looking statements. The Company does not undertake to provide updates to any of the forward-looking statements in this Annual
Report on Form 40-F, except as required by law.

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from
those described herein. The foregoing list is not exhaustive of the factors that may affect any of the Company’s forward-looking statements and
information. Forward-looking statements are statements about the future and are inherently uncertain, and actual achievements of the Company or other
future events or conditions may differ materially from those reflected in the forward-looking statements and information due to a variety of risks,
uncertainties and other factors, including without limitation, those referred to in the AIF under the heading “Risk Factors” and documents incorporated by
reference herein. The Company’s forward-looking statements and information are based on the reasonable beliefs, expectations and opinions of
management on the date the statements are made and, other than as required by applicable securities laws, the Company does not assume any obligation
to update forward-looking statements and information if circumstances or management’s beliefs, expectations or opinions should change. For the reasons
set forth above, investors should not attribute undue certainty to or place undue reliance on forward-looking statements and information.
Adjacent Property Disclosure
The AIF filed as Exhibit 99.1 to this Annual Report on Form 40-F contains information regarding adjacent properties on which we have no right to
explore or mine, and is considered by management to be of material importance to the Company and its land holdings in the area. Investors are cautioned
that mineral deposits on adjacent properties are not necessarily probative of the existence, nature or extent of mineral deposits on our properties.
ESTIMATES OF MINERAL RESOURCES
The Company’s AIF filed as Exhibit 99.1 to this Annual Report on Form 40-F and management’s discussion and analysis for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2020 filed as Exhibit 99.2 to this Annual Report on Form 40-F have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of National
Instrument 43-101 – Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (“NI 43-101”) and the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (the
“CIM”) — CIM Definition Standards on Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves, adopted by the CIM Council, as amended. NI 43-101 is a rule
developed by the Canadian Securities Administrators that establishes standards for all public disclosure an issuer makes of scientific and technical
information concerning mineral projects. Unless otherwise indicated, all mineral resource estimates contained in the technical disclosure have been
prepared in accordance with NI 43-101 and the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum Definition Standards on Mineral Resources and
Reserves (“CIM Definition Standards”).

Canadian standards, including NI 43-101, differ significantly from the historical requirements of the SEC, and mineral resource information contained or
incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 40-F may not be comparable to similar information disclosed by U.S. companies.
The SEC has adopted amendments to its disclosure rules to modernize the mineral property disclosure requirements for issuers whose securities are
registered with the SEC. These amendments became effective February 25, 2019 (the “SEC Modernization Rules”) and, following a two-year transition
period, the SEC Modernization Rules will replace the historical property disclosure requirements for mining registrants that are included in SEC Industry
Guide 7 for fiscal years beginning January 1, 2021 or later.
Under the SEC Modernization Rules, the definitions of “proven mineral reserves” and “probable mineral reserves” have been amended to be substantially
similar to the corresponding CIM Definition Standards and the SEC has added definitions to recognize “measured mineral resources”, “indicated mineral
resources” and “inferred mineral resources” which are also substantially similar to the corresponding CIM Definition Standards; however, there are still
differences in the definitions and standards under the SEC Modernization Rules and the CIM Definition Standards. Therefore, the Company’s mineral
resources as determined in accordance with NI 43-101 may be significantly different than if they had been determined in accordance with the SEC
Modernization Rules.
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
After evaluating the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as required by paragraph (b) of Exchange Act Rule 13a-15, the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on
Form 40-F, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that material information required to be disclosed by the Company
in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
SEC’s rules and forms, and accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial
officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f).
Management recognizes that effective internal control over financial reporting may nonetheless not prevent or detect all possible misstatements or frauds.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Management has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the Company’s fiscal year ended
December 31, 2020 using the framework Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this evaluation, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2020, the Company maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting.

ATTESTATION REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 has been audited by Deloitte LLP, Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm, who also audited the Registrant’s Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. Deloitte LLP
expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. The reports of Deloitte LLP are found
under the heading “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the Registrant’s Audited Annual Consolidated Financial Statements for
fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, included as Exhibit 99.2 to this Annual Report on Form 40-F.
CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
During the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 40-F, no changes occurred in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that were
identified in connection with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act Rule 13a-15 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
NOTICES PURSUANT TO REGULATION BTR
Not applicable.
AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT
As at December 31, 2020, the Audit Committee was comprised of Rick Clark, Jill Leversage and Peter Barnes. Mr. Clark resigned from the Company’s
Board of Directors effective March 31, 2021 and, as such, the Audit Committee was reconstituted. As of March 31, 2021, the Audit Committee is
comprised of Jill Leversage, Peter Barnes and Derek White. The Company’s Board of Directors has determined that each of the members of the Audit
Committee is an “audit committee financial expert” as that term is defined in paragraph (8) of General Instruction B of Form 40-F, and each is an
“independent director” as that term is defined under the listing standards applicable to the Company contained in Section 803A of the NYSE American
Company Guide. A description of the relevant experience of each of such director can be found in the AIF. The SEC has indicated that the designation of
a director as an audit committee financial expert does not make that director an “expert” for any purpose, impose any duties, obligations or liability on
him or her that are greater than those imposed on members of the Audit Committee and Board of Directors who do not carry this designation, or affect the
duties, obligations or liability of any other member of the Audit Committee or Board of Directors.
CODE OF ETHICS FOR CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
AND OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) for its Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, directors and
officers. The Company previously furnished the latest version of the Code with the SEC on April 1, 2019 as Exhibit 99.4 to its Form 6-K. Individuals
may obtain a copy upon request, addressed to the Chief Financial Officer, MAG Silver Corp., #770-800 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British
Columbia, V6C 2V6. The Company has also posted the Code on its internet website at www.magsilver.com. The Code is reviewed annually, most
recently on March 26, 2021. No waivers were granted from the Code during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The aggregate fees billed by the Company’s current external auditor, Deloitte LLP, in each of the last two fiscal years are as follows:

Audit Fees
Audit-Related Fees
Tax Fees
All Other Fees
Total

Year ended
December 31, 2020
Canadian $
277,200
73,294
82,462
0
432,956

Year ended
December 31, 2019
Canadian $
270,000
3,636
82,501
0
356,137

The nature of the services provided by Deloitte LLP under each of the categories indicated in the table is described below.
Audit Fees
Audit fees are those incurred for professional services rendered by Deloitte LLP for the audit of the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements,
for the quarterly interim reviews of the Company’s unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements.
Audit-Related Fees
Audit-related fees are those incurred for professional services rendered by Deloitte LLP relating to the preliminary and final short form base shelf
prospectus and the prospectus supplement, all filed in 2020.
Tax Fees
Tax fees are those incurred for professional services rendered by Deloitte LLP for tax compliance, including the review of tax returns, tax planning and
advisory services relating to common forms of domestic and international taxation, continued tax planning and advisory services on potential
restructuring and spin-out projects, and services related to the Company’s transfer pricing report.
All Other Fees
There are no other fees to report under this category for professional services rendered by Deloitte LLP for the Company.

PRE-APPROVAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
It is within the mandate of the Company’s Audit Committee to pre-approve all audit and non-audit related fees. The Audit Committee is informed
routinely as to the non-audit services actually provided by the auditor pursuant to this pre-approval process. The auditors also present the estimate for the
annual audit related services to the Audit Committee for approval prior to undertaking the annual audit of the financial statements. No audit-related
services or other services were approved by the Audit Committee pursuant to the de minimis exception provided by Section (c)(7)(i)(C) of Rule 2-01 or
Regulation S-X.
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
None.
TABULAR DISCLOSURE OF CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
Presented in thousands of US$ (unless noted otherwise)
Less than 1
year
2021

Total
Committed exploration expenditures

$

Minera Juanicipio (1)&(2)
Other commitments
Total Obligations and Commitments

$

1-3 Years
2022-2023

More than 5
years
2026 & over

3-5 Years
2024-2025

- $

- $

- $

- $

-

-

-

-

-

-

- $

- $

-

79
79 $

79
79 $

(1)
Although MAG Silver makes cash advances to Minera Juanicipio as cash called by the operator Fresnillo (based on approved Minera
Juanicipio budgets), they are not contractual obligations. MAG intends, however, to continue to fund its share of cash calls and avoid
dilution of its ownership interest in Minera Juanicipio.
(2)

According to the operator, Fresnillo, contractual commitments for processing equipment and development contractors of $192,173
with respect to the Juanicipio Project on a 100% basis have been committed to as at December 31, 2020.

The Company also has optional commitments for property option payments and exploration expenditures as outlined in Exploration and Evaluation
Assets, Note 7 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020: see Exhibit 99.2 of this Annual Report on
Form 40-F. There is no obligation to make any of those payments or to conduct any work on its optioned properties. As the Company advances them, it
evaluates exploration results and determines at its own discretion which option payments to make and which additional exploration work to undertake in
order to comply with the funding requirements.

IDENTIFICATION OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has a separately designated standing Audit Committee established in accordance with section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Exchange Act. As at
December 31, 2020, the Audit Committee was comprised of Rick Clark (Chair), Jill Leversage and Peter Barnes. Mr. Clark resigned from the Company’s
Board of Directors effective March 31, 2021 and, as such, the Audit Committee was reconstituted. As of March 31, 2021, the Audit Committee is
comprised of the following members:
Chair:
Members:

Jill Leversage
Peter Barnes
Derek White
MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
There are certain differences between the corporate governance practices applicable to the Company and those applicable to U.S. companies under the
NYSE American Company Guide. Any significant differences will be described on the Company’s website at www.magsilver.com. Information
contained in or otherwise accessible through the Company’s website does not form part of this Form 40-F and is not incorporated into this Form 40-F by
reference.
UNDERTAKING
The Registrant undertakes to make available, in person or by telephone, representatives to respond to inquiries made by the SEC staff, and to furnish
promptly, when requested to do so by the SEC staff, information relating to: the securities registered pursuant to Form 40-F; the securities in relation to
which the obligation to file an annual report on Form 40-F arises; or transactions in said securities.
CONSENT TO SERVICE OF PROCESS
The Company has filed an Appointment of Agent for Service of Process and Undertaking on Form F-X with respect to the class of securities in relation to
which the obligation to file this Form 40-F arises.

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, the Registrant certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 40-F and has duly caused
this Annual Report on Form 40-F to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereto duly authorized.
Registrant:

MAG SILVER CORP.

By: /s/ George Paspalas
Name: George Paspalas
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
Dated: March 31, 2021

EXHIBITS
23.1

Consent of Deloitte LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

23.2

Consent of AMC Mining Consultants (Canada) Ltd.

23.3

Consent of Dr. Peter Megaw, Ph.D., C.P.G.

31.1

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

99.1

Registrant’s Annual Information Form for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

99.2

Registrant’s Audited Annual Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2020.

101

Interactive Data File.

EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333- 237807 on Form F-10 of our reports dated March 31, 2021 relating to
the financial statements of MAG Silver Corp. (the “Company”) and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting appearing
in this Annual Report on Form 40-F for the year ended December 31, 2020.
/s/ Deloitte LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants
March 31, 2021
Vancouver, Canada

EXHIBIT 23.2
CONSENT OF AMC MINING CONSULTANTS (CANADA) LTD.
We refer to the technical report prepared by AMC Mining Consultants (Canada) Ltd. (AMC) entitled “Juanicipio NI 43-101 Technical Report (Amended
and Restated)”, dated January 19, 2018, with an effective date of October 21, 2017 and filed on SEDAR on January 19, 2018 (the “2017 PEA”) that is
referenced in MAG Silver Corp.’s Annual Information Form (“AIF”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, filed as Exhibit 99.1 to this Annual
Report on Form 40-F with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
We hereby consent to reference to our firm’s name and to the use of the 2017 PEA in the AIF filed as Exhibit 99.1 to this Annual Report on Form 40-F.
Sincerely,
AMC MINING CONSULTANTS (CANADA) LTD.
By: /s/ John Morton Shannon
Name: John Morton Shannon
Title: General Manager
March 31, 2021

EXHIBIT 23.3
CONSENT OF PETER MEGAW, P.Geo.
I, Dr. Peter Megaw, Ph.D., C.P.G., hereby consent to the use of and reference to my name, and the inclusion and incorporation by reference in the Annual
Report on Form 40-F of MAG Silver Corp. for the year ended December 31, 2020, of the information prepared by me, that I supervised the preparation of
or reviewed by me that is of a scientific or technical nature and all other references to such information included or incorporated by reference in the
Annual Report on Form 40-F of MAG Silver Corp. for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Sincerely,
/s/ Peter Megaw
Dr. Peter Megaw, Ph.D., C.P.G.
March 31, 2021

EXHIBIT 31.1
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION
I, George Paspalas, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 40-F of MAG Silver Corp.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The issuer’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
issuer and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual
report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The issuer’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the issuer’s
auditors and the audit committee of the issuer’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the issuer’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the issuer’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: March 31, 2021
/s/ George Paspalas
George Paspalas
Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION
I, Larry Taddei, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 40-F of MAG Silver Corp.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The issuer’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
issuer and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual
report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The issuer’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the issuer’s
auditors and the audit committee of the issuer’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the issuer’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the issuer’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: March 31, 2021
/s/ Larry Taddei
Larry Taddei
Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 32.1
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION
In connection with the Annual Report of MAG Silver Corp. (the “Registrant”) on Form 40-F for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, George Paspalas, Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
/s/ George Paspalas
Name: George Paspalas
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 31, 2021

EXHIBIT 32.2
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION
In connection with the Annual Report of MAG Silver Corp. (the “Registrant”) on Form 40-F for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Larry Taddei, Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
/s/ Larry Taddei
Larry Taddei
Chief Financial Officer
Date: March 31, 2021

EXHIBIT 99.1

ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM
March 31, 2021
MAG Silver Corp.
Suite 770 – 800 West Pender Street
Vancouver, BC, Canada V6C 2V6

A copy of this Annual Information Form for the year ended
December 31, 2020 may be obtained upon request from
MAG Silver Corp. at the above address or from the
company’s web site: www.magsilver.com
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INTRODUCTORY NOTES
In this Annual Information Form (“AIF”), unless the context otherwise dictates, “MAG”, “MAG Silver” or the “Company” refers to MAG Silver Corp.
and its subsidiaries.
Date of Information
All information in this AIF is as of December 31, 2020 unless otherwise indicated.
Documents Incorporated by Reference
The information provided in this AIF is supplemented by disclosure contained in the documents listed below which are incorporated by reference into this
AIF. These documents must be read together with this AIF. The documents listed below are not contained within, nor attached to this document. The
documents may be accessed by the reader at the following locations:
Effective Date / Period
Type of Document
Ended
Date Filed / Posted
MAG Silver Juanicipio NI 43-101 Technical October 21, 2017 (Amended January 19, 2018
Report (Amended and Restated), Zacatecas January 19, 2018)
State, Mexico

Document name which may be viewed at the
SEDAR website at www.sedar.com
Amended and Restated Technical Report (43-101)
– English Qualification Certificate(s) and Consent
(s)

Cautionary Statement on Forward-Looking Information
This AIF and the documents incorporated by reference herein contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the United States Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and forward-looking information within the meaning of Canadian securities laws. Such forward-looking
statements and information include, but are not limited to:





















the future price of silver, gold, lead, zinc and copper;
the estimation of Mineral Resources;
preliminary economic estimates relating to the Juanicipio Project (as defined herein);
estimates of the time and amount of future silver, gold, lead, zinc and copper production for specific operations;
estimated future exploration and development expenditures and other expenses for specific operations;
permitting timelines;
the Company’s expectations regarding impairments of mineral properties;
the expected timeline to commercial production at the Juanicipio Project;
the expected timeline to complete construction at the Juanicipio Project;
the expected timeline for the processing plant at the Juanicipio Project to commence commissioning;
the amount of mineralized development material to be processed through the Fresnillo plant;
the annual exploration expenditures to be paid by the Company on the Deer Trail Project;
the expected capital requirements to achieve commercial production at the Juanicipio Project;
proposed amendments to the Federal Labour Law on labour subcontracting in Mexico;
the Company’s expectations regarding the sufficiency of its capital resources and requirements for additional capital;
litigation risks;
currency fluctuations;
environmental risks and reclamation cost;
the Company’s commitment to corporate social responsibility; and
changes to governmental laws and regulations.

-2When used in this AIF, any statements that express or involve discussions with respect to predictions, beliefs, plans, projections, objectives, assumptions
or future events of performance (often but not always using words or phrases such as “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “plan”,
“strategy”, “goals”, “objectives”, “project”, “potential” or variations thereof or stating that certain actions, events, or results “may”, “could”, “would”,
“might” or “will” be taken, occur, or be achieved, or the negative of any of these terms and similar expressions), as they relate to the Company or
management, are intended to identify forward-looking statements and information. Such statements reflect the Company’s current views with respect to
future events and are subject to certain known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions.
Forward-looking statements are necessarily based upon estimates and assumptions, which are inherently subject to significant business, economic and
competitive uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond the Company’s control and many of which, regarding future business decisions,
are subject to change. Assumptions and other factors underlying the Company’s expectations regarding forward-looking statements or information
contained in this prospectus include, among others:


















the Company’s ability to manage growth effectively;
the absence of material adverse changes in the mining industry or the global economy;
trends in the mining industry and markets;
the Company’s ability to maintain good business relationships;
the Company’s ability to manage and integrate acquisitions;
the Company’s Mineral Resource estimates, and the assumptions upon which they are based;
the Company’s ability to comply with current and future environmental, safety and other regulatory requirements and to obtain and maintain
required regulatory approvals;
the Company’s expectation that its operations will not be significantly disrupted as a result of political instability, nationalization, terrorism,
sabotage, social or political activism, breakdown, natural disasters, governmental or political actions, litigation or arbitration proceedings,
equipment or infrastructure failure, labour shortages, transportation disruptions or accidents, or other development or exploration risks;
the Company’s expectations regarding the level of disruption to operations at the Juanicipio Project as a result of the novel coronavirus and
variants thereof (collectively, “COVID-19”);
the Company’s ability to meet the expected timelines to production;
the Company’s ability to retain key personnel;
the Company’s ability to raise sufficient debt or equity financing to support the Company’s continued growth;
the timely receipt of required approvals and permits;
that the Company will continue to have sufficient working capital to fund its operations;
the global financial markets and general economic conditions will be stable and prosperous in the future;
preliminary economic estimates and the assumptions upon which they are based relating to the Juanicipio Project; and
the Company’s Mineral Resource estimates and the assumptions upon which they are based.

-3Many factors could cause actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements that
may be expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements and information, including, among others:
































the potential for no commercially mineable deposits due to the speculative nature of the Company’s business;
none of the properties in which the Company has an interest having any Mineral Reserves;
the Company’s material property is in the development stage and many such projects experience cost overruns or delays;
estimates of Mineral Resources being based on interpretation and assumptions which are inherently imprecise;
no guarantee of surface rights for the Company’s mineral properties or those it has an interest in;
no guarantee of the Company’s ability to obtain all necessary licenses and permits that may be required to carry out exploration and development
of its mineral properties or those it has an interest in;
risks related to the properties in which the Company has an interest being primarily located in foreign jurisdictions, including Mexico, which
may be subject to political instability, governmental relations, adverse government policies and increased police and military enforcement action
against criminal activities;
the effect of global economic and political instability on the Company’s business;
the effect of the COVID-19 outbreak as a global pandemic on the Company’s business;
risks related to maintaining a positive relationship with the communities in which the Company operates;
risks related to the Company’s ability to finance substantial expenditures required for commercial operations on its mineral properties or those it
has an interest in;
the Company’s history of losses and no revenues from operations;
risks related to the Company’s ability to arrange additional financing, and possible loss of the Company’s interests in its properties or those it has
an interest in due to a lack of adequate funding;
risks related to access and availability of infrastructure, power and water;
risks related to ground water levels at the Juanicipio Project;
risks related to a lack of access to a skilled workforce;
risks related to the Juanicipio Project mine plan and mine design and the development timeline to production;
risks related to the Juanicipio Project not achieving the financial results and the development timeline consistent with the 2017 Resource
Estimate and Preliminary Economic Assessment for the Juanicipio Project (collectively, the “2017 PEA”)
risks related to the capital requirements for the Juanicipio Project and the timeline to production;
risks related to the Company’s decision to participate in the development of the Juanicipio Project;
risks related to the mine plan and mine design;
risks related to title, challenge to title, or potential title disputes regarding the Company’s mineral properties or those it has an interest in;
risks related to the Company being a minority shareholder of Minera Juanicipio, S.A. de C.V. (“Minera Juanicipio”);
risks related to disputes with joint venture shareholders;
risks related to the influence of the Company’s significant shareholders over the direction of the Company’s business;
the potential for legal proceedings to be brought against the Company;
risks related to environmental regulations;
the highly competitive nature of the mineral exploration industry;
risks related to equipment shortages, access restrictions and lack of infrastructure on the Company’s mineral properties or those it has an interest
in;
the Company’s dependence upon key personnel;
the Company’s dependence on certain related party service providers (Minera Cascabel S.A. de C.V. (“Cascabel”) and IMDEX Inc.
(“IMDEX”)) to conduct some of its operations in Mexico;
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the Company’s dependence on Fresnillo plc (“Fresnillo”) to attract, train and retain qualified personnel;
the Company’s dependence on Fresnillo to supervise and operate the Juanicipio Project;
risks related to directors being, or becoming, associated with other natural resource companies which may give rise to conflicts of interest;
currency fluctuations (particularly the C$/U.S.$ and U.S.$/Mexican Peso exchange rates) and inflationary pressures;
risks related to mining operations generally;
risks related to fluctuation of mineral prices and marketability;
risks related to the adverse application of new or existing laws, including without limitation anti-corruption laws, human rights laws and
Mexican foreign investment, income tax laws and Mexican laws;
the Company being subject to Canadian disclosure practices concerning its Mineral Resources which allow for more disclosure than is permitted
for domestic U.S. reporting companies;
risks related to maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting;
funding and property commitments that may result in dilution to the Company’s shareholders;
the volatility of the price of the common shares of the Company (the “Common Shares”);
the uncertainty of maintaining a liquid trading market for the Common Shares;
the difficulty of U.S. litigants effecting service of process or enforcing any judgments against the Company, as the Company, its principals and
assets are located outside of the United States;
all of the Company’s mineral property assets being located outside of Canada;
risks related to the decrease of the market price of the Common Shares if the Company’s shareholders sell substantial amounts of Common
Shares;
risks related to future sales or issuances of equity securities diluting voting power and reducing future earnings per share;
risks related to dilution to existing shareholders if new shares are issued;
Fresnillo’s ability to maintain community relations programs;
risks related to dilution to existing shareholders if deferred share units, restricted share units or performance share units are converted into
Common Shares;
the history of the Company with respect to not paying dividends and anticipation of not paying dividends in the foreseeable future; and
the absence of a market through which the Company’s securities, other than Common Shares, may be sold.

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from
those described herein. This list is not exhaustive of the factors that may affect any of the Company’s forward-looking statements and information.
Forward-looking statements are statements about the future and are inherently uncertain, and actual achievements of the Company or other future events
or conditions may differ materially from those reflected in the forward-looking statements and information due to a variety of risks, uncertainties and
other factors, including without limitation, those referred to in this AIF under the heading “Risk Factors” and documents incorporated by reference
herein.
The Company’s forward-looking statements and information are based on the reasonable beliefs, expectations and opinions of management on the date
the statements are made and, other than as required by applicable securities laws, the Company does not assume any obligation to update forward-looking
statements and information if circumstances or management’s beliefs, expectations or opinions should change. For the reasons set forth above, investors
should not attribute undue certainty to or place undue reliance on forward-looking statements and information.

-5Cautionary Note to Investors Concerning Estimates of Mineral Resources
Technical disclosure regarding the Company’s properties included in this AIF and in the documents incorporated by reference herein has not been
prepared in accordance with the requirements of U.S. securities laws. Without limiting the foregoing, such technical disclosure uses terms that comply
with reporting standards in Canada and certain estimates are made in accordance with National Instrument 43-101 – Standards of Disclosure for Mineral
Projects (“NI 43-101”). NI 43-101 is an instrument developed by the Canadian Securities Administrators that establishes standards for all public
disclosure an issuer makes of scientific and technical information concerning mineral projects. Unless otherwise indicated, all Mineral Resource estimates
contained in the technical disclosure herein have been prepared in accordance with NI 43-101 and the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and
Petroleum Definition Standards on Mineral Resources and Reserves (“CIM Definition Standards”) and any references to Mineral Reserves are
references to Mineral Reserves as defined in the CIM Definition Standards.
Canadian standards, including NI 43-101, differ significantly from the historical requirements of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”), and Mineral Resource information contained or incorporated by reference in this AIF may not be comparable to similar information
disclosed by U.S. companies.
The SEC has adopted amendments to its disclosure rules to modernize the mineral property disclosure requirements for issuers whose securities are
registered with the SEC. These amendments became effective February 25, 2019 (the “SEC Modernization Rules”) and, following a two-year transition
period, the SEC Modernization Rules replaced the historical property disclosure requirements for mining registrants that are included in SEC Industry
Guide 7 for fiscal years beginning January 1, 2021 or later.
Under the SEC Modernization Rules, the definitions of “Proven Mineral Reserves” and “Probable Mineral Reserves” have been amended to be
substantially similar to the corresponding CIM Definition Standards and the SEC has added definitions to recognize “Measured Mineral Resources”,
“Indicated Mineral Resources” and “Inferred Mineral Resources” which are also substantially similar to the corresponding CIM Definition Standards;
however, there are still differences in the definitions and standards under the SEC Modernization Rules and the CIM Definition Standards. Therefore, the
Company’s Mineral Resources as determined in accordance with NI 43-101 may be significantly different than if they had been determined in accordance
with the SEC Modernization Rules.
Investors are cautioned not to assume that any part or all of the mineral deposits categorized as “Inferred Mineral Resources” or “Indicated Mineral
Resources” in these categories will ever be converted into Mineral Reserves. In addition, “Inferred Mineral Resources” are Mineral Resources for which
quantity and grade or quality are estimated on the basis of limited geological evidence and sampling. Geological evidence is sufficient to imply but not
verify geological and grade or quality continuity. “Inferred Mineral Resources” are based on limited information and have a great amount of uncertainty
as to their existence and great uncertainty as to their economic and legal feasibility, although it is reasonably expected that the majority of “Inferred
Mineral Resources” could be upgraded to “Indicated Mineral Resources” with continued exploration.
Under Canadian rules, estimates of Inferred Mineral Resources are considered too speculative geologically to have the economic considerations applied
to them to enable them to be categorized as Mineral Resources and, accordingly, may not form the basis of feasibility or pre-feasibility studies, or
economic studies except for a Preliminary Economic Assessment as defined under NI 43-101. Investors are cautioned not to assume that part or all of an
Inferred Mineral Resource exists, or is economically or legally mineable Indicated and Inferred Mineral Resources that are not Mineral Resources do not
have demonstrated economic viability.

-6Technical Information
Unless otherwise indicated, scientific or technical information in this AIF is based on information prepared by employees of MAG or by Fresnillo, as
operator of the Juanicipio Project, as applicable, under the supervision of, or that has been reviewed and approved by, Dr. Peter Megaw, Ph.D., C.P.G.,
who is a “Qualified Person” as defined in NI 43-101. A “Qualified Person” means an individual who is an engineer or geoscientist with at least five years
of experience in mineral exploration, mine development or operation or mineral project assessment, or any combination of these, has experience relevant
to the subject matter of the mineral project, and is a member in good standing of a professional association. Dr. Megaw is not independent as he is an
officer and a paid consultant of MAG Silver (see “Conflicts of Interest” and “Interests of Management and Others in Material Transactions” below).
Adjacent Property Disclosure
AIF contains information regarding adjacent properties on which the Company has no right to explore or mine, and is considered by management to be of
material importance to the Company and its land holdings in the area. Investors are cautioned that mineral deposits on adjacent properties do not
necessarily indicate and certainly do not prove the existence, nature or extent of mineral deposits on the Company’s properties.
Currency and Exchange Rates
All dollar amounts referred to in this AIF are expressed in United States dollars (“U.S.$”) except where indicated otherwise. The Company’s
accounts are based on a U.S.$ functional currency and are reported in a U.S.$ presentation currency. All references to “dollars” are to U.S.$ except where
indicated otherwise. All references to “pesos” are to Mexican pesos. The Company incurs expenditures primarily in U.S.$, and to a lesser extent in
Canadian dollars (“C$”) and pesos.
The following table sets forth the rate of exchange for the C$ expressed in U.S.$ in effect at the end of the periods indicated, the average of exchange
rates in effect on the last day of each month during such periods, and the high and low exchange rates during such periods as reported by the Bank of
Canada for conversion of Canadian dollars into United States dollars:

Canadian dollars, as expressed in U.S. dollars
Rate at end of period
Average rate for period
High for period
Low for period

2020
$0.7854
$0.7461
$0.7863
$0.6898

Year ended December 31,
2019
$0.7699
$0.7537
$0.7699
$0.7353

2018
$0.7456
$0.7438
$0.8039
$0.7438

The rate of exchange on March 30, 2021 as reported by the Bank of Canada for the conversion of Canadian dollars into United States dollars was C$1.00
equals U.S.$0.7917.
The following table sets forth the rate of exchange for the Mexican Peso expressed in U.S.$ in effect at the end of the periods indicated, the average of
exchange rates in effect on the last day of each month during such periods, and the high and low exchange rates during such periods based on the
exchange rate published by Banco de Mexico in the Official Journal of the Federation to settle liabilities denominated in foreign currency payable in
Mexico, for conversion of Mexican Pesos into United States dollars (“Official Closing Rate”):
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Mexican pesos, as expressed in U.S. dollars
Rate at end of period
Average rate for period
High for period
Low for period

2020
$0.0502
$0.0465
$0.0538
$0.0398

Year ended December 31,
2019
$0.0530
$0.0519
$0.0533
$0.0497

2018
$0.0509
$0.0520
$0.0556
$0.0483

The Official Closing Rate of exchange on March 30, 2021 as reported by the Banco de Mexico for the conversion of Mexican Pesos into United States
dollars was $1.00 Pesos equals U.S.$0.0485.
Metric Equivalents
For ease of reference, the following factors for converting Imperial measurements into metric equivalents are provided:
To convert from Imperial
Acres
Tons
Troy Ounces/ton (“opt”)

To metric
Hectares
Tonnes
Grams/Tonne (“g/t”)

Multiply by
0.404686
0.907185
34.2857

Financial Data in this AIF
Financial information reported in this AIF is in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board.
Defined Terms
A glossary of certain terms used in this AIF is attached as Schedule “B”. Terms used and not defined in this AIF that are defined in National Instrument
51-102 - Continuous Disclosure or National Instrument 14-101 – Definitions shall have the definitions set out therein.
Cautionary Statement Regarding Non-IFRS Measures
This AIF includes certain terms or performance measures commonly used in the mining industry that are not defined under IFRS, including cash cost per
ounce of silver. These terms and measures do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS. The Company believes that, in addition to
conventional measures prepared in accordance with IFRS, certain investors use this information to evaluate the Company’s performance. The data
presented is intended to provide additional information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared
in accordance with IFRS. Non-IFRS measures should be read in conjunction with the Company’s financial statements.
CORPORATE STRUCTURE
Name, Address and Incorporation
MAG Silver Corp. was originally incorporated under the Company Act (British Columbia) on April 21, 1999 under the name “583882 B.C. Ltd.” On June
28, 1999, in anticipation of becoming a capital pool company, the Company changed its name to “Mega Capital Investments Inc.” On April 22, 2003, the
Company changed its name to “MAG Silver Corp.” to reflect its new business upon the completion of its qualifying transaction on the TSX Venture
Exchange. On July 27, 2005, the Company transitioned from the Company Act (British Columbia) to the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia)
and concurrently adopted new articles and amended its authorized capital to an unlimited number of Common Shares without par value and an unlimited
number of Preferred Shares without par value. The Company’s head office is located at Suite 770, 800 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia,
Canada, V6C 2V6. The Company’s registered office is located at 2600 – 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia Canada, V7X 1L3.

-8Intercorporate Relationships
The following chart illustrates the Company’s material subsidiaries, including the jurisdiction of incorporation of each subsidiary, and its associated
property.

Notes:
(1)

The Company is the registered owner of 99.99% of the issued Class I shares of Minera Los Lagartos, S.A. de C.V. (“Lagartos”),
a corporation incorporated under the laws of Mexico. The remaining 0.01% of the issued Class I shares of Lagartos are held by
Dan MacInnis, a director of the Company, on behalf of the Company.

(2)

Lagartos is the registered owner of a 44% interest in Minera Juanicipio, a Mexican incorporated joint venture, which holds the
Juanicipio Project (as defined herein) with Fresnillo, a London Stock Exchange listed company controlled by Industrias Peñoles,
S.A. de C.V. (“Peñoles”), which holds the remaining 56% interest in Minera Juanicipio.
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incorporation and the direct or indirect percentage ownership by MAG of each such company:
Name
Minera Los Lagartos, S.A. de C.V.
Minera Juanicipio, S.A. de C.V.

Percentage of Ownership
100%(1)
44%(2)

Jurisdiction of Organization
Mexican Republic
Mexican Republic

Notes:
(1)
(2)

On October 9, 2005 the assets of Lexington Capital Group Inc., previously a subsidiary of the Company, were merged with Lagartos, so that all
of the Company’s interests in the Juanicipio Project (as defined herein) were held by Lagartos.
44% interest is owned by Lagartos, which in turn is wholly owned by the Company.
GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS

Overview
MAG Silver is a Canadian development and exploration company focused on becoming a top-tier primary silver mining company by exploring and
advancing high-grade, district scale, silver-dominant projects in the Americas. Its principal focus and asset is the Juanicipio Project (the “Juanicipio
Project”), being developed in a joint venture with Fresnillo. The Juanicipio Project is located in the Fresnillo Silver Trend in Mexico, the world’s premier
silver mining camp, and the joint venture is currently constructing and developing the surface and underground infrastructure on the property to support a
4,000 tonnes per day (“tpd”) mining operation, with the processing plant to commence commissioning in Q4-2021.
Juanicipio Project
MAG’s interest in the Juanicipio Project is through its 44% ownership of Minera Juanicipio, a joint venture incorporated under the laws of Mexico, which
owns the high-grade silver Juanicipio Project. Fresnillo is the project operator and holds the remaining 56% of Minera Juanicipio.
All joint venture programs for the Juanicipio Project are designed and contracted by the Minera Juanicipio Technical Committee, which is comprised of
representatives from each of MAG and Fresnillo, and approved by the Minera Juanicipio Board of Directors (the “Minera Juanicipio Board”), also
comprised of representatives of both parties, with voting rights proportionate to share ownership interest (see “Risks Related to Minority Interest
Investment in the Juanicipio Project” below). Construction of the processing plant is under the guidance of an Engineering, Procurement and
Construction Management Agreement (the “EPCM Agreement”) between Minera Juanicipio and an affiliate of Fresnillo that is overseeing the mine
construction and development. The Company’s share of project costs is funded primarily by quarterly cash calls through its 44% interest in Minera
Juanicipio, and to a lesser extent, incurred directly by MAG to cover expenses related to its own separately commissioned technical studies and analyses,
as well as direct project oversight. Minera Juanicipio is governed by a Shareholders’ Agreement dated October 10, 2005 (the “Shareholders’
Agreement”) and corporate bylaws, pursuant to which each shareholder is to provide funding pro-rata to its ownership interest, and if either party does
not fund pro-rata, their ownership interest will be diluted in accordance with the Shareholders’ Agreement.
Initial production from the mine commenced early in the third quarter of 2020, ahead of the original schedule, and 71,859 tonnes of mineralized
development material were successfully processed through the Fresnillo plant (100% owned by Fresnillo) from August 2020 through December 31, 2020.
Mineralized material from the mine is expected to continue to be processed at a nominal rate of 16,000 tonnes per month at the Fresnillo plant until the
Juanicipio plant ramps up. The actual amount of material processed on a monthly basis may vary due to the variability of mineralization occurring in the
development headings from month to month. According to the operator Fresnillo, it is anticipated that the Juanicipio plant will commence commissioning
in Q4-2021 and is expected to reach 40-50% of nameplate capacity by year-end and 90-95% in 2022. An Operator Services Agreement (the “Operator
Services Agreement”) has been finalized and will become effective upon initiation of commercial production. As well, both lead and zinc concentrate
off-take agreements have been executed by Minera Juanicipio with Met-Mex Peñolos, S.A. de C.V. (“Met-Mex”), under which both concentrates will be
sold and treated at international benchmark market terms in Torreón, Mexico.
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The Company has an interest in concession rights in other non-material properties on which the exploration is managed directly by MAG. Exploration on
these interests, when undertaken, is undertaken by contracted service providers, as the Company has no direct employees outside of Canada. In the case of
projects located in Mexico, MAG’s work is contracted with third parties, including Cascabel and IMDEX (Cascabel and IMDEX are related companies to
MAG - see “Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions” below).
Deer Trail Project
MAG entered into an option agreement (the “Deer Trail Agreement”) effective December 20, 2018 to consolidate and acquire 100% of the historic Deer
Trail Mine and surrounding Alunite Ridge area in Piute County, Utah (the “Deer Trail Project”). The counterparties to the Deer Trail Agreement
contributed their respective Deer Trail claims and property rights to a newly formed company for a 99% interest in the company, with MAG holding the
other 1% interest. MAG is the project operator and has the right to earn a 100% interest in the company and the Deer Trail Project, with the counterparties
retaining a 2% NSR. In order to earn in 100%, MAG must make a total of $30 million in escalating annual exploration expenditures ($4,459,428 already
expended to December 31, 2020) and $2 million in royalty payments ($300,000 already paid to December 31, 2020), both over 10 years, which
commenced in December 2018. The combined optional annual commitments do not exceed $2.5 million per year until after 2025. All minimum
obligatory commitments under the Deer Trail Agreement have been satisfied and future work and payments are at the full discretion of the Company.
The Deer Trail Project is a silver-rich Carbonate Replacement Deposit (“CRD”). Consolidating the property package allows MAG to apply its integrated
district scale exploration model and apply new technology to the search for an entire suite of mineralization styles expected to occur on the property.
Cinco de Mayo
In late 2012, certain members of the local Ejido challenged the Company’s surface right access to the Cinco de Mayo property located in Mexico and
prevented the Company from obtaining the surface access permission required in the exploration permit process. As the Company has been unable to
negotiate a renewed surface access agreement with the Ejido, a full impairment was recognized on the property in the year ended December 31, 2016;
however, the concessions are still maintained in good standing.
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Over the three most recently completed financial years, the significant events described below contributed to the development of MAG’s business.
Year Ended December 31, 2018
Juanicipio Project
Underground development at the Juanicipio Project in the year ended December 31, 2018 totaled 6.6 km, which accounted for 36% of the total
underground development advanced on the project to the end of 2018. Total underground development as at the end of the year was in excess of 18.5 km.
Detailed engineering continued for the internal shaft and other mine infrastructure throughout 2018, and mill site preparation was well underway.
Negotiations with suppliers of processing equipment and development contractors had begun, and respective contractual commitments of $23.1 million
(equipment) and $69.5 million (development contractors) had been committed to by year end.
As at December 31, 2018, exploration drilling had totaled approximately 46,060 metres of completed drilling, with all assays pending at year end.
Year Ended December 31, 2019
Juanicipio Project
On March 4, 2019, the Company reported assays for the 48-hole (46,060 metre) diamond drill program completed in late 2018. The reported drill results
extended and confirmed continuity to depth of high-grade mineralization in the east and west Valdecañas Vein Deep Zones and in the Anticipada Vein.
Drilling also coincidentally discovered the new Pre-Anticipada Vein in the hangingwall above the system.
Also announced on March 4, 2019 was the discovery of the northeast oriented “Venadas Vein” within the Juanicipio property.
On April 11, 2019, Fresnillo and MAG jointly announced formal project approval of the Juanicipio mine development plan. Minera Juanicipio also
finalized the EPCM Agreement to oversee the mine development, as well as the Operator Services Agreement, which will become effective on
commencement of commercial production. In addition, both lead and zinc concentrate off-take agreements were settled, under which both concentrates
will be sold and treated at international benchmark market terms by Met-Mex in Torreón, Mexico.
Total underground development at the Juanicipio Project had exceeded 26 km by the end of the year. The underground development focus areas during
2019 were the three sub-vertical ramps descending alongside the mineralization and alongside the conveyor ramp to surface at mill site.
Detailed engineering was well advanced by year end, and earthmoving and foundation preparation had commenced for the construction of the 4,000 tpd
beneficiation plant. Mill fabrication was progressing on schedule, and both SAG and ball mills were expected to be shipped to site in early 2020. Flotation
cells and other process equipment had started to arrive on site during the year.
A 25,000-metre exploration program was completed in late October 2019, with assays pending at year end.
Year Ended December 31, 2020
Financing and Corporate Activities
On February 10, 2020, the Company announced that Ms. Selma Lussenburg had joined MAG as a member of its Board of Directors (the “Board”).
On April 27, 2020, the Company announced that it had completed a non-brokered private placement offering of 4,528,302 Common Shares to Mr. Eric
Sprott, through 2176423 Ontario Ltd., a corporation beneficially controlled by Mr. Sprott, at a price of C$13.25 per Common Share, for gross proceeds of
C$60,000,002.
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On September 8, 2020, the Company announced the completion of a $50 million at-the-market equity program (the “ATM Program”), initially
announced on June 30, 2020. MAG sold and issued 3,092,783 Common Shares under the ATM Program at an average price of $16.16 per share, for gross
and net proceeds of $50 million and $48.625 million, respectively.
Juanicipio Project
On February 24, 2020, Fresnillo and the Company issued a joint Juanicipio Project update, which included the following highlights:
 Production from the underground mine was expected to commence ahead of schedule in mid-2020, with mineralized material to be processed at the
nearby Fresnillo plant until the Juanicipio plant is commissioned.
 Based on detailed engineering, actual equipment purchases and construction contracts, estimated pre-operative capex, as estimated from January 1,
2018, had increased by 11.4% from $395 million to $440 million.
On March 3, 2020, results from the 2019 28-hole (33,864 metre) diamond drilling program were announced by the Company. The program expanded and
upgraded the wide, high-grade Deep Zone and confirmed additional northeast-trending veins.
On April 22, 2020, the Company reported that the Mexican Government had issued an order for the temporary suspension of all “non-essential” activities
until May 30, 2020 as part of its nationwide effort to slow the spread of COVID-19. While the order was in effect, underground development continued
under government mandated hygiene protocols, while surface construction work and surface-based drilling were temporarily halted. All work resumed
late in the second quarter with a phased restart having commenced on June 1, 2020.
On October 21, 2020, the Company announced that development material had commenced processing at the Fresnillo plant. As reported by Fresnillo on a
100% basis, a total of 42,476 tonnes were processed during the third quarter of 2020, with total production of 394,000 silver ounces, 610 gold ounces, 138
tonnes of lead, and 174 tonnes of zinc.
Total underground development at the Juanicipio Project had exceeded 34 km by the end of the year.
Deer Trail Project
On September 10, 2020, the Company announced that it had entered into the Deer Trail Agreement to consolidate and acquire 100% of the Deer Trail
Project. The Deer Trail Project includes 111 patented and 682 unpatented claims (approximately 5,600 Ha) encompassing the historic Deer Trail Mine
and the adjoining Alunite Ridge area in Piute County, Utah.
With drill roads completed and drill pads fully permitted, a 6,500 metre Phase I surface drilling program commenced at the Deer Trail Project in the
fourth quarter of 2020. All assays from the program are pending to date.
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On January 13, 2021, MAG announced that Ms. Susan Mathieu had joined the Company as a member of its Board.
On January 27, 2021, the Company reported on a 100% basis the fourth quarter production of development material from the Juanicipio Project. A total
of 30,397 tonnes of development material were processed during the fourth quarter of 2020, with total production for the quarter of 230,000 silver ounces
and 443 gold ounces. Combined with the previous quarter, production for the year ended December 31, 2020 totaled 623,000 silver ounces and 1,053
gold ounces. Development material is currently being processed through the Fresnillo plant with the lead (silver rich) and zinc concentrates treated at
international benchmark market terms under off-take agreements with Met-Mex. The revenue from this production, net of processing and treatment
charges, will be used by the Juanicipio joint venture to offset initial project capital cash requirements.
The Company also announced on January 27, 2021 that, according to the operator Fresnillo, commissioning of the Juanicipio processing plant was
expected to commence in Q4-2021, a few months later than previously reported as some infrastructure contracts had been delayed due to COVID-19, and
related to COVID-19 preventative measures implemented at site. Until the Juanicipio plant is commissioned in Q4-2021, Fresnillo continues to expect to
process mineralized material from the Juanicipio joint venture through its facility at a nominal rate of 16,000 tonnes per month. The actual amount of
material processed on a monthly basis may vary due to the variability of mineralization occurring in the development headings from month to month.
On March 31, 2021, the Company announced the appointment of Mr. Tim Baker to the Board. Mr. Baker replaced Mr. Richard (Rick) Clark, who
resigned from the Board effective March 31, 2021.
Please refer to the “Risk Factors” section of this AIF entitled for more information about the risks relating to MAG’s business and mining properties,
particularly with respect to the Juanicipio Project.
DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS
General
MAG Silver is a Canadian development and exploration company focused on becoming a top-tier primary silver mining company by exploring and
advancing high-grade, district-scale, silver-dominant projects in the Americas. MAG’s principal focus is the successful development of the Juanicipio
Project and further exploration of the Juanicipio property. The Company continually looks to enhance its project portfolio by evaluating new projects
through successful exploration of its current property holdings. MAG continues to execute its business plan prudently, with ongoing project evaluations
focusing primarily on potential high-grade, high-margin, district-scale opportunities.
MAG’s Common Shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) and the NYSE American both under the symbol “MAG”.
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Initial production from Juanicipio commenced early in the third quarter of 2020, and 71,859 tonnes of mineralized development material were
successfully processed through the Fresnillo plant from August 2020 through December 31, 2020. Mineralized material from the mine is expected to
continue to be processed at a nominal rate of 16,000 tonnes per month at the Fresnillo plant until the 4,000 tpd Juanicipio plant is commissioned, which is
expected to occur in Q4-2021. Variability in the occurrence of mineralization in the development headings may affect this monthly rate in 2021, but on
average the nominal monthly rate is expected to be achieved averaged over a three- or four-month period.
Metals are commonly sold as concentrates, often with several metals in a single concentrate. In the case of Juanicipio, both lead (silver rich) and zinc
concentrate will be produced. The lead concentrate will contain silver, gold and lead, and the zinc concentrate will contain silver, gold and zinc. Lead and
zinc concentrates are commonly sold as part of the world’s mining and metals industries. The Juanicipio concentrates are being sold and treated at
international benchmark market terms under off-take agreements with Met-Mex. The basis of payments is the gross value of the metals that can be
extracted and refined from the concentrates based on contained metal assays, with Met-Mex charging a base treatment charge and various deductions and
payment terms as defined within the off-take agreements.
Employees and Consultants
The Company’s business is administered from its head office in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had eight
employees and four consultants.
Specialized Skill and Knowledge
Many aspects of the Company’s business require specialized skills and knowledge. Such skills and knowledge include the areas of geology, mining,
metallurgy, engineering, environmental issues, permitting, social issues and accounting. The Company believes it has adequate employees and
consultants with experience in these specialized areas to meet its current needs.
Competitive Conditions
Competition in the mineral exploration and production industry is intense. The Company competes with a number of large, established mining companies
with greater financial resources and technical facilities, for the acquisition and development of mineral concessions, claims, leases and other interests, as
well as for the recruitment and retention of qualified employees and consultants and the equipment required to continue the Company’s exploration
activities.
Economic Dependence
The Juanicipio Project, in which the Company owns a 44% joint venture interest, is considered the only material property of the Company. The
Company’s interest in the Juanicipio Project is held through its indirect 44% shareholdings in Minera Juanicipio and is governed by the terms of the
Shareholders’ Agreement with Fresnillo, which holds the other 56% interest. As a minority stakeholder in the project, the Company is subject to various
risks (see “Risks Related to Minority Interest Investment in the Juanicipio Project” in “Risk Factors” below).
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The Company is committed to delivering lasting and sustainable value to its people, stakeholders and host communities. The Company’s approach to
responsible development integrates health, safety, environment and social responsibility into its business strategy.
At the Juanicipio Project in the Fresnillo District of Mexico, the operator, Fresnillo, is leading several community relations programs at their own nearby
Saucito and Fresnillo mines. The relations with the communities are well-established, and the Juanicipio joint venture has been engaging in a ‘district
approach’ to community relations in the area, working in concert with the established Fresnillo mining operations nearby.
Community projects in 2020 included collaboration with a Mexican publishing house where the Juanicipio Project team donated more than 120 textbook
packages to three schools in the communities near Juanicipio.
The Juanicipio Project has recently signed two agreements with the Fresnillo City Council and their Directorates of Economic and Agricultural
Development. The project is collaborating directly with the municipality on productive ventures that include the formation of new micro-enterprises
(tailoring, handicrafts and Mexican-style chorizo) and 25 new family garden projects. An additional 25 small backyard poultry farms will be developed in
2021. Further community assessments will be carried out to map entrepreneurs that meet the microenterprise development project criteria.
Community engagement at the Deer Trail Project is managed directly by the Company, with stakeholder relations expanding through contributions to
community events, sponsorships, and in some initiatives where employees are also engaged in smaller community activities.
Risk awareness and emergency preparedness have been key focal points in the safety program at the Deer Trail Project. Safety training in 2020 included
mine rescue training with support on three occasions from other mining operations nearby. Employees have received training to improve their hazard
identification and risk mitigation techniques. Additionally, the team has been working with local medical services receiving training in emergency
response techniques. A total of 460 hours, or approximately 2.7% of total hours worked, were dedicated to safety training and risk awareness in 2020.
There were no lost-time injuries or reportable incidents recorded at the Deer Trail Project in 2020.
The Company partners with groups who share its values and commitment to responsible mining. The Company’s commitment is supported by the
policies, procedures and voluntary codes to which the Company adheres. The Company cares about the health and well-being of its people, communities
and environment, and promotes a culture of zero harm.
In 2020, the Company conducted a review of the more relevant Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) topics identified throughout the year.
The more relevant topics included but were not limited to health and safety performance, risk management, social license, Regulatory compliance and
water stress. The entire review was discussed at length with the Health, Safety, Environment and Community Committee of the Board (the “HSEC
Committee”). Subsequent to the year end, in early 2021, many of the findings from the review were incorporated into policy updates and the Company’s
ESG development plan for 2021 onward.
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Juanicipio Project
In response to the COVID-19 virus outbreak, in April 2020 the Mexican Government ordered a temporary suspension of all “non-essential” operations
nationwide in Mexico, including mining operations, until May 30, 2020. Fresnillo, the Juanicipio Project operator, was in regular consultation with
Mexican Government officials to ensure Minera Juanicipio’s compliance with the order. Fresnillo advised the Company that while the order was in effect,
underground development continued under government mandated hygiene protocols, while surface construction work and surface-based drilling were
temporarily halted. All work resumed late in the second quarter with a phased restart having commenced on June 1, 2020. In further response to the
COVID-19, Fresnillo continues to closely monitor the spread of the virus and implement a range of safety measures following guidelines in accordance
with the World Health Organization and Mexican authorities. These include stringent monitoring and hygiene, mandatory mask use, temperature
screening and social distancing. Testing and contact tracing have been used to identify potential cases and prevent the spread of the virus. Fresnillo
maintains an open dialogue with government officials at both the federal and local levels.
Subsequent to the year end, on January 27, 2021, the Company announced that according to the operator Fresnillo, commissioning of the Juanicipio
processing plant was expected to commence in Q4-2021, a few months later than previously reported as some infrastructure contracts had been delayed
due to COVID-19, and related to COVID-19 preventative measures implemented at site. The impact of this pandemic could create or include significant
COVID-19 specific costs, volatility in the prices for silver and other metals, further restrictions or temporary closures, additional travel restraints, supply
chain disruptions and workforce interruptions, including loss of life. Depending on the duration and extent of the impact of COVID-19, this could
materially impact the Company’s financial performance, cash flows and financial position, and could result in material changes to the costs and time for
the completion of development at Juanicipio. The total amount that the Company is required to finance in order to maintain its proportionate ownership in
the project may increase from these and other consequences of the COVID-19 outbreak. See “Risk Factors” below for more information on risks
associated with COVID-19.
Deer Trail Project
Following discussions with the Utah Center for Disease Control (CDC), the Company established its COVID-19 Protocol for Deer Trail in June 2020.
The Protocol was updated in September 2020 and again in early January 2021 to include additional controls for positive result cases and updates for a safe
return to work (post COVID-19) plan.
The Company adopts similar COVID-19 protection protocols at its other, non-material exploration properties.
Health, Safety, Environment and Community Committee
The HSEC Committee, as part of its mandate, is responsible for reviewing MAG’s Health, Safety, Environment and Social Responsibility Policies; its
Human Rights Policy; and for monitoring the Company’s practices and performance in these areas. The HSEC Committee is currently comprised of the
following members of the Board: Dan MacInnis (Chair), Derek White, Selma Lussenburg, Susan Mathieu and Tim Baker. The HSEC Committee meets a
minimum of four times per year and reports to the Board. The HSEC Committee Charter is available on the Company’s website at
https://magsilver.com/corporate/governance/.
Health, Safety, Environment and Social Responsibility Policies
Health and Safety Policy
The health and safety of the Company’s employees, directors, consultants, contractors, and the people who live near the Company’s projects are of utmost
importance to MAG. The Company believes everyone should go home safe and healthy each and every day, from the people at the Company’s office to
the people working at the Company’s projects.
Subsequent to year end, in early 2021, MAG updated its Health and Safety Policy. The Company complies with all applicable local, state and federal laws
at a minimum, as well as industry standards and practices which in some cases exceed these laws. Through a strong risk management approach, MAG
engages with and trains employees and contractors under its direction to recognize, understand and mitigate hazards of the workplace to prevent incidents
and injuries.
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● Provide team members with the necessary training, guidance, direction and knowledge to safely perform their tasks and maintain records of the
training.

● Institute, document and maintain a health and safety management system, applying proven management practices, to prevent personal harm,
mitigate impacts and foster a culture of proactive safety management and open communication.

● Empower team members through regular engagement to promote behavioral safety as a core organizational value and to restate that their skills
and competence are essential for their safety and the safety of others.

● Require that each site has an emergency response procedure, and that such procedures are regularly maintained and tested to minimize the impacts
●
●
●
●
●
●

of unforeseen events.
Provide access to first aid facilities and services, and obligate team members to wear personal protective equipment when required.
Support and encourage the efforts of team members to gain the knowledge and skills to promote a safe and healthy life beyond the workplace.
Identify, eliminate, isolate and/or mitigate health and safety risks and hazards that could result in incidents or injuries.
Encourage and foster open communication and reporting of hazards, near-miss or potential incidents, while supporting team members in a timely
resolution of unsafe conditions.
Continuously seek improvements in policies and procedures to further lower risk and eliminate hazards through: team member communication
and feedback, motivation, reward and recognition; health and safety system reviews; and incorporation of new technology, techniques and
processes.
Conduct periodic monitoring and audits to evaluate compliance with this policy, applicable health and safety laws and regulations, standards, and
permit and license conditions.

Environmental Policy
MAG is committed to wise environmental stewardship. MAG employees care about protecting the environment for future generations while providing for
safe, responsible and profitable projects by developing natural resources for the benefit of its stakeholders.
Subsequent to the year end, in early 2021, MAG updated its Environmental Policy, which commits the Company to minimizing its environmental impact
and protecting the natural environment of the areas in which the Company works or has an interest in.
To achieve its environmental commitments, MAG will:

● Fully comply with applicable environmental laws, regulations and other environmental obligations.
● Institute, document and maintain an environmental management system, applying proven management practices, to prevent pollution, mitigate
impacts and foster a culture of environmental stewardship.

● Communicate its commitment to excellence in environmental performance with MAG employees, directors, consultants, contractors and
●
●
●
●
●
●

communities in which the Company operates.
Strive to minimize releases to the air, land or water, and establish appropriate treatment and disposal processes for waste.
Allocate the necessary resources to meet its reclamation and environmental obligations.
Monitor performance and report progress to its stakeholders on a timely basis.
Continuously seek improvements in policies and procedures to further lower risk through team member communication and feedback, motivation,
reward and recognition; environmental system reviews; and the incorporation of new technology, techniques and processes.
Consult openly and transparently with interested parties to develop a mutual understanding of environmental issues, needs and expectations.
Conduct periodic monitoring and audits to evaluate compliance with this policy, applicable environmental laws and regulations, standards, and
permit and license conditions.
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Subsequent to the year end, in early 2021, MAG updated its Social Responsibility Policy. The Company takes a shared-value approach to local
development activities to promote sustainable and lasting economic and social benefits. MAG is focused on building trust and respect, considerate of its
stakeholders’ concerns, and making a positive difference in the communities in which the Company lives and works.
To achieve its social responsibility commitments, MAG will:

● Identify and engage its communities of interest in inclusive, transparent and culturally respectful dialogue before undertaking significant activities
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

throughout the life of a project.
Establish formal grievance and dispute resolution mechanisms as part of its overall community engagement process.
Monitor, continuously improve and report on the performance and effectiveness of its activities related to corporate social responsibility.
Implement meaningful and effective strategies for community engagement.
Facilitate opportunities for community or individual growth.
Encourage a culture of safety among its stakeholders and local communities.
Respect the social, economic and cultural rights of local people.
Support local and regional development in areas where MAG the operator of its projects through training and employment; and support
sustainable development initiatives that benefit communities where MAG operates.
Continuously seek improvements in policies, programs and initiatives to minimize social risk through team member development and ongoing
community engagement processes.
Adhere to applicable laws and regulations of the countries and regions in which MAG conducts its business, including those relating to human
rights, and operate in a manner consistent with industry best practices.

The Company’s Health, Safety, Environment
https://magsilver.com/corporate/governance/.

and

Social

Responsibility

Policies

are

available

on

the

Company’s

website

at

Human Rights Policy
Subsequent to year end, in early 2021, MAG updated its Human Rights Policy, which provides that the Company is committed to promoting a culture of
respect for human rights and inclusion that aligns with the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, the International Labor
Organization’s Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work, international humanitarian law and applicable local human rights legislation.
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and other policies and procedures. MAG will assess all human rights issues, determine their severity and act upon its findings.
To achieve its human rights commitments, MAG will:

● Respect the rights and dignity of our employees, directors, consultants, contractors, partners and community members affected by our business.
● Create a safe, inclusive and diverse workplace where decisions are non-discriminatory towards race, color, religion, nationality, gender, gender
identity, ethnicity, age, marital status, creed, sexual orientation, political beliefs, pregnancy, disability or other basis prohibited by law.

● Respect workers’ rights, including freedom of peaceful assembly and association, and engagement in collective bargaining consistent with the
relevant International Labour Organization conventions on that subject.

● Take actions to raise employee awareness of international standards and guiding principles for human rights and provide regular training on this
●
●
●
●

Policy.
Engage in constructive dialogue and partnerships with our stakeholders to better understand how our activities affect their human rights.
Establish operations-level grievance and dispute resolution mechanisms for human rights issues.
Maintain a zero tolerance approach to the use of forced, compulsory or child labour.
Continuously seek improvements to this Policy and other human rights related programs and procedures to further embed respect for human rights
into the Company’s culture, operations and workforce.

The Human Rights Policy is available on the Company’s website at https://magsilver.com/corporate/governance/.
Diversity Policy
MAG believes in and values the benefits that diversity can bring to its business and operations. Diversity includes, but is not limited to, gender, race,
ethnicity, language, religion, disability, geography, age, aboriginal status, and other areas of potential differences. Diversity promotes the inclusion of
different perspectives and ideas, mitigates against groupthink and ensures that MAG can benefit from all available talent.
MAG seeks to maintain a Board and a senior management team comprised of talented and dedicated individuals with a diverse mix of expertise,
experience, skills and backgrounds. The skills and backgrounds collectively represented on the Board and in the senior management team should reflect
the diverse nature of the business environment in which MAG operates.
MAG is committed to a merit-based system for the Board and senior management team composition within a diverse and inclusive culture which solicits
multiple perspectives and views and is free of conscious or unconscious bias and discrimination. When assessing Board composition or identifying
suitable candidates for appointment or reelection to the Board, the Corporation will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity and the needs of the Board. Subsequent to year end, in early 2021, the Company committed itself to increasing Board
and senior management diversity and set a target to achieve a minimum of 30% of the Board being represented by female directors. With the appointment
of Ms. Selma Lussenburg on February 1, 2020, and Ms. Susan Mathieu on January 13, 2021, 37.5% of the current Board is female. The Company will
continue to include candidates with a diverse mix of knowledge, experience, skills and backgrounds on the evergreen list of potential Board nominees.
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re-election as directors at the annual meeting of Shareholders.
The Diversity Policy and the GNC Charter can be found on the Company’s website at https://magsilver.com/corporate/governance/.
Commitment to Anti-Bribery Conduct
MAG has a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) that emphasizes ethical behaviours, actions, and decisions; a theme that is also central to
the Company’s Commitment to Anti-Bribery Conduct. The Company adheres to the values and principles set out in the Code. MAG’s business activities
are based on value, quality, and service, and the Company does not provide bribes or other improper incentives. MAG’s Commitment to Anti-Bribery
Conduct is designed to complement and expand on MAG’s existing Code. These documents set out requirements that include prohibitions against bribery
and facilitation payments. The Commitment to Anti-Bribery Conduct also provides clarity on books’ and records’ transparency, gift giving to government
officials, and political and/or charitable contributions. All directors, officers, employees and significant consultants annually acknowledge MAG’s Code
by signing a Compliance Certificate.
The Code and the Commitment to Anti-Bribery Conduct can be found on the Company’s website at https://magsilver.com/corporate/governance/.
CARRYING ON BUSINESS IN MEXICO
The Company’s primary property interest is located in Mexico. A summary of the regulatory regime material to the business and affairs of the Company
is provided below.
Mining Regulations
The exploration and exploitation of minerals in Mexico may be carried out by Mexican citizens or Mexican companies incorporated under Mexican law
by means of obtaining concessions (covering exploration and exploitation). Concessions are granted by the Mexican federal government for a period of
fifty years from the date of their recording in the Public Registry of Mining. The term of mining concessions previously issued by the Mexican federal
government (for exploration and/or exploitation) was automatically extended by the enactment of the 2006 amendments to the Mexican Mining Law.
Likewise, due to such amendments, the holders of mining concessions for exploration were automatically authorized to carry out not only exploration
work, but also exploitation works.
Holders of concessions may, within the five years prior to the expiration of such concessions, apply for their renewal for the same period of time. Failure
to apply prior to the expiration of the term of the concession will result in termination of the concession. Concessions are subject to annual work
requirements and payment of mining duties which are assessed and levied on a semi-annual basis. Such concessions may be transferred or assigned by
their holders, but such transfers or assignments must comply with the requirements established by the Mexican Mining Law and be registered before the
Public Registry of Mining in order to be valid against third parties. Such record has to be requested within the fifteen business days following the
execution or notarization of the corresponding assignment of rights agreement.
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foreign corporations, the Mexican Mining Law provides that such concessions may only be granted to Mexican citizens or Mexican corporations. Thus,
foreign citizens or corporations may only obtain mineral concessions through the establishment of a subsidiary in Mexico. Foreign investment in Mexican
companies must comply with certain requirements set forth in the Law of Foreign Investment.
The Mexican Mining Law does not require payment of finder’s fees or royalties to the Government, except for: (i) a mining royalty fee of 7.5% and a
0.5% extraordinary governmental fee on precious metals (see “Mining Fees” below); and (ii) a discovery premium or economic consideration in
connection with claims or allotments contracted directly from the Mexican Geological Service that have been awarded pursuant to a public bid process.
Holders of mining concessions are also required to pay mining concession fees which are assessed and levied on a semi-annual basis and charged at a per
hectare rate that increase over time the longer the concessions are held.
Foreign Investment Regulation
Foreign investment regulation in Mexico is primarily governed by the Law of Foreign Investment and its Regulations. Foreign investment of up to 100%
in Mexican mining companies is permitted. Companies with foreign investment in their capital stock must be registered with the National Registry of
Foreign Investment which is maintained by the Ministry of Economy, and file certain reports and notices, including in certain circumstances, and under a
criteria determined by the Law of Foreign Investment, an annual report and/or quarterly reports with respect to the operations carried out during the
preceding fiscal year which is necessary in order to renew their certificate of record with such Registry.
Environmental Regulations
Mexico has federal, state and municipal laws and regulations, as well as international agreements related to the protection of the environment and natural
resources (“Environmental Laws”), including laws and regulations concerning water pollution, air pollution, noise pollution, hazardous substances and
forest protection. The main federal Environmental Law in Mexico is the Ley General del Equilibrio Ecológico y la Protección al Ambiente (the “General
Law of Ecological Balance and Environmental Protection” or the “General Law”), pursuant to which general environmental rules and policies have been
promulgated addressing air pollution, hazardous substances and environmental impact among various others.
Another federal law particularly relevant for the mining sector is the Ley General para la Gestión Integral de los Residuos (the “General Law for
Integrated Waste Management”) and its regulations the Reglamento de la Ley General para la Prevención y Gestión Integral de los Residuos (the
“Regulations to the General Law for Integrated Waste Prevention and Management”), which regulate the generation, handling, transportation, storage and
final disposal of hazardous waste, as well as the import and export of hazardous materials and hazardous wastes, and assign liability for ownership and
possession of contaminated sites and for contaminating activities. The Ley General de Desarrollo Forestal Sustentable and its regulations (the “Forestry
Protection Laws”) are also relevant, as they address reforestation obligations and compensation measures on projects which may have a deforestation
impact, which may include mining projects.
On June 7, 2013, the Ley Federal de Responsabilidad Ambiental (Federal Law of Environmental Liability) was enacted, under which any person or entity
that directly or indirectly (for action or omission) causes damage to the environment, will be held liable and obliged to: i) repair the damage, or in the
event that such repair is not possible; ii) pay compensatory damages, subject to a corresponding judicial, administrative or criminal proceeding.
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Ecological Ordinance Programs (Programas de Ordenamiento Ecológico), constitute two of the main instruments that will regulate the use of land in the
areas within their jurisdiction, including restrictions on certain activities and sectors, such as the mining sector.
In addition, there are a series of “Mexican Official Norms” which are technical standards issued by competent regulatory authorities, pursuant to the Ley
General de Metrología y Normalización and to other laws that include the aforementioned Environmental Laws, which establish standards relating to air
emissions, waste water discharges, the generation, handling and disposal of hazardous wastes (including specific Mexican Official Norms for the
handling of mining tailings, which are considered mining hazardous wastes) and noise control, among others. There are Mexican Official Norms
regarding soil contamination (mainly with total petroleum hydrocarbons and heavy metals) and waste management (the “Ecological Standards”). Of
particular importance to the mining sector are Mexican Official Norms NOM-120-SEMARNAT-2011 regulating environmental protection of mining
activities in certain zones, and NOM-141-SEMARNAT-2003 which addresses certain aspects of tailings (jales de minería) from mining activities, among
other Ecological Standards applicable to mining activities.
The Secretaría de Medio Ambiente y Recursos Naturales (the “Ministry of the Environment and Natural Resources” or “SEMARNAT”, for its initials in
Spanish) is the federal agency in charge of establishing and overseeing environmental regulation at the federal level, including the General Law and
federal statutes and the Environmental Laws, as well as the Ecological Standards. On enforcement matters the SEMARNAT acts mainly through the
“Procuraduría Federal de Protección al Ambiente” (the “Federal Bureau of Environmental Protection” or “PROFEPA”, for its initials in Spanish) and in
certain cases through other governmental entities under its control, such as the Comisión Nacional del Agua (or National Water Commission).
Environmental Laws also regulate environmental protection in the mining industry in Mexico. In order to comply with these laws, a series of permits,
licenses and authorizations must be obtained by a concession holder during the exploration and exploitation stages of a mining project. Generally, these
permits and authorizations are issued on a timely basis after the completion of an application and the fulfillment of the necessary requirements by a
concession holder. Additionally, periodic reporting of hazardous wastes and federal air emissions and federal wastewater discharges to Federal authorities
is required under the Environmental Laws. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, all of the Company’s property interests are currently in compliance
with the applicable Environmental Laws.
The possible impact on the Company’s operations from noncompliance or delays in required environmental approvals are discussed below in “Risk
Factors”, specifically “Environmental regulations are becoming more onerous to comply with, and the cost of compliance with environmental
regulations and changes in such regulations may reduce the profitability of the Company’s operations and Minera Juanicipio’s operations.”
There are also legal and environmental obligations required to restore a mining operation to certain local standards upon closing the Company's mining
operations. The required restoration activities include demobilization and removal of structures, mine rehabilitation, plant dismantling, as well as
sanitation and reforestation of affected areas. The obligation generally arises when the mine is developed, and the environment is altered at the place of
production. The Company records and accrues closure cost estimates on its property interests.
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The official monetary unit of Mexico is the Mexican peso. The currency exchange rate freely floats and the country has no currency exchange restrictions.
Nevertheless, following the significant devaluation of the Mexican peso in December 1994, uncertainties continue with respect to the financial situation
of Mexico and the volatility of the Mexican peso. See “Risk Factors” below, specifically those risk factors dealing with currency fluctuation and inflation.
The following table presents a five-year history of the average annual exchange rates to convert one United States dollar into Mexican pesos, calculated
by using the average of the exchange rates on the last day of each month during the given year.
Year
2020
2019
2018
2017
2016

Average Exchange Rate (Mxn peso/US$)
21.4935
19.2605
19.2432
18.9232
18.6774

Value Added Tax (“VAT”) also known as “IVA”
In Mexico, VAT is charged on the sale of goods, rendering of services, lease of goods and importation of the majority of goods and services at a rate of
16%. Proprietors selling goods or services must collect VAT on behalf of the Government. Goods or services purchased incur a credit for VAT paid. The
resulting net VAT is then remitted to, or collected from, the Government of Mexico through a formalized filing process.
The Company has traditionally held a VAT receivable balance due to the expenditures it incurs whereby VAT is paid to the vendor or service provider.
Collections of these receivables from the Government of Mexico often take months and sometimes years to recover, but the Company has to date been
able to recover all of its VAT paid. Minera Juanicipio also holds a VAT receivable balance, and the collections of these receivables, if not recovered on a
timely basis, can be credited against VAT payable once Minera Juanicipio becomes a producing mine.
Income Tax Regime
The corporate tax rate is 30%.
Dividends
Dividends paid from accumulated previously taxed earnings by Mexican companies to foreign residents of Mexico are subject to withholding tax at the
10% rate. However, dividends in excess of previously taxed earnings are subject to the corporate tax rate on a grossed-up basis at the distributing
company level. The effective rate after gross-up is 42.86%. For this purpose, Mexican businesses must maintain a previously taxed earnings account
(Cuenta de Utilidad Fiscal Neta, or CUFIN).
Under existing Canadian-Mexico tax treaties, this dividend withholding tax rate is reduced to 5%.
Profit Sharing
Mexican companies are required to distribute to its employees 10% of the company’s adjusted taxable income of the business (known as “PTU”). The
PTU base is similar to taxable income for income tax purposes with certain exceptions, including no carry forwards of net operating losses. All employees
have a right to receive the PTU, with the exception of managing directors and board members. The PTU is currently under review along with the
“Proposed amendments to the Federal Labour Law on Labour Subcontracting” (see below).
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Net operating losses (“NOLs”) may be carried forward for 10 years; however, no carryback is allowed. The amount of NOLs that may be used in a
particular tax year is adjusted for inflation for the period from the first month of the second half of the tax year when the loss was incurred until the last
month of the first half of the tax year when the NOL is used.
Mining fees
The Mexican legislation includes several mining fees as follows:
a) Mining royalty fee of 7.5% on income before tax, depreciation and interest;
b) an extraordinary governmental fee on precious metals, including gold and silver, of 0.5% of gross revenues;
c) Mining fee for each hectare of concession land that varies according to the year of the concession.
Mining concession holders that fail to develop mining works in accordance with the Mining Law, during a consecutive two-year period within the first
eleven years of the term of the concession, will pay on a semi-annual basis an additional mining fee equivalent to 50% to the maximum current mining
duty. If the failure to carry out works remains unchanged, starting on the twelfth year, the additional fee will be doubled.
Tax Law for the State of Zacatecas
The Government of the State of Zacatecas published the Tax Law for the State of Zacatecas (Ley de Hacienda del Estado de Zacatecas), which came into
effect on January 1, 2017 and imposes environmental taxes on activities such as: (i) extraction of materials other than those regulated by the Federal
Mining Law; (ii) emissions to the atmosphere; (iii) discharges of industrial waste into the soil and water; and (iv) deposit of industrial waste.
Minera Juanicipio’s operations are in the State of Zacatecas, and this tax law will apply to the Juanicipio development once it is in production. Minera
Juanicipio challenged the legality of such taxes and in 2017 obtained an injunctive relief from a federal court, but the State of Zacatecas appealed this
decision. In 2019, the Supreme Court of Justice of the Nation issued a final ruling on the matter with respect to Minera Juanicipio, in which the Court
determined that:
1.

Two of the taxes are unconstitutional: (a) tax on extractive activities; and (b) tax on the deposit of industrial waste.

2.

The other two taxes were declared constitutional: (a) emissions to the atmosphere; and (b) discharge of industrial residues into the soil
and water.

The annual cost to Minera Juanicipio of complying with the two taxes is not considered significant at this time and management’s assessment is that it
will not have an impact on the viability of the Juanicipio Project.
Proposed amendments to the Federal Labour Law on Labour Subcontracting (or “outsourcing”)
On November 12, 2020, the President of Mexico submitted a bill to the Mexican Congress in order to amend various legal statutes intended to, amongst
other objectives, strictly regulate labour subcontracting (or “outsourcing”). In accordance with the proposed bill, an integral amendment would be carried
out to various legal statutes on tax, labour and social security matters, including the Federal Labor Law.
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an exception for specialized services under regulated circumstances; iii) to require a permit in order to carry out activities as an outsourcing company,
only for specialized services; and iv) to regulate the activities of employment agencies, provided that they will not be able to act as employers. As the
final form of the proposed bill, if passed, is yet to be determined, no attempt has been made to determine its potential impact on the viability or
profitability of the Juanicipio Project.
Other general tax amendments are referred to in the “Mexican Foreign Investment and Income Tax Laws apply to the Company” section in “Risk
Factors” below.
RISK FACTORS
The exploration, development and mining of natural resources are highly speculative in nature and are subject to significant risks. The risk factors noted
below do not necessarily comprise all those faced by the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Company or that the
Company currently considers immaterial may also impair its business, operations and future prospects.
If any of the following risks actually occur, the business of the Company may be harmed, and its financial condition and results of operations may suffer
significantly, along with a possible significant decline in the value and/or share price of the Company’s publicly traded stock.
The Company’s securities should be considered a highly speculative investment and investors should carefully consider all of the information disclosed in
the Company’s Canadian and U.S. regulatory filings prior to making an investment in the Company. Without limiting the foregoing, the following risk
factors should be given special consideration when evaluating an investment in the Company’s securities.
Risks Relating to the Company’s Business Operations
Mineral exploration and development is a highly speculative business and most exploration projects do not result in the discovery of commercially
mineable deposits.
Exploration for minerals and development of mining projects is a highly speculative venture necessarily involving substantial risk. The expenditures
made by the Company on exploration and development described herein may not result in discoveries of commercial quantities of minerals. The failure to
find an economic mineral deposit on any of the properties in which the Company has an interest will have a negative effect on the Company.
None of the properties in which the Company has an interest has any Mineral Reserves.
Currently, there are no Mineral Reserves (within the meaning of NI 43-101) on any of the properties in which the Company has an interest. Only those
mineral deposits that the Company can economically and legally extract or produce, based on a comprehensive evaluation of cost, grade, recovery and
other factors, are considered Mineral Reserves. Although Fresnillo has made statements that “Mineral Reserves” exist at Juanicipio Project, they are not
“Mineral Reserves” within the meaning of NI 43-101, and as such, no reliance should exist that they will in fact become “Mineral Reserves” within the
meaning of NI 43-101.
The Mineral Resource estimates contained in the 2017 PEA are Indicated and Inferred Mineral Resource estimates only and no assurance can be given
that any particular level of recovery of silver or other minerals from mineralized material will in fact be realized or that an identified mineralized deposit
will ever qualify as a commercially mineable mineral deposit. In particular, Inferred Mineral Resources are Mineral Resources for which quantity and
grade, or quality are estimated on the basis of limited geological evidence and sampling. Geological evidence is sufficient to imply but not verify
geological and grade or quality continuity. Therefore, Inferred Mineral Resources have a great amount of uncertainty as to their existence, and great
uncertainty as to their economic and legal feasibility, although it is reasonably expected that the majority of “Inferred Mineral Resources” could be
upgraded to “Indicated Mineral Resources” with continued exploration. Further, the economic assessment contained in the 2017 PEA is preliminary in
nature, and actual capital costs, operating costs, production, economic returns and other estimates contained in studies or estimates prepared by or for the
Company may differ from those described therein and herein, and there can be no assurance that actual costs will not be higher than anticipated.
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million, reflecting expenditures incurred on underground development, capital costs to develop the project, supporting infrastructure, and bringing
forward some capital to facilitate the underground mining. Substantial additional work, including mine design and mining schedules, metallurgical flow
sheets and process plant designs, would be required in order to determine the economic viability of the deposits on the Company’s properties. Additional
expenditures may be required to establish Mineral Reserves through drilling and metallurgical and other testing techniques. The costs, timing and
complexities of upgrading the mineralized material to Proven or Probable Mineral Reserves may be greater than the value of the Company’s reserves on a
mineral property and may require the Company to write-off the costs capitalized for that property in its financial statements. The Company cannot
provide any assurance that future feasibility studies will establish Mineral Reserves at its properties. The failure to establish Mineral Reserves could
restrict the Company’s ability to successfully implement its strategies for long-term growth.
Most exploration projects do not result in commercially mineable deposits.
Although the Juanicipio Project is under development and construction, and initial production has commenced, there is no certainty that the Juanicipio
Project or any of the Company’s other properties will have commercial quantities of minerals. The commercial viability of a mineral deposit is dependent
upon a number of factors which are beyond the Company’s control, including but not limited to the attributes of the deposit, commodity prices,
government policies and regulation and environmental protection. Fluctuations in the market prices of minerals may render resources and deposits
containing relatively lower grades of mineralization uneconomic. Further exploration or delineation will be required before a final evaluation as to the
economic and legal feasibility of any of the Company’s properties is determined. Even if the Company completes its exploration programs and is
successful in identifying additional mineral deposits, it will have to spend substantial funds on further drilling and engineering studies before it will know
if it has a commercially viable mineral deposit. Most exploration projects do not result in the discovery of commercially mineable mineral deposits.
Estimates of Mineral Reserves and Mineral Resources, mineral deposits and production costs can be affected by such factors as environmental permit
regulations and requirements, indigenous communities’ rights, weather, environmental factors, unforeseen technical difficulties, unusual or unexpected
geological formations and work interruptions. As a result, there is a risk such estimates are inaccurate. For example, the 2017 PEA includes a Mineral
Resource estimate prepared by AMC in accordance with NI 43- 101. The grade of precious and base metals ultimately discovered may differ from the
indicated drilling results. If the grade of the Mineral Resource was lower, there would be a negative impact on the economics of the Juanicipio Project.
There can be no assurance that precious metals recovered in small-scale tests will be duplicated in large-scale tests under on-site conditions or in
production scale. The probability of an individual prospect ever having Mineral Reserves is extremely remote. If a property does not contain any Mineral
Reserves, any funds spent on exploration and development of that property will be lost. The failure of the Company to find an economic mineral deposit
on any of its exploration concessions will have a negative effect on the Company.
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The Mineral Resource figures referred to in the 2017 PEA, this AIF and the documents incorporated herein by reference have been determined and valued
based on assumed future prices, cut-off grades and operating costs. However, until mineral deposits are actually mined and processed, any Mineral
Resources must be considered as estimates only. Fresnillo prepares its own internal Mineral Resource estimates annually in respect of the Juanicipio
Project and such estimates may be materially different than those relied upon by the Company. Any such estimates are expressions of judgment based on
knowledge, mining experience, analysis of drilling results and industry practices. Estimates can be imprecise and depend upon geological interpretation
and statistical inferences drawn from drilling and sampling analysis, which may prove to be unreliable. In addition, the grade and/or quantity of precious
metals ultimately recovered may differ from that indicated by drilling results.
There can be no assurance that precious and base metals recovered in small-scale tests will be duplicated in large-scale tests under on-site conditions or in
production scale. The grade of the reported Mineral Resource estimates are uncertain in nature and it is uncertain whether further technical studies will
result in an upgrade to them. Further drilling on the mineralized zones is required to complement the current bulk sample and add confidence in the
continuity of mineralized zones in comparison to the current block model. Any material change in the quantity of mineralization, grade or mineralization
to waste ratio or extended declines in market prices for silver and to a lesser extent prices for gold, zinc, lead and copper, may render portions of the
Company’s mineralization uneconomic and result in reduced reported mineralization. Any material reductions in estimates of mineralization, or of the
Company’s ability to extract this mineralization, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial condition.
Rights to use the surface of the Company’s mineral properties are not guaranteed.
The mineral properties in which the Company has an interest are generally located in remote and relatively uninhabited areas. Some properties, like the
Juanicipio Project, are near towns and other habitations, but there are currently no areas of interest to the Company within its mineral concessions that are
overlain by significant habitation or industrial users. However, there are potential overlapping surface usage issues in some areas. Some surface rights are
owned by local communities or “Ejidos” and some surface rights are owned by private ranching or residential interests. The Company will be required to
negotiate the acquisition of surface rights in those areas where it may wish to develop mining operations. In some areas the Company has been required or
is in the process of negotiating compensation for surface rights holders in order to secure right of access. In some areas, surface right compensation has
been negotiated and is awaiting formal government expropriation in its favour. The Company’s interest in a property or project could be adversely
affected by an inability to obtain surface access permissions, or by challenges, regardless of merit, to existing surface access agreements.
There is no guarantee that licenses and permits required by the Company or Minera Juanicipio to conduct business will be obtained, which may
result in an impairment or loss in the Company’s mineral properties.
The Company’s and Minera Juanicipio’s current and anticipated future operations, including further exploration, development and production activities
on the Company’s properties, require permits from various national, state/provincialand local governmental authorities. The Company and Minera
Juanicipio may not be able to obtain all necessary licenses and permits that may be required to carry out exploration, development and mining operations
at their projects. In addition, the grant of required licenses and permits may be delayed for reasons outside the Company’s and Minera Juanicipio’s
control. Failure to obtain such licenses and permits on a timely basis, or failure to comply with the terms of any such licenses and permits that the
Company and Minera Juanicipio do obtain, may adversely affect their respective business as the Company and Minera Juanicipio would be unable to
legally conduct their intended exploration, development, production of a commercially viable material, processing facility construction or mining work,
which may result in increased costs, delay in activities or the Company or Minera Juanicipio losing its interest in its mineral properties.
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The Company’s primary operations are currently conducted in a foreign jurisdiction, Mexico, and, as such, the Company’s operations are exposed to
various levels of political, economic and other such risks and uncertainties. Risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, extreme fluctuations in
currency exchange rates; high rates of inflation; labour unrest; the risks of war or civil unrest; expropriation and nationalization; renegotiation or
nullification of existing concessions, licenses, permits and contracts; illegal mining; changes in taxation policies; restrictions on foreign exchange and
repatriation; and changing political conditions, currency controls and governmental regulations that favour or require the awarding of contracts to local
contractors or require foreign contractors to employ citizens of, or purchase supplies from, a particular jurisdiction. In addition, there have recently been
reports of increased domestic and international political unrest, police and military enforcement action against drug cartels and a corresponding increase
in violent crime in Mexico.
Criminal activities, or the perception that criminal activities are likely, may disrupt operations, hamper the ability to hire and keep qualified personnel and
impair access to sources of capital. Risks associated with conducting business in the region include risks related to personnel safety and asset security.
Risks may include, but are not limited to, kidnappings of employees and contractors, exposure of employees and contractors to local crime related activity
and disturbances, exposure of employees and contractors to drug trade activity, and damage or theft including future gold shipments, if any. These risks
could result in serious adverse consequences including personal injuries or death, property damage or theft, limiting or disrupting operations, restricting
the movement of funds, impairing contractual rights and causing the Company to shut down operations, all of which may expose the Company to costs as
well as potential liability. Such events could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s cash flows, earnings, results of operations and financial
condition and make it more difficult for the Company to obtain required financing. Although the Company is developing procedures regarding these risks,
due to the unpredictable nature of criminal activities, there is no assurance that the Company’s efforts will effectively mitigate risks and safeguard
personnel and Company property.
In the past, Mexico has been subject to political instability, changes and uncertainties, which may cause changes to existing governmental regulations
affecting mineral exploration and mining activities. Mexico’s status as a developing country may make it more difficult for the Company to obtain any
required financing for its projects. Any changes in governmental laws, regulations, economic conditions or shifts in political attitudes or stability in
Mexico are beyond the control of the Company, and may adversely affect the Company’s business, including its interest in the Juanicipio Project.
Economic and political instability may affect the Company’s business.
The volatile global economic environment has created market uncertainty and volatility in recent years. Recent negative market trends and periods of
instability in the market for metal commodities and related products as a result of global economic uncertainty, reduced confidence in financial markets,
bank failures and credit availability concerns have been experienced in recent years. These macro-economic events negatively affected the mining and
minerals sectors in general, and the Company’s market capitalization has been significantly reduced in periods of market instabilities. Many industries,
including the mining industry, are impacted by these market conditions. Global financial conditions remain subject to sudden and rapid destabilizations in
response to economic shocks.
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conditions, inflation, fuel and energy costs, consumer debt levels, lack of available credit, the state of the financial markets, interest rates and tax rates,
may adversely affect the Company’s growth and profitability. Future economic shocks may be precipitated by a number of causes, including the ongoing
European debt situation, world health pandemics, a significant rise or significant decrease in the price of oil and other commodities, the volatility of metal
prices, geopolitical instability, terrorism, the devaluation and volatility of global stock markets and natural disasters. Any sudden or rapid destabilization
of global economic conditions could impact the Company’s ability to obtain equity or debt financing in the future on terms favorable to the Company or
at all. In such an event, the Company’s operations and financial condition could be adversely impacted.
There are no assurances with respect to the relative strength and stability of future metal markets. The Company’s liquidity and long-term ability to
raise the capital required to execute its business plans may be affected by market volatilities.
The Company’s future profitability and the viability of development depends in part upon the world market price of silver, and to a lesser extent other
metals including gold, lead, zinc and copper. Prices fluctuate widely and are affected by numerous factors beyond the Company’s control. The price of
silver is influenced by factors including industrial and retail supply and demand, exchange rates, inflation rates, changes in global economies, confidence
in the global monetary system, forward sales of silver and other metals by producers’ market activities, and speculators, as well as other global or regional
political, social or economic events. The supply of silver and other metals consists of a combination of new mine production and existing stocks held by
governments, producers, speculators and consumers, which could increase due to improved mining and production methods.
Prices and availability of commodities consumed or used in connection with exploration, development and mining, such as natural gas, diesel, oil and
electricity, also fluctuate, and these fluctuations affect the costs of production at various operations. These fluctuations can be unpredictable, can occur
over short periods of time and may have a material adverse impact on the Company’s operating costs or the timing and costs of various projects.
The Company assesses on a quarterly basis the carrying values of its mineral properties. Should market conditions and commodity prices worsen and
persist in a worsened state for a prolonged period of time, an impairment of the Company’s mineral properties may be required.
The Company’s activities may be impacted by the spread of COVID-19 or other virus outbreaks.
The current COVID-19 pandemic and any future emergence and spread of similar pathogens, could have an adverse impact on global economic
conditions which may adversely impact the Company’s operations, and the operations of the Company’s suppliers, contractors and service providers, and
may negatively impact future fiscal periods in the event of prolonged disruptions associated with the outbreak. A sustained slowdown in global growth or
demand, or a significant slowdown, could have an adverse effect on the price and/or demand for the Company’s products. COVID-19 and efforts to
contain it, including restrictions on travel and other advisories issued, may have a significant effect on metal prices and demand and potentially broader
impacts on the global economy.
Despite recent positive vaccine developments, the ongoing evolution of the development and distribution of effective vaccines also continues to raise
uncertainty. These uncertainties arise from the inability to predict the duration and severity of the outbreak, the timing and extent of global COVID-19
vaccine distribution and the long-term effectiveness of the vaccines. While the duration of the COVID-19 outbreak is unknown, it is anticipated that the
economic impact of the pandemic may cause reduced customer demand, supply chain disruptions and increased government regulations, all of which may
negatively impact the Company’s business and financial condition.
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nationwide in Mexico, including mining operations, until May 30, 2020. Fresnillo, the operator of Juanicipio, was in regular consultation with Mexican
Government officials during the suspension to determine the most appropriate compliance approach while attempting to minimize the overall impact on
project development. Any future COVID-19 related suspensions imposed by the Mexican Government could have a material adverse impact on the
Company, as they could cause delays in the development timeline and/or increased costs. Any such delays could result in the failure to meet the
previously announced timetable for beginning production and processing at the Juanicipio Project. In addition, Mexican authorities could impose new or
additional requirements resulting in further limitations on the activities, or the suspension of all activities, at the Juanicipio Project.
Subsequent to the year end, Fresnillo reported that commissioning of the Juanicipio processing plant was now expected to commence in Q4-2021, a few
months later than previously reported as some infrastructure contracts had been delayed due to COVID-19, and related to COVID-19 preventive measures
implemented at site. Any further COVID-19 related delays could result in the failure to this amended timetable for beginning production and processing
mineralized material at the Juanicipio processing plant.
As well, in the event of an outbreak of COVID-19 at the Juanicipio Project, Fresnillo could determine that a full suspension of all of its operations is
necessary for the safety and protection of the workers. A complete suspension of underground development and production at the Juanicipio Project could
result in further delays in the development of the project, result in additional increases in costs and have a material adverse effect on the financial position
of the Company. The total amount that the Company is required to finance in order to maintain its proportionate ownership in the project may increase
from these and other consequences of the COVID-19 outbreak.
In addition, any future emergence and spread of COVID-19 or similar pathogens, could have a material adverse impact on global economic conditions,
which may adversely impact: the market price of the Common Shares, the Company’s operations, its ability to raise debt or equity financing for the
purposes of mineral exploration and development, delay of certain infrastructure contracts, and the operations of the Company’s suppliers, contractors
and service providers.
Emerging climate change regulations could result in significant costs and climate change may result in physical risks to a mining company’s
operations.
Governments are moving to introduce climate change legislation and treaties at the international, national, state/provincial and local levels. Regulations
relating to emission levels (such as carbon taxes) and energy efficiency are becoming more stringent. If the current regulatory trend continues, the
Company expects that this could result in increased costs at its operations. In addition, the physical risks of climate change may also have an adverse
effect on the Company’s operations. These physical risks include changes in rainfall rates, rising sea levels, reduced water availability, higher
temperatures, increased snowpack and extreme weather events. Such events could materially disrupt the Company’s operations if they affect the Project
site, impact local infrastructure or threaten the health and safety of the Company’s employees and contractors, and there can be no assurances that the
Company will be able to predict, respond to, measure, monitor or manage the risks posed as a result of climate change factors. Climate-related risks could
also result in shifts in demand for certain commodities, including precious metals. The Company’s own operations are exposed to climate-related risks as
a result of geographical location. The Company has sought to reduce its environmental footprint and located its operations in appropriate facilities;
however, the Company’s operations may be adversely affected by climate change factors. Therefore, such an event could result in material economic
harm to the Company.
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international initiatives on climate change. While some of the costs associated with reducing emissions may be offset by increased energy efficiency and
technological innovation, the Company expects that increased government regulation will result in increased costs at some its mining operations if the
current regulatory trend continues.
The occurrence of any climate change violation or enforcement action may have an adverse impact on the Company’s operations, the Company’s
reputation and could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations. As well, environmental hazards may exist on a property in which the owners or
operators of the mining projects which were caused by third parties and of which such owners or operators are not aware at present and which could
impair the commercial success, levels of production and continued feasibility and project development and mining operations on these properties.
Community relations may affect the Company’s business, including its interest in the Juanicipio Project.
Maintaining a positive relationship with the communities in which the Company operates, including with respect to the Juanicipio Project, is critical to
continuing successful exploration, development and mining operations. As Fresnillo is the operator of the Juanicipio Project, the community relations
maintained with respect to that project lie outside the direct control of the Company. Community support for operations is a key component of a
successful exploration, development and operation of the project. As a business in the mining industry, the Company may come under pressure in the
jurisdictions in which it explores, develops and operates, to demonstrate that other stakeholders benefit and will continue to benefit from the Company’s
commercial activities. The Company may face opposition with respect to the Company’s current and future development, exploration projects and mining
operations which could materially adversely affect the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and share price.
Risks Relating to Financing the Company’s Business Operations
Substantial expenditures are required for commercial operations and if financing for such expenditures is not available on acceptable terms, the
Company may not be able to justify commercial operations.
Substantial expenditures are required to establish Mineral Reserves through drilling, to develop processes to extract the Mineral Resources and, in the
case of new properties, to develop the mining and processing facilities and infrastructure at any site chosen for extraction. Although substantial benefits
may be derived from the discovery of a major deposit, Mineral Resources may not be discovered in sufficient quantities to justify commercial operations,
or the funds required for development may not be obtained at all or on terms acceptable to the Company.
The Company’s expenditures are currently funded from its cash balances, which are the proceeds of previous equity financings. The Company may
require additional capital in the future from either equity or debt offerings to meet its project-related expenditures, as it is possible that the Company will
not generate sufficient operating cash flow to meet all of its future expenditure requirements. The COVID-19 pandemic may make raising such capital
difficult.
The Company has a history of losses and values attributed to the Company’s assets may not be realizable.
The Company has a history of losses and, prior to 2020, no revenues from operations. The revenues generated at Juanicipio in 2020 from development
material being processed through the Fresnillo processing plant, net of processing and treatment charges, is being used by the joint venture to offset initial
project capital cash requirements.
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its financial statements represent acquisition, exploration and development costs and should not be taken to represent realizable value with certainty. The
Company anticipates continued losses until the project enters into commercial production on a profitable basis. If the Company is unable to generate
revenues with respect to its properties on a consistent basis, the Company will not be able to earn profits which would adversely affect its business and
prospects.
The Company’s future liquidity will depend upon its ability to arrange additional debt or equity financing.
The Company’s future liquidity is dependent upon the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the development of its
interests and achieve profitable production or, alternatively, upon the Company’s ability to dispose of its interests on a profitable basis. Given the
Company has incurred losses from inception and does not have any operating cash flow, there can be no assurance that additional capital or financing will
be available if needed or that, if available, the terms of such financings will be acceptable to the Company. If the Company raises additional funds
through the sale of equity securities or securities convertible into equity securities, shareholders may have their equity interest in the Company diluted.
Adequate funding may not be available, resulting in the possible loss or dilution of the Company’s interests in its properties.
Sufficient funding may not be available to the Company for further exploration, development and operation of its property interests. The COVID-19
pandemic may prevent the Company from being able to raise adequate funding on attractive terms, or at all. Failure to obtain such additional financing
could result in delay or indefinite postponement of further exploration, development and operation of the Company’s properties. If the Company becomes
unable to meet its share of costs incurred under agreements to which it is a party, the Company may have its property interests subject to such agreements
reduced as a result or even face termination of such agreements. In the case of the Juanicipio Project, all costs relating to the project are required to be
shared by the Company and Fresnillo pro-rata based on their ownership interests in Minera Juanicipio, and if either party does not fund pro-rata, their
ownership interest will be diluted in accordance with the Shareholders’ Agreement.
The Company has an option to earn-in to the Deer Trail Project, and also has options to acquire interests in other mineral property claims. In order to
obtain ownership of such mineral claims, it must make payments to the current owners and incur certain exploration expenditures on those properties.
Accordingly, additional financing will be required to secure ownership of these mineral properties. Failure of the Company to make the requisite
payments in the prescribed time periods may result in the Company losing its entire interest in the subject property and the Company will no longer be
able to conduct certain aspects of its business as described in this AIF.
The Company may not have sufficient funds to: (a) fund its proportionate share of the Minera Juanicipio required capital contributions; (b) fund the
required annual exploration expenditures and royalty payments under the Deer Trail Agreement; (c) make the minimum expenditures to maintain its
properties in good standing under applicable laws; (d) make the corresponding payments of semi-annual governmental (mining) duties to maintain its
properties in good standing under applicable law; and (e) make the minimum expenditures to earn its interest in such properties. In such event, in respect
of any of the properties, the Company may dilute its interest in such property interest, seek to enter into a joint venture, sell the subject property or elect to
terminate its option.
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and additional capital may not be available when needed, if at all.
Risks Relating to the Development of the Juanicipio Project
Juanicipio Development Decision
On April 11, 2019, Fresnillo and MAG as shareholders of Minera Juanicipio, jointly announced formal approval of the Juanicipio mine development plan.
On February 24, 2020, Fresnillo and MAG as shareholders of Minera Juanicipio, jointly announced that mineralized material would be mined from the
underground mine starting in mid-2020 (commenced August 2020) and that mineralized material will be processed in the Fresnillo plant until the Minera
Juanicipio processing plant is completed. Commissioning of the Minera Juanicipio processing plant is now expected to begin in Q4-2021. The actual
scope, design and operating results of the Juanicipio Project will differ from the scope, design and results envisaged in the 2017 PEA. While the results of
the 2017 PEA are promising, by definition a Preliminary Economic Assessment is preliminary in nature and includes Inferred Mineral Resources that are
considered too geologically speculative to have the economic considerations applied to them that would enable them to be categorized as Mineral
Reserves. Mineral Resources that are not Mineral Reserves do not demonstrate economic viability and there is no certainty that Mineral Resources will
ever become Mineral Reserves. There can therefore be no certainty that the results in the 2017 PEA will be realized. In addition, the 2017 PEA was
commissioned independently by MAG, and not by Minera Juanicipio. Fresnillo is the project operator and the actual development plan and timeline may
be materially different. As a result, there are additional risks as to the extent of capital and operating costs, mineral recovery and financial viability of the
project.
Uncertainties and risks relating to the start-up of the Juanicipio Project.
The Company is subject to inherent uncertainties and risks related to the construction, commissioning and start-up of the Juanicipio Project, the principal
of which include: problems with the completion and start-up of the processing plant; delays associated with contractors; delays associated with COVID19; delays associated with production timelines; budget overruns due to changes in costs of power, fuel, labour, materials and supplies; and potential
opposition from non-governmental organizations, environmental groups or local groups which may delay or prevent activities.
The Company has prepared estimates of capital costs and/or operating costs for the Juanicipio Project, but no assurance can be given that such estimates
will be achieved. Failure to achieve cost estimates or material increases in costs could have an adverse impact in future cash flows, profitability, results of
operations and financial condition. It is common in new mining operations to experience such unexpected costs, problems and delays during construction,
development and mine start-up. In addition, delays in the commencement of mineral production often occur. Accordingly, the Company cannot provide
assurance that its activities will result in profitable mining operations at the Juanicipio Project.
The Company is subject to construction risks.
As a result of the substantial expenditures involved in development projects, developments are prone to material cost overruns versus budget. The capital
expenditures and time required to develop new mines are considerable and changes in cost or construction schedules can significantly increase both the
time and capital required to build the project.
Construction costs and timelines can be impacted by a wide variety of factors, many of which are beyond the control of the Company. These include, but
are not limited to, weather conditions, ground conditions, performance of the mining fleet and availability of appropriate material required for
construction, availability and performance of contractors and suppliers, delivery and installation of equipment, design changes, accuracy of estimates and
availability of accommodations for the workforce.
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obtain these government approvals is often beyond the control of the Company and may also be affected by COVID-19 travel and site visit restrictions. A
delay in start-up or commercial production would increase capital costs and delay receipt of revenues.
Development projects such as the Juanicipio Project are uncertain and it is possible that actual capital and operating costs and economic returns will
differ significantly from those estimated for a project prior to production.
The development of the mine at the Juanicipio Project requires significant expenditures to complete the development phase and to achieve planned
production targets. The economic feasibility of development projects is based on many factors such as: estimation of mineral reserves, anticipated
metallurgical recoveries, environmental considerations and permitting, future silver prices, and anticipated capital and operating costs of such projects.
The Juanicipio Project has no estimated Mineral Reserves upon which to confirm economic feasibility and limited operating history upon which to base
estimates of future production and cash operating costs. Estimate of resources and anticipated cash operating costs are, to a large extent, based upon the
interpretation of geologic data obtained from drill holes and other sampling techniques, and other factors. As a result, it is possible that actual capital and
operating costs and economic returns will significantly differ from those currently estimated for the Juanicipio Project prior to production.
Any of the following events, among others, could affect the profitability of the Juanicipio Project: unanticipated changes in grades and tonnes of
development and mineralized stope material to be mined and processed; unanticipated adverse geologic conditions; unanticipated metallurgical recovery
problems; incorrect data on which engineering assumptions are made; availability of labour; costs of processing and refining facilities; delays related to
COVID-19; availability of economic sources of power; adequacy of water supply; adequate access to the site; unanticipated transportation costs;
government regulations (including regulations with respect to the environment, prices, royalties, duties, taxes, permitting, restrictions on production,
quotas on exportation of minerals); fluctuations in silver prices; and accidents, labour actions and force majeure events.
The Company’s capital and operating costs, production schedules and economic returns are based on certain assumptions which may prove to be
inaccurate.
The Company’s expected capital and operating costs, production estimates, anticipated economic returns and other projections, estimates and forecasts for
its mineral properties that are included in this AIF are based on assumed or estimated future metals prices, cut-off grades, operating costs, capital costs,
metallurgical recoveries, that the actual ore mined is amenable to mining or treatment, environmental considerations, labour volumes, permitting and
other factors, any of which may prove to be inaccurate. The 2017 PEA includes estimates of future production, development plans, operating costs,
capital costs and other economic and technical estimates for the Juanicipio Project. These estimates are based on a variety of factors and assumptions and
there is no assurance that such production plans, costs or other estimates will be achieved. Actual production, costs and financial returns may vary
significantly from the estimates depending on a variety of factors, many of which are not within the Company’s control.
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Significant declines in market prices for gold, silver and other metals could have an adverse effect on the Company’s economic projections. Management
of the Company assumes that the materials and supplies required for operations, development and commercial production will be available for purchase
and that the Company will have access to the required amount of sufficiently skilled labour. As the Company relies on certain third-party suppliers and
contractors, these factors can be outside its control and an increase in the costs of, or a lack of availability of, commodities, goods and labour may have an
adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition. The Company may experience difficulty in obtaining the necessary permits for its exploration,
development or operational activities, if such permits are obtained at all, and may face penalties as a result of violations of permits or other environmental
laws, which may cause delays and increases to projected budgets. Any of these discrepancies from the Company’s expected capital and operating costs,
production schedules and economic returns could cause a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.
The Company has in the past, and may in the future, provide estimates and projections of its future production, costs and financial results. In addition,
Fresnillo, as operator of the Juanicipio Project, has in the past, and may in the future, provide estimates and projections of future production, costs and
financial results expected form Juanicipio. Any such information provided by the Company and/or Fresnillo, is forward looking. Neither the Company’s
auditors nor any other independent expert or outside party compiles or examines these forward- looking statements. Accordingly, no such person
expresses any opinion or any other form of assurance with respect thereto. Such estimates are made by the Company’s management and technical
personnel and are qualified by, and subject to the assumptions, contained or referred to in the filing, release or presentation in which they are made,
including assumptions about the availability, accessibility, sufficiency and quality of mineralized material, the Company’s costs of production, the market
prices of silver, gold and other metals, the Company’s ability to sustain and increase production levels, the ability to produce and sell marketable
concentrates, the sufficiency of its infrastructure, the performance of its personnel and equipment, its ability to maintain and obtain mining interests and
permits, the state of the government and community relations, and its compliance with existing and future laws and regulations. Actual results and
experience may differ materially from these assumptions. Failure to achieve estimates or material increases costs could have a material adverse impact on
the Company’s future cash flows, profitability, results of operations and financial condition. Any such production, cost, or financial results estimates
speak only as of the date on which they are made, and the Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update such estimates, whether as a result of
new information, future events or otherwise. Accordingly, these forward-looking statements should be considered in the context in which they are made,
and undue reliance should not be placed on them.
The Company may encounter certain transportation and refining risks that could have a negative impact on its operations.
Mined materials and mineral concentrates containing combinations of metals that may be produced at the Juanicipio Project would be transported to
refiners and smelters. This type of process involves certain environmental and financial risks. The Company could be subject to potential significant
increases in transportation charges and treatment and refining charges. Transportation of such materials and mineral concentrates is also subject to
numerous risks including, but not limited to, delays in delivery of shipments, roadblocks, theft and other criminal activities, civil unrest, weather
conditions and environmental liabilities in the event of an accident or spill. The Company could be subject to limited smelter availability and capacity and
could also face the risk of a potential interruption of business from a third-party beyond the Company’s control, which in both cases could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, operations, financial performance and financial condition. There is no assurance that smelting, refining or
transportation contracts for the Juanicipio Project’s production will be entered into and/or renewed on acceptable terms or that the counterparties to such
contracts will meet their respective obligations thereunder. If the Company is unable to effectively process and refine its materials and mineral
concentrates on acceptable terms or if the counterparties to any smelting, refining and transportation contracts fail to meet their respective obligations
thereunder, the Company’s business, operations, financial performance and financial condition could be materially adversely impacted.
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and other matters.
The continued development of the Juanicipio Project will require access to and an ability to maintain adequate and reliable infrastructure, including roads,
power sources and water systems. If the required infrastructure is not readily available, it may have to be built, and there is no assurance that it can be
built in a timely manner or at all. There is no assurance that Minera Juanicipio can access and maintain the infrastructure needed, or, where necessary,
obtain rights of way, government authorizations and permits to construct, or upgrade the same at a reasonable cost, in a timely manner, or at all. Access to
infrastructure may also be interrupted by natural causes, such as drought, floods, earthquakes and other weather phenomena, or man-made causes, such as
blockades, sabotage, conflicts, government issues, political events, protests, rationing or competing uses, as well as global pandemics.
Inadequate, inconsistent, or costly infrastructure could compromise many aspects of the project’s feasibility, viability and profitability, including, but not
limited to the construction schedule, capital and operating costs. In addition, the recent outbreak of COVID-19 could result in development being delayed.
Ground water levels could affect the Juanicipio Project development.
As identified in the 2017 PEA, substantial ground water may be encountered at the Juanicipio Project, and a detailed hydrogeological study has not been
carried out for the planned mine currently being developed. Further understanding of the likely quantity of ground water is required and will be gained
from a hydrogeological study, which is a recommendation contained within the 2017 PEA. Until such hydrogeological study is completed, the impact of
underground water on the Juanicipio Project development is unknown and may affect the project’s feasibility and profitability.
The continued development of the Juanicipio Project may be adversely impacted by a lack of access to a skilled workforce.
The continued development of the Juanicipio Project will depend on availability of a skilled workforce, including, but not limited to, mining and mineral,
metallurgical and geological engineers, geologists, environmental and safety specialists, and mining operators to explore and develop the project.
Inadequate access to an available skilled workforce (including as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak), could compromise many aspects of the project’s
feasibility, viability and profitability, including, but not limited to, the construction and production schedules, capital and operating costs.
Labour Risks
The Juanicipio Project is and will be dependent on its workforce, and that of its contractors, to extract and process minerals, and is therefore sensitive to
its ability to source skilled labour in country, to a labour disruption of the project’s mining activities or to changes to laws. Fresnillo, as operator of the
Juanicipio Project, endeavours to maintain good relations with its workforce and contractors in order to minimize the possibility of strikes, lockouts and
other stoppages at its work sites. Relations between the Juanicipio Project and its employees and contractors may be impacted by changes in labour
relations that may be introduced by, among other things, employee groups, unions and the relevant governmental authorities in Mexico. As Juanicipio’s
operations depend upon the efforts of its employees and contractors, the operations would be adversely affected if it failed to maintain satisfactory labour
relations. As the Juanicipio Project advances into production and its own processing facility, its labour force is not expected to be unionized, and the
introduction of a labour union could result in a disruption to production and/or higher costs and reduced flexibility. In addition, relations between the
Company and its employees and contractors may be affected by changes in labour and employment laws. Changes in such legislation or in the
relationship between the Juanicipio Project and its employees and contractors may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of
operations, financial condition or prospects.
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consistent with the 2017 PEA.
The 2017 PEA was commissioned independently by MAG, and not by the Juanicipio Joint Venture. The mine plan and mine design envisioned in the
2017 PEA are based on both an Inferred Mineral Resources and Indicated Mineral Resources and reflects a processing capacity of 4,000 tonnes per day,
expanded underground workings and the sinking of an internal shaft (or winze) to access the Deep Zone (as defined in the 2017 PEA). The underground
development to date, has, to the extent applicable, incorporated the mine plan and design envisioned in the 2017 PEA. Although the Company believes
the 2017 PEA reflects the mine plan and design that Fresnillo as operator is building and will operate, Fresnillo may adopt alternate mine plans and other
changes, and the scope of operations, if any, may differ materially from that presented in the 2017 PEA.
Although Fresnillo has indicated to the Company that the permits for mine plan and design were received in 2018, there is no assurance that future
required permits will be issued on a timely basis or at all (See “There is no guarantee that licenses and permits required by the Company or Minera
Juanicipio to conduct business will be obtained, which may result in an impairment or loss in the Company’s mineral properties” in “Risk Factors”
above).
As well, the preliminary economic assessment set out in the 2017 PEA is preliminary in nature and includes Inferred Mineral Resources that are
considered too speculative geologically to have the economic considerations applied to them that would enable them to be categorized as Mineral
Reserves and there is no certainty that the estimates described in the 2017 PEA will be realized. There is no guarantee that development and construction
will be completed in accordance with the 2017 PEA, and if completed, that operating or financial results will be consistent with the 2017 PEA.
In response to the COVID-19 virus outbreak, in April 2020 the Mexican Government ordered a temporary suspension of all “non-essential” operations
nationwide in Mexico, including mining operations, until May 30, 2020. Fresnillo, the Juanicipio Project operator, was in regular consultation with
Mexican Government officials to ensure Minera Juanicipio’s compliance with the order. Fresnillo advised the Company that while the order was in effect,
underground development continued under government mandated hygiene protocols, while surface construction work and surface-based drilling were
temporarily halted. All work resumed late in the second quarter with a phased restart having commenced on June 1, 2020.
In further response to the COVID-19, Fresnillo as operator, continues to closely monitor the spread of the virus and implement a range of safety measures
following guidelines in accordance with the World Health Organization and Mexican authorities. These include stringent monitoring and hygiene,
temperature screening, and social distancing. Testing and contact tracing have been used to identify potential cases and prevent the spread of the virus.
Fresnillo maintains an open dialogue with government officials at both the federal and local levels.
The impact of this pandemic could create or include significant COVID-19 specific costs, volatility in the prices for silver and other metals, further
restrictions or temporary closures, additional travel restraints, supply chain disruptions and workforce interruptions, including loss of life. Depending on
the duration and extent of the impact of COVID-19, this could materially impact the Company’s financial performance, cash flows and financial position,
and could result in material changes to the costs and time for the completion of development at Juanicipio. The total amount that the Company is required
to finance in order to maintain its proportionate ownership in the project may increase from these and other consequences of the COVID-19 outbreak.
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The continued development and operation of the Juanicipio Project will use a significant amount of commodities, consumables and other materials. Prices
for steel, concrete, fuel and other materials, commodities and consumables required for mine development can be volatile and price changes can be
substantial, occur over short periods of time and be affected by factors beyond control of the project operator. Higher costs for construction materials like
steel and concrete, the impact of the Mexican peso exchange rate on various development inputs, or tighter supplies can affect the costs and timing of the
project development.
The continued development of the Juanicipio Project will also utilize significant amounts of large and small equipment that may be critical to the
development, construction and operation of the project. Repeated and/or unexpected equipment failures and/or unavailability of equipment could cause
interruptions or delays in the development and construction and could have a material adverse effect on the project costs and timeline.
Although Fresnillo has indicated that it now expects the Juanicipio plant to commence commissioning in Q4-2021 and reach 40-50% of nameplate
capacity by year-end and 90-95% in 2022, there are no assurances that production will be achieved by that date and at those levels, or that it will be
consistent with the 2017 PEA. On February 24, 2020, Fresnillo and MAG as shareholders of Minera Juanicipio, jointly announced that the estimates from
January 1, 2018 of initial project capital had been revised to $440 million for the Juanicipio Project inclusive of capitalized operating costs (MAG’s 44%
share being $193.6 million), to be incurred prior to the envisaged commencement of commercial operations. As neither Minera Juanicipio nor the
Company has completed a pre-feasibility study or feasibility study on the Juanicipio Project, these estimates and estimates within the 2017 PEA are
subject to uncertainty. The 2017 PEA is preliminary in nature and there is no certainty that the estimates described in it will be realized. Any changes in
the mine plan, mine design and/or scope of operations from those envisioned in the 2017 PEA, may have a significant adverse impact on capital costs or
timing to start-up, than is currently expected.
Risks Relating to the Company’s Property Titles
The Company’s mineral properties are subject to title risk and any challenge to the title to any of such properties may have a negative impact on the
Company.
The Company’s mineral property rights, including its indirect interest in the Juanicipio Project, may be subject to prior unregistered agreements, transfers
and claims, and title may be affected by, among other things, undetected defects. Title to, and the area of, the mineral interests held by the Company may
be disputed. A full investigation of legal title to the Company’s property interests has not been carried out at this time. Accordingly, title to these property
interests may be in doubt. Other parties may dispute title or access to the properties in which the Company has an interest. The Company’s property
interests may also be subject to prior unregistered agreements or transfers or land claims, and title may be affected by such undetected defects. Any
challenge to the title or access to any of the properties in which the Company has an interest may have a negative impact on the Company as the
Company will incur delay and expenses in defending such challenge and, if the challenge is successful, the Company may lose any interest it may have in
the subject property.
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Although the Company has or will receive title opinions for any concessions in which it has or will acquire a material interest, there is no guarantee that
title to such concessions will not be challenged or impugned. In Mexico, a title opinion does not provide absolute comfort that the holder has
unconditional or absolute title. Any challenge to the title or access to any of the properties in which the Company has an interest, including its indirect
interest in the Juanicipio Project, may have a negative impact on the Company as the Company will incur expenses in defending such challenge and, if the
challenge is successful, the Company may lose any interest it may have in the subject property.
Titles to the properties in which the Company has an interest that are not registered in the name of the Company may result in potential title disputes
having a negative impact on the Company.
All of the agreements under which the Company may earn interests in properties, including any indirect interest acquired through Minera Juanicipio, have
either been registered or been submitted for registration with the Mexican Public Registry of Mining or the applicable US authority, but title relating to
the properties in which the Company may earn its interests may be held in the names of parties other than the Company. Any of such properties may
become the subject of an agreement which conflicts with the agreement pursuant to which the Company may earn its interest, in which case the Company
may incur expenses in resolving any dispute relating to its interest in such property and such a dispute could result in the delay, indefinite postponement
of further exploration, development, construction and operation of properties or the possible loss of such properties.
Risks Related to Minority Interest Investment in the Juanicipio Project
The Company is a minority shareholder and non-operator of Minera Juanicipio and therefore is dependent on, and subject to, the decisions of the
majority shareholder and operator of the project.
Although the Company has representation on both the Minera Juanicipio Board and Technical Committee, the terms of the Shareholders’ Agreement
governing the operation of Minera Juanicipio, as well as its corporate by-laws, provide effective control to Fresnillo over many of the activities and
operating decisions of Minera Juanicipio since it holds a majority (56%) of the shares of Minera Juanicipio. While a limited number of decisions of the
shareholders or the directors of Minera Juanicipio require a special majority of 60%, and in one instance 75%, giving the Company an effective veto over
any such decisions, the Company is a minority shareholder and non-operator of Minera Juanicipio and is dependent on Fresnillo to manage and operate
the affairs of Minera Juanicipio and to do so in compliance with the Shareholders’ Agreement (which, among other things, requires Fresnillo to manage
and operate the joint venture in accordance with best industry practices), the by-laws of Minera Juanicipio and applicable Mexican law. If Fresnillo
manages the affairs of Minera Juanicipio in a manner that results in violation(s) of the Shareholders’ Agreement, by-laws and applicable laws, such
violation(s) may have an adverse impact on the Company. Any disputes under the Shareholders’ Agreement are subject to arbitration in Mexico under
Mexican Law.
Fresnillo, as operator of the Juanicipio Project, has the ability to undertake certain actions, legal or otherwise, which may result in the shareholders of
Minera Juanicipio having to fund cash calls. The Shareholders’ Agreement calls for adjustments to the interests of the shareholders in Minera Juanicipio
where either shareholder fails to fund cash calls within certain specified periods. If the Company fails to fund cash calls, it risks having its interest
reduced, may lose its effective veto power over certain decisions and ultimately could be diluted out of Minera Juanicipio altogether. Fresnillo is a much
larger entity with far greater access to financial resources than the Company.
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matters. The Company’s lack of control over such matters could have an adverse impact on the Company.
The Company holds its Juanicipio Project interest through a joint venture and therefore may be adversely impacted by disputes amongst the joint
venture shareholders.
The Company’s 44% interest in the Juanicipio Project is also subject to the risks normally associated with the conduct of incorporated joint ventures. The
existence or occurrence of one or more of the following circumstances and events, for example, could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s
operations and financial condition or the viability of its interests held through joint ventures: disagreement between joint venture shareholders on how to
conduct business efficiently; inability of joint venture shareholders to meet their obligations to the joint venture or third parties; or litigation arising
between joint venture shareholders.
The joint venture in respect of the Juanicipio Project is organized through a corporation (Minera Juanicipio) that is formed under and governed by the
laws of Mexico. The laws in Mexico do not provide all of the same protections that are available to shareholders of corporations that are formed under the
laws of Canada or the United States. Accordingly, any dispute between the Company and Fresnillo as the shareholders of Minera Juanicipio could have a
materially adverse effect on the Company.
In 2010, MAG initiated arbitration proceedings with the International Court of Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce. In May 2011, the
Company announced that it had received a favourable ruling, dated April 28, 2011, of a three-member arbitral panel of the International Court of
Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce with respect to the arbitration proceedings against Fresnillo. In its ruling, the arbitral tribunal
awarded MAG U.S.$1.86 million in damages. Although this dispute between the Company and Fresnillo was ultimately determined in favour of the
Company, there can be no guarantee that future disputes between the parties will not arise and lead to further litigation proceedings, the outcome of which
is uncertain.
The Company has significant shareholders that may be able to exert influence over the direction of the Company’s business.
Based upon the Company’s review of the insider reports filed with System for Electronic Disclosure by Insiders with respect to Fresnillo, Blackrock
Investment Management (“Blackrock”), and Sprott Inc. (“Sprott”), and their respective affiliates, as at the date of this AIF, the Company believes that
each holds approximately 10.34%, 7.03%, and 5.47%, respectively, of the Company’s Common Shares. Accordingly, Fresnillo, Blackrock and Sprott,
either in unison and/or individually, may have significant influence in determining the outcome of any corporate transaction or other matter submitted to
the shareholders of the Company for approval, including business combinations and any proposed sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.
Unless full participation of a number of shareholders takes place in such shareholder meetings, Fresnillo, Blackrock and/or Sprott may be able to approve
on its own, or effectively prevent the approval, of any such significant corporate transactions.
Further, the significant ownership of Common Shares by Fresnillo, Blackrock and Sprott may affect the market price and liquidity of the Common
Shares. The effect of these rights and their influence may impact the price that investors are willing to pay for Common Shares. If any of these parties
sells a substantial number of Common Shares in the public market, the market price of the shares could decrease.
The presence of a dominant shareholder like Fresnillo, that is the operator of the Juanicipio Project, and has substantial property holdings surrounding the
Juanicipio Project, may give rise to potential conflicts of interest, as Fresnillo’s interests may differ from, or be averse to, the interests of the Company’s
other shareholders. Without the consent and cooperation of Fresnillo, Minera Juanicipio may be prevented from entering into transactions that would be
beneficial to the Company and its other shareholders.
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The Company or Minera Juanicipio may be subject to litigation, the disposition of which could negatively affect the Company’s profits to varying
degrees.
All industries, including the mining industry, are subject to legal claims, with and without merit. Due to the nature of its business, each of the Company
and Minera Juanicipio may, in the future, be subject to claims (including class action claims and claims from government regulatory bodies) based on
allegations of negligence, breach of statutory duty, public nuisance or private nuisance or otherwise in connection with its operations or investigations
relating thereto. Defense and settlement costs can be substantial, even with respect to claims that have no merit. Due to the inherent uncertainty of the
litigation process, the litigation process could take away from management time and effort and there can be no assurance that the resolution of any
particular legal proceeding will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operations and financial position. Results of litigation are inherently
uncertain and there can be no assurances as to the final outcome. The Company’s liability insurance may not fully cover such claims. See also “The
Company holds its Juanicipio Project interest through a joint venture and therefore may be adversely impacted by disputes amongst the joint venture
shareholders.”
Environmental regulations are becoming more onerous to comply with, and the cost of compliance with environmental regulations and changes in
such regulations may reduce the profitability of the Company’s operations and Minera Juanicipio’s operations.
Environmental legislation on a global basis is evolving in a manner that will ensure stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for
non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessment of proposed development, the possibility of affected parties pursuing class action lawsuits and
a higher level of responsibility for companies and their officers, directors and employees. The Company’s operations and the operations of Minera
Juanicipio at the Juanicipio Project are subject to environmental regulations promulgated by government agencies from time to time. Environmental
legislation provides for restrictions and prohibitions of spills, release or emission of various substances produced in association with certain mining
industry operations, such as seepage from tailing storage facilities, which could result in environmental pollution. Failure to comply with such legislation
may result in the imposition of fines and penalties. In addition, certain types of operations require submissions to and approval of environmental impact
assessments. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which means stricter standards and enforcement, and more stringent fines and penalties
for non-compliance. Environmental assessments of proposed projects carry a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and directors, officers and
employees. The cost of compliance with environmental regulations and changes in such regulations may reduce the profitability of the Company’s
operations and the operations of Minera Juanicipio. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may require significant capital outlays on behalf
of the Company and Minera Juanicipio and may cause material changes or delays in the Company’s and Minera Juanicipio’s intended activities. The
environmental impact assessments may impose the condition to the Company or Minera Juanicipio of obtaining the authorization from the indigenous
communities where the mining activities are to be carried out.
Mineral exploration is a highly competitive industry.
The mineral exploration, development and production industry is intensely competitive in all of its phases and the Company must compete in all aspects
of its operations with a substantial number of large established mining companies with greater liquidity, greater access to credit and other financial
resources, newer or more efficient equipment, lower cost structures, more effective risk management policies and procedures and/or greater ability than
the Company to withstand losses. The Company’s competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new laws or regulations or emerging technologies
or devote greater resources to the expansion of their operations, than the Company can. In addition, current and potential competitors may make strategic
acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties. Competition could adversely affect the Company’s ability to
acquire suitable new producing properties or prospects for exploration in the future. Competition could also affect the Company’s ability to raise
financing to fund the exploration, development and operation of its properties or to hire qualified personnel. The Company may not be able to compete
successfully against current and future competitors, and any failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial
condition or results of operations.
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The majority of the Company’s interests in mineral properties are located in remote and relatively uninhabited areas. Such mineral properties, including
the Company’s interest in the Juanicipio Project, will require adequate infrastructure, such as roads, bridges and sources of power and water, for future
exploration and development activities. The lack of availability of these items on terms acceptable to the Company, and in the case of the Juanicipio
Project, on terms acceptable to the operator (Fresnillo), or the delay in availability of these items could prevent or delay exploitation or development of
the Company’s mineral property interests. In addition, unusual weather phenomena, sabotage, government or other interference in the maintenance or
provision of such infrastructure could adversely affect the Company’s operations and profitability. Natural resource exploration, development, processing
and mining activities are dependent on the availability of mining, drilling and related equipment in the particular areas where such activities are
conducted. A limited supply of such equipment or access restrictions may affect the availability of such equipment to the Company and Minera Juanicipio
and may delay exploration, development or extraction activities. Certain equipment may not be immediately available or may require long lead time
orders. A delay in obtaining necessary equipment could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operations and financial results.
The Company is dependent on its key personnel, none of whom are insured by the Company.
The Company is dependent upon the continued availability and commitment of its key management, employees and consultants, whose contributions to
immediate and future operations of the Company are of central importance. The Company relies on its President & CEO, George Paspalas, and its other
officers, who have entered into written employment agreements with the Company, for the day-to-day operation of the Company, its projects and the
execution of the Company’s business plan. The Company has not obtained “key man” insurance for any of its management. The loss of any member of
the senior management team could impair the Company’s ability to execute its business plan and could therefore have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. The loss of George Paspalas in particular could have a negative impact on the
Company until he is replaced.
The Company is dependent on Cascabel and IMDEX to oversee its operations in Mexico.
The Company is dependent upon the continued availability and commitment of Cascabel and IMDEX for a portion of the day-to-day supervision of the
Company’s operations in Mexico. The Company also relies on Dr. Peter Megaw, a principal of Cascabel and IMDEX, for some of the planning,
execution and assessment of the Company’s exploration programs. Dr. Megaw and his team developed the geologic concepts and directed the acquisition
of all of the Company’s projects, including the Juanicipio Project. Dr. Megaw was a director of MAG from February 6, 2006 to June 23, 2014 and has
since been appointed the Company’s Chief Exploration Officer (although he is still remunerated through IMDEX). IMDEX is paid a fee for his services
based on fair market rates and his submission of invoices for services rendered. The Company has not obtained “key man” insurance for Dr. Megaw. The
loss of Dr. Megaw, or the services of Cascabel and IMDEX, could impair the Company’s ability to execute its business plan in Mexico, and could
therefore have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
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timely manner, particularly in Mexico, its ability to manage and grow its business will be impaired.
Recruiting and retaining qualified personnel is critical to the Company’s and Minera Juanicipio’s success. As Fresnillo is the operator of the Juanicipio
Project, the ability to recruit and retain qualified personnel with respect to that project lies outside the direct control of the Company. The number of
persons skilled in acquisition, exploration, development and operation of mining properties is limited and competition for such persons is intense. As
business activity grows, additional key financial, administrative and mining personnel, as well as additional operations staff may be required, particularly
in Mexico. The Company or Minera Juanicipio may not be successful in attracting, training and retaining qualified personnel as competition for persons
with these skill sets increases. If the Company or Minera Juanicipio is not successful in attracting, training and retaining qualified personnel, the
efficiency of its operations could be impaired, which could have an adverse impact on the Company’s future cash flows, earnings, results of operations
and financial condition.
It may be particularly difficult to find or hire qualified personnel in the mining industry who are situated in Mexico, to obtain all of the necessary services
or expertise in Mexico, or to conduct operations on the Company’s projects (including the Juanicipio Project) at reasonable rates. If qualified personnel
cannot be obtained in Mexico, the Company or Minera Juanicipio may need to obtain those services outside of Mexico, which will require work permits
and compliance with applicable laws, and could result in delays and higher costs to the Company.
In addition, the COVID-19 virus outbreak may cause the Company to have inadequate access to an available skilled workforce.
Conflicts of interest may arise among the Company’s directors as a result of their involvement with other natural resource companies.
Most of the Company’s directors do not devote their full time to the affairs of the Company. All of the directors and some of the officers of the Company
are also directors, officers and shareholders of other natural resource or public companies, and as a result they may find themselves in a position where
their duty to another company conflicts with their duty to the Company. Although the Company has policies which address such potential conflicts, and
the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) has provisions governing directors in the event of such a conflict, none of the Company’s constating
documents or any of its other agreements contain any provisions mandating a procedure for addressing such conflicts of interest. There is no assurance
that any such conflicts will be resolved in favour of the Company. If any such conflicts are not resolved in favour of the Company, the Company may be
adversely affected.
Foreign currency fluctuations and inflationary pressures may have a negative impact on the Company’s financial position and results.
The Company’s property interests in Mexico make it subject to foreign currency fluctuations and inflationary pressures which may adversely affect the
Company’s and Minera Juanicipio’s financial position and results. Exploration and development programs conducted by the Company and Minera
Juanicipio in Mexico, along with the construction costs of the Minera Juanicipio mine, are partially funded in Mexican pesos and any appreciation in
Mexican currency against the U.S. dollar will increase the costs of carrying out these operations in Mexico.
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assets in Canadian dollars and Mexican pesos in order to fund expenditures in such currencies. The Company is therefore exposed to currency risks and
exchange losses may be realized on a devaluation of either the Canadian dollar or Mexican peso.
The fluctuations of the Mexican peso also expose the Company to a deferred tax expense in relation to temporary differences between the book and tax
base of its Mexican non-monetary assets, and specifically the tax base of the Company’s investment in Minera Juanicipio. The tax base of this investment
is determined in a different currency (Mexican peso) than the book value which is based on the functional currency (U.S. dollar). Changes in the Mexican
peso/U.S. dollar exchange rate can give rise to temporary differences that result in deferred tax liability and deferred tax expense in accordance with IAS
12 Income Taxes.
In Canada, administrative overheads are primarily denominated in Canadian dollars, and an appreciation in the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar
will increase the Company’s overhead costs as reported in U.S. dollars.
Steps taken by management to address the consequences of foreign currency fluctuations may not eliminate or reduce any adverse effects, and the
Company does not use any derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. Accordingly, the Company may suffer
losses due to adverse foreign currency fluctuations. The Company also bears the risk of incurring losses occasioned as a result of inflation in Mexico.
Cyber security risks may impact the Company’s Business.
The Company’s information systems, and those of its counterparties, third-party service providers and vendors, are vulnerable to an increasing threat of
cyber security risks. Unauthorized parties may attempt to gain access to these systems or the Company’s information through fraud, deceit or other
means.
The Company’s operations depend, in part, on how well the Company and its suppliers, as well as counterparties, protect networks, equipment,
information technology (“IT”) systems and software against damage from a number of threats. The Company has entered into agreements with third
parties for hardware, software, telecommunications and other services in connection with its operations. The Company’s operations also depend on the
timely maintenance, upgrade and replacement of networks, equipment, IT systems and software, as well as pre-emptive expenses to mitigate the risks of
failures. A cyber-attack or failure of information systems could, depending on the nature and degree of any such failure, adversely impact the Company’s
reputation and results of operations. Cyber-attacks to the Company’s head office could result in damage or loss of data and operational capability. Cyberattacks to the Juanicipio Project can render systems down for a longer period of time or destruction of data which could impact development and ultimate
operations.
Although to date the Company has not experienced any known losses relating to cyber-attacks or other data/information security breaches, there can be no
assurance that the Company will not incur such losses in the future. The Company’s risk and exposure to these matters cannot be fully mitigated because
of, among other things, the evolving nature of these threats. Cyber security and the continued development and enhancement of controls, processes and
practices designed to protect systems, computers, software, data and networks from attack, damage or unauthorized access remain a priority for the
Company, but there is no assurance that actions taken by the Company will be sufficient to eliminate the risks.
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could result in additional significant costs, fines and lawsuits, and damage to the Company’s reputation. In addition, as the regulatory environment related
to data/information security, data collection and use, and privacy evolves, with new and constantly changing requirements applicable to the Company’s
business, compliance with those requirements could also result in additional costs. The Company may be required to expend additional resources to
continue to modify or enhance protective measures or to investigate and remediate any security vulnerabilities. Any of these factors could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows and financial position.
Mining operations generally involve a high degree of risk and potential liability and insurance coverage may not cover all potential risks associated
with the Company’s operations.
Unusual or unexpected formations, power outages, labour disruptions, theft of assets, indigenous communities complaints, industrial accidents, flooding,
explosions, cave-ins, seismic activity, rock bursts, landslides, pollution, inclement weather, fire, mechanical equipment failure and the inability to obtain
suitable or adequate machinery, equipment or labour are several of the hazards and risks involved in the conduct of exploration programs in the
Company’s mineral properties, including the Juanicipio Project, any of which could result in personal injury or death, damage to property, environmental
damage and possible legal liability for any or all damage. There was a fatality at the Juanicipio Project in 2014. Safety measures have been implemented
by the Company or its joint venture partner, Fresnillo, but there are no assurances that these measures will be successful in preventing or mitigating future
accidents. The Company maintains insurance against risks in the operation of its business in amounts that it believes to be reasonable. Such insurance,
however, contains exclusions and limitations on coverage and the Company’s insurance may not cover all potential risks associated with the Company’s
operations, including the operations in the Juanicipio Project. There can be no assurance that any such insurance will continue to be available, will be
available at economically acceptable premiums or will be adequate to cover any resulting liability.
In some cases, such as with respect to environmental risks, coverage is not available or considered too expensive relative to the perceived risk. Losses
resulting from any uninsured events may cause the Company to incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
operations and financial condition. In addition, from time to time, the Company and Minera Juanicipio may be subject to governmental investigations and
claims and litigation filed on behalf of persons who are harmed while at its properties or otherwise in connection with the Company’s operations. To the
extent that the Company or Minera Juanicipio is subject to personal injury or other claims or lawsuits in the future, it may not be possible to predict the
ultimate outcome of these claims and lawsuits due to the nature of personal injury litigation. The Company does not carry political risk insurance.
Similarly, if the Company or Minera Juanicipio is subject to governmental investigations or proceedings, it may incur significant penalties and fines, and
enforcement actions against it could result in the closing of the Company’s mining operations. If claims and lawsuits or governmental investigations or
proceedings are finally resolved against the Company or Minera Juanicipio, as applicable, the Company’s financial performance, financial position and
results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
Natural Disasters
The Company is subject to risks typical in the mining business. These include, but are not limited to, operational issues such as unexpected geological
conditions and natural disasters such as earthquakes, that cause unanticipated increases in the costs of extraction or leading to cave-in and rock bursts,
particularly as mining moves into deeper levels. Major cave-ins, flooding, storms or other natural disasters could also occur under extreme conditions.
Such occurrences could result in damage to, or destruction of, mineral properties or production facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage,
delays in mining, monetary losses and possible legal liability. As a result, the Company may incur significant liabilities and costs that could have a
material adverse effect upon its business, results of operations and financial performance.
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made unavailable or available in a reduced capacity. Were this to occur, operations at the Company’s properties may become more costly or have to be
curtailed or even terminated, potentially having serious adverse consequences to the Company’s financial condition and viability that could, in turn, have
a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations or financial performance.
The Company has insurance in amounts that it considers to be adequate to protect itself against certain risks of mining and processing caused by natural
disasters. However, the Company may become subject to liability for hazards which it cannot insure against or which it may elect not to insure against
because of premium costs or other reasons. In particular, the Company is not insured for environmental liability or earthquake damage. See
“Tailings/Permit Risks” below.
Tailing/Permit Risks
The extraction process for silver and metals will produce tailings, which is the sand-like material mixed with water that remain following the metal
extraction process. Tailings are stored in engineered facilities (“tailings storage facilities” or “TSF”) which are designed, constructed, operated and closed
in conformance with international design standards and best practices. A delay in obtaining permits relating to the TSF, a failure of the TSF walls or poor
tailings management safety protocols, once operational, may adversely impact the Company’s business, operations and financial performance.
Natural disasters can pose a threat to the stability of the tailings dam walls and pose a risk beyond the Company’s control. The failure of a tailings dam
wall can result in suspension of operations, injuries, death in extreme cases, government inspections, increased cost and public relation concerns. Should a
breach of these facilities occur due to extreme weather, seismic event, or other incident, the Company could suffer a material financial impact on the
Company’s operations and financial condition. See “Natural Disasters” above.
Metal prices and marketability fluctuate and any decline in metal prices may have a negative effect on the Company.
Metal prices, including silver, gold, zinc, lead and copper prices, have fluctuated widely in recent years. The marketability and price of any metals that
may be acquired or produced by the Company may be affected by numerous factors beyond the control of the Company. These factors include delivery
uncertainties related to the proximity of potential Mineral Reserves to processing facilities and extensive government regulation relating to price, taxes,
royalties, allowable production land tenure, the import and export of minerals and many other aspects of the mining business. Additionally, the current
outbreak of COVID-19 and efforts to contain it, including restrictions on travel and other advisories issued may have a significant effect on metal prices
and demand.
Declines in metal prices may have a negative effect on the Company and on the trading value of its shares.
The Company may be subject to reputational risk.
As a result of the increased usage and the speed and global reach of social media and other web-based tools used to generate, publish and discuss usergenerated content and to connect with other users, companies today are at much greater risk of losing control over how they are perceived in the
marketplace. Damage to the Company’s reputation can be the result of the actual or perceived occurrence of any number of events, and could include any
negative publicity (for example, with respect to the Company’s handling of environmental matters or the Company’s dealings with community groups),
whether true or not.
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perceived by others. Reputation loss may lead to increased challenges in developing and maintaining community relations, decreased investor confidence
and an impediment to the Company’s overall ability to advance its projects, thereby having a material adverse impact on financial performance, cash
flows and growth prospects.
Risks Relating to the Regulatory Environment
The Company is subject to anti-corruption laws.
The Company is subject to anti-corruption laws under the Canadian Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act, and the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act, which generally prohibit companies from bribing or making other prohibited payments to foreign public officials in order to obtain or retain an
advantage in the course of business. Corruption, extortion, bribery, pay-offs, theft and other fraudulent practices may occur in Mexico or any other
jurisdiction in which the Company may conduct business. The Company cannot ensure that its employees or the employees of Minera Juanicipio or other
agents will not engage in such prohibited practices, for which the Company or Minera Juanicipio could face severe penalties, reputational damage and
other consequences that could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business and financial condition. The Company has adopted the Code,
including the Commitment to Anti-Bribery Conduct, to promote legal and ethical business conduct by its directors, officers and employees. The Company
cannot, however, provide assurance that the Code or the Commitment to Anti-Bribery Conduct, or other policies or procedures that it may adopt, will be
sufficient to protect against corrupt activity. In particular, the Company may not be able to prevent or detect corrupt activity by employees or third parties,
such as sub-contractors or joint venture partners, for which the Company might be held responsible.
The environment in which the Company operates may not adhere to International standards with respect to security and human rights.
The Company’s operations and development and exploration activities extend to jurisdictions which may be considered to have an increased degree of
security risk. The impacts of these risks could impede the exploration, development and operation of the Company’s mines in these countries. See also the
risk factor “The properties in which the Company has an interest are located primarily in Mexico” above.
In addition, civil disturbances and criminal activities, such as trespass, illegal mining, sabotage, theft and vandalism, have caused disruptions at certain of
the Company’s operations. The Company has taken certain measures to protect their employees, property and production facilities from these risks. The
measures that have been implemented by the Company cannot guarantee that such incidents will not continue to occur and such incidents may halt or
delay production, increase operating costs, result in harm to employees or trespassers, decrease operational efficiency, increase community tensions or
result in criminal and/or civil liability for the Company or its employees and/or financial damages or penalties.
The manner in which the Company’s personnel respond to civil disturbances and criminal activities can give rise to additional risks where those responses
are not conducted in a manner that is consistent with international standards relating to the use of force and respect for human rights. The Company has
implemented a number of measures and safeguards which are designed to assist its personnel in understanding and upholding these standards. The
implementation of these measures will not guarantee that the Company’s personnel will uphold these standards in every instance. The failure to conduct
security operations in accordance with these standards can result in harm to employees or community members, increased community tensions,
reputational harm to the Company or result in litigation, criminal and/or civil liability for the Company or its employees and/or financial damages or
penalties.
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However, if the number of incidents increases, costs associated with security, in the case of civil disturbances and illegal mining, may also increase,
affecting profitability.
The Company may be required by human rights laws to take actions that delay the advancement of its projects.
There are various international and national laws, codes, resolutions, conventions, guidelines and other materials that relate to human rights (including
rights with respect to health and safety and the environment surrounding the Company’s operations). Many of these materials impose obligations on
government and companies to respect human rights. Some mandate that government consult with communities surrounding the Company’s projects
regarding government actions that may affect local stakeholders, including actions to approve or grant mining rights or permits. The obligations of
government and private parties under the various international and national materials pertaining to human rights continue to evolve and be defined. One
or more groups of people may oppose the Company’s current and future operations or further development, new development or production at its projects
or operations. Such opposition may be directed through legal or administrative proceedings or expressed in manifestations such as protests, roadblocks or
other forms of public expression against the Company’s activities and may have a negative impact on its reputation. Opposition by such groups to the
Company’s or Minera Juanicipio’s operations may require modification of, or preclude the operation or development of, its projects or may require the
Company or Minera Juanicipio to enter into agreements with such groups or local governments with respect to its projects, in some cases causing
considerable delays to the advancement of its projects.
Mexican Foreign Investment and Income Tax Laws apply to the Company.
Under the Foreign Investment Law of Mexico, there is presently no limitation on foreign capital participation in mining operations; however, the
applicable laws may change in a way which may adversely impact the Company and its ability to repatriate profits. Under Mexican Income Tax Law,
dividends paid out of “previously taxed net earnings” are not subject to Mexican corporate taxes. Otherwise, dividends are subject to the Mexican income
tax at the corporate level, which presently is 30% over a gross up basis (amount of the dividend times 1.4286), payable by the Mexican company as an
advance of its annual income tax. There is a withholding tax on dividends paid by a Mexican company to Mexican individuals and non-Mexican
shareholders of 10% applicable to earnings generated as of 2014; “previously tax net earnings” generated until 2013 are not subject to this withholding
tax. This withholding tax rate may be reduced under the applicable Tax Treaties to Avoid Double Taxation entered by Mexico.
Corporations with their tax residence in Mexico are taxed on their worldwide income, which include all profits from operations, income from investments
not relating to the regular business of the corporation and capital gains. The current corporate income tax rate in Mexico is 30%. As of January 1, 2014, a
mining royalty fee is in effect in Mexico of 7.5% on income before tax, depreciation, and interest, as well as an extraordinary governmental fee on
precious metals, including gold and silver, of 0.5% of gross revenues, as described above under “Mining Fees” within the “Carrying on Business within
Mexico” section.
On December 31, 2016, the State Government of Zacatecas, Mexico published a new tax law for the state (Ley de Hacienda del Estado de Zacatecas),
which came into effect on January 1, 2017 and imposes environmental taxes on activities such as (i) extraction of materials other than those regulated by
the Federal Mining Law; (ii) emissions to the atmosphere; (iii) discharges of industrial waste into the soil and water, and (iv) deposit of industrial waste.
After various legal challenges, two of the taxes were declared constitutional and two taxes unconstitutional for Minera Juanicipio. The annual cost to
Minera Juanicipio of complying with the two taxes deemed constitutional is not considered significant at this time and management’s assessment is that it
will not have an impact on the viability of the Juanicipio Project. However, this is an example of a type of tax that can occur in the future.
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Mexican territory, including (i) the sale or other disposition of property; (ii) the rendering of independent services; (iii) the granting of temporary use of
property; or (iv) the importation of goods and services. The standard value added tax rate is currently 16% but is subject to periodic review and change by
the relevant Mexican tax authorities. The Company and Minera Juanicipio have traditionally held a VAT receivable balance due to the expenditures they
incur whereby VAT is paid to a vendor or service provider. Collections of these receivables from the Government of Mexico often take months and
sometimes years to recover. The Company to date has been able to recover the majority of its VAT paid, and in the case of Minera Juanicipio, any VAT
not recovered on a timely basis will be applied against VAT payable on sales from production. The recoveries of future VAT paid, and possible extended
delays in recoveries common in Mexico, could adversely affect exploration, development, construction and operating costs.
Legislative changes in the VAT effective January 1, 2017 may prevent mining companies during the exploration stage from requesting VAT refunds,
unless they are certain they will eventually operate and generate revenue. Future legislative changes in Mexico are not predictable and may have a
negative effect on the Company and its operations.
The Company’s activities in the properties are subject to extensive laws and regulations governed by Mexican regulators.
The Company’s activities, including but not limited to the operations at the Juanicipio Project, are subject to extensive laws and regulations governing
worker health and safety, employment standards, waste disposal, protection of historic and archaeological sites, mine development, protection of
endangered and protected species, indigenous communities’ rights and other matters. Specifically, the Company’s Mexican mining concessions are
subject to regulation by the Mexican Department of Economy - Dirección General of Mines, the environmental protection agency of Mexico
(“SEMARNAT”), Comisión Nacional del Aqua, which regulates water rights, and the Mexican Mining Law. Mexican regulators have broad authority to
shut down and/or levy fines against facilities that do not comply with regulations or standards.
In response to the COVID-19 virus outbreak, in April 2020 the Mexican Government ordered a temporary suspension of all “non-essential” operations
nationwide in Mexico, including mining operations, until May 30, 2020. Fresnillo, the Juanicipio Project operator, was in regular consultation with
Mexican Government officials to ensure Minera Juanicipio’s compliance with the order. Fresnillo advised the Company that while the order was in effect,
underground development continued under government mandated hygiene protocols, while surface construction work and surface-based drilling were
temporarily halted. All work resumed late in the second quarter with a phased restart having commenced on June 1, 2020.
In further response to the COVID-19, Fresnillo as operator, continues to closely monitor the spread of the virus and implement a range of safety measures
following guidelines in accordance with the World Health Organization and Mexican authorities. These include stringent monitoring and hygiene,
temperature screening, and social distancing. Testing and contact tracing have been used to identify potential cases and prevent the spread of the virus.
Fresnillo maintains an open dialogue with government officials at both the federal and local levels.
The impact of this pandemic could create or include significant COVID-19 specific costs, volatility in the prices for silver and other metals, further
restrictions or temporary closures, additional travel restraints, supply chain disruptions and workforce interruptions, including loss of life. Depending on
the duration and extent of the impact of COVID-19, this could materially impact the Company’s financial performance, cash flows and financial position,
and could result in material changes to the costs and time for the completion of development at Juanicipio. The total amount that the Company is required
to finance in order to maintain its proportionate ownership in the project may increase from these and other consequences of the COVID-19 outbreak.
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U.S. reporting companies.
The Company’s Mineral Resource estimates are not directly comparable to those made by domestic U.S. reporting companies subject to the SEC’s
reporting and disclosure requirements, as the Company reports Mineral Resources in accordance with Canadian practices. These practices are different
from the practices used to report Mineral Resource estimates in reports and other materials filed by domestic U.S. reporting companies with the SEC in
that the Canadian practice is to report Measured, Indicated and Inferred Mineral Resources. In the United States, mineralization may not be classified as a
Mineral Reserve unless the determination has been made that the mineralization could be economically and legally produced or extracted at the time the
Mineral Reserve determination is made. U.S. investors are cautioned not to assume that all or any part of Indicated Mineral Resources will ever be
converted into Mineral Reserves.
Further, “Inferred Mineral Resources” are Mineral Resources for which quantity and grade, or quality are estimated on the basis of limited geological
evidence and sampling. Geological evidence is sufficient to imply but not verify geological and grade or quality continuity. Inferred Mineral Resources
have a great amount of uncertainty as to their existence and as to whether they can be mined legally or economically, although it is reasonably expected
that the majority of Inferred Mineral Resources could be upgraded to Indicated Mineral Resources with continued exploration. Disclosure of “contained
ounces” is permitted disclosure under Canadian regulations; however, the SEC permits issuers to report mineralization that does not constitute “Mineral
Reserves” by SEC standards only as in place tonnage and grade without reference to unit measures. Accordingly, information concerning descriptions of
mineralization and resources contained in this AIF may not be comparable to information made public by U.S. companies subject to the reporting and
disclosure requirements of the SEC. See “Cautionary Note for United States Investors”.
The Company may fail to maintain adequate internal control over financial reporting pursuant to the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
Management has documented and tested its internal control procedures in order to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The
Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires an annual assessment by management of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. The
Company may fail to maintain the adequacy of its internal control over financial reporting as such standards are modified, supplemented or amended from
time to time, and the Company may not be able to conclude, on an ongoing basis, that it has effective internal control over financial reporting in
accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
The Company’s failure to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act on an ongoing, timely basis could result in the loss of
investor confidence in the reliability of its financial statements, which in turn could harm the Company’s business and negatively impact the trading price
or the market value of its securities. In addition, any failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their
implementation, could harm the Company’s operating results or cause it to fail to meet its reporting obligations. If the Company expands, the challenges
involved in implementing appropriate internal control over financial reporting will increase and will require that the Company continues to monitor its
internal control over financial reporting. Although the Company intends to expend time and incur costs, as necessary, to ensure ongoing compliance, it
cannot be certain that it will be successful in complying with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
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Company.
The Extractive Sector Transparency Measures Act (Canada) (“ESTMA”) requires public disclosure of certain payments to governments by companies
engaged in the commercial development of minerals which are publicly listed in Canada. Mandatory annual reporting is required for extractive companies
with respect to payments made to foreign and domestic governments, including aboriginal groups. ESTMA requires reporting on the payments of any
taxes, royalties, fees, production entitlements, bonuses, dividends, infrastructure reporting or structuring payments to avoid reporting. If the Company
becomes subject to an enforcement action or is in violation of ESTMA, this may result in significant penalties or sanctions which may also have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s reputation.
Risks Relating to the Company’s Securities
Funding and property commitments may result in dilution to the Company’s shareholders.
The Company may sell equity securities in public offerings (including through the sale of securities convertible into equity securities) and may issue
additional equity securities to finance operations, exploration, development, production, operation, acquisitions or other projects. The Company cannot
predict the size of future issuances of equity securities or the size and terms of future issuances of debt instruments or other securities convertible into
equity securities or the effect, if any, that future issuances and sales of the Company’s securities will have on the market price of the Common Shares.
Any transaction involving the issuance of previously authorized but unissued Common Shares, or securities convertible into Common Shares, would
result in dilution, possibly substantial, to security holders. Exercises of presently outstanding share options and share units may also result in dilution to
security holders.
The Board has the authority to authorize certain offers and sales of additional securities without the vote of, or prior notice to, shareholders. Based on the
need for additional capital to fund expected expenditures and growth, it is likely that the Company will issue additional securities to provide such capital.
Such additional issuances may involve the issuance of a significant number of Common Shares at prices less than the current market price for the
Common Shares.
Sales of substantial amounts of the Company’s securities, or the availability of such securities for sale, could adversely affect the prevailing market prices
for the Company’s securities, dilute investors’ voting power and dilute investors’ earnings per share. A decline in the market prices of Company’s
securities could impair the Company’s ability to raise additional capital through the sale of securities should the Company desire to do so.
The price of the Company’s Common Shares is volatile.
Publicly quoted securities are subject to a relatively high degree of price volatility. It should be expected that continued fluctuations in price will occur,
and no assurances can be made as to whether the price per share will increase or decrease in the future. In recent years, the securities markets in the
United States and Canada have experienced a high level of price and volume volatility, and the market price of many companies, particularly those
considered exploration, development or operating stage companies, have experienced wide fluctuations in price which have not necessarily been related
to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. The factors influencing such volatility include macroeconomic
developments in North America and globally, and market perceptions of the attractiveness of particular industries.
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exchange fluctuations and the Company’s financial condition or results of operations as reflected in its earnings reports. Other factors unrelated to the
performance of the Company that may have an effect on the price of the Common Shares include the following: the extent of analyst coverage available
to investors concerning the business of the Company may be limited if investment banks with research capabilities do not follow the Company’s
securities; lessening in trading volume and general market interest in the Company’s securities may affect an investor’s ability to trade significant
numbers of securities of the Company; the size of the Company’s public float may limit the ability of some institutions to invest in the Company’s
securities; and a substantial decline in the price of the securities of the Company that persists for a significant period of time could cause the Company’s
securities to be delisted from an exchange, further reducing market liquidity.
Securities class-action litigation often has been brought against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their securities. The
Company may in the future be the target of similar litigation. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and damages and divert management’s
attention and resources.
There is no assurance of a sufficient liquid trading market for the Company’s Common Shares in the future.
Shareholders of the Company may be unable to sell significant quantities of Common Shares into the public trading markets without a significant
reduction in the price of their Common Shares, or at all. There can be no assurance that there will be sufficient liquidity of the Company’s Common
Shares on the trading market, and that the Company will continue to meet the listing requirements of the TSX or the NYSE American or achieve listing
on any other public listing exchange.
The Company could in the future be classified as a ‘passive foreign investment company’ (“PFIC”), which could have adverse U.S. federal income
tax consequences for U.S. Holders of Common Shares.
U.S. investors should be aware that they could be subject to certain adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences in the event that the Company is
classified as a PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The determination of whether the Company is a PFIC for a taxable year depends, in part, on the
application of complex U.S. federal income tax rules, which are subject to differing interpretations, and the determination will depend on the composition
of the Company’s income, expenses and assets from time to time and the nature of the activities performed by the Company’s officers and employees.
The Company believes that MAG was a PFIC for the 2019 and prior financial years. With the start of the underground production at Juanicipio and the
Company’s attributable revenue under the PFIC determination rules, the Company no longer believes it is a PFIC as of the 2020 fiscal year. Prospective
investors should consult their own tax advisers regarding the likelihood and consequences of the Company being treated as a PFIC for U.S. federal
income tax purposes, including the advisability of making certain elections that may mitigate certain possible adverse U.S. federal income tax
consequences but may result in an inclusion in gross income without receipt of such income.
The Company, its principals and the majority of its assets are located outside of the United States, which makes it difficult for U.S. litigants to effect
service of process, or enforce, any judgments obtained against the Company or its officers or directors.
The majority of the Company’s assets are located outside of the United States and the Company does not currently maintain a permanent place of
business within the United States. In addition, most of the directors and officers are nationals and/or residents of countries other than the United States,
and all or a substantial portion of such persons’ assets are located outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficult for U.S. litigants to effect
service of process or enforce any judgments obtained against the Company or its officers or directors, including judgments predicated upon the civil
liability provisions of the securities laws of the United States or any state thereof. In addition, there is uncertainty as to whether the courts of Canada,
Mexico and other jurisdictions would recognize or enforce judgments of United States courts obtained against the Company or its directors and officers
predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the securities laws of the United States or any state thereof, or be competent to hear original actions
brought in Canada, Mexico or other jurisdictions against the Company or its directors and officers predicated upon the securities laws of the United States
or any state thereof. Further, any payments as a result of judgments obtained in Mexico could be in pesos and service of process in Mexico must be
effectuated personally and not by mail.
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All of the Company’s mineral assets are located outside of Canada. As a result, it may be difficult for investors to enforce within Canada any judgments
obtained against the Company or its officers or directors, including judgments predicated upon the civil liability provisions of applicable securities laws.
In addition, there is uncertainty as to whether the courts of Mexico and other jurisdictions would recognize or enforce judgments of Canadian courts
obtained against the Company or its directors and officers predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the securities laws of Canada or be competent
to hear original actions brought in Mexico or other jurisdictions against the Company or its directors and officers predicated upon the securities laws of
Canada. Further, any payments as a result of judgments obtained in Mexico should be in pesos and service of process in Mexico must be effectuated
personally and not by mail.
The Company has outstanding common share equivalents which, if exercised, could cause dilution to existing shareholders.
The Company has common share equivalents issued consisting of Common Shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding exercisable stock options or
issuable upon the conversion of restricted share units (“RSUs”), performance share units (“PSUs”) and deferred share units (“DSUs”) each convertible
into one Common Share. Stock options are likely to be exercised when the market price of the Company’s Common Shares exceeds the exercise price of
such stock options. RSUs and PSUs may be converted at any time by the holder subject to vesting conditions, and the DSUs may only be converted by a
departing director of the Company. The exercise of any of these instruments and the subsequent resale of such Common Shares in the public market could
adversely affect the prevailing market price and the Company’s ability to raise equity capital in the future at a time and price which it deems appropriate.
The Company may also enter into commitments in the future which would require the issuance of additional Common Shares and the Company may
grant additional share purchase warrants, stock options, RSUs, PSUs and DSUs. Any share issuances from the Company’s treasury will result in
immediate dilution to existing shareholders’ percentage interest in the Company.
The Company has not paid dividends and may not pay dividends in the foreseeable future.
Payment of dividends on the Company’s Common Shares is within the discretion of the Company’s Board and will depend upon the Company’s future
earnings if any, its capital requirements and financial condition, and other relevant factors. The Company anticipates that all available funds will be
invested to finance the growth of its business for the immediate future.
There is currently no market through which the Company’s securities, other than the Company’s Common Shares, may be sold.
There is currently no market through which the Company’s securities, other than the Company’s Common Shares, may be sold and, unless otherwise
specified in the applicable offering document, the Company’s preferred shares, debt securities, subscription receipts, units and warrants (if and when
issued) will not be listed on any securities or stock exchange or any automated dealer quotation system. As a consequence, purchasers may not be able to
resell preferred shares, debt securities, subscription receipts, units or warrants. This may affect the pricing of the Company’s securities, other than the
Company’s Common Shares, in the secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the liquidity of these securities and the extent of
issuer regulation. There can be no assurance that an active trading market for the Company’s securities, other than the Company’s Common Shares, will
develop or, if developed, that any such market, including for the Company’s Common Shares, will be sustained.
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The Company’s material property at the date of this AIF is its 44% (Fresnillo holds the remaining 56%) holding in Minera Juanicipio, which holds the
Juanicipio Project.
Mexican mining concessions are issued by the Federal Government of Mexico. All concessions held by Minera Juanicipio are up to date with respect to
Mexican Mining Concession Taxes and work filing requirements.
The majority of the Company’s mineral properties are located in remote and relatively uninhabited areas. There are currently no areas of interest to the
Company within its mineral concessions that are overlain by significant habitation or industrial users. Notwithstanding this there are potential surface
usage issues in some areas. Some surface rights are owned by local communities or “Ejidos” and some surface rights are owned by private ranching or
dwelling interests. Exploration activities are not typically materially impacted by competing surface rights issues, although in some areas the Company
has been required to negotiate compensation for surface rights holders in order to secure right of access. The Company is required to negotiate either
leases or acquire surface rights outright in those areas where it may wish to develop mining operations. At the Juanicipio Project, Minera Juanicipio has
acquired some surface rights overlying the Valdecañas and Juanicipio Veins.
In some of the more remote property locations, the access to water, power and basic infrastructure is limited or non-existent. Any mining operations
undertaken in such areas will need to take the supply of such requirements into consideration. For the Juanicipio property, the available supply or the
ability to establish supply, of water, power and infrastructure is considered to be adequate or manageable.
Juanicipio Project
The Juanicipio Project is located in the Fresnillo District, Zacatecas State, Mexico, approximately 6 kilometres west of the mining town of Fresnillo, and
covers approximately 7,679 hectares. The Company initially acquired a 100% interest in the Juanicipio Project in 2003. From 2005 to 2007, Peñoles
earned a 56% interest in the Juanicipio Project by conducting U.S.$5,000,000 of exploration on the property and purchasing U.S.$1,000,000 worth of
Common Shares of the Company at market price at the time of purchase. In December 2007, Lagartos and Peñoles established Minera Juanicipio to hold
and operate all mineral and surface rights related to the Juanicipio Project. In 2008, Peñoles transferred its 56% interest of Minera Juanicipio to Fresnillo
pursuant to a statutory merger. Fresnillo is the operator of Minera Juanicipio, which is governed by the Shareholders’ Agreement and its corporate bylaws. Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement and Minera Juanicipio’s corporate by-laws, each shareholder is to provide funding pro rata to its interest
in Minera Juanicipio, with Fresnillo contributing 56% and the Company, through Lagartos, contributing 44%, respectively, and if either party does not
fund pro rata, their ownership interest will be diluted in accordance with the Shareholders’ Agreement.
The major asset associated with the Juanicipio Project is a high-grade silver-gold-lead-zinc epithermal vein deposit. An NI 43-101-compliant technical
report commissioned by the Company, the 2017 PEA, was filed on SEDAR on January 19, 2018. Fresnillo prepares its own internal Mineral Resource
estimate annually. Fresnillo’s estimates are not prepared in compliance with NI 43-101, were not used in the 2017 PEA and are not relied upon by the
Company.
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The following summary of the Juanicipio Project is extracted from the 2017 PEA. The complete report can be viewed on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com. The detailed disclosure, including project description and location, climate, local resources, infrastructure, physiography, history,
geological setting, exploration, mineralization, drilling sampling and Mineral Resource estimates, are contained in the 2017 PEA. The 2017 PEA is
incorporated by reference into this AIF. Defined terms and abbreviations used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed to such
terms in the 2017 PEA. The monetary values shown in the 2017 PEA are in U.S. dollars ($) and are reported on a 100% basis, unless otherwise denoted.
Introduction
The 2017 PEA provides an update of the Mineral Resource estimate and Preliminary Economic Assessment of the Mineral Resources identified within
the Minera Juanicipio property in Zacatecas State, Mexico. The 2017 PEA has been prepared by AMC Mining Consultants (Canada) Ltd. of Vancouver,
Canada on behalf of MAG.
MAG owns 44% of Minera Juanicipio, a Mexican incorporated joint venture company, which owns (100%) of the Juanicipio property. Fresnillo holds the
remaining 56% interest in the joint venture and is the project operator. The 2017 PEA has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of NI 43101 of the Canadian Securities Administrators for lodgement on SEDAR.
The economic analysis in the 2017 PEA is preliminary in nature and is based, in part, on Inferred Mineral Resources that are considered too speculative
geologically to have the economic considerations applied to them that would enable them to be categorized as Mineral Reserves. There is no certainty that
the results of the 2017 PEA will be realized. The monetary values shown in the 2017 PEA are in U.S. dollars ($).
Location
The Juanicipio deposit consists of two main vein systems that lie in the north-eastern part of the Juanicipio property, which is situated about 6 km to the
south-west of Fresnillo, a town located about 60 km north-west of the state capital, Zacatecas City. Zacatecas City has a population of approximately
140,000 and is located about 550 km northwest of Mexico City. Zacatecas City is serviced by daily flights from Mexico City. Surface rights to the part of
the Juanicipio property where Mineral Resources have been identified are held by Minera Juanicipio.
Geology and mineralization
The Juanicipio deposit consists of two main vein systems, the Valdecañas vein system and the Juanicipio vein, which are significant silver-gold
epithermal structures. The Valdecañas vein system consists of five veins (V1E, V1W, HW1, VANT, and V2W) and the Juanicipio vein (VJUA). Both
systems strike east-southeast and dip 35° to 70° with an average dip of about 58° southwest. The Valdecañas vein system displays the metal zonation
typical of the Fresnillo District and epithermal veins in general, of an upper precious metal zone (Bonanza Zone) grading downwards into a deeper base
metal zone (Deep Zone). There is significant evidence for a repeat of this zonation in the deeper reaches, perhaps reflecting “stacked” boiling levels
(Buchanan, 1981). The Valdecañas structure hosts the majority of the Mineral Resources currently estimated on the Property.
The Juanicipio vein is located some 1,100 m to the south of the Valdecañas vein. Thirty-five drillholes contribute to the definition of this vein. Overall,
Juanicipio is a much thinner vein and appears to have a higher gold content; however, this interpretation is based on a limited number of overall samples.
Mineralization styles and host rocks are the same as those for Valdecañas.
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microcrystalline quartz-pyrargyrite-acanthite banding, and open-space cocks-comb textures and vuggy silica. The vein system exhibits the characteristic
metal zoning of the principal veins in the Fresnillo district, observed as a change from silver- and gold-rich zones at the top (Bonanza Zone) to increased
lead and zinc in the deeper reaches (Deep Zone), with copper coming in at the deepest levels.
Mineralization in the Bonanza Zone consists of precious metal-rich, banded, or brecciated quartz-pyrargyrite-acanthite-polybasite-galena-sphalerite veins.
Mineralization in the Deep Zone consists of base metal-rich, banded, or brecciated quartz-galena-sphalerite-chalcopyrite veins with lesser acanthite and
pyrargyrite. Portions of the veins in the Deep Zone show skarn minerals, including garnets, pyroxenes, ilvaite, and axinite within and surrounding the
veins. Retrograde hydration of these minerals to chlorite and hydrogrossular is pervasive and widespread.
Mineral Resources
In December 2016, MAG Silver commissioned AMC to prepare an independent estimate of the Mineral Resources of the Property, to be compiled using
exploration data available up to 31 December 2016. The updated global Mineral Resource estimate is summarized in the Table 1.1 below. The Mineral
Resources are based on a cut-off Net Smelter Return (NSR) value of $55/t.
Table 1.1 Summary of Global Mineral Resources as of 21 October 2017
(reflecting drilling results up to 31 December 2016)
Metal contained in Mineral Resources
Resource Category
Tonnes (Mt) Ag (g/t) Au (g/t) Pb (%) Zn (%) Cu (%) Ag (Moz) Au (koz) Pb (Mlbs) Zn (Mlbs) Cu (Mlbs)
Indicated
12.83
427
2.10
2.11
3.68
0.13
176
867
598
1041
38
Inferred
12.13
232
1.44
2.46
4.68
0.27
91
562
658
1252
71
Notes: CIM Definition Standards (2014) were used for reporting the Mineral Resources.
Dr A. Ross, Ph.D., P.Geo. of AMC is a Qualified Person under NI 43-101 and AMC takes responsibility for the Mineral Resource estimate.
Mineral Resources are estimated at a resource NSR cut-off value of $55 per tonne.
Resource NSR values are calculated in U.S.$ using factors of $0.61 per g/t Ag, $34.27 per g/t Au, $19.48 per % Pb, and $19.84 per % Zn. These
factors are based on metal prices of $20/oz Ag, $1,300/oz Au, $0.95/lb Pb, and $1.00/lb Zn and estimated recoveries of 82% Au, 95% Ag, 93%
Pb, 90% Zn. The Mineral Resource NSR does not include offsite costs.
Mineral Resources that are not Mineral Reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability.
The numbers may not compute exactly due to rounding.
Source: AMC Mining Consultants (Canada) Ltd.
The Valdecañas vein system displays the vertical grade transition from upper silver-rich zones to deep base metal dominant areas that is typical of
Fresnillo District veins and epithermal silver veins in general. The Mineral Resource estimate was manually divided into the Bonanza Grade Silver (BGS)
Zone and the Deep Zone to highlight differing metal content within the two zones. Parts of the Juanicipio vein are included in the BGS Zone as well as
the silver-rich portions of the other veins. The BGS Zone terminology was used in the previous report and is kept for continuity. The results are shown in
Table 1.2 below.
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(reflecting drilling results up to 31 December 2016)
Resource
category
Indicated
BGS Zone
Inferred
Indicated
Deep Zone
Inferred
Notes: See footnotes Table 1.1 above.
Zone

Tonnes
(Mt)
8.17
1.98
4.66
10.14

Ag
(g/t)
550
648
209
151

Au (g/t)
1.94
0.81
2.39
1.57

Pb
Au
Zn (%) Cu (%) Ag (Moz)
(%)
(koz)
1.63 3.08
0.08
145
509
1.32 2.80
0.06
41
52
2.96 4.73
0.23
31
359
2.69 5.05
0.31
49
510

Pb
(Mlbs)
294
58
304
601

Zn
(Mlbs)
554
123
486
1129

Cu
(Mlbs)
14
3
24
69

Geotechnical Considerations
Following the 2012 PEA, Minera Juanicipio conducted additional exploration drilling and captured further geotechnical data from the drill core. This data
was used to complement the existing data, and a re-assessment of conceptual stope dimensions, ground support requirements and vertical development
stability analyses was conducted. The assessment findings were recorded in a Preliminary Geotechnical Report compiled in September 2015.
Subsequently, AMC was requested to further review the available geotechnical information and to undertake underground visits to neighbouring mines
and the existing decline at Juanicipio. These visits afforded AMC’s geotechnical engineers the opportunity to take relevant measurements, obtain an
appreciation of the geotechnical environment in which the mining operation is expected to take place, assess the stability of existing underground
excavations taking cognisance of installed support systems, and liaise with technical services personnel.
AMC also assisted the Minera Juanicipio geologists in reviewing the existing geotechnical model, and a new 3D geotechnical model was developed by
AMC for Juanicipio. The new geotechnical model takes cognisance of the additional laboratory-conducted rock strength testing recommended by AMC.
Rock mass properties and hydrogeology
A total of 20 drillholes has been geotechnically logged for the Juanicipio project area. The results indicate that the quality of the host rock can be
anticipated to be Fair; and that there will be some areas where Poor ground conditions could be expected, these being in the vicinity of faults and
intersections with rhyolite tuff agglomerate or shale.
The Deformation Modulus (Young’s Modulus) is an indication of the stiffness of the rock type. The host rock at Juanicipio is fairly soft, implying that
deformation can be expected when subjected to large loads / stress.
To assess the rock mass properties, the results of data reduction analyses were input into Rocscience’s RocLab software package. Only the LUAR rock
mass properties were evaluated, reflecting both the predominance of the LUAR lithology as the host rock for the mineralized vein and the quantity and
type of available rock strength test data. The results of the rock mass property analysis indicate that the waste rock strength is Fair to Good. The single
sample for vein mineralization indicated a Uniaxial Compressive Strength (UCS) of 178 MPa or Good classification.
Based on limited data, the depth of weathering appears to vary significantly across the site. Depths of weathering down to 400 m below surface have been
recorded.
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be carried out, taking particular cognisance of any further available relevant information from other mines close by. The strategy adopted for mine
planning is to have the main development (ramps and footwall access) ahead of the stope mining front. This strategy will assist in dewatering levels prior
to stoping.
Stable stope spans
No additional detailed geotechnical core logging has been conducted on drillhole core since the assessment of potential stope panel dimensions and
vertical development recommendations were made in 2015. The results of the stope stability assessments for the Juanicipio project using the empirical
Stability Graph Method (Mathews et al. 1981; Potvin, Y. 1988) indicate that hangingwall stability is strongly influenced by vein dip. At a 65° dip a
vertical stope height of 21.8 m is projected to be stable without support. At lower dip angles cable bolt support may be needed, especially in the volcanic
lithologies. At a 45° dip and in the volcanic lithology, a 15 m or greater vertical height is projected to require hangingwall support for stability.
Stope dilution estimation
Dilution for Long Hole Open Stopes (LHOS) has been geotechnically estimated using the equivalent linear overbreak slough (ELOS) technique (Clark
and Pakalnis, 1997). This empirical method estimates the overbreak based on recorded case histories and established design curves relating the modified
stability number N’ and the hydraulic radius. Stopes are considered likely to be sensitive to overbreak to some degree given the blocky ground conditions.
The dilution estimation indicates an anticipated dilution of ~0.55 m from a sedimentary hangingwall dipping at 55°.
Mining Concept
A number of conceptual mining method studies have been carried out to identify suitable design strategies for the project. The studies include
identification of the most suitable stoping method, production rate, backfilling method, and haulage method for the mine. Methods that provide high
mining recovery and lower dilution have been assessed against other methods that may be cheaper but result in greater loss or dilution of mineralization.
The 2012 PEA study considered a longhole stoping mining method with pastefill and a production rate of 2,650 tpd. AMC undertook several site visits to
other operating mines in the area to review the details of the mining methods used and the application of rock fill. The primary mining method continues
to be longhole stoping, but at an increased production rate of 4,000 tpd. Some cost savings and production efficiencies have been identified with the use
of waste rock fill, which is now considered as the primary backfill; in the wider stopes where more than one longitudinal pass is required, cemented rock
fill will be utilized.
The proposed mining method employs zone access via three internal ramps on 20 m sub-levels, as well as footwall access to the extents of the
mineralization to allow placement of rock fill. Stopes 20 m high (floor to floor) are mined from the extents back to the central access (on retreat) with
rock fill placed within 20 m of the blasting face.
In the lower levels of the vein, the vein widens out to a maximum thickness of approximately 30 m. In these areas, the vein will be mined in two
longitudinal passes with a maximum width of 15 m. The footwall stope will be taken first over the full strike length, followed by the hangingwall stope.
Cemented rock fill will be used in the footwall stope to prevent waste entering the hanging wall stope.
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below.
Figure 1.1 Composite plan view of mine design

Truck haulage, shaft hoisting, and conveying have been considered for transferring mineralized rock and waste from the mine workings to surface. All
waste not placed directly in stopes will be trucked to surface via twin access declines, where it will be stockpiled and later used for backfilling stopes as
they are mined out. In early mining, mineralized rock from development and stoping will be trucked to a rock pass feeding the underground crusher. The
crusher station is located on 1950 RL, from where the mineralized rock will be transferred to surface via a main conveyor (base at 1940 RL). The decline
portal for the conveyor is near the projected processing plant location.
An underground winze (780 m in length) will be sunk in the hangingwall of the mineralization. The winze is planned to eventually hoist (after Year 8)
mineralized rock from the loading station on 1300 RL to the top of the shaft on 2040 RL. Mineralized rock is transferred directly from the skips to the
decline conveyor via a rock pass and loading station.
It is envisaged that mining will be carried out using modern trackless mining equipment. The proposed mine ventilation circuit will include a number of
ventilation raises, raise-bored from surface. Figure 1.2 below is an illustration of the mine as a whole, showing the ventilation layout, the conveyor route
to surface, and the winze.
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Mineral Processing
Metallurgical test work was carried out between 2008 and 2015 on metallurgical samples composited from 67 drillhole samples taken from the
Valdecañas vein system.
The proposed process plant consists of a comminution circuit followed by the sequential flotation of a silver-rich lead concentrate, a zinc concentrate, and
a gold-rich pyrite concentrate. It is envisaged that crushed mineralized rock will be delivered to a stockpile located near the mill and will feed directly to
the mill via transfer conveyors.
The proposed milling circuit comprises a semi-autogenous grinding mill and ball mill, producing feed to the flotation circuit. Separate lead, zinc, and
pyrite concentrates would be thickened, filtered, and stockpiled for dispatch by truck directly to customers or for onward shipment. It is noted that,
although Cu is estimated in the Mineral Resource, it is not considered in this study, additional mineral processing work being required to establish
prospects for reasonable extraction.
It is envisaged that the process plant will ramp up operations over a three year period to a steady state throughput rate of 1.4 Mtpa. Estimated mill
recoveries are summarized in Table 1.3.
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Mill recovery

Gold
82%

Silver
95%

Lead
93%

Zinc
90%

Project Infrastructure
A 6.5 km access road, mostly over hilly terrain, will be required to access the main decline portal site from the mill. A two-lane sealed road suitable for
use by heavy vehicles is proposed.
Power would be supplied to a main substation at the site via a 115 kV overhead power line supplied from the local grid. The line would have a length of
approximately 1.5 km to the main processing plant sub-station.
The electrical supply system for the Juanicipio project will be developed in stages as the project develops. An initial system, with power sourced from a
nearby mine, has been used for the initial decline development. This power will eventually be disconnected, and the supply switched over to the
permanent mine system, which originates at the mill substation.
The permanent system will have power feeding the underground and surface facilities from the mill substation. There will be two feeders for the mine: a
power line that will follow the access road to deliver power from the mill to the current portal and surface ventilation fans, and a second power line going
down the conveyor decline.
It is anticipated that water will initially be provided via a pipeline from a neighbouring mine that has excess water from ground water inflow. This water
will be supplemented by any water from dewatering the underground workings at Juanicipio.
It is envisaged that all mill tailings will be discharged to a tailings storage facility (TSF) with a total volume of approximately 18 Mm3. No detailed
environmental or geotechnical studies have been carried out on suitable sites for the TSF for the project. Nevertheless, several sites have been considered,
including a location adjacent to the proposed mill site.
Underground infrastructure
The proposed handling system for mineralized material is based around a nominal 4,000 tpd capacity, approximately equivalent to 216 tph over a 24-hour
period, based on a capacity factor of 1.3. This allows for excess capacity in the mineralized material handling system relative to any potential
disconnection between the mine and mill. Initially mineralized material transport from various mining levels will be by truck haulage to the crusher on
1950 RL. The crushed material is then placed on a load-out belt feeding two sequential conveyors to the surface stockpile adjacent to the mill.
Later in the mine life, an internal winze is projected to be sunk to allow the hoisting of mineralized material from the loading pocket on 1300 RL up to the
crusher on 1950 RL. From there, the material will be conveyed out of the mine via the existing conveyor system. The winze hoist consists of a double
drum, dual skip system with rope guides. The hoist is mounted at the head of the winze excavation in a chamber above the skip dumps. The skips are
discharged via pneumatic self-discharge systems into a raise that leads to a 500 t storage bin. Mineralized material that is delivered to the bin will be sized
to minus 200 mm. The storage bin discharges into a jaw crusher that sizes the material to minus 100 mm. The hoist is designed to accommodate the
production capacity of 1.4 Mtpa, however there is some spare capacity built in through potential minor adjustments in hoisting schedules or skip sizes.

-62Development waste is either hauled to surface by trucks via the twin access declines, or placed directly into stopes as backfill. All waste hauled to surface
will be stored near the current portal. Waste required for subsequent backfilling will be delivered down a waste pass driven as close to the deposit as
practicable, and then distributed to the stopes.
Two bays will be provided for the storage of bulk emulsion, each containing one 24,000 L storage tank and a storage area. A third bay will be designated
for the storage of detonators on wooden shelves. A powder bay will be designated for the storage of all other explosive products (other than the bulk
emulsion and the detonators) on wooden shelves. A concrete wall with a steel door will separate this bay from the rest of the mine workings. All
explosives bays will be located on 1920 RL.
The main maintenance area will be located on surface. All major scheduled planned maintenance and rebuilds will take place in the surface workshop.
Two small service bays will be located underground for low-level maintenance such as lubrication and small repairs. To reduce the quantity of fuel and
oils stored underground, it is envisaged that the truck fleet and most utility vehicles will be fuelled on surface and maintained in a surface heavy
equipment workshop. Only vehicles and equipment not travelling to surface as part of their daily routine will be fuelled underground.
Local area compressors will supply compressed air for the underground maintenance and service bay area, with compressed air lines from the air receiver
routed to convenient locations in the area. All mobile drilling equipment, including jumbos, longhole drills, bolters, and cable bolters will be equipped
with on-board compressors. ITH drills will have portable adjacent compressors to meet their elevated pressure requirements. Two units are required for
this purpose.
Refuge station chambers with 30-person capacity will be used for emergencies; these chambers will be portable for flexibility of location at the most
appropriate areas of the mine.
The ground water inflow into the mine has been estimated using information from nearby mines and is not based on a hydrogeological model. The
hydrology data available at the time of this report is not sufficiently detailed to fully understand the likely magnitude of water inflow into the mine along
faults or other geological features. AMC understands that other mines in the area are currently experiencing a steady mine inflow of the order of 190 L/s
in similar geological structures and lithologies to those that will be encountered at Juanicipio. Relating the strike length of the Juanicipio mineralization to
other mineralization strike lengths in the area has allowed a design criterion for long term steady state inflow of 95 L/s to be projected. The mine
dewatering system will be sized to handle twice this amount as the peak outflow.
The overall dewatering strategy largely depends on accessing the lower levels of the mine well ahead of stope production. This early development
approach provides a means for installing a series of dewatering sumps that will dewater sections of the mine prior to production mining. The risk of
flooding will be partially mitigated by this early development strategy and by the provision of spare pumping capacity.
Project Development and Production Schedule
Key conceptual milestones relating to the project development are shown in Table 1.4.
Table 1.4 Project development conceptual milestones
Milestone
Decline development
Conveyor decline
Internal winze, engineering, and construction
Processing plant
Full production (ramp up to 1.4 Mtpa)
* Year 1 is assumed to be 2018.

Start
Year 1*
Year 1*
Year 3
Year 1*
Year 2

Finish
Year 8
Year 2
Year 9
Year 3
Year 5
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The potential quantity and grade is conceptual in nature. By definition a preliminary economic assessment is preliminary in nature and includes Inferred
Mineral Resources that are considered too geologically speculative to have the economic considerations applied to them that would enable them to be
categorized as Mineral Reserves and there is no certainty that the preliminary economic assessment will be realized.
Mill feed from vein development comprises approximately 25% of total mill feed, with the remainder from stoping operations.
Table 1.5 Material projected to be mined and processed as a
basis for the economic assessment
Grade
Tonnes
23,123,706

Ag
(g/t)
282

Au
(g/t)
1.37

Pb
(%)
1.84

Zn
(%)
3.43

Ag
(Moz)
210

Contained metal
Au
(koz)
Pb (Mlbs)
1,019
938

Zn
(Mlbs)
1,748

The tonnage and grades shown in Table 1.5 have resulted from the mine design and scheduling process conducted on the Mineral Resource estimate and
block model prepared by AMC and described in this Report. A $55 Net Smelter Return (NSR) cut-off was applied to the Mineral Resource model, stope
shapes have been projected, and estimated dilution and mining losses have been accounted for. Metal prices used in the NSR calculation were $1,225 per
ounce gold, $17.30 per ounce silver, $0.87 per pound lead, and $0.94 per pound zinc. An exchange rate of 18.46 Mexican pesos to one U.S. dollar was
assumed.
In developing the tonnage and grade estimates, stope blocks that were in contact with the property boundaries were excluded and zero grade has been
assumed for the dilution material. Approximately 38% of the tonnage and 22% of the silver content of the material that forms the basis of the economic
assessment is derived from Inferred Mineral Resources. The 2017 PEA is preliminary in nature and includes Inferred Mineral Resources that are
considered too speculative geologically to have the economic considerations applied to them that would enable them to be categorized as Mineral
Reserves. There is no certainty that the results of the 2017 PEA will be realized.
Project Capital Costs
Project capital is estimated at $840M; pre-production capital (Year 1 to Q1 Year 3 inclusively) is estimated to be $360M. Sustaining capital ($480M) is
defined as all capital following pre-production and includes ongoing mine development after concentrate production commences, and mobile and fixed
equipment replacements and rebuilds over the mine life. A summary of projected capital costs is shown in Table 1.6.
Table 1.6 Summary of projected capital costs

Item
Underground development
Mine equipment
Winze
Material movement - trucking development waste
Road and powerline to portal
Process plant
Surface infrastructure
UG infrastructure
Capitalized operating costs

Capital ($) total
LOM
226,272,930
161,878,000
64,044,740
46,949,770
5,914,000
91,877,700
68,138,330
65,830,930
22,770,790

Pre-production capital ($)
Y01
Y02
25,243,270
32,209,310
0
7,284,510
0
0
1,778,840
2,082,660
5,914,000
0
23,902,690
38,244,310
13,865,330
13,865,330
19,276,980
19,276,980
5,149,800
14,096,800

Y03*
5,241,840
4,249,300
0
1,414,330
0
9,561,080
13,865,330
19,276,980
3,524,200
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LOM
Item
Engineering, Procurement, Construction Management
24,956,260
Owners cost
16,377,420
Contingency
45,157,810
Total
840,168,680
Pre-production capital
360,334,970
Sustaining capital
479,833,710
Totals do not necessarily equal the sum of the components due to rounding adjustments.
* Assumed to be Q1 2020

Pre-production capital ($)
Y01
Y02
8,318,750
8,318,750
5,459,140
5,459,140
15,052,600
15,052,600
123,961,400
155,890,390

Y03*
8,318,750
5,459,140
9,572,230
80,483,180

On February 24, 2020, Fresnillo and MAG, as shareholders of Minera Juanicipio, jointly announced a project update.
In the project update, it was announced that the underground mine would commence production ahead of schedule in mid-2020, realizing commercial and
operational de-risking opportunities for Minera Juanicipio. From mid-2020 until completion of the Juanicipio processing plant, mineralized material from
development and initial production stopes will now be processed at the Fresnillo processing plant which is expected to have spare capacity.
With detailed engineering almost complete, major equipment purchases completed, and several significant construction contracts awarded or under
review, the joint venture shareholders also updated the capex required for the project. The pre-operative capital cost on a 100% basis was revised to
$440,000 from January 1, 2018, to reflect additional expenditures incurred by Minera Juanicipio on the underground development and bringing forward
the full construction costs for two large life of mine ventilation shafts, as well as some sustaining capital to facilitate the early underground mine start.
Site operating costs
Total site operating costs have been estimated at $58.67/t milled. The unit costs are broken down as follows:




Mining: $34.95/t milled
Milling: $20.37/t milled
General and Administration: $3.34/t milled

Key factors relating to the operating cost estimate include:










Some unit mine operating costs from the 2012 PEA were updated for inflation.
Revised costs were estimated for trucking, conveying and hoisting activities. Costs relating to labour, equipment and power were also
updated to reflect the current production schedule.
Power costs were estimated based on updated infrastructure needs and a unit cost of $0.0834/kWh.
A waste rock backfill operating cost of $0.87/t mineralized material for imported waste rock fill from surface was estimated from first
principles.
Mineralized drift development cost per metre was based on a single-face average advance rate of 100 m/month. The labour component
(~30%) of unit costs was scaled-up from the 2012 PEA to reflect this (2012 PEA assumed 120 m/month single-face advance). Unit
mineralized development costs were also projected 10% higher for 100 m/month compared to the 2012 PEA. Unit development rates reflect
current contractor pricing.
Variable processing unit costs ($/t milled) remained the same as for the 2012 PEA to reflect inflation, but also taking account of the savings
due to economies of scale. Fixed processing costs ($/year) for items such as salaries, mill maintenance and other fixed costs, were escalated
by the 6 / 10 power rule to account for the higher mill throughput rate, and suitable cost inflation was also applied.
Fixed general and administration (G&A) costs ($/year) for items including site administration, human resources, finance and purchasing,
general maintenance, safety and environment, were escalated by the 6 / 10 power rule to account for the higher production rate, and suitable
cost inflation was also applied.
Operating costs were estimated for the underground conveyor at $0.59/t and for the winze and crusher at $1.22/t. These costs include labour,
energy, and maintenance.
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Table 1.7 Summary of projected life of mine site operating costs
Year
Date
Year 1
2018
Year 2
2019
Year 3
2020
Year 4
2021
Year 5
2022
Year 6
2023
Year 7
2024
Year 8
2025
Year 9
2026
Year 10
2027
Year 11
2028
Year 12
2029
Year 13
2030
Year 14
2031
Year 15
2032
Year 16
2033
Year 17
2034
Year 18
2035
Year 19
2036
Year 20
2037
Year 21
2038
Total
Notes: Totals do not necessarily equal the sum of the components due to rounding adjustments.

Operating cost $M
n/a – capitalized as pre-operative capital
n/a – capitalized as pre-operative capital
48
79
83
85
84
87
85
85
87
89
80
78
74
74
73
57
48
34
29
1,357

Offsite costs (concentrate transport, treatment, and refining costs)
No detailed market studies have been undertaken at this stage of the project. Lead and zinc concentrates are commonly sold as part of the world’s mining
and metals industries. It is envisaged that silver-rich lead concentrate and zinc concentrate may be sold to smelters in the Asian region. Lead concentrate
could potentially be sold to a smelter in Mexico or exported to offshore smelters. If sold to a local smelter, transport costs could be reduced.
For purposes of its analysis, AMC has assumed that both the lead and zinc concentrates will be treated in Asia, with lead and zinc treatment charges of
$235/dry metric tonne of concentrate, silver refining charges equivalent to 4% of the silver price, gold refining charges of $5/oz and, subject to a transport
cost of $115/wet metric tonne. Treatment and other terms for lead and zinc concentrates were suggested by Neil S. Seldon & Associates Ltd. (NSA,
2016). Both lead and zinc concentrates are projected to incur minor treatment penalties for impurities. The pyrite concentrate is expected to be of high
value and it is assumed that it will be sold to a Mexican smelter, but other alternatives are expected to be available. Total off-site costs have been
estimated at $41.32/t milled.
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Income and other taxes presented in the PEA are based on Mexican legislated tax rates and do not reflect any tax planning opportunities. The tax
provisions include a conventional profit based tax using the 30% corporate tax rate currently in effect, a 7.5% special mining duty applied on earnings
before amortization and taxes, and a 0.5% gross revenue royalty on all gold and silver revenues. Employee profit sharing (PTU) is not included in the
financial estimates and the net present value (NPV) and internal rate of return (IRR) of the project may fluctuate depending on how the project is
structured once it is in operation.
Projected sales
Project economics have been assessed using the following metal prices (Base Case Prices), which were selected after discussion with MAG Silver and
referencing current market and recent historical prices, values used in other recent projects, and forecasts in the public domain:
Silver price = $17.90/oz
Gold price = $1,250/oz
Lead price = $0.95/lb
Zinc price = $1.00/lb
It is envisaged that a silver-rich zinc concentrate will be sold primarily to smelters in the Asian region. Lead concentrate could potentially be sold to a
smelter in Mexico or exported to offshore smelters. It is envisaged that the gold-rich pyrite concentrate will be sold to a customer able to recover gold and
silver using a conventional cyanide leach process.
Economic analysis
All currency is in U.S. dollars ($) unless otherwise stated. The cost estimate was prepared with a base date of Year 1 and does not include any escalation
beyond this date. For net present value (NPV) estimation, all costs and revenues are discounted at 5% from the base date. An exchange rate of
MXP18.46:US$1 and a corporate tax rate of 30% have been assumed.
AMC conducted a high level economic assessment of the conceptual underground operation of the Juanicipio deposit. The mine is projected to generate
approximately $1,860M pre-tax NPV and $1,138M post-tax NPV at 5% discount rate, pre-tax IRR of 64.5% and post-tax IRR of 44.5%. Project capital is
estimated at $840 M with a payback period of 3.4 years (undiscounted pre-tax cash flow from Year 1).
Table 1.8 provides a summary of the key inputs and results of the economic analysis. The results of the 2017 PEA compare favorably with the previous
2012 PEA, which projected a post-tax NPV at 5% discount rate of $1,233M and post-tax IRR of 43%. By definition a preliminary economic assessment is
preliminary in nature and includes Inferred Mineral Resources that are considered too geologically speculative to have the economic considerations
applied to them that would enable them to be categorized as Mineral Reserves and there is no certainty that the preliminary economic assessment will be
realized.
Table 1.8 Key inputs and results of economic analysis
Juanicipio deposit
Total mineralized rock
Total waste production
Production tonnage silver grade (1)
Production tonnage gold grade (1)
Production tonnage zinc grade (1)
Production tonnage lead grade (1)
Silver recovery (1)

Unit
tonnes
tonnes
g/t
g/t
%
%
%

Value (7)
23,123,706
6,758,008
282
1.37
3.43
1.84
94.8
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(1)

Unit
%
%
%
$/oz
$/oz
$/lb
$/lb
%
%
%
%
oz
oz
lb
lb
Silver
Gold
Zinc
Lead
$ (M)
$ (M)
$ (M)
$/t
$/t
$/t
$/oz Ag
$/oz Ag
Years
$ (M)
$ (M)
%
$ (M)
%

Value (7)
81.6
89.8
92.8
$17.90
$1,250
$0.95
$1.00
87
73
76
86
182,789,511
747,417
1,326,904,724
811,923,951
51.90%
14.82%
21.05%
12.23%
$6,304
840
1,357
34.95
20.37
58.67
(3.94)
5.02
1.8
3,152
1,860
64.5
1,138
44.5

Gold recovery
Zinc recovery (1)
Lead recovery (1)
Silver price
Gold price
Zinc price
Lead price
Silver payable (2)
Gold payable (2)
Zinc payable (2)
Lead payable (2)
Payable silver metal
Payable gold metal
Payable zinc metal
Payable lead metal
Revenue split by commodity
Revenue split by commodity
Revenue split by commodity
Revenue split by commodity
Gross revenue
Capital costs
Operating costs (total) (3)
Mine operating costs (4)
Processing costs
Operating costs (total) (3)
Operating cash cost (Ag)
Total all-in sustaining cost (Ag)
Payback period from plant start-up (5)
Cumulative net cash flow (6)
Pre-tax NPV @5% discount rate
Pre-tax IRR
Post-tax NPV @5% discount rate
Post-tax IRR
Notes:
(1)
LOM average.
(2)
Overall payable % includes recoveries, treatment, transport, refining costs and selling costs.
(3)
Includes mine operating costs, milling, and mine G&A.
(4)
Underground mining costs only.
(5)
Values are post-tax from projected plant start up.
(6)
Pre-tax and undiscounted.
(7)
The results are preliminary in nature and include Inferred Mineral Resources that are considered too speculative geologically to have economic
considerations applied to them that would enable them to be categorized as Mineral Reserves, and there is no certainty that the results of the PEA
will be realized.
Sensitivity
AMC has carried out a sensitivity analysis of the conceptual project economics. The sensitivity analysis examined the impact on the post-tax NPV (at 5%
discount rate) of a 30% positive or negative change in metal prices, operating costs, capital costs, corporate tax rate, foreign exchange rate (MXN Peso:$)
and the discount rate. The results (Figure 1.3) show that the post-tax NPV is very positive and remains so for the range of sensitivities evaluated.
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Figure 1.3 Sensitivity analysis – post-tax NPV at 5% discount rate

Conclusions
Mineral Resource estimate AMC made the following observations and conclusions: Indicated tonnes have increased by 27%, while Inferred tonnes have
increased by 138%. Both Indicated and Inferred grades have decreased for silver and increased for base metals. Average gold grades have increased in the
Indicated category and decreased in Inferred category. The net result in the Indicated category has been an increase in contained silver of 6% and an
increase in contained gold of 59%. The increases in contained lead and zinc are 43% and 34% respectively. The net result in the Inferred category has
been an increase in contained silver of 48% and an increase in contained gold of 76%. Contained lead and zinc show increases of 226% and 295%
respectively. Although not a significant part of the total Mineral Resource, copper is quoted for the first time as a result of high copper values being
intercepted at depth in the new drilling.
Reasons for the differences in grade, tonnes and contained metal include Mineral Resource addition down-dip and conversion to higher categories arising
from the new drilling. The most significant change from the previous estimate is the increase in extent of the Deep Zone mineralization as a result of the
new drilling. This is in keeping with the increase in tonnes seen in the 2017 AMC estimate. Also, the overall decrease in average precious metal grades
and increase in average base metal grades reflects the new drilling targeting the deeper base metal rich zones.
Mining




The mine will be accessed by twin declines and a conveyor decline.
Mechanized longhole stoping with waste backfill has been selected as the mining method. This offers good productivity while maintaining
selectivity.
Trade-off studies have identified that conveying the mineralized rock directly to the relocated process plant from underground is economically and
operationally superior to other arrangements.
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Evaluation of the planned production rate and scheduling of the deposit indicates that the deposit supports 1.4 Mtpa.
All waste will be tipped directly into stopes or trucked to surface. There will be a deficit in the amount of waste required for backfilling, projected to
be in Year 11. It is assumed that waste will be mined from a small pit and dropped down a waste pass for distribution to the stopes.
A 780 m long winze will be developed to handle the mineralized material at depth. The winze will commence hoisting in Year 8.
A 1.5 km paved access road is required from the main highway to the process plant. A 6.5 km access road, mostly over hilly terrain, will be required
to access the main portal site from the plant. A two-lane sealed road suitable for use by heavy vehicles is proposed.
Power would be supplied to a main substation at the site via a 115 kV overhead power line from an existing power line located to the north of the
property. The line would have a length of approximately 2 km to the main processing plant sub-station.
It is anticipated that mine service water will initially be provided via a pipeline from a neighbouring mine that has excess water from groundwater
inflow. This water will be supplemented by any water from dewatering the underground workings at Juanicipio (see final point below).
It is envisaged that all mill tailings will be discharged to a tailings storage facility (TSF) with a total volume of approximately 18 Mm3.
No detailed environmental or geotechnical studies have been carried out on suitable sites for the TSF for the project.
Extensive groundwater is anticipated at Juanicipio. Currently there has not been a detailed hydrogeological study for the mine; this may be
considered a risk.

Processing






A third metallurgical laboratory test program was undertaken during 2013, building on the two previous programs. Locked cycle flotation tests
confirmed that the flotation circuit will be viable and good recoveries of silver (80.1%), lead (92.8%), and copper (38.4%) to the lead concentrate
were achieved. Recoveries to zinc concentrate were 4.9% for gold, 6.8% for silver, 43.9% for copper, and 89.8% for zinc. Gold recoveries of 22.1%
to pyrite concentrate were also achieved, along with 9.9% of the silver and 58.1% of the iron. Losses to final tails were reasonable, with metal grades
observed in the final tails stream of 0.2 g/t gold, 24 g/t silver, 0.11% lead, 0.01% copper, and 0.11% zinc. Cyanidation of the pyrite concentrate
demonstrated good gold and silver recoveries of 52% and 80% respectively.
The proposed flowsheet is designed to treat a nominal 4,000 tpd of feed and consists of a comminution circuit, with underground primary crushing,
secondary crushing and milling on surface, followed by sequential flotation to produce a silver-rich lead concentrate; followed by production of a
zinc concentrate and a gold-containing pyrite concentrate. The flowsheet is conventional for lead-zinc operations, with the pyrite flotation circuit
providing a variation to the most commonly used circuits. Test work supports the selection and design of the flotation circuits.
The location of the processing plant has changed from previous studies to a large flat area suitable for construction and of sufficient size to
accommodate the processing plant and tailings facility.

Economics
The preliminary economic assessment clearly indicates that the Juanicipio Project has the potential to be developed into an economically positive, highgrade underground silver mine. By definition a preliminary economic assessment is preliminary in nature and includes Inferred Mineral Resources that
are considered too geologically speculative to have the economic considerations applied to them that would enable them to be categorized as Mineral
Reserves and there is no certainty that the preliminary economic assessment will be realized. Further drilling and investigation work aimed at upgrading
Inferred Mineral Resources and increasing the geotechnical and hydrogeological understanding of the deposit is recommended to augment the next stage
of project design and evaluation.
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Mineral Resources are not Mineral Reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viability. There is a degree of uncertainty attributable to the
estimation of Mineral Resources. Until Mineral Resources are actually mined and processed, the quantity of mineralization and grades must be considered
as estimates only. Any material change in quantity of Mineral Resources, mineralization, or grade may affect the economic viability of the project.
Opportunities for Further Consideration Currently Excluded from Project Scope
Potential opportunities for the project include:












Significant exploration potential within a large land package and a number of high priority drill targets.
The Valdecañas vein system, including the new Anticipada Vein, is largely open at depth.
Deep zone is open to the east and west boundaries of the joint venture property.
Juanicipio vein open to the west and to depth for further exploration.
The 2017 PEA only considers the identified Mineral Resources within the Valdecañas vein system, the Juanicipio vein is not considered at this
time.
Further analysis to determine the metal grade of the diluting material from the Hangingwall and Footwall over blast.
A characterization study of the planned dilution and dilution grade.
Lease versus purchase analysis of equipment, considering equipment availability and tax benefits of leasing.
Assess the ability to increase the recoverability and payability of Ag and Au with a gravity circuit.
Potential recoverability of copper to be considered and assessed.
An opportunity exists to commence negotiations with potential smelters to possibly capitalize on lower lead and zinc treatment charges, and
possibilities to reduce transport costs of concentrate.

Recommendations for further work
AMC recommends the following additional work:









In-fill drilling to convert Inferred Mineral Resources to Indicated Mineral Resources in the Valdecañas vein system.
Step-out drilling to expand the Deep Zone in the Valdecañas vein system and to delineate the western extent and depth of the Juanicipio vein.
Undertake surface exploration and drilling programs on targets outside of the existing Mineral Resource area, as only 5% to 10% of the overall
property has been drill tested and numerous targets for drill-based exploration have been identified.
Continue with relevant mapping, sampling and geophysical surveys to assist in identification of new drill targets.
Undertake a hydrogeological study to reduce risks associated with ground water and better define the dewatering strategy.
Undertake a geotechnical data collection program to include an appropriate number of laboratory-conducted rock strength tests on all lithological
units that are expected to be intersected by underground mining.
Geotechnically log the centreline of the planned winze and conduct a geophysical survey of the proposed shaft centreline using an optical and
acoustic televiewer.
Create a more detailed cost estimate and life of mine production plan for the next phase of the project. Assess potential to optimize lateral and
vertical development quantities. The depth of the winze may need to be re-evaluated if the Mineral Resource extends further at depth.
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Optimization of the lead flotation circuit should be investigated to improve the lead grade of the concentrate without compromising recoveries. It
has been shown that up to 37% of the gold and 28% of the silver in feed could be recovered to a gravity concentrate, which could improve
project economics and potentially eliminate the requirement for a pyrite flotation circuit. More test work will be required to demonstrate the
viability of including a gravity circuit in the final process design. An overall cost benefit study of the pyrite flotation circuit should be
undertaken.
The potential impact of metallurgical variability within the conceptual mining areas has not been demonstrated and more variability work may
be required to ensure that projected grades and recoveries can be reasonably assumed to be consistently achievable over the life of the operation.
Detailed mass and water balances should be generated to confirm metal deportment throughout the processing circuit, process water
requirements and, as necessary, water discharge requirements. Similarly, energy requirements for processing operations should be further
evaluated.
Discussions with potential customers are recommended to better define likely concentrate payment terms. The discussions should be directed
towards establishing provisional concentrate off-take agreements.
Undertake further work to identify and establish firm contracts for water supply either with a neighbouring mine or from an alternative source.
Further understanding of the likely quantity of ground water will be gained from a hydrogeological study; this together with catchment dams
could be an alternative solution.

It is recommended that further work be carried out as part of a structured program that includes completion of a more detailed project feasibility study.
The estimated cost of this program is $15.2M.
Other Properties
The Company also holds interests in various other early-stage exploration properties. The Company continues to evaluate other exploration opportunities
both on currently owned properties and on new prospects.
DIVIDENDS
The Company has neither declared nor paid dividends on its Common Shares. The Company has no present intention of paying dividends on its Common
Shares, as it anticipates that all available funds will be invested to finance the growth of its business. The Company will reevaluate this policy once the
Juanicipio Project has achieved commercial production.
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The Company’s authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares without par value and an unlimited number of Preferred Shares
without par value, of which 94,839,944 Common Shares were issued and outstanding and no Preferred Shares were issued and outstanding as at March
31, 2021. All of the issued shares are fully paid and non-assessable.
Common Shares
A holder of a Common Share is entitled to one vote for each Common Share held on all matters to be voted on by the Company’s shareholders. Each
Common Share is equal to every other Common Share and all Common Shares participate equally on liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the
Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any other distribution of the Company’s assets among the Company’s shareholders for the purpose of
winding up its affairs after the Company has paid out its liabilities. The shareholders are entitled to receive pro rata such dividends as may be declared by
the Board of Directors out of funds legally available therefore and to receive pro rata the remaining property of the Company upon dissolution. No shares
have been issued subject to call or assessment. There are no pre-emptive or conversion rights, and no provisions for redemption, retraction, purchase or
cancellation, surrender, sinking fund or purchase fund. Provisions as to the creation, modification, amendment or variation of such rights or such
provisions are contained in the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) and the articles of the Company.
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On May 13, 2016, the Board approved a Shareholder Rights Plan (the “Rights Plan”) between the Company and Computershare Investor Services Inc.,
dated as of the same date. On June 15, 2016, the Rights Plan was approved by the shareholders of the Company at its annual and special meeting of
shareholders, and by the TSX. On June 13, 2019, the shareholders of the Company reconfirmed and approved the Rights Plan, which will remain in full
force and effect until the third annual meeting of the shareholders of the Company following the meeting held on June 13, 2019. A copy of the Rights
Plan may be obtained by request in writing to the Company at Suite 770 – 800 West Pender Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 2V6, or viewed in electronic
format at www.sedar.com and at www.sec.gov.
MARKET FOR SECURITIES
Trading Price and Volume
The following table provides information as to the high and low prices of the Company’s Common Shares during the 12 months of the most recently
completed financial year as well as the volume of shares traded for each month:
Toronto Stock Exchange
Month
January 2020
February 2020
March 2020
April 2020
May 2020
June 2020
July 2020
August 2020
September 2020
October 2020
November 2020
December 2020

High (C$)
15.52
16.26
14.93
17.87
19.14
19.50
24.09
24.21
24.00
24.73
26.29
26.65

Low (C$)
13.65
11.20
5.33
10.29
15.11
15.34
18.46
19.53
18.81
21.13
18.65
19.55

Volume
4,004,928
4,400,822
15,228,670
10,115,308
8,301,933
6,924,114
6,897,777
4,785,437
4,982,029
4,089,333
5,027,895
5,082,885

Low (US$)
10.36
8.31
3.84
7.26
10.70
11.24
13.63
14.78
14.01
15.77
14.32
15.31

Volume
9,175,248
9,720,991
23,571,391
14,994,067
17,180,734
13,126,577
16,699,736
12,958,349
13,682,728
9,902,592
12,740,897
14,505,100

New York Stock Exchange
Month
January 2020
February 2020
March 2020
April 2020
May 2020
June 2020
July 2020
August 2020
September 2020
October 2020
November 2020
December 2020

High (US$)
11.93
12.24
10.63
12.83
14.00
14.33
18.00
18.25
18.22
18.99
20.15
20.99
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During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued the following securities that are not listed or quoted on a marketplace:
Stock Options

Date of Issuance
February 26, 2020
December 8, 2020

Number of Stock
Options Issued
341,448
231,055

Exercise
Price
(C$)
$14.98
$21.57

Reason for
Issuance
2019 option grant
2020 option grant

RSUs and PSUs
Share Unit
Number
Value
Date of Grant
Granted
(C$)
February 26, 2020
39,063
$14.98
February 26, 2020
83,940(1)
$14.98
December 8, 2020
62,815(1)
$21.57
(1)
One third (1/3) of the PSU grant is subject to market price performance factor measured over a three-year
number of PSUs to vest ranging from 50% (zero PSUs) to 150%.

Reason for
Issuance
2019 RSU grant
2019 PSU grant
2020 PSU grant
performance period, resulting in a

DSUs
Date of Grant
February 26, 2020
February 26, 2020
March 31, 2020
June 18, 2020
June 18, 2020
June 30, 2020
September 30, 2020
December 31, 2020

Number of DSUs
Granted
2,669
10,013
3,689
54,744
988
1,322
986
828

DSU Value
(C$)
$14.98
$14.98
$10.84
$16.44
$16.44
$18.40
$22.17
$26.39

Reason for Issuance
Directors fees paid in DSUs in lieu of cash
DSU Incentive grant for a new Board member
Directors fees paid in DSUs in lieu of cash
2020 DSU grant
Director fees paid in DSUs in lieu of cash
Directors fees paid in DSUs in lieu of cash
Directors fees paid in DSUs in lieu of cash
Directors fees paid in DSUs in lieu of cash

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The following were Directors and Officers of the Company as at December 31, 2020, with the exception of (i) Ms. Susan Mathieu, who was appointed to
the Board on January 13, 2021; (ii) Ms. Jill Neff, who was appointed Corporate Secretary of the Company on January 18, 2021; and (iii) Mr. Tim Baker,
who was appointed as a Director of the Company on March 31, 2021. Mr. Baker replaced Mr. Rick Clark on the Board, who resigned effective March 31,
2021.
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Name and Position(1)
GEORGE N. PASPALAS(6)
President, CEO,
Director (since Oct 15, 2013)
British Columbia, Canada

PETER D. BARNES(2)(4)(6)
Director (since Oct 5, 2012)
Chairman (since June 18, 2020)
British Columbia, Canada

DANIEL T. MACINNIS(5)
Director (since Feb 1, 2005)
British Columbia, Canada
DEREK C. WHITE(2)(3)(5)
Director (since Oct 16, 2007)
British Columbia, Canada

Principal Occupation or Employment during the past 5 No. of Shares(7)(8)
(9)
years
President and CEO of the Company since October 2013. Mr.
174,085
Paspalas was President and CEO of Aurizon Mines from
August 2011 to June 2013. Mr. Paspalas is also a director of
Pretivm Resources Inc. (since 2013).

Chairman of the Company (since June 2020), and a Fellow of
the Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia.
Mr. Barnes co-founded Wheaton Precious Metals (formerly,
Silver Wheaton Corp.) in 2004, and served as their CEO from
2006 to 2011. He was Executive Vice President and CFO of
Goldcorp Inc. from 2005 to 2006, and a director of Richmont
Mines Inc. from 2016 to 2017. Mr. Barnes is a member of
the Institute of Corporate Directors and was a member of the
Silver Institute’s board of directors from 2009 to 2011.
Founder and President of MacXplore Consulting Services
Ltd. since 2013. Mr. MacInnis was President and CEO of
MAG Silver from February 2005 to October 2013. He is
currently Chairman of Group Eleven Resources Corp. Mr.
MacInnis is a CGIC / ICSA Accredited Director.
President and CEO of Ascot Resources Ltd. from October
2017 to present. From 2015 to 2017, Mr. White was a
Principal of Traxys Capital Partners LLP, a private equity
group focused on the mining and minerals sectors. Prior to
that, he was President & CEO of KGHM International Ltd.
from 2012 to 2015. Mr. White holds an undergraduate degree
in Geological Engineering and is a Chartered Professional
Accountant (formerly Chartered Accountant). Mr. White
currently serves as a director of Orca Gold Inc. and was a
director of Magellan Minerals Ltd. from 2006 to 2016.

106,954

No. of Options/
$C price
DSU, RSU, PSU(10)
Options
88,028/$13.46
87,209/$14.98
46,353/$21.57
RSU & PSU
86,442
DSU
39,886
DSU
79,853

232,488

DSU
79,853

12,059

DSU
86,295
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Name and Position(1)
JILL LEVERSAGE(2)(3)(4)
Director (since Dec 22, 2014)
British Columbia, Canada

SELMA LUSSENBURG(4)(5)(6)
Director (since Feb 1, 2020)
Ontario, Canada

Principal Occupation or Employment during the past 5 No. of Shares(7)(8)
(9)
years
Professional Director and Fellow of the Chartered
14,300
Professional Accountants of BC. Since 2015, Ms. Leversage
has focused on serving on a number of public company
boards and several government-appointed boards. She
currently serves as director and Chair of the Audit Committee
of Aurinia Pharmaceuticals Inc., director and Chair of the
Compensation Committee of RE Royalties Ltd., Chair of
CMAIO, director of ICBC and director of the Vancouver
Airport Authority. She is a former director of Catalyst Paper
Corporation (2013 to 2017) and Partnerships BC (2012 to
2019).
Ms. Lussenburg is a business executive and professional
2,000
director. Currently, Ms. Lussenburg serves as director for
Ontario Power Generation and the Muskoka Airport, Chairs
the Ontario Government’s Internal Audit Justice Sectoral
Advisory Committee, and is a Canadian private sector
member on the CUSMA 13.22 Advisory Committee on the
resolution of private commercial disputes. From 2013 to
2018, she served as VP Governance, Corporate Safety &
Security, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of the
Greater Toronto Airports Authority (Toronto Pearson
International Airport). Ms. Lussenburg holds a Masters of
International Law (LLM) from the Australian National
University and a C.Dir. designation from the Directors
College.

No. of Options/
$C price
DSU, RSU, PSU(10)
DSU
104,318

DSU
19,137

-76-

Name and Position(1)
SUSAN F. MATHIEU(5)
Director (since Jan 13, 2021)
Alberta, Canada

RICK CLARK(11)
Former Director (from Oct 5, 2012 to
March 31, 2021)
London, England
TIM BAKER(3)(5)(11)
Director (since March 31, 2021)
British Columbia, Canada

Principal Occupation or Employment during the past 5 No. of Shares(7)(8)
(9)
years
A professional director, Ms. Mathieu previously held various
Nil
operating and corporate positions in the international mining
industry. She is the former VP Environment & Sustainability
with NexGen Energy (2019-2020), and was an Associate,
Senior Mining Consultant and Mining Group Leader at
Golder Associates (2013-2017). She previously held VP roles
with Centerra Gold (2013) and Nova Gold (2008-2009), and
management roles with BHP Billiton (2011-2012),
Falconbridge / Noranda (2000-2006) and Placer Dome (19912000). Ms. Mathieu is a member of the Institute of Corporate
Directors and is working to attain certification.
CEO of Orca Gold Inc. from August 2016 to present. Mr.
Nil
Clark is a lawyer with a geological background. Mr. Clark
has been a senior executive with the Lundin Group of
companies for the past 20 years, serving as Director, CEO
and President for numerous Lundin Group companies,
including Red Back Mining.
Chairman of Golden Star Resources and director of Sherritt
Nil
International and the Triple Flag Precious Metals Advisory
Board. Mr. Baker has a B.Sc. in Geology from Edinburgh
University and has substantial experience in operating
international mines and projects. He was EVP and COO of
Kinross Gold Corporation prior to retiring in 2010. Since
then, Mr. Baker has been a director on the boards of Augusta
Resources Corp., Antofagasta PLC, Eldorado Gold Corp.,
Sherritt International, Rye Patch Gold (later Alio Gold) and
Pacific Rim Mining Corp. Mr. Baker is a member of the
Institute of Corporate Directors.

No. of Options/
$C price
DSU, RSU, PSU(10)
DSU
5,709

DSU
113,301

DSU(12)
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Name and Position(1)
PETER K. MEGAW
Chief Exploration Officer
Arizona, USA

Principal Occupation or Employment during the past 5 No. of Shares(7)(8)
(9)
years
President of IMDEX and co-founder of Cascabel, a
336,768
geological consulting company (since 1988). Dr. Megaw is a
co-founder of MAG and has been a consulting geologist for
MAG since its inception in 2003. From 2003 to 2014, he also
served as a director of MAG. Dr. Megaw is currently a
director of Minaurum Gold Corp. and Jade Leader Corp.

LARRY TADDEI
Chief Financial Officer
British Columbia, Canada

CFO of the Company since June 2010. Mr. Taddei has been
a Chartered Professional Accountant (formerly Chartered
Accountant) since 1990.

50,854

JILL NEFF
Corporate Secretary
British Columbia, Canada

Corporate Secretary of the Company since January 2021.
Prior to that, Ms. Neff was Corporate Secretary of Sierra
Metals Inc. from 2013 to 2021.

Nil

MICHAEL J. CURLOOK
Vice President, Investor Relations and
Communications
British Columbia, Canada

Vice President, Investor Relations and Communications of
the Company since March 2013.

97,755

Notes:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)

No. of Options/
$C price
DSU, RSU, PSU(10)
Options
55,555/$17.55
68,421/$13.91
76,291/$13.46
75,581/$14.98
40,173/$21.57
RSU & PSU
76,746
Options
16,041/$13.46
51,162/$14.98
30,902/$21.57
RSU & PSU
52,290
Options
50,000
RSU & PSU
10,000
Options
16,842/$13.91
18,779/$13.46
18,604/$14.98
10,506/$21.57
RSU & PSU
19,825

Each director’s term of office expires at the next annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company.
Member of Audit Committee.
Member of Compensation Committee.
Member of Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee.
Member of the HSEC Committee.
Member of the Disclosure Committee.
Includes beneficial, direct and indirect shareholdings.
Does not include stock options and other rights to purchase or acquire shares.
Includes direct and indirect ownership.
Includes grants of RSUs and PSUs made under the Company’s Share Unit Plan (the “Share Unit Plan”) and grants of DSUs made under the
Directors’ Deferred Share Unit Plan (the “DSU Plan”).
Mr. Clark resigned from the Board effective March 31, 2021. Mr. Baker was appointed to the Board effective March 31, 2021.
In connection with his appointment, Mr. Baker was provided a fixed allocation of DSUs in the aggregate amount of CAD$150,000. The number
of DSUs to be granted to Mr. Baker based on this allocation will be determined based on the closing trading price of the Common Shares on the
TSX on a date that is at least two trading days after the end of the Company’s current “black-out” period in connection with the Company’s
annual filings.

There are 94,839,944 Common Shares issued and outstanding as at March 31, 2021. As of March 31, 2021, directors and officers of the Company as a
group own or control 1,027,263 Common Shares of the Company representing approximately 1.1% of its issued and outstanding Common Shares.
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Rick Clark was a Director of the Company from October 5, 2012 until March 31, 2021. From January 2014 to May 2015, Mr. Clark was President, Chief
Executive Officer and Director of RB Energy Inc.(“RBI”). On October 14, 2014, RBI applied for and obtained an Initial Order (the "Initial Order") to
commence proceedings under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act (the "CCAA") in the Québec Superior Court (the "Court"). The Court issued
the Initial Order in respect of RBI and its Canadian subsidiaries. The Initial Order granted an initial stay of creditor proceedings to November 13, 2014
which was extended to April 30, 2015. The TSX de-listed RBI’s common shares effective at the close of business on November 24, 2014 for failure to
meet the continued listing requirements of the TSX. Since that time, RBI’s common shares have been suspended from trading.
In May 2015, the Court appointed a receiver, Duff & Phelps Canada Restructuring Inc., under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, and terminated the
CCAA proceedings. In May 2015, the British Columbia Securities Commission, the Manitoba Securities Commission, the Ontario Securities Commission
and the Autorité des Marchés Financiers issued cease trade orders against RBI for failure to file financial statements, MD&A and applicable certifications
for the period ended December 31, 2014. On August 12, 2015, the Alberta Securities Commission issued a cease trade order with respect to same and
including failure to file interim financial statements, MD&A and applicable certifications for the period ended March 31, 2015. Mr. Clark resigned as a
Director and ceased employment as President and CEO of RBI on May 8, 2015.
Other than as described above, none of the other directors or officers is currently, or has been within the past ten years, (A) a director, chief executive
officer or chief financial officer of any company that (i) was subject to an order that was issued while such person was acting in the capacity as director,
chief executive officer or chief financial officer, or (ii) was subject to an order that was issued after such person ceased to be a director, chief executive
officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while such person was acting as a director, chief executive officer or chief
financial officer, or (B) a director or executive officer of any company that, or a shareholder holding sufficient number of securities of the Company to
affect materially the control of the Company, while such person was acting in such capacity, or within a year of such person ceasing to act in such
capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings,
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets.
None of the management nominees has within the past ten years become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or
insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee
appointed to hold the assets of such person. None of the management nominees has been subject to (1) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court
relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority or
(2) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable security holder in
deciding whether to vote for such person.
Conflicts of Interest
The Company’s directors and officers may serve as directors or officers of other companies or have significant shareholdings in other resource companies
and, to the extent that such other companies may participate in ventures in which the Company may participate, the directors and officers of the Company
may have a conflict of interest in negotiating and concluding terms respecting the extent of such participation. In the event that such a conflict of interest
arises at a meeting of the Company’s directors, a director who has such a conflict will disclose his interest in the matter and abstain from voting for or
against the approval of such participation or such terms. From time to time, several companies may participate in the acquisition, exploration and
development of natural resource properties thereby allowing for their participation in larger programs, permitting involvement in a greater number of
programs and reducing financial exposure in respect of any one program. It may also occur that a particular company will assign all or a portion of its
interest in a particular program to another of these companies due to the financial position of the company making the assignment. In accordance with the
laws of the Province of British Columbia, the directors of the Company are required to act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the
Company. In determining whether or not the Company will participate in a particular program and the interest therein to be acquired by it, the directors
will primarily consider the degree of risk to which the Company may be exposed and its financial position at that time.
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opportunity and requiring disclosures by the directors of conflicts of interest and the Company will rely upon such laws in respect of any directors’ and
officers’ conflicts of interest or in respect of any breaches of duty by any of its directors and officers. All such conflicts will be disclosed by such directors
or officers in accordance with the laws of the Province of British Columbia and they shall govern themselves in respect thereof to the best of their ability
in accordance with the obligations imposed upon them by law. Other than as disclosed under the heading “Interest of Management and Others in Material
Transactions” below, the directors and officers of the Company are not aware of any such conflicts of interests.
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
The Company’s Code applies to all of its directors, officers, employees, consultants and contractors. It includes provisions covering conflicts of interest;
ethical conduct; compliance with applicable government laws, rules and regulations; and accountability for adherence to the Code. A copy of the Code is
posted on the Company’s website at https://magsilver.com/corporate/governance/.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) is responsible for reviewing the Company’s financial reporting procedures, internal controls
and the performance of the Company’s external auditors. For more information regarding the responsibilities of the Audit Committee, please see the
Audit Committee Charter attached hereto as Schedule “A”.
Audit Committee Composition and Background
As at December 31, 2020, the Audit Committee was comprised of Rick Clark (Chair), Jill Leversage and Peter Barnes. Mr. Clark resigned from the Board
effective March 31, 2021 and, as such, the Audit Committee was reconstituted. As of March 31, 2021, the Audit Committee is comprised of Jill
Leversage (Chair), Peter Barnes and Derek White. All three members of the Audit Committee are (i) independent within the meaning of such term in
National Instrument 52-110 - Audit Committees (“NI 52-110”), and (ii) financially literate under NI 52-110, meaning they are able to read and understand
the Company’s financial statements and to understand the breadth and level of complexity of the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by
the Company’s financial statements. In addition to each member’s general business experience, the education and experience of each member of the
Audit Committee that is relevant to the performance of his responsibilities as a member of the Audit Committee are set forth below:


Jill Leversage, FCA, CBV (Chair of the Audit Committee) – Ms. Leversage has over 30 years of experience in the financial advisory and services
sector. She began her finance career at Burns Fry Ltd. and has held senior level positions at both RBC Capital Markets and TD Securities. Ms.
Leversage currently serves on a number of public and government related boards including Aurinia Pharmaceuticals Inc., RE Royalty Ltd., Insurance
Corporation of BC, CMAIO and the Vancouver Airport Authority. She is a Fellow in the Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants, a CGIC /
ICSA Accredited Director, and is also a Chartered Business Valuator (ret.) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Business Valuators.
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Peter Barnes, FCPA, FCA, D.Sc (Econ)., ICD.D – Mr. Barnes is Chairman of the Board of MAG Silver Corp., and is a Fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of BC. Mr. Barnes co-founded Wheaton Precious Metals (formerly, Silver Wheaton Corp.) in 2004, and served as their CEO
from 2006 to 2011. He is a member of the Institute of Corporate Directors and was a member of the Silver Institute’s Board of Directors from 2009
to 2011. Mr. Barnes is a CGIC / ICSA Accredited Director.



Derek White – Mr. White is currently President and CEO of Ascot Resources Ltd. and has over 30 years of experience in the mining and metals
industry. Mr. White holds an undergraduate degree in Geological Engineering from the University of British Columbia and is also a Chartered
Accountant. Mr. White currently also serves as a director of Orca Gold Inc. Mr. White was formerly a Principal of Traxys Capital Partners LLP from
Oct. 2015 to 2017, a private equity group focused on mining and minerals sectors. Mr. White was also formerly President and CEO of KGHM
International Ltd. from 2012 to 2015, and held the positions of Executive Vice President, Business Development and Chief Financial Officer of
Quadra FNX Mining Ltd. from 2004 to 2012. Mr. White has held executive positions with International Vision Direct Ltd., BHP-Billiton Plc,
Billiton International Metals BV and Impala Platinum Ltd., in Vancouver, Toronto, London, The Hague, and Johannesburg. Mr. White is a CGIC /
ICSA Accredited Director.

The Board has determined that each of the Audit Committee members is an “audit committee financial expert” within the meaning of the regulations
promulgated by the SEC and an “independent director” as that term is defined by the rules contained in the NYSE American Company Guide.
Reliance on Certain Exemptions
At no time since the commencement of the Company’s most recently completed financial year has the Company relied on any of the exemptions in
Section 2.4, 3.2, 3.3(2), 3.4, 3.5 or 3.6 of NI 52-110, or an exemption from NI 52-110, in whole or in part, granted under Part 8 of NI 52-110 or on section
3.8 of NI 52-110. No non-audit services were approved pursuant to a de minimis exemption to the pre-approval requirement.
Audit Committee Oversight
At no time since the commencement of the Company’s most recently completed financial year was a recommendation of the Audit Committee to
nominate or compensate an external auditor not adopted by the Board.
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures
The Audit Committee is authorized by the Board to review the performance of the Company’s external auditors and approve in advance provision of
services other than auditing and to consider the independence of the external auditors, including reviewing the range of services provided in the context of
all consulting services bought by the Company.
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For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the fees billed by the Company’s current external auditor, Deloitte LLP
(“Deloitte”), are summarized below for each category:
Year ended
December 31, 2020
Canadian $
Audit Fees
Audit-Related Fees
Tax Fees
All Other Fees
Total

277,200
73,294
82,462
0
432,956

Year ended
December 31, 2019
Canadian $
270,000
3,636
82,501
0
356,137

The nature of the services provided by Deloitte under each of the categories indicated in the table is described below.
Audit Fees
Audit fees are those incurred for professional services rendered by Deloitte for the audit of the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements, for
the quarterly interim reviews of the Company’s unaudited consolidated financial statements.
Audit-Related Fees
Audit-related fees are those incurred for professional services rendered by Deloitte LLP relating to the preliminary and final short form base shelf
prospectus and the prospectus supplement, all filed in 2020.
Tax Fees
Tax fees are those incurred for professional services rendered by Deloitte for tax compliance, including the review of tax returns, tax planning and
advisory services relating to common forms of domestic and international taxation, continued tax planning and advisory services on potential
restructuring and spin-out projects, and services related to the Company’s transfer pricing report.
All Other Fees
There are no other fees to report under this category for professional services rendered by Deloitte for the Company.
Compensation Committee
As at December 31, 2020, the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”) was comprised of Derek White (Chair), Jill
Leversage and Rick Clark. Rick Clark resigned from the Board on March 31, 2021 and, as such, the committee was reconstituted. Effective March 31,
2021, the Compensation Committee is comprised of the following three directors, all of whom are independent: Derek White (Chair), Jill Leversage and
Tim Baker. The primary objective of the Compensation Committee is to discharge the Board’s responsibilities relating to compensation and benefits of
the executive officers and directors of the Company. The Compensation Committee Charter may be found on the Company website at
https://magsilver.com/corporate/governance/.
Governance and Nomination Committee
The GNC is comprised of three directors, all of whom are independent: Jill Leversage (Chair), Peter Barnes and Selma Lussenburg. The primary
objective of this committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities by (a) identifying individuals qualified to become Board and
Board committee members and recommending to the Board director nominees for appointment or election to the Board, and (b) developing and
recommending to the Board corporate governance guidelines for the Company and making recommendations to the Board with respect to corporate
governance practices. The GNC Charter may be found on the Company website at https://magsilver.com/corporate/governance/.
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As at December 31, 2020, the Company’s HSEC Committee was comprised of Daniel MacInnis (Chair), Selma Lussenburg, Derek White and George
Paspalas. The HSEC Committee was recently reconstituted and, as at the date of this AIF, is comprised of Daniel MacInnis (Chair), Selma Lussenburg,
Derek White, Susan Mathieu and Tim Baker. The primary objective of this committee is to assist the Board in its oversight of:
a)

the risks, challenges and opportunities to the Company’s business associated with health, safety, environmental and social responsibility
(including human rights and community engagement) matters;
b) the Company’s sustainability conduct, including health, safety, environmental and social responsibility policies and programs, and performance
in such areas;
c) the Company’s compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements associated with health, safety, environmental and human rights
matters; and
d) the Company’s external reporting in relation to health, safety, environmental and social responsibility matters.
The HSEC Committee Charter is available on the Company website at
https://magsilver.com/corporate/governance/.
Disclosure Committee
As at December 31, 2020, the Company’s Disclosure Committee (the “Disclosure Committee”) was comprised of George Paspalas (Chair), Selma
Lussenburg, Rick Clark, Larry Taddei, and Peter Megaw. Rick Clark resigned from the Board effective March 31, 2021 and, as such, the Disclosure
Committee has been reconstituted to include the following directors and officers of the Company: George Paspalas (Chair), Selma Lussenburg, Peter
Barnes, Larry Taddei, and Peter Megaw. The primary objective of this operational committee is to ensure the Company and all applicable persons meet
their obligations under the provisions of securities laws and stock exchange rules by establishing a process for the timely disclosure of all material
information, ensuring that all applicable persons understand their obligations to preserve the confidentiality of undisclosed material information and
ensuring that all appropriate parties who have undisclosed material information know they are prohibited from insider trading and tipping under
applicable law, stock exchange rules and the Company’s Timely Disclosure, Confidentiality and Insider Trading Policy, which may be found on the
Company website at https://magsilver.com/corporate/governance/.
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS
There are no pending or contemplated legal proceedings to which the Company is a party or of which any of the Company’s properties is the subject.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company is not subject to:
(a)

any penalties or sanctions imposed against the Company by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory
authority during the financial year ended December 31, 2020; or
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any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against the Company that would likely be considered important
to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision; or

(c)

settlement agreements the Company entered into before a court relating to securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority
during the financial year ended December 31, 2020.

The Company is unaware of any condition of default under any debt, regulatory, exchange related or other contractual obligation.
INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS
No director, executive officer or principal shareholder of the Company, or any associate or affiliate of the foregoing, has had any material interest, direct
or indirect, in any transaction within the three most recently completed financial years or during the current financial year prior to the date of this AIF that
has materially affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect the Company, except as otherwise disclosed in this AIF and as follows:
Dr. Peter Megaw, of Arizona, U.S.A., is the Chief Exploration Officer of the Company. He is remunerated through IMDEX as outlined below, with the
exception of equity incentives (stock options, RSUs and PSUs), which are granted directly to Dr. Megaw.
Dr. Megaw is also a principal of IMDEX and Cascabel. The Company is obligated to a 2.5% NSR royalty on the Cinco de Mayo property payable to the
principals of Cascabel under the terms of an option agreement dated February 26, 2004, whereby the Company acquired a 100% interest in the property
from Cascabel, and under the terms of assignment agreements entered into by Cascabel with its principals. A full impairment has been recognized on the
Cinco de Mayo Property by the Company effective December 31, 2016. Further, Cascabel has been and will continue to be retained by the Company as a
consulting geological firm compensated at industry standard rates.
The Company accrued or paid Cascabel and IMDEX the following fees under the Field Services Agreement:
Year Ended December 31, 2020
General consulting, marketing, investor relations
Exploration management, field costs and travel
reimbursement
Total

Cascabel & IMDEX
214,599

IMDEX related to
Dr. Megaw
504,299
11,989

US$ Total
504,299
226,588

214,599

516,288

730,887

Year Ended December 31, 2019
General consulting, marketing, investor relations
Exploration management, field costs and travel
reimbursement
Total

Cascabel & IMDEX
-

IMDEX related to
Dr. Megaw
420,300

US$ Total
420,300

357,608
357,608

71,510
491,810

429,118
849,418

Within the Field Services Agreement between the MAG and Cascabel/IMDEX, a ‘Right of First Refusal’ has been granted to MAG for any silver
properties Cascabel/IMDEX may come across. As part of this agreement, Cascabel/IMDEX have agreed to grant MAG the right of first refusal to
examine all silver properties currently in their control or brought to their attention by others. MAG, and solely at MAG’s discretion, may lease, option,
purchase, joint venture or otherwise acquire an interest in such silver properties as may be known or offered by Cascabel/IMDEX to MAG. In recognition
of the work carried out by Cascabel/IMDEX to introduce such properties to MAG, a reasonably negotiated finder’s fee may be payable by MAG on any
new property of merit.
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The Company’s transfer agent and registrar for its Common Shares is:
Computershare Investor Services Inc.
3rd floor – 510 Burrard Street
Vancouver, British Columbia
Canada V6C 3B9
MATERIAL CONTRACTS
Other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business of the Company, the only contracts material to the Company and that were entered
into within the most recently completed financial year of the Company or before the most recently completed financial year of the Company but still in
effect, is the Shareholders’ Agreement dated October 10, 2005 between the Company, Peñoles and others relating to Minera Juanicipio. See “Economic
Dependence” in “Description of the Business”, above.
INTERESTS OF EXPERTS
The Company’s technical reports, including the following listed reports are available on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com and on the SEC’s
EDGAR website at www.sec.gov.
The Mineral Resource estimate and Preliminary Economic Assessment for the Juanicipio Project (as defined herein) in Zacatecas State, Mexico, which
report was amended and restated on January 19, 2018 and re-titled “Juanicipio NI 43-101 Technical Report (Amended and Restated)” and filed on
SEDAR on January 19, 2018, which is incorporated by reference herein, was prepared by and under the supervision of AMC and authored by Adrienne
Ross, Ph.D., P.Geo., P.Geol., Gary Methven, P.Eng., Harald Muller, FAusIMM and Carl Kottmeier, P.Eng. This report replaced and supersedes the
previously filed reports with respect to the Juanicipio Project.
To the knowledge of the Company, having made reasonable enquiry, none of the experts listed above, or any “designated professional” of such expert,
has any registered or beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in any securities or other property of the Company or any of its associates or affiliates.
The Company’s auditors, Deloitte, have prepared the report of the independent registered public accounting firm attached to the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements for the most recent financial year end. Deloitte is independent within the meaning of the Rules of Professional Conduct
of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia and within the meaning of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the applicable
rules and regulations thereunder adopted by the SEC and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB).
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Additional information, including details as to directors’ and officers’ remuneration and indebtedness, principal holders of the Company’s Common
Shares and of options to purchase Common Shares and certain other matters, is contained in the Company’s Information Circular for the annual general
and special meeting held on June 18, 2020, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Additional financial information is provided in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the year
ended December 31, 2020.
Copies of the above and additional information relating to the Company may be obtained on the Company’s website at www.magsilver.com; on the
SEDAR website at www.sedar.com; on the SEC’s EDGAR website at www.sec.gov or by calling the Company’s investor relations personnel at 604-6301399.

SCHEDULE “A”
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER
MAG SILVER CORP.
(the “Corporation”)
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER
1.

General

The Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “Board”) has established an Audit Committee (the “Committee”) to assist the Board in fulfilling its
oversight responsibilities. The Committee will review and oversee the financial reporting and accounting process of the Corporation, the system of
internal control and management of financial risks, the external audit process, and the Corporation’s process for monitoring compliance with laws and
regulations and its own code of business conduct. In performing its duties, the Committee will maintain effective working relationships with the Board,
management, and the external auditors and monitor the independence of those auditors. To perform his or her role effectively, each Committee member
will obtain an understanding of the responsibilities of Committee membership as well as the Corporation’s business, operations and risks.
The Corporation’s independent auditor is ultimately accountable to the Board and to the Committee. The Board and Committee, as representatives of the
Corporation’s shareholders, have the ultimate authority and responsibility to evaluate the independent auditor, to nominate annually the independent
auditor to be proposed for shareholder approval, to determine appropriate compensation for the independent auditor, and where appropriate, to replace the
outside auditor. In the course of fulfilling its specific responsibilities hereunder, the Committee must maintain free and open communication between the
Corporation’s independent auditors, Board and Corporation management. The responsibilities of a member of the Committee are in addition to such
member’s duties as a member of the Board.
2.

Members

The Board will in each year appoint a minimum of three (3) directors as members of the Committee. All members of the Committee shall be nonmanagement directors and shall be independent within the meaning of all applicable U.S. and Canadian securities laws and the rules of the Toronto Stock
Exchange and the NYSE American, unless otherwise exempt from such requirements.
None of the members of the Committee may have participated in the preparation of the financial statements of the Corporation or any current subsidiary
of the Corporation at any time during the past three years.
All members of the Committee shall be able to read and understand fundamental financial statements and must be financially literate within the meaning
of all applicable U.S. and Canadian securities laws or become financially literate within a reasonable period of time following his or her appointment.
Additionally, at least one member of the Committee shall be financially sophisticated and shall have past employment experience in finance or
accounting, requisite professional certification in accounting, or any other comparable experience or background which results in the individual’s
financial sophistication, which may include being or having been a chief executive officer, chief financial officer, or other senior officer with financial
oversight responsibilities.
3.

Duties

The Committee will have the following duties:


Gain an understanding of whether internal control recommendations made by external auditors have been implemented by management.
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Gain an understanding of the current areas of greatest financial risk and whether management is managing these effectively.



Review significant accounting and reporting issues, including recent professional and regulatory pronouncements, and understand their
impact on the financial statements.



Review any legal matters which could significantly impact the financial statements as reported on by the Corporation’s counsel and engage
outside independent counsel and other advisors whenever as deemed necessary by the Committee to carry out its duties.



Review the Corporation’s annual and quarterly financial statements, including Management’s Discussion and Analysis with respect thereto,
and all annual and interim earnings press releases, prior to public dissemination, including any certification, report, opinion or review
rendered by the external auditors and determine whether they are complete and consistent with the information known to Committee
members; determine that the auditors are satisfied that the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.



Pay particular attention to complex and/or unusual transactions such as those involving derivative instruments and consider the adequacy of
disclosure thereof.



Focus on judgmental areas, for example those involving valuation of assets and liabilities and other commitments and contingencies.



Review audit issues related to the Corporation’s material associated and affiliated companies that may have a significant impact on the
Corporation’s equity investment.



Meet with management and the external auditors to review the annual financial statements and the results of the audit.



Evaluate the fairness of the interim financial statements and related disclosures including the associated Management’s Discussion and
Analysis, and obtain explanations from management on whether:


actual financial results for the interim period varied significantly from budgeted or projected results;



generally accepted accounting principles have been consistently applied;



there are any actual or proposed changes in accounting or financial reporting practices; or



there are any significant or unusual events or transactions which require disclosure and, if so, consider the adequacy of that disclosure.



Review the external auditors’ proposed audit scope and approach and ensure no unjustifiable restriction or limitations have been placed on
the scope.



Recommend to the Board an external auditor to be nominated for appointment by the Corporation’s shareholders. Subject to the
appointment of the Corporation’s external auditor by the Corporation’s shareholders, the Committee will be directly responsible for the
appointment, compensation, retention and oversight of the work of external auditor engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an
auditor’s report or performing other audit, review or attest services for the Corporation, including the resolution of disagreements between
management and the external auditor regarding financial reporting. The Corporation’s external auditor shall report directly to the
Committee.

A-3


Review with the Corporation’s management, on a regular basis, the performance of the external auditors, the terms of the external auditor’s
engagement, accountability and experience.



The Committee Chair will pre-approve all non-audit services to be provided to the Corporation or its subsidiary entities by the external
auditor. The decisions of the Committee Chair relating to the pre-approval of non-audit services must be presented to the full Committee at
its next scheduled Committee meeting.



Consider at least annually the independence of the external auditors, including reviewing the range of services provided in the context of all
consulting services obtained by the Corporation, including:


insuring receipt from the independent auditor of a formal written statement delineating all relationships between the independent auditor
and the Company, consistent with the Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 and related Canadian regulatory body standards;



considering and discussing with the independent auditor any relationships or services, including non-audit services, that may impact the
objectivity and independence of the independent auditor; and



as necessary, taking, or recommending that the Board take, appropriate action to oversee the independence of the independent auditor.



Ensure that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the Corporation’s public disclosure of financial information extracted or
derived from the Corporation’s financial statements, other than the public disclosure contained in the Corporation’s financial statements,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis and annual and interim earnings press releases; and must periodically assess the adequacy of those
procedures.



Review any significant disagreement among management and the external auditors in connection with the preparation of the financial
statements.



Review and approve the Corporation’s hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former partners and employees of the present and
former external auditors of the Corporation.



Establish a procedure for:


the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Corporation of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing
matters; and



the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Corporation regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or
auditing matters.
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4.



Meet separately with the external auditors to discuss any matters that the committee or auditors believe should be discussed privately in the
absence of management.



Endeavour to cause the receipt and discussion on a timely basis of any significant findings and recommendations made by the external
auditors.



Ensure that the Board is aware of matters which may significantly impact the financial condition or affairs of the business.



Review and oversee all related party transactions.



Perform other functions as requested by the Board.



If necessary, institute special investigations and, if appropriate, hire special counsel or experts to assist, and set the compensation to be paid
to such special counsel or other experts.



Review and re-assess annually the adequacy of this Charter and recommend updates to this charter; receive approval of changes from the
Board.



With regard to the Corporation’s internal control procedures, the Committee is responsible to:


review the appropriateness and effectiveness of the Corporation’s policies and business practices which impact on the financial integrity
of the Corporation, including those related to internal auditing, insurance, accounting, information services and systems and financial
controls, management reporting and risk management; and



review compliance under the Corporation’s business conduct and ethics policies and to periodically review these policies and
recommend to the Board changes which the Committee may deem appropriate; and



review any unresolved issues between management and the external auditors that could affect the financial reporting or internal controls
of the Corporation; and



periodically review the Corporation’s financial and auditing procedures and the extent to which recommendations made by the internal
audit staff or by the external auditors have been implemented.



Comply with Rule 10A – 3(b)(2), (3), (4) and (5) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.



The Committee Chair will participate in shareholder engagement in regards to matters arising in respect to the Committee’s responsibilities.



Review and approve financial summaries and disclosure made in accordance with the Extractive Sector Transparency Measures Act.

Chair

The Board shall designate one Committee member to act as the chair of the Committee (the “Chair”). In the Chair’s absence, the Committee may select
another member to act as Chair by majority vote in order to transact business at a meeting of the Committee. The Chair will not have a casting vote. The
Chair shall lead all Committee meetings, ensure the fulfillment of the Committee’s mandate and report on Committee activities to the Board.
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5.

Meetings

The Committee will meet as often as is required to fulfill its responsibilities or at least once every calendar quarter. Special meetings shall be convened as
required. Notices calling meetings shall be sent to all members of the Committee, all Board members and the external auditor. The external auditor of the
Corporation must be given reasonable notice of, and has the right to appear before and to be heard at, each meeting of the Committee. At the request of
the external auditor, the Committee must convene a meeting of the Committee to consider any matter that the external auditor believes should be brought
to the attention of the Board or shareholders of the Corporation.
The Committee may invite such other persons (e.g. without limitation, the President or Chief Financial Officer) to its meetings, as it deems appropriate.
In-camera sessions will be held during, or after, every committee meeting (including special meetings) for which any guests including non-independent
directors, shall be asked to leave. The CEO shall not attend in-camera sessions of the Committee unless his/her presence is deemed appropriate for a
portion of the in-camera session, after which the CEO will be requested to leave.
6.

Quorum

A majority of members of the Committee, present in person, by teleconferencing, or by videoconferencing, or by any combination of the foregoing, will
constitute a quorum.
7.

Removal and Vacancy

A member may resign from the Committee, and may also be removed and replaced at any time by the Board, and will automatically cease to be a member
as soon as the member ceases to be a director of the Corporation. The Board will fill vacancies in the Committee by appointment from among the
directors in accordance with Section 2 of this Charter or as otherwise permissible under U.S. and Canadian securities laws. Subject to quorum
requirements, if a vacancy exists on the Committee, the remaining members will exercise all of the Committee’s powers.
8.

Authority

The Committee may:


engage independent counsel and other advisors as it determines necessary to carry out its duties.



set and pay the compensation for any advisors employed by the Committee; and



communicate directly with the internal and external auditors.

The Committee may also, within the scope of its responsibilities, seek any information it requires from any employee and from external parties, to obtain
outside legal or professional advice, and to ensure the attendance of Corporation officers at meetings as appropriate.
9.

Secretary and Minutes

The Chair of the Committee will appoint a member of the Committee or other person to act as Secretary of the Committee for purposes of a meeting of
the Committee. The minutes of the Committee meetings shall be in writing and duly entered into the books of the Corporation, and will be circulated to
all members of the Board.
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10.

Funding

The Committee shall be provided with appropriate funding, as determined by the Committee, for payment of (a) compensation to any registered public
accounting firm engaged for the purposes of preparing or issuing an audit report or performing other audit, review or attest services for the Corporation;
(b) compensation to any advisers employed by the Committee; and (c) ordinary administrative expenses of the Committee that are necessary or
appropriate in carry out its duties.

SCHEDULE “B”
GLOSSARY
The following is a glossary of certain terms used in this AIF.
"Ag" is the elemental symbol for silver.
“AIF” is this Annual Information Form dated March 31, 2021.
“alluvium” is unconsolidated surficial sediments deposited by water.
“alteration” usually refers to chemical reactions in a rock mass resulting from the passage of hydrothermal fluids.
“AMC” is AMC Mining Consultants (Canada) Ltd.
“anomalous” is a value, or values, in which the amplitude is statistically between that of a low contrast anomaly and a high contrast anomaly in a given
data set.
“ATM Program” is the Company’s at-the-market equity program, announced on June 30, 2020.
"Au" is the elemental symbol for gold.
“basalt” is volcanic rock, low in quartz content, generally fine grained and dark coloured.
“Board” is the board of directors of the Company.
“calcite” refers to calcium carbonate mineral. It is a common constituent of many rock types as well as occurring in veins and alteration assemblages.
“carbonate” refers to minerals which have the formula “X”CO3. Calcite is the most common carbonate mineral. Also rocks composed dominantly of
carbonate minerals such as calcite.
“Cascabel” is Minera Cascabel, S.A. de C.V., a company incorporated pursuant to the laws of the Mexican Republic.
“Code” the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.
“Common Shares” is the common shares without par value in the capital of the Company.
“Company”, “MAG” or “MAG Silver” is MAG Silver Corp., a company under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia).
“conglomerate” is sedimentary rock composed of gravel and coarser fragments.
“concession” is a defined area for which mineral tenure has been granted by the Mexican Government for a period of 50 years to allow exploration and
exploitation and may be renewed for another 50 years.
“COVID-19” the novel coronavirus and variants thereof.
“CRD” is a carbonate replacement deposit.
“Cretaceous” is the geological period extending from 135 million to 63 million years ago.
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“Deer Trail Project” is the Deer Trail project described throughout this AIF, commencing on page 10.
“Deloitte” is the Company’s auditors, Deloitte LLP.
“DSUs” are deferred share units.
“EPCM Agreement” is the Engineering, Procurement and Construction Management Agreement between Minera Juanicipio and an affiliate of Fresnillo
that is overseeing the Juanicipio Project mine construction and development.
“ESG” refers to environmental, social and governance.
“ESTMA” is the Extractive Sector Transparency Measures Act (Canada).
“exploitation” is works aimed at preparation and development of the area comprised by the mineral deposit, as well as work aimed at detaching and
extracting the minerals, products or substances existing therein.
“exploration” is works performed on land aimed at identifying deposits of minerals or substances, as well as quantifying and evaluating the
economically utilizable Mineral Reserves they contain.
“fault” is a fracture in rock where there has been displacement of the two sides.
“flow” is volcanic rock comprised of flow lava.
“fracture” refers to breaks in a rock, usually due to intensive folding or faulting.
“Fresnillo” is Fresnillo plc.
“g/t” refers to grams per tonne (34.2857 g/t = 1.0 troy ounce/ton).
“grade” refers to the concentration of each ore metal in a rock sample, usually given as weight percent. Where extremely low concentrations are
involved, the concentration may be given in grams per tonne (g/t) or ounces per ton (oz/t). The grade of an ore deposit is calculated, often using
sophisticated statistical procedures, as an average of the grades of a very large number of samples collected from throughout the deposit.
“greywacke” refers to sandstone composed largely of sand-sized rock fragments.
“HSEC” is Health, Safety, Environment and Community.
“hydrothermal” refer to hot fluids, usually mainly water, in the earth’s crust which may carry metals and other compounds in solution to the site of ore
deposition or wall rock alteration.
“IFRS” is the International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
“igneous” is a rock formed by the cooling of molten silicate material.
“IMDEX” is IMDEX Inc.
“intrusive” is a rock mass formed below the earth’s surface from magma which has intruded into a pre-existing rock mass.
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“Juanicipio Project” is the Juanicipio project described throughout this AIF, commencing on page 9.
“Lagartos” is Minera Los Lagartos, S.A. de C.V., a company incorporated pursuant to the laws of the Mexican Republic, the principal of which is the
Company.
“magma” refers to molten rock formed within the crust or upper mantle of the earth.
“Met-Mex” is Met-Mex Peñolos, S.A. de C.V.
“mill” refers to a facility for processing ore to concentrate and recover valuable minerals.
“Minera Juanicipio” is Minera Juanicipio, S.A. de C.V., a company incorporated pursuant to the laws of the Mexican Republic, the principals of which
are Fresnillo (56%) and the Company (44%).
“Minera Juanicipio Board” is the board of directors of Minera Juanicipio.
“Mineral Reserve” is that part of a mineral deposit which could be economically and legally extracted or produced at the time of the Mineral Reserve
determination. It is the economically mineable part of a Measured or Indicated Mineral Resource demonstrated by at least a preliminary feasibility study.
The study must include adequate information on mining, processing, metallurgical, economic and other relevant factors that demonstrate, at the time of
reporting, that economic extraction can be justified. A Mineral Reserve includes diluting materials and allowances for losses that may occur when the
material is mined.
“Mineral Resource” is a concentration or occurrence of natural, solid, inorganic or fossilized organic material in or on the Earth’s crust in such form and
quantity and of such a grade or quality that it has reasonable prospects for economic extraction. The location, quantity, grade, geological characteristics
and continuity of a Mineral Resource are known, estimated or interpreted from specific geological evidence and knowledge.
“mineralization” usually implies minerals of value occurring in rocks.
“net smelter returns royalty” or “NSR” refers to payment of a percentage of mining revenues after deducting applicable smelter charges.
“NI 43-101” is National Instrument 43-101 – Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects.
“NI 52-110” is National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees.
“NSAMT” is Natural Source Audio-frequency Magneto Tellurics.
“Official Closing Rate” is the average of exchange rates in effect on the last day of each month during such periods, and the high and low exchange rates
during such periods based on the exchange rate published by Banco de Mexico in the Official Journal of the Federation to settle liabilities denominated in
foreign currency payable in Mexico, for conversion of Mexican Pesos into United States dollars.
“ore” is a natural aggregate of one or more minerals which may be mined and sold at a profit, or from which some part may be profitably separated.
“outcrop” is an exposure of rock at the earth’s surface.
“oz” is the metric ounce.
“oz/t or opt” refers to troy ounces per ton.
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“Peñoles” is Industrias Peñoles, S.A. de C.V.
“PFIC” is a Passive Foreign Investment Company.
“PSUs” are performance share units.
“pyrite” is iron sulphide mineral.
“quartz” refers to Si02, a common constituent of veins, especially those containing gold and silver mineralization.
“replacement” refers to the process whereby one mineral is chemically substituted by a later mineral.
“Rights Plan” the Company’s Shareholder Rights Plan dated as of May 13, 2016.
“RSUs” are restricted share units.
“SEC” is the Securities and Exchange Commission of the United States of America.
“Shareholders’ Agreement” is the shareholders agreement dated October 10, 2005 that governs Minera Juanicipio.
“silicification” refers to the replacement of the constituents of a rock by quartz.
“skarn” refers to the alteration of carbonate rocks near an intrusion dominated by garnet and pyroxene minerals.
“tailings” is the material rejected from a mill after recoverable valuable minerals have been extracted.
“Tertiary” is the geological period extending from 63 million to 2 million years ago.
“tonne” or “T” is the Metric ton = 1,000 kilograms or 1,000,000 grams.
“tpd” is tonnes per day.
“TSX” is the Toronto Stock Exchange.
“VAT” is an acronym for “Value Added Tax” which, in Mexico, is charged on all goods and services at a rate of 16%. Proprietors selling goods or
services must collect VAT on behalf of the government. Goods or services purchased incur a credit for VAT paid. The resulting net VAT is then remitted
to, or collected from the Government of Mexico through a formalized filing process. (In Mexico it is referred to as “IVA”).
“veinlets” are small veins, generally measuring only a few millimetres in thickness, filling fractures in rocks.
“veins” refer to the mineral deposits that are found filling openings in rocks created by faults or replacing rocks on either side of faults.
“volcaniclastic” refer to the coarse-grained sedimentary rocks (sandstone or conglomerate) composed of fragments of volcanic rocks.
“2017 PEA” is the MAG Silver Juanicipio NI 43-101 Technical Report filed on December 18, 2017 with an Amendment and Restated report filed on
SEDAR on January 19, 2018. prepared by and under the supervision of AMC Mining Consultants (Canada) Ltd. and authored by A. Ross, Ph.D., P.Geo.
(BC, AB) G. Methven, P.Eng. (BC) H. Muller, FAusIMM C. Kottmeier, P.Eng. (BC).
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The preparation and presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) and all
financial information in the Annual Report for MAG Silver Corp. (the “Company”) are the responsibility of management and have been approved
by the Board of Directors.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). Financial statements, by nature, are not precise since they include certain amounts based upon
estimates and judgments. When alternative methods exist, management has chosen those it deems to be the most appropriate in the circumstances.
The financial information presented elsewhere in the Annual Report is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements.
Management, under the supervision, and with the participation of, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, have a process in
place to evaluate disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting as required by Canadian and U.S. securities
regulations. We, as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, will certify our annual filings with the Canadian Securities Administrators,
as required in Canada by National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure, and in the United States with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission as required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and is ultimately responsible
for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board of Directors carries out this responsibility principally through its
Audit Committee, which is independent from management.
The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and reviews the consolidated financial statements and MD&A, considers the report of
the external auditors, assesses the adequacy of our internal controls, including management’s assessment described below, examines and approves
the fees and expenses for the audit services, and recommends the independent auditors to the Board of Directors for the appointment by the
shareholders. The independent auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee and meet with it to discuss their audit work, our internal
control over financial reporting and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors for consideration
when approving the consolidated financial statements for issuance to the shareholders and management’s assessment of the internal control over
financial reporting.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management of MAG Silver Corp. (“MAG” or “the Company”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or caused to be designed under the supervision of the President
and Chief Executive Officer, and the Chief Financial Officer, and effected by the Board of Directors, management and other personnel to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB. It includes those policies and procedures that:
i. pertain to the maintenance of records that accurately and fairly reflect, in reasonable detail, the transactions and dispositions of assets
of MAG;
ii. provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB, and that MAG’s receipts and expenditures are made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and MAG’s directors; and
iii. provided reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of MAG’s
assets that could have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Due to its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. Also, projections
of any evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Management assessed the effectiveness of MAG’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on the criteria set forth
in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on
this assessment, management concludes that, as of December 31, 2020, MAG’s internal control over financial reporting was effective.
The effectiveness of MAG’s internal control over financial reporting, as of December 31, 2020, has been audited by Deloitte LLP, Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm, who also audited the Company’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31,
2020, as stated in their report.

/s/ “George Paspalas”
George Paspalas
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ “Larry Taddei”
Larry Taddei
Chief Financial Officer

March 31, 2021
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of MAG Silver Corp.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of MAG Silver Corp. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows, for each of the
two years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and its
financial performance and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with International
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 31, 2021
expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matter
Critical audit matters are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. We determined that there are no critical audit matters.
/s/ Deloitte LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
March 31, 2021
We have served as the Company's auditor since 1999.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of MAG Silver Corp.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of MAG Silver Corp. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, of the Company and our report dated March 31, 2021, expressed
an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ Deloitte LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
March 31, 2021
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MAG SILVER CORP.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(In thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise stated)
Note

December 31, 2020

December 31, 2019

ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
INVESTMENTS
INVESTMENT IN JUANICIPIO
EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
TOTAL ASSETS

3
4

$

5
6
7
8
$

94,008
897
509
95,414
11,951
202,570
12,472
675
323,082

$

$

72,360
83
269
72,712
1,408
136,643
7,266
781
218,810

LIABILITIES
CURRENT
Trade and other payables
Current portion of lease obligation
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT
Lease obligation
Deferred income taxes
Provision for reclamation
TOTAL LIABILITIES

$
8

808
93
901

$

8
16
7

383
4,721
409
6,414

Share capital
Equity reserve
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Deficit
TOTAL EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

9

496,604
16,906
10,628
(207,470)
316,668
323,082 $

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

15

780
74
854
467
1,982
260
3,563

EQUITY

$

399,995
17,777
(1,015)
(201,510)
215,247
218,810

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD (approved on March 26, 2021)
/s/ "Peter Barnes"
Peter Barnes, Director

/s/ "Jill Leversage"
Jill Leversage, Director
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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MAG SILVER CORP.
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands of US dollars, except for shares and per share amounts)

For the year ended
December 31
2020
2019

Note
EXPENSES
Accounting and audit
Amortization
Filing and transfer agent fees
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
General office expenses
Legal
Management compensation and consulting fees
Mining taxes and other property costs
Share based payment expense
Shareholder relations
Travel
INTEREST INCOME
CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF WARRANTS
EQUITY PICK UP FROM INVESTMENT IN JUANICIPIO
LOSS FOR THE YEAR BEFORE INCOME TAX
DEFERRED INCOME TAX (EXPENSE) BENEFIT
LOSS FOR THE YEAR
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
UNREALIZED GAIN (LOSS) ON EQUITY SECURITIES
NET OF DEFERRED TAX EXPENSE

$

$

442 $
121
301
(171)
1,083
371
3,259
38
3,122
298
58
8,922
637
2,214
(6,071) $

466
106
232
21
902
363
3,076
577
2,572
470
244
9,029
2,627
(39)
1,884
(4,557)

$

(1,026)
(7,097) $

131
(4,426)

8

9b,c,d

6

16

5
16

14,493
(1,713)
12,780

(334)
(334)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

$

5,683

$

(4,760)

BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

$

(0.08) $

(0.05)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OUTSTANDING
BASIC AND DILUTED

91,108,622

86,142,539

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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MAG SILVER CORP.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
(In thousands of US dollars, except shares)

Note
Balance, January 1, 2019
IFRS 16 transition adjustment on January
1, 2019
Stock options exercised
Stock options exercised cashless
Restricted and performance share units
converted
Deferred share units converted
Share based payment
Unrealized loss on equity securities
Net loss

Unrealized gain on equity securities
Deferred tax expense on unrealized
securities gain
Net loss
Balance, December 31, 2020

Equity
Reserve
$
18,696

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)
$
(681) $

Deficit
(197,050) $

442,052
428,934

4,059
1,762

(1,240)
(1,762)

-

9a,c
9a,d
9b,c,d

75,219
60,166
-

662
596
-

(662)
(596)
3,341

-

-

-

-

-

3,341

-

-

5

86,545,847
9a,b
9a,b

$

399,995

$

17,777

$

(34)
-

Total
equity
213,881

9a,b
9a,b

Balance, December 31, 2019
Stock options exercised
Stock options exercised cashless
Restricted and performance share units
converted
Deferred share units converted
Share based payment
Issued for cash
Issued for property option payment
Transfer of gain on disposal of equity
securities at FVOCI to deficit, net of
tax

Common shares
without par value
Shares
Amount
85,539,476 $
392,916

(334)
-

(4,426)

(1,015) $

(201,510) $

(34)
2,819
-

(334)
(4,426)
215,247

418,294
139,273

4,565
1,404

(1,228)
(1,404)

-

-

3,337
-

20,382
60,000
7,621,085
8,241

819
557
89,164
100

(819)
(557)
3,137
-

-

-

-

-

-

3,137
89,164
100

5

-

-

-

(1,137)

1,137

-

5

-

-

-

14,493

-

14,493

5

-

-

-

(1,713)
-

9a,c
9a,d
9b,c,d
9a
7a

94,813,122

$

496,604

$

16,906

$

10,628

(7,097)
$

(207,470) $

(1,713)
(7,097)
316,668

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
8

MAG SILVER CORP.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise stated)
For the year ended
December 31
2020
2019

Note
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the year
Items not involving cash:
Amortization
Change in fair value of warrants
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Equity pick up from Investment in Juanicipio
Share based payment expense
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss

$
8
16
6
9b,c,d

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Trade and other payables
Net cash used in operating activities

(7,097) $

(4,426)

121
1,026
(2,214)
3,122
(738)

106
39
(131)
(1,884)
2,572
255

(201)
(241)
8
(6,214)

288
58
(84)
(3,207)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Exploration and evaluation expenditures
Investment in Juanicipio
Proceeds from disposition of equity securities
Purchase of equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

7
6
5
8

(4,873)
(64,270)
3,905
(74)
(65,312)

(3,230)
(53,549)
(354)
(57,133)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of common shares upon exercise of stock options
Issuance of common shares, net of share issue costs
Payment of lease obligation (principal)
Net cash provided by financing activities

9
9
8

3,337
89,164
(72)
92,429

2,819
(71)
2,748

EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

$

745

(228)

21,648
72,360
94,008

(57,820)
130,180
72,360

$

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS
MAG Silver Corp. (the “Company” or “MAG”) was incorporated on April 21, 1999 under the Company Act of the Province of British Columbia
and its shares were listed on the TSX Venture Exchange on April 21, 2000 and subsequently moved to a TSX listing on October 5, 2007. The
Company was also listed on what is now the NYSE American Exchange on July 9, 2007.
The Company is an advanced stage development and exploration company that is focused on the acquisition, exploration and development of highgrade, district-scale projects located primarily in the Americas. The Company’s principal asset is a 44% interest in the Juanicipio joint venture (see
Note 6) located in Mexico, which is now in the construction phase heading to production. The Juanicipio joint venture toll milled mineralized
material from development for the first time in the third quarter of 2020, and is currently constructing its own processing facility, which is expected
to commence commissioning in late 2021. The Company defers all acquisition, exploration and development costs related to the properties which
are not yet in commercial production. The recoverability of these amounts is dependent upon the existence of economically recoverable reserves, the
ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the development of the interests, and future profitable production, or
alternatively, upon the Company’s ability to dispose of its interests on a profitable basis.
Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is conducting exploration and in which it has an interest, in
accordance with industry standards for the current stage of exploration of such properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title.
Property title may be subject to unregistered prior agreements and non-compliance with regulatory requirements.
Address of registered offices of the Company:
2600 – 595 Burrard Street
Vancouver, British Columbia,
Canada V7X 1L3
Head office and principal place of business:
770 – 800 West Pender Street
Vancouver, British Columbia,
Canada V6C 2V6
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has had a material impact on the global economy, the scale and duration of
which remain uncertain. In response to the pandemic, in April 2020 the Federal Government of Mexico issued an administrative order for the
temporary suspension of all “non-essential activities” until May 30, 2020 as part of its nationwide effort to slow the spread of the COVID-19 virus.
The Company’s Investment in Juanicipio (Note 6) encompasses the Juanicipio Project located in Mexico. The Juanicipio Project operator, Fresnillo
plc (“Fresnillo”), was in regular consultation with Mexican Government officials to ensure Minera Juanicipio’s compliance with the order. Fresnillo
advised the Company that while the order was in effect, underground development continued under government mandated hygiene protocols,
surface construction work was reduced and surface-based drilling was temporarily halted. Although all work has since resumed, the impact of this
pandemic could include significant COVID-19 specific costs, volatility in the prices for silver and other metals, further restrictions or temporary
closures, additional travel restraints, other supply chain disruptions and workforce and contractor interruptions, including possible loss of life.
Depending on the duration and extent of the impact of COVID-19, this could materially impact the Company’s financial performance, cash flows
and financial position, and could result in material impairment charges to the Company’s assets.
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MAG SILVER CORP.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars unless otherwise stated)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the Financial Statements are consistent with those applied and disclosed in the Company’s
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, except for standards newly adopted as stated below:
Adoption of New Accounting Policy and Restatement
During the fourth quarter of 2020, the Company early adopted Amendments to International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 16, Property, Plant &
Equipment, Proceeds Before Intended Use. The amended standard prohibits the Company from deducting any proceeds from selling items produced
from the cost of building an item of mineral interest, plant and equipment, while bringing that asset to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. The Company adopted the accounting policy retrospectively with respect to applicable transactions occurring on or after
the earliest period presented herein, being January 1, 2019. With the adoption of the amended standard, pre-commercial production sales of silver,
gold, lead and zinc produced and sold, and related costs while bringing a mine into a condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management, are recognized in profit or loss in accordance with applicable standards to the extent those sales occurred on or
after January 1, 2019. The entity measures the cost of those items applying the measurement requirements of “IAS 2 Inventories”.
There is no impact of this adoption on the comparative financial information presented for 2019 or the current year through June 30, 2020.
However, previously in the third quarter of 2020, proceeds from the sales of silver, gold, lead and zinc in the Company’s 44% interest in the
Juanicipio joint venture (see Note 6) in the total amount of $9,525 (on a 100% basis) net of mining and transport costs of $1,530 were netted against
mineral interest, plant and equipment on the books of the Juanicipio Joint Venture. Accordingly, financial information for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2020 are restated as follows representing the 44% impact on the Company’s Equity Pick-up from its Investment in Juanicipio
as a result of adopting the IAS 16 amendments:
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MAG SILVER CORP.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars unless otherwise stated)

Equity pick up from Investment in Juanicipio

Amount previously
Effect of early
disclosed for the
adoption of an
three months ended
amendment to IAS
September 30, 2020
16
$
(3,392) $
3,518

Net (loss) income
Net (loss) income per share
Investment in Juanicipio
Deficit
Total Equity

Equity pick up from Investment in Juanicipio

$

Net (loss) income per share

3,518

(0.04)

0.04

-

153,384

3,518

156,902

(217,062)

3,518

(213,544)

300,958

$

(17,208)
$

Investment in Juanicipio
Deficit
Total Equity

(3,607)

3,518

Amount previously
Effect of early
disclosed for the
adoption of an
nine months ended
amendment to IAS
September 30, 2020
16
$
(6,890) $
3,518

Net (loss) income

$

Restated balance for
the three months
ended September
30, 2020 following
the adoption of IAS
16 Amendments
$
126
(89)

$

Restated balance for
the nine months
ended September
30, 2020 following
the adoption of IAS
16 Amendments
$
(3,372)

3,518

(0.19) $

0.04

304,476

(13,690)
$

(0.15)

153,384

3,518

156,902

(217,062)

3,518

(213,544)

300,958

$

3,518

$

304,476

IFRS 3 Business Combinations. On October 22, 2018, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations that intend to
assist entities to determine whether a transaction should be accounted for as a business combination or an asset acquisition. The amendments include
an election to use a concentration test. This is a simplified assessment that results in an asset acquisition if substantially all of the fair value of the
gross assets is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of identifiable assets. If a preparer chooses not to apply the concentration test, or
the test is failed, then the assessment focuses on the existence of a substantive process. The amendments apply to businesses acquired in annual
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020, and the Company will apply these amendments to applicable acquisition transactions.
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MAG SILVER CORP.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars unless otherwise stated)
These Financial Statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments, which are stated
at their fair value.
These Financial Statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of the Company on March 26, 2021.
(a) Basis of consolidation
These Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its controlled subsidiaries. Control exists when the Company has power
over the investee, is exposed or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and has the ability to use its power over
the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. Subsidiaries and controlled entities are included in the consolidated financial results
of the Company from the effective date that control is obtained up to the effective date of disposal or loss of control. The principal whollyowned subsidiary as at December 31, 2020 is Minera Los Lagartos, S.A. de C.V. All intercompany balances, transactions, revenues and
expenses have been eliminated upon consolidation.
These consolidated financial statements also include the Company’s 44% interest in Minera Juanicipio S.A. de C.V. (Note 6, “Investment in
Juanicipio”), an associate (Note 2(b)) accounted for using the equity method.
Where necessary, adjustments have been made to the financial statements of the Company’s subsidiaries and associates prior to consolidation,
to conform with the significant accounting policies used in their preparation to those used by the Company.
(b) Investments in Associates
The Company conducts a high percentage of its business through an equity interest in associates. An associate is an entity over which the
Company has significant influence, and is neither a subsidiary nor a joint arrangement, and includes the Company’s 44% interest in Minera
Juanicipio S.A. de C.V., a Mexican incorporated joint venture company (Note 6, “Investment in Juanicipio”). The Company has significant
influence when it has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the associate but does not have control or joint
control over those policies.
The Company accounts for its investments in associates using the equity method. Under the equity method, the Company’s investment in an
associate is initially recognized at cost and subsequently increased or decreased to reflect additional contributions or withdrawals and to
recognize the Company's share of earnings and losses of the associate and for impairment losses after the initial recognition date. The
Company's share of earnings and losses of associates are recognized in profit or loss during the period. Distributions received from an associate
are accounted for as a reduction in the carrying amount of the Company’s investment.
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MAG SILVER CORP.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars unless otherwise stated)
Impairment
At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that an investment in associate is impaired. The
Company has performed an assessment for impairment indicators of its investment in associate as of December 31, 2020 and noted no
impairment indicators. This assessment is generally made with reference to the timing of completing construction of the development project,
future production, future silver, gold, lead and zinc prices, future capital requirements, future operating costs, exploration results achieved, and
an assessment of the likely operating and estimated cash flow results to be achieved. When there is objective evidence that an investment in
associate is impaired, the carrying amount of such investment is compared to its recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount of an
investment in associate is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount and an impairment loss,
being the excess of carrying amount over the recoverable amount, is recognized in the period of impairment. When an impairment loss reverses
in a subsequent period, the carrying amount of the investment in associate is increased to the revised estimate of recoverable amount to the
extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had an impairment loss not
been previously recognized. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss in the period the reversal occurs.
(c)

Significant Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reported period. Significant estimates used in preparation of these financial
statements include: estimates of the recoverable amount and any impairment of exploration and evaluation assets, investment in associates and
mine development costs; recovery of receivable balances; estimates of fair value of financial instruments where a quoted market price or
secondary market for the instrument does not exist; provisions including closure and reclamation; share based payment expense; and income
tax provisions. Actual results may differ from those estimated. Further details of the nature of these estimates may be found in the relevant
notes to the consolidated statements.

(d) Critical judgments
The Company makes certain critical judgments in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The following are those
judgments that have the most significant effect on the consolidated financial statements:
(i) The Company reviews and assesses the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets, and its investment in associates for
impairment when facts or circumstances suggest that the carrying amount is not recoverable. Assessing the recoverability of these amounts
requires considerable professional technical judgment, and is made with reference to the timing of exploration work, work programs
proposed, exploration results achieved by the Company and by others in the related area of interest, and an assessment of the likely results
to be achieved from performance of further exploration (see Notes 2(b) and 2(h)).
(ii)Commercial Production
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The determination of the date on which a mine enters the commercial production stage is a significant judgement as capitalization of certain
costs ceases and the recording of expenses commences upon entering commercial production. In determining commercial production and when
the mine is available for use in the manner intended by management, the following factors are considered:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)

Operational commissioning of major mine and plant components is complete;
Operating results are being achieved consistently for a period of time;
There are indicators that these operating results will be continued; and
Other factors are present, including one or more of the following: a significant portion of plant/mill capacity has been achieved; a
significant portion of available funding is directed towards operating activities; a pre-determined, reasonable period of time has
passed; or significant milestones for the development of the mining property have been achieved.

(iii)In the normal course of operations, the Company may invest in equity investments for strategic reasons. In such circumstances,
management considers whether the facts and circumstances pertaining to each investment result in the Company obtaining control, joint
control or significant influence over the investee entity. In some cases, the determination of whether or not the Company has control, joint
control or significant influence over the investee entities requires the application of significant management judgment to consider
individually and collectively such factors as:
 The purpose and design of the investee entity.
 The ability to exercise power, through substantive rights, over the activities of the investee entity that significantly affect its returns.
 The size of the company’s equity ownership and voting rights, including potential voting rights.
 The size and dispersion of other voting interests, including the existence of voting blocks.
 Other investments in or relationships with the investee entity including, but not limited to, current or possible board representation,
loans and other types of financial support, material transactions with the investee entity, interchange of managerial personnel or
consulting positions.
 Other relevant and pertinent factors.
If the Company determines that it controls an investee entity, it consolidates the investee entity’s financial statements as further described in
note 2(a). If the Company determines that it has joint control (a joint venture) or significant influence (an associate) over an investee entity,
then it uses the equity method of accounting to account for its investment in that investee entity as further described in note 2(b). If, after
careful consideration, it is determined that the Company neither has control, joint control nor significant influence over an investee entity, the
Company accounts for the corresponding investment in equity interest as fair value through other comprehensive income investment as further
described in note 2(e).
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(e)

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”) or amortized cost. The Company determines the classification of financial assets at initial recognition.
(i) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets carried at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in profit or loss. Equity instruments
that are held for trading and all equity derivative instruments are classified as FVTPL. Equity derivative instruments such as warrants listed on
a recognized exchange are valued at the latest available closing price. Warrants not listed on a recognized exchange, but where a secondary
market exists, are valued at independent broker prices (if available) traded within that secondary market. If no secondary market exists, the
warrants are valued using the Black Scholes option pricing model. Realized and unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the financial assets held at FVTPL are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
(ii) Financial assets at FVTOCI
Equity instruments that are designated at FVTOCI are initially recorded at fair value plus transaction costs with all subsequent changes in fair
value recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, the Company can
make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument bases) at initial recognition to classify them as FVTOCI. On the disposal of the
investment, the cumulative change in fair value remains in other comprehensive income (loss) and is not recycled to profit or loss.
(iii) Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets are classified at amortized cost if the objective of the business model is to hold the financial asset for the collection of
contractual cash flows, and the assets’ contractual cash flows are comprised solely of payments of principal and interest. The Company’s
accounts receivable are recorded at amortized cost as they meet the required criteria. A provision is recorded based on the expected credit
losses for the financial asset and reflects changes in the expected credit losses at each reporting period (see impairment below).
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at
FVTPL (such as derivatives) or the Company has elected to measure at FVTPL. The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and lease obligations which are classified at amortized cost.
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The Company classifies financial instruments as follows:
Financial instrument
Cash and cash equivalents
Equity securities
Equity derivative securities (warrants)
Accounts receivable
Trade and other payables
Lease obligations
Loan to Minera Juanicipio S.A. de C.V.

Classification
FVTPL
FVTOCI
FVTPL
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost

Impairment
IFRS 9 requires an ‘expected credit loss’ model to be applied which requires a loss allowance to be recognized based on expected credit losses.
This applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit
losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer
necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognized.
(f)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank deposits, and term deposits with original maturities of three months or less.

(g) Inventories
Finished goods, work in process and stockpile mineral inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined using the weighted average cost method and includes all costs incurred, based on a normal production capacity, in bringing each
product to its present location and condition.
The cost of inventories includes:
 operating costs, which include employee costs, material costs and contractor expenses which are directly attributable to the extraction and
processing of mineralized material:
 amortization of property, plant and equipment used in the extraction and processing of mineralized material; and
 related production overheads after reaching commercial production
Operating materials and spare parts are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. An allowance for obsolete and slow-moving
inventories is determined by reference to specific items of stock. A regular review is undertaken by management to determine the extent of
such an allowance.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less any further costs expected to be incurred to completion
and disposal.
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(h) Exploration and evaluation assets
With respect to its exploration activities, the Company follows the practice of capitalizing all costs relating to the acquisition, exploration and
evaluation of its mining rights. Option payments made by the Company are capitalized until the decision to exercise the option is made. If the
option agreement is to exercise a purchase option in an underlying mineral property, the costs are capitalized and accounted for as an
exploration and evaluation asset. At such time as commercial production commences, the capitalized costs will be depleted on a units-ofproduction method (“UOP”). If a mineable ore body is discovered, exploration and evaluation costs are reclassified to mining properties. If no
mineable ore body is discovered, such costs are expensed in the period in which it is determined the property has no future economic value.
Exploration and evaluation expenditures include acquisition costs of rights to explore; topographical, geological, geochemical and geophysical
studies; exploratory drilling; trenching and sampling; all costs incurred to obtain permits and other licenses required to conduct such activities,
including legal, community, strategic and consulting fees; and activities involved in evaluating the technical feasibility and commercial
viability of extracting mineral resources. This includes the costs incurred in determining the most appropriate mining/processing methods and
developing feasibility studies. Expenditures incurred on a prospective property prior to the Company obtaining the right to explore it, are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
When an exploration project has entered into the advanced exploration phase and sufficient evidence of the probability of the existence of
economically recoverable minerals has been obtained, pre-operative expenditures relating to mine preparation works are capitalized to mine
development costs. Activities that are typically capitalized include costs incurred to build shafts, drifts, ramps and access corridors to enable
ore extraction from underground.
Impairment
Management reviews the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts or circumstances suggest that the
carrying amount is not recoverable. This review is generally made with reference to the timing of exploration work, work programs proposed,
exploration results achieved by the Company and by others in the related area of interest, and an assessment of the likely results to be achieved
from performance of further exploration. When the results of this review indicate that indicators of impairment exist, the Company estimates
the recoverable amount of the deferred exploration costs and related mining rights by reference to the potential for success of further
exploration activity and/or the likely proceeds to be received from sale or assignment of the rights. When the carrying amounts of exploration
and evaluation assets are estimated to exceed their recoverable amounts, an impairment loss is recorded in profit or loss. The cash-generating
unit for assessing impairment is a geographic region and shall be no larger than the operating segment. If conditions that gave rise to the
impairment no longer exist, a reversal of impairment may be recognized in a subsequent period, with the carrying amount of the exploration
and evaluation asset increased to the revised estimate of recoverable amount to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had an impairment loss not been previously recognized. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognized in profit or loss in the period the reversal occurs.
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(i)

Property, plant and equipment and mine development costs
Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. When parts of an item of equipment have
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate equipment items (major components).
Amortization is based on the depreciable amount, which is the cost of the asset, less its expected residual value.
Amortization on 100% owned and controlled assets is recognized in profit or loss on a declining balance basis or straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property and equipment, based on how this most closely reflects the expected pattern of
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. Amortization for exploration assets is capitalized to mineral properties in
the statement of financial position.
The amortization rates for 100% owned and controlled assets are as follows:
Building
Computer equipment
Office equipment
Exploration camp and equipment
Right-of-Use assets

4% declining balance
30% declining balance
30% declining balance
30% declining balance
straight-line over the earlier of the end of the lease term or useful life
of the asset

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if appropriate.
(j)

Lease
At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A contract is, or contains a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for the period of time in exchange for consideration. The Company assesses whether
the contract involves the use of an identified asset, whether the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
use of the asset throughout the contract term and if the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset.
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As a lessee, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of a lease. Right-of-use assets are
initially measured at cost, which is comprised of the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payment made at or before the
commencement date.
Right-of-use assets are subsequently amortized on a straight-line basis from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the lease term,
or the end of the useful life of the asset. In addition, the right-of-use asset may be reduced due to impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for
certain remeasurements of the lease liability.
A lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the lease term, discounted by the interest rate
implicit in the lease or if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments include fixed
payments, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts to be paid under residual value guarantees and the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company.
The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a modification, a change in
the lease term, a change in the fixed lease payments or change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
The Company presents the right-of-use asset in the property and equipment line item on the consolidated statements of financial position and
the lease liability in the lease obligation line item on the consolidated statements of financial position.
(k) Income taxes
Deferred income taxes relate to the expected future tax consequences of unused tax losses and unused tax credits and differences between the
carrying amount of statement of financial position items and their corresponding tax values. Deferred tax assets, if any, are recognized only to
the extent that, in the opinion of management, it is probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available to recover the asset. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of substantive enactment.
(l)

Provisions
Provisions are liabilities that are uncertain in timing or amount. The Company records a provision when and only when:
(i) The Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;
(ii) It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and
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(iii) A reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Constructive obligations are obligations that derive from the Company’s actions where:
(i) By an established pattern of past practice, published policies or a sufficiently specific current statement, the Company has indicated to other
parties that it will accept certain responsibilities; and
(ii) As a result, the Company has created a valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it will discharge those responsibilities.
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect management’s current best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. Provisions are reduced by actual expenditures for which
the provision was originally recognized. Where discounting has been used, the carrying amount of a provision increases in each period to
reflect the passage of time. This increase (accretion expense) is included in profit or loss for the period.
Closure and reclamation
The Company records a provision for the present value of the estimated closure obligations, including reclamation costs, when the obligation
(legal or constructive) is incurred, with a corresponding increase in the carrying value of the related assets. The carrying value is amortized
over the life of the mining asset on a UOP basis commencing with initial commercialization of the asset. The liability is accreted to the actual
liability on settlement through charges each period to profit or loss.
The provision for closure and reclamation is reviewed at the end of each reporting period for changes in estimates and circumstances, including
as a result of changes in regulatory requirements, discount rates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of the expenditures. These
changes are recorded directly to the related assets with a corresponding entry to the reclamation provision. The provision recorded by the
Company as at December 31, 2020 of $409 relates to current and prior disturbances on the Deer Trail exploration property (see Note 7)
(December 31, 2019: $260).
The operating company of the Company’s investment in associate, Minera Juanicipio, S.A. de C.V., recorded a provision for reclamation and
remediation costs of $1,450 and capitalized a corresponding asset as at December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019: $725) (see Note 6).
(m) Functional currency and presentation currency
The functional currency of the parent, its subsidiaries, and the investment in Juanicipio is the United States dollar (“US$”).
Each entity within the Company determines its own functional currency, and the items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. The functional currency determination involves certain judgments in evaluating the primary economic
environment, and the Company reconsiders the functional currencies of each entity if there is a change in the underlying transactions, events
and conditions which determine the primary economic environment.
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The Company’s reporting and presentation currency is the US$.
(n) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions incurred in currencies other than the Company’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each statement of financial position date, monetary assets and liabilities are translated using the
period end foreign exchange rate. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated using the historical rate on the date of the transaction. Nonmonetary assets and liabilities that are stated at fair value are translated using the rate on the date that the fair value was determined. All gains
and losses on translation of these foreign currency transactions are included in profit or loss.
(o) Revenue
The Juanicipio Joint Venture recognizes revenue for silver, gold, lead and zinc from concentrate production, net of treatment and refining
charges, when it satisfies the performance obligation of transferring control of the concentrate to the customer. This generally occurs as
material is received at the customers plant, as the customer has the ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits from the material and the customer has the risk of loss. The Joint Ventures sales are based on estimated metal quantities based on
assay data and on a provisional price. The receivable is marked to market through sales each period prior to final settlement. The Joint Venture
also adjusts estimated metal quantities used in computing provisional sales using new information and assay data from the smelter as it is
received (if any). A provisional payment is generally due by the 15th of the month of the month following delivery of the concentrate to the
customer. Final payment is due upon final settlement of price and quantity with the customer. The principal risks associated with recognition of
sales on a provisional basis include metal price fluctuations and updated quantities between the date the sale is recorded and the date of final
settlement.
(p) Loss per common share
Basic loss per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding during the
period. Common equivalent shares consist of the incremental common shares upon the assumed exercise of stock options and warrants, and
upon the assumed conversion of deferred share units and units issued under the Company’s share unit plan, to the extent their inclusion is not
anti-dilutive.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company had 1,882,225 (December 31, 2019: 1,981,740) common share equivalents consisting of:
common shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding and exercisable stock options; restricted and performance share units; and deferred
share units. These common share equivalents were not included for the purpose of calculating diluted loss per share as their effect would be
anti-dilutive.
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(q) Share based payments
The fair value of equity-settled share-based payment awards are estimated as of the date of the grant and recorded as share-based payment
expense in profit or loss over their vesting periods, with a corresponding increase in equity. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted
to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met. Market price
performance conditions are included in the fair value estimate on the grant date with no subsequent adjustment to the actual number of awards
that vest. Forfeiture rates are estimated on grant date, and adjusted annually for actual forfeitures in the period. Changes to the estimated
number of awards that will eventually vest are accounted for prospectively. Share based payment awards with graded vesting schedules are
accounted for as separate grants with different vesting periods and fair values.
The fair value of stock options is estimated using the Black-Scholes-Merton option valuation model. The fair value of restricted and deferred
share units, is based on the fair market value of a common share equivalent on the date of grant. The fair value of performance share units
awarded with market price conditions is determined using the Monte Carlo pricing model and the fair value of performance share units with
non-market performance conditions is based on the fair market value of a common share equivalent on the date of grant.
3.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and bank deposits with original maturities of three months or less, as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
4.

$

December 31,
2020
94,008

$

December 31,
2019
72,360

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Receivable from Minera Juanicipio (see Note 14)
Value added tax ("IVA" and "GST")
Other receivables

$

$

December 31,
2020
658
122
117
897

$

$

December 31,
2019
82
1
83
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5.

INVESTMENTS
The Company holds investments as follows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Equity securities, beginning of year
Disposition of equity securities at fair value
Unrealized gain (loss) for the year
Equity securities, end of year

$

$

December 31,
2020
1,408 $
(3,950)
14,493
11,951 $

December 31,
2019
1,742
(334)
1,408

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company disposed of certain equity securities held as investments. The proceeds on disposition were
$3,950 of which $45 settled subsequent to the year end. In addition, the Company recognized a gain on disposal of $1,137 (net of $177 tax) which
was transferred from other comprehensive income (loss) to deficit. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded an unrealized
gain of $14,493 (December 31, 2019: $334 unrealized loss) on its investment in equity securities designated as FVTOCI instruments. A deferred tax
liability related to this unrealized gain in 2020 in the amount of $1,713 was also recorded.
6.

INVESTMENTS IN JUANICIPIO
The Company acquired a 100% interest in the Juanicipio property effective July 16, 2003. Pursuant to an agreement effective July 1, 2005 (the
“Agreement”) with Industrias Peñoles, S.A. de C.V. (“Peñoles”), the Company granted Peñoles or any of its subsidiaries an option to earn a 56%
interest in the Juanicipio Property in Mexico in consideration for Peñoles conducting $5,000 of exploration on the property over four years and
Peñoles purchasing $1,000 of common shares of the Company in two tranches for $500 each.
In mid 2007, Peñoles met all of the earn-in requirements of the Agreement. In December 2007, the Company and Peñoles created an operating
company named Minera Juanicipio, S.A. de C.V. (“Minera Juanicipio”) for the purpose of holding and operating the Juanicipio Property. In 2008,
MAG was notified that Peñoles had transferred its 56% interest of Minera Juanicipio to Fresnillo pursuant to a statutory merger. Minera Juanicipio
is held 56% by Fresnillo and 44% by the Company. Fresnillo is the operator of Minera Juanicipio, and with its affiliates, beneficially owns 10.3% of
the common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2020, as publicly reported. In December 2007, all mineral rights and surface rights relating
to the Juanicipio project held by the Company and Peñoles, respectively, were ceded into Minera Juanicipio. Minera Juanicipio is governed by a
shareholders’ agreement. All costs relating to the project and Minera Juanicipio are required to be shared by the Company and Fresnillo pro-rata
based on their ownership interests in Minera Juanicipio, and if either party does not fund pro-rata, their ownership interest will be diluted in
accordance with the Minera Juanicipio shareholders’ agreement.
The Company has recorded its investment in Minera Juanicipio (“Investment in Juanicipio”) using the equity basis of accounting. The cost of the
investment includes the carrying value of the deferred exploration and mineral and surface rights costs incurred by the Company on the Juanicipio
Property and contributed to Minera Juanicipio plus the required net cash investment to establish and maintain its 44% interest.
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The Company’s investment relating to its interest in Minera Juanicipio is detailed as follows for the year:

Joint venture oversight expenditures incurred 100% by MAG
Interest earned on advance to Minera Juanicipio (1)
Cash contributions to Minera Juanicipio (1)
Total for the year
Equity pick up of current income for the year (2)
Balance, beginning of year
Balance, end of year

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
568 $
345
(567)
63,712
53,200
63,713
53,545
2,214
1,884
136,643
81,214
202,570 $
136,643

(1)
During the year, Fresnillo and the Company advanced $144,800 as shareholder loans (MAG’s 44% share $63,712) to Minera
Juanicipio, bearing interest at Libor + 2%. The interest accrued within Minera Juanicipio was capitalized to ‘Mineral Interests,
plant and equipment’ and the interest recorded by the Company on the loan totaling $567 has therefore been credited to the
Investment in Juanicipio account as an eliminating related party entry (see Note 14).
(2)

Represents the Company’s 44% share of Minera Juanicipio’s net income for the year, as determined by the Company.

Summary of financial information of Minera Juanicipio (on a 100% basis reflecting adjustments made by the Company, including adjustments for
differences in accounting policies):
Minera Juanicipio Financial information, December 31, 2020
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Cash and cash equivalents
Value added tax and other receivables
Accounts receivable - metal sales
Inventory
Prepaids
Total current assets
Right-of-use asset
Mineral interests, plant and equipment
Total assets
Payables to Peñoles and other vendors
Total current liabilities
Lease liability
Provision for reclamation and remediation costs
Deferred income tax liability
Total liabilities
Shareholders equity including shareholder advances
Total liabilities and equity

$

$
$

$

51,503
26,055
5,203
427
83,188
18
381,780
464,986
5,011
5,011
13
1,450
8,406
14,880
450,106
464,986

$

$
$

$

29,601
19,163
101
48,865
8
261,023
309,896
5,600
5,600
9
725
3,288
9,622
300,274
309,896
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Year ended December 31,
2020
2019
Sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses

$

Interest and foreign exchange
Income tax (expense) benefit

15,335 $
(3,873)
11,462
(315)
11,147
(623)
(5,492)

946
3,337

Income for the year

$

5,032

$

4,283

MAG's 44% equity pick up

$

2,214

$

1,884

The Juanicipio Project has not reached commercial production as of December 31, 2020 as the mine and processing facility are still in development.
However, some mineralized material from development was processed through Fresnillo’s mill and refined and sold during year 2020. The Joint
Venture produced and sold 616 thousand silver ounces, 1,029 gold ounces, 163 tonnes of lead and 224 tonnes of zinc during the year. Precommercial production sales on a 100% basis totaled $15,335 net of related costs of $3,873 resulted in a gross profit of $11,462.
Mineral interest, plant and equipment capitalized directly by Minera Juanicipio for the year ended December 31, 2020 amounted to $120,757
(December 31, 2019: $99,048).
7.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
(a) In 2017, the Company entered into an option earn-in agreement with a private group whereby the Company can earn up to a 100% interest in a
prospective land claim package. To December 31, 2020, the Company has incurred $8,010 in exploration expenditures on the property and there are
no further exploration funding requirements under the agreement. However, to earn a 100% interest in the property package, the Company must
make remaining cash or share payments of $100 and $150 on the fourth and fifth annual anniversaries of the agreement, at which time the vendors
would retain a 2% net smelter returns royalty (“NSR”). In May 2020, the Company elected to settle the third option payment of $100 in shares, and
issued 8,241 shares to the vendors in settlement of the payment.
(b) In late 2018, the Company entered into an option agreement with another private group, whereby the Company has the right to earn 100%
ownership interest in a company which owns the Deer Trail project in Utah. The Company paid $150 upon signing the agreement and another $150
in October 2020. To earn 100% interest in the property, the Company must make combined remaining cash payments of $1,700 over the next 8
years, and fund a cumulative of $30,000 of eligible exploration expenditures ($4,459 incurred to December 31, 2020) by 2028. As at December 31,
2020, the Company also bonded and recorded a $409 reclamation liability for the project (see Note 2(l)). Other than the reclamation liability, the
balance of cash payments and exploration commitments are optional at the Company’s discretion. Upon the Company’s 100% earn-in, the vendors
would retain a 2% NSR.
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To December 31, 2020, the Company has incurred the following exploration and evaluation expenditures on these earn-in projects:
Year ended
December 31,
2020
Exploration and evaluation assets:
Acquisition costs
Option payments
Reclamation obligation
Total acquisition costs
Geochemical
Camp and site costs
Drilling
Geological consulting
Geophysical
Land taxes and government fees
Legal, community and other consultation costs
Travel
Total for the year
Balance, beginning of year
Balance, end of year

$

$

250
149
399
78
411
198
2,216
430
787
393
294
5,206
7,266
12,472

Year ended
December 31,
2019
$

$

75
260
335
142
354
1,784
100
411
260
232
3,618
3,648
7,266

Included in exploration and evaluation assets at December 31, 2020, were liabilities for trade and other payables of $128 (December 31, 2019: $89)
and a reclamation obligation accrued in the year of $149 (December 31, 2019: $260), both non-cash investing activities.
A full impairment was recognized on the Cinco de Mayo property in Mexico in prior years, although the concessions are still maintained in good
standing.
8.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND LEASES
As at December 31, 2020, the Company had the following property and equipment:
27

MAG SILVER CORP.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars unless otherwise stated)

Cost
Balance, January 1, 2019
Additions
Balance, December 31, 2019
Additions
Balance, December 31, 2020

Accumulated depreciation
Balance, January 1, 2019
Amortization
Balance, December 31, 2019
Amortization
Balance, December 31, 2020

Carrying amounts
At December 31, 2019
At December 31, 2020

Office and
computer
equipment
470
13
483
4
487

Exploration camp
and equipment
$
341
341
70
$
411

$

Office and
computer
equipment
435
14
449
11
460

Exploration camp
and equipment
$
52
52
59
$
111

$
$

Office and
computer
equipment
34
27

Exploration camp
and equipment
$
289
$
300

$

$

$

Right of use asset
(see Leases below)
$
550
550
$
550

Total
$

$

Right of use asset
$

470
904
1,374
74
1,448

Total

$

92
92
110
202

$

$

$
$

Right of use asset
458
348

$
$

435
158
593
180
773

Total
781
675

Lease obligation
Minimum lease payments in respect of lease obligation and the effect of discounting are as follows:
December 31,
2020
Undiscounted minimum lease payments
Less than one year
Two to three years
Four to five years
Thereafter
Effect of discounting
Present value of minimum lease payments - total lease obligation
Less: current portion
Long-term lease obligation

$

$

153
306
160
619
(143)
476
(93)
383
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For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized $64 of interest expense on the lease obligation included in ‘General Office
Expense’ (December 31, 2019: $67).
9.

SHARE CAPITAL
(a) Issued and outstanding
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares without par value.
As at December 31, 2020, there were 94,813,122 shares outstanding (December 31, 2019: 86,545,847).
On April 30, 2020, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement offering and issued 4,528,302 common shares at C$13.25 for gross
proceeds of C$60 million ($43,134) to Mr. Eric Sprott, through 2176423 Ontario Ltd., a corporation beneficially controlled by him.
On September 8, 2020, the Company completed a $50,000 at-the-market equity program (“the ATM Program”) previously established on June
29, 2020. The Company sold and issued 3,092,783 common shares under the ATM Program at an average price of $16.17 per share for gross
and net proceeds of $50,000 and $48,625 respectively. Under the ATM Program, the Company was permitted to issue up to an aggregate of
$50 million worth of common shares from treasury at prevailing market prices to the public through the NYSE American or any other
marketplace on which the common shares are listed, quoted or otherwise traded in the United States. The volume and timing of distributions
under the ATM Program was determined at the Company’s sole discretion, subject to applicable regulatory limitations.
The aggregate gross and net proceeds from the combined private placement and ATM Program offerings amounted to $93,134 and $89,164
respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, 418,294 stock options were exercised for cash proceeds of $3,337. An additional 365,483 stock
options were exercised under a less dilutive cashless exercise provision of the plan, whereby 139,273 shares were issued in settlement of the
stock options, and the remaining 226,210 options were cancelled.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, 442,052 stock options were exercised for cash proceeds of $2,819. An additional 812,323 stock
options were exercised under a less dilutive cashless exercise provision of the plan, whereby 428,934 shares were issued in settlement of the
stock options, and the remaining 383,389 options were cancelled.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, 3,334 restricted share units, 17,048 performance share and 60,000 deferred share units were
converted into shares.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, 43,343 restricted share units, 31,876 performance share units and 60,166 deferred share units were
converted into shares.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, 8,241 shares were issued in lieu of a $100 mineral property option payment (Note 7(a)).
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(b) Stock options
The Company may enter into Incentive Stock Option Agreements with officers, employees, and consultants. On June 18, 2020, the
Shareholders re-approved the Company’s rolling Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”). The maximum number of common shares that may be
issuable under the Plan is set at 5% of the number of issued and outstanding common shares on a non-diluted basis at any time, provided that
the number of common shares issued or issuable under the combined Plan and Share Unit Plan (Note 9(c)) shall not exceed 5% of the issued
and outstanding common shares of the Company on a non-diluted basis. Options granted under the Plan have a maximum term of 5 years. As
at December 31, 2020, there were 1,018,067 stock options outstanding under the Plan.
Stock option grants are recommended for approval to the Board of Directors by the Compensation Committee consisting of three independent
members of the Board of Directors. At the time of a stock option grant, the exercise price of each option is set and in accordance with the Plan,
cannot be lower than the market value of the common shares at the date of grant.
The following table summarizes the Company’s option activity for the year:
Weighted
average

Year ended
December
31,
2020

exercise price
(C$/option)

Weighted
average

Year ended
December
31,
2019

exercise price
(C$/option)

Outstanding, beginning of year
Granted
Forfeited
Exercised for cash
Exercised cashless

1,229,341 $
572,503
(418,294)
(365,483)

12.99
17.64
10.73
14.29

2,134,294 $
392,967
(43,545)
(442,052)
(812,323)

9.59
13.41
15.09
8.55
6.57

Outstanding, end of year

1,018,067

16.07

1,229,341

12.99

$

$

During the year ended December 31, 2020, 572,503 stock options were granted (December 31, 2019: 392,967) with a weighted average grant
date fair value of $2,546 or $4.45 per option (December 31, 2019: $1,231 or $3.13). The stock options have a five-year term to expiry, and vest
1/3 in each of 12, 24, and 36 months from the date of grant.
The Company estimated the fair value of the option using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average
assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
Expected life (years)

December
31,
2020
0.91%
46%
nil
3

December
31,
2019
1.64%
44%
nil
3
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The expected volatility assumption was calculated with reference to the Company’s historical share price volatility up to the grant date to
reflect a term approximate to the expected life of the option.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, 783,777 stock options were exercised (December 31, 2019: 1,254,375) with a weighted average
market share price at the date of exercise of C$21.79 (December 31, 2019: C$13.82).
The following table summarizes the Company’s stock options outstanding and exercisable as at December 31, 2020:
Exercise price
($C/option)
12.75
13.46
13.91
14.98
17.55
21.57
C$12.75
C$21.57

Number
outstanding
12,500
279,965
97,544
341,448
55,555
231,055
1,018,067

Number
exercisable
147,495
97,544
55,555
300,594

Weighted average remaining
contractual life (years)
3.85
3.28
1.93
4.16
0.93
4.94
3.70

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded share based payment expense of $1,069 (December 31, 2019: $1,044)
relating to stock options vested to employees and consultants in the period of which $15 (December 31, 2019: nil) was capitalized to
exploration and evaluation assets.
(c)

Restricted and performance share units
On June 18, 2020, the Shareholders re-approved a share unit plan (the “Share Unit Plan”) for the benefit of the Company’s officers, employees
and consultants. The Share Unit Plan provides for the issuance of common shares from treasury, in the form of Restricted Share Units
(“RSUs”) and Performance Share Units (“PSUs”). The maximum number of common shares that may be issuable under the Share Unit Plan is
set at 1.5% of the number of issued and outstanding common shares on a non-diluted basis, provided that the number of common shares issued
or issuable under the combined Share Unit Plan and Stock Option Plan (Note 9(b)) shall not exceed 5% of the issued and outstanding common
shares on a non-diluted basis. RSUs and PSUs granted under the Share Unit Plan have a term of 5 years unless otherwise specified by the
Board, and each unit entitles the participant to receive one common share of the Company subject to vesting criteria, and in the case of PSUs,
performance criteria.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, 39,063 RSUs were granted (December 31, 2019: 10,000) under the Company’s Share Unit Plan,
with 30,981 vesting in 12 months from the grant date, and 8,082 vesting in 13 months from the date of grant, all with a five-year term to
expiry. The RSUs had a grant date fair value of $11.26 per RSU (December 31, 2019: $10.10) as determined using the fair market value of the
common shares on the date of grant. In the year ended December 31, 2020, 3,334 RSUs (December 31, 2019: 43,343) were converted and
settled in common shares.
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During the year ended December 31, 2020, 146,755 PSUs were granted (December 31, 2019: 91,406) under the Company’s Share Unit Plan
with a five-year term to expiry. Of the grant, 97,837 PSUs are performance-based awards and vest upon the achievement of specified targets
over a three-year performance period. PSUs for which the performance targets are not achieved during the performance period, shall
automatically be forfeited and canceled. The remainder of the grant, 48,918 PSUs with a five-year term to expiry, are subject to a market share
price performance factor measured over a three-year performance period, resulting in a PSU vesting range from 50% (24,459) to 150%
(73,377) PSUs. The PSUs had a weighted average grant date fair value of $13.65 per PSU as determined using the fair market value of the
common shares on the date of grant.
The three-year performance period for the 2017 PSU grant ended on December 5, 2020 and resulted in a PSU vesting of 18.34% of the initial
grant or 15,475 PSUs. Consequently, 68,916 PSUs did not vest and were cancelled.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, 17,048 PSUs were converted and settled in common shares (December 31, 2019: 31,876).
As at December 31, 2020, there were 45,729 RSUs and 249,276 PSUs issued and outstanding under the Share Unit Plan, of which 14,857
PSUs had vested and are convertible into common shares of the Company. Included in the PSUs at December 31, 2020, are 87,664 PSUs with
vesting conditions subject to a market share price performance factor measured over a three-year performance period, resulting in a PSU
payout range from 0% or nil PSUs to 200% or 175,328 PSUs and 48,918 PSUs with vesting conditions also subject to a market share price
performance factor measured over a three-year period, resulting in a PSU payout range from 50% (24,459 PSUs) to 150% (73,377 PSUs).
The Company recognized a share-based payment expense of $1,201 (December 31, 2019: $731) relating to RSUs and PSUs vesting in the
period.
(d) Deferred share units
On June 18, 2020, the Shareholders re-approved a Deferred Share Unit Plan (the “DSU Plan”) for the benefit of the Company’s non-executive
directors. The DSU Plan provides for the issuance of common shares from treasury, in the form of Deferred Share Units (“DSUs”). Directors
may also elect to receive all or a portion of their annual retainer and meeting fees in the form of DSUs. DSUs may be settled in cash or in
common shares issued from treasury, as determined by the Board at the time of the grant. The maximum number of common shares that may
be issuable under the DSU Plan is set at 1.0% of the number of issued and outstanding common shares on a non-diluted basis.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, 64,757 DSUs were granted under the plan (December 31, 2019: 141,386). In addition, 10,482
DSUs (December 31, 2019: 19,955) were granted to directors who elected to receive all or a portion of their annual retainer and meeting fees
in the form of DSUs rather than cash. A DSU share-based payment expense of $867 was recognized in the year ended December 31, 2020
(December 31, 2019: $797). Under the DSU plan, no common shares are to be issued, or cash payments made to, or in respect of a participant
in the DSU Plan prior to such eligible participant’s termination date. During the year ended December 31, 2020, 60,000 DSUs (December 31,
2019: 60,166) were converted and settled in common shares. As at December 31, 2020, there are 569,153 DSUs issued and outstanding under
the DSU Plan, all of which have vested.
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As at December 31, 2020, there are 1,882,225 common shares issuable under the combined share compensation arrangements referred to above (the
Plan, the Share Unit Plan and the DSU Plan) representing 1.99% of the issued and outstanding common shares on a non-diluted basis, and there are
3,806,562 share-based awards available for grant under these combined share compensation arrangements.
10. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company’s objectives in managing its liquidity and capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide
financial capacity to meet its strategic objectives. The capital structure of the Company consists of its equity (comprising of share capital, equity
reserve, accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income and deficit), net of cash and cash equivalents.
Capital as defined above is summarized in the following table:

Equity
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)

$
$

December 31,
2020
316,668 $
(94,008)
222,660 $

December 31,
2019
215,247
(72,360)
142,887

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue new shares, issue debt, acquire or dispose of assets.
In order to facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares annual expenditure budgets that are updated as necessary
depending on various factors, including successful capital deployment and general industry conditions. The annual and updated budgets are
approved by the Board of Directors. The Company currently does not pay out dividends.
As at December 31, 2020, the Company does not have any long-term debt and is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
The Company has working capital of $94,513 as at December 31, 2020. The Company may require additional capital in the future to meet its future
project and other related expenditures (see Notes 6, 7, and 15). Future liquidity may depend upon the Company’s ability to arrange debt or
additional equity financings.
11. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company’s operations consist of the acquisition, exploration and development of projects primarily in the Americas. The Company examines
the various financial risks to which it is exposed and assesses the impact and likelihood of occurrence. These risks may include credit risk, liquidity
risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risks. Where material, these risks are reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors.
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(a) Market risk
The Company conducts the majority of its business through its equity interest in its associate, Minera Juanicipio (see Note 6). Minera Juanicipio
is exposed to commodity price risk, specifically to the prices of silver, gold, lead and zinc. Minera Juanicipio will produce and sell these metals
which are each subject to market price fluctuations which will affect its profitability and its ability to generate both operating and free cash
flow. Minera Juanicipio does not hedge silver and gold prices, and did not enter into any metal hedge positions during the year ended December
31, 2020 and does not have any such positions outstanding at December 31, 2020.
(b) Credit risk
Counterparty credit risk is the risk that the financial benefits of contracts with a specific counterparty will be lost if a counterparty defaults on
its obligations under the contract. This includes any cash amounts owed to the Company by those counterparties, less any amounts owed to the
counterparty by the Company where a legal right of set-off exists and also includes the fair values of contracts with individual counterparties
which are recorded in the financial statements.
(i)

Trade credit risk
Minera Juanicipio, in which the Company has a 44% interest, is transitioning into commercial production and now has pre-production
sales (see Note 2). Minera Juanicipio sells and receives payment under an offtake agreement upon delivery of its concentrates to MetMex Peñoles, S.A. De C.V. (“Met-Mex”), a related party to Fresnillo. Met-Mex has a good history and credit rating, and the Company
believes it is not exposed to significant trade credit risk.

(ii)

Cash
In order to manage credit and liquidity risk, the Company’s policy is to invest only in highly rated investment grade instruments
backed by Canadian commercial banks.

(iii)

Mexican value added tax
As at December 31, 2020, the Company had a receivable of $53 from the Mexican government for value added tax (Note 4).
Management expects the balance to be fully recoverable within the year.

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of its cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, its loan to Minera
Juanicipio, and indirectly its 44% interest in cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable held in its Investment in Juanicipio joint
venture, as follows:
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Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)
Cash and cash equivalents, Minera Juanicipio (44%) (1)
Accounts receivable (Note 4)
Value added tax and other receivables, Minera Juanicipio (44%)(1)
Loan to Minera Juanicipio (Notes 6 and 14)(1)

$

$

December 31,
2020
94,008
22,661
897
13,753
63,712
195,031

$

$

December 31,
2019
72,360
13,024
83
8,432
93,899

(1)

The expected credit losses take into account future information of the credit worthiness of Minera Juanicipio and are not considered
significant.

(c)

Liquidity risk
The Company has a planning and budgeting process in place to help determine the funds required to support the Company's normal operating
requirements, its exploration and development plans, and its various optional property and other commitments (see Notes 6, 7 and 15). The
annual budget is approved by the Board of Directors. The Company ensures that there are sufficient cash balances to meet its short-term
business requirements.
The Company's overall liquidity risk has not changed significantly from the prior year.

(d) Currency risk
The Company is exposed to the financial risks related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates, both in the Mexican peso and Canadian
dollar, relative to the US$. The Company does not use any derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates. The Company is also exposed to inflation/deflation risk in Mexico.
Exposure to currency risk
As at December 31, 2020, the Company is exposed to currency risk through the following assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the applicable entity:
(in US$ equivalent)
Cash
Accounts receivable
Receivable from Minera Juanicipio
Prepaid
Investments
Accounts payable
Lease obligations
Net assets exposure

Mexican peso
$

$

21 $
53
658
19
(61)
690 $

Canadian dollar
4,277
186
11,951
(379)
(476)
15,559

Mexican peso relative to the US$
Although the majority of operating expenses in Mexico are both determined and denominated in US$, an appreciation in the Mexican peso
relative to the US$ will slightly increase the Company’s cost of operations in Mexico related to those operating costs denominated and
determined in Mexican pesos. Alternatively, a depreciation in the Mexican peso relative to the US$ will decrease the Company’s cost of
operations in Mexico related to those operating costs denominated and determined in Mexican pesos.
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An appreciation/depreciation in the Mexican peso against the US$ will also result in a gain/loss before tax to the extent that the Company holds
net monetary assets (liabilities) in pesos. Specifically, the Company's foreign currency exposure is comprised of peso denominated cash,
prepayments and value added taxes receivable, net of trade and other payables. The carrying amount of the Company’s net peso denominated
monetary assets at December 31, 2020 is 13.9 million pesos (December 31, 2019: 2.8 million pesos). A 10% appreciation in the peso against
the US$ would result in a gain before tax at December 31, 2020 of $69 (December 31, 2019: $15), while a 10% depreciation in the peso
relative to the US$ would result in an equivalent loss before tax.
Mexican peso relative to the US$ - Investment in Juanicipio
The Company conducts the majority of its business through its equity interest in its associate, Minera Juanicipio (see Note 6). The Company
accounts for this investment using the equity method, and recognizes the Company's 44% share of earnings and losses of Minera Juanicipio.
Minera Juanicipio also has a US$ functional currency, and is exposed to the same currency risks noted above for the Company.
An appreciation/depreciation in the Mexican peso against the US$ will also result in a gain/loss before tax and deferred taxes (Notes 6 and 16)
in Minera Juanicipio to the extent that it holds net monetary assets (liabilities) in pesos, comprised of peso denominated cash, value added
taxes receivable, net of trade and other payables. The carrying amount of Minera Juanicipio’s net peso denominated monetary assets at
December 31, 2020 is 3.2 million pesos (December 31, 2019: 257.3 million pesos). A 10% appreciation in the peso against the US$ would
result in a gain before tax at December 31, 2020 of $94 (December 31, 2019: $1,241) in Minera Juanicipio, of which the Company would
record 44% or $41 equity income pick-up (December 31, 2019: $546), while a 10% depreciation in the peso relative to the US$ would result in
an equivalent gain.
In the year ended December 31, 2020, the Mexican Pesos devalued against the US$ from 18.87 Pesos/US$ on December 31, 2019 to 19.94 on
December 31, 2020, resulting in an exchange loss in Minera Juanicipio of $606 (the Company’s 44% share $267).
C$ relative to the US$
The Company is exposed to gains and losses from fluctuations in the C$ relative to the US$.
As general and administrative overheads in Canada are denominated in C$, an appreciation in the C$ relative to the US$ will increase the
Company’s overhead costs as reported in US$. Alternatively, a depreciation in the C$ relative to the US$ will decrease the Company’s
overhead costs as reported in US$.
An appreciation/depreciation in the C$ against the US$ will result in a gain/loss to the extent that MAG, the parent entity, holds net monetary
assets (liabilities) in C$. The carrying amount of the Company’s net Canadian denominated monetary assets at December 31, 2020 is C$19.810
million (December 31, 2019: C$706 thousand). A 10% appreciation in the C$ against the US$ would result in gain at December 31, 2020 of
$1,556 (December 31, 2019: $54) while a 10% depreciation in the C$ relative to the US$ would result in an equivalent loss.
36

MAG SILVER CORP.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars unless otherwise stated)

(e)

Interest rate risk
The Company’s interest revenue earned on cash and cash equivalents is exposed to interest rate risk. A decrease in interest rates would result in
lower relative interest income and an increase in interest rates would result in higher relative interest income.

12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES
The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, investments, trade and other payables and lease
obligation. The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, trade and other payables and lease liability reported in the
consolidated statement of financial position approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term nature of these instruments.
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy establishes three levels to classify the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value as described below:
Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted prices in Level 1 such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;
quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can
be corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.
The Company’s financial assets or liabilities as measured in accordance with the fair value hierarchy described above are:

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments (Note 5)(1)

$
$

Level 1
94,008 $
11,951
105,959 $

As at December 31, 2020
Level 2
Level 3
- $
- $

- $
- $

Total
94,008
11,951
105,959
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Cash and cash equivalents
Investments (Note 5)(1)

$
$

Level 1
72,360 $
1,408
73,768 $

As at December 31, 2019
Level 2
Level 3
- $
- $

- $
- $

Total
72,360
1,408
73,768

(1)
The fair value of equity securities quoted in active markets, is determined based on a market approach reflecting the closing price of each
particular security as at the statement of financial position date. The closing price is a quoted market price obtained from the exchange that is the
principal active market for the particular security, and therefore equity securities are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair
values of equity securities and warrants that are not quoted in active markets are valued based on quoted prices of similar instruments in active
markets or using valuation techniques where all inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data and are classified within Level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year ended December 31, 2020 or during the year ended December 31, 2019.
13. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company operates primarily in one operating segment, being the exploration and development of mineral properties in North America. The
Company’s principal asset, its 44% ownership in the Minera Juanicipio Joint Venture, is located in Mexico, and the Company also has other
exploration properties in North America. The Company’s executive and head office is located in Canada.
14. SRELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company does not have offices or direct personnel in Mexico, but rather is party to a Field Services Agreement, whereby it has contracted
administrative and exploration services in Mexico with MINERA CASCABEL S.A. de C.V. (“Cascabel”) and IMDEX Inc. (“IMDEX”). Dr. Peter
Megaw, the Company’s Chief Exploration Officer, is a principal of both IMDEX and Cascabel, and is remunerated by the Company through fees to
IMDEX. In addition to corporate executive responsibilities with MAG, Dr. Megaw is responsible for the planning, execution and assessment of the
Company’s exploration programs, and he and his team developed the geologic concepts and directed the acquisition of the Juanicipio Project.
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During the year, the Company incurred charges with Cascabel and IMDEX as follows:
December
31,
2020
Fees related to Dr. Megaw:
Exploration and marketing services
Travel and expenses
Other fees to Cascabel and IMDEX:
Administration for Mexican subsidiaries
Field exploration services

$

$

505
12
54
160
731

December
31,
2019
$

$

420
72
59
298
849

All transactions are incurred in the normal course of business, and are negotiated on terms between the parties which are believed to represent fair
market value for all services rendered. A portion of the expenditures are incurred on the Company’s behalf, and are charged to the Company on a
“cost + 10%” basis. The services provided do not include drilling and assay work which are contracted out independently from Cascabel and
IMDEX. Included in trade and other payables at December 31, 2020 is $78 related to these services (December 31, 2019: $102).
Any amounts due to related parties arising from the above transactions are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are due upon receipt of invoices.
The Company holds various mineral property claims in Mexico upon which full impairments have been recognized. The Company is obligated to a
2.5% NSR royalty on the Cinco de Mayo property payable to the principals of Cascabel under the terms of an option agreement dated February 26,
2004, whereby the Company acquired a 100% interest in the property from Cascabel, and under the terms of assignment agreements entered into by
Cascabel with its principals.
The immediate parent and ultimate controlling party of the consolidated group is MAG Silver Corp. (incorporated in British Columbia, Canada).
The details of the Company’s significant subsidiaries and controlling ownership interests are as follows:
Significant subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

Name
Minera Los Lagartos, S.A. de C.V.

Country of
Incorporation
Mexico

Principal
Project
Juanicipio (44%)

MAG's effective interest
2020 (%)
2019(%)
100%

100%

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.
Minera Juanicipio, S.A. de C.V. (“Minera Juanicipio”), created for the purpose of holding and operating the Juanicipio Property, is held 56% by
Fresnillo plc (“Fresnillo”) and 44% by the Company through Minera Los Lagartos, S.A. de C.V. Fresnillo is the operator of Minera Juanicipio, and
with its affiliates, beneficially owns 10.3% of the common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2020, as publicly reported. Minera Juanicipio
is governed by a shareholders agreement. All costs relating to the project and Minera Juanicipio are required to be shared by the Company and
Fresnillo pro-rata based on their ownership interests in Minera Juanicipio (see Note 6).
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During the year, Fresnillo and the Company advanced $144,800 as shareholder loans (MAG’s 44% share $63,712) to Minera Juanicipio, bearing
interest at Libor + 2%. The interest accrued within Minera Juanicipio was capitalized to ‘Mineral Interests, plant and equipment’ and the interest
recorded by the Company on the loan totaling $567 has therefore been credited to the Investment in Juanicipio account as an eliminating related
party entry. The loans mature on June 24, 2021 (see Note 6).
During the year, compensation of key management personnel (including directors) was as follows:

Salaries and other short term employee benefits
Share based payments (Note 9(b), (c ), and (d))

$
$

December
31,
2020
1,726
1,853
3,579

$
$

December
31,
2019
1,694
1,429
3,123

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the
Company, directly or indirectly, and consists of its Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer.
15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The following table discloses the contractual obligations of the Company and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2020 for committed exploration
work and committed other obligations.
Less than 1
year
2021

Total
Committed exploration expenditures

$

Minera Juanicipio (1)&(2)
Other commitments
Total Obligations and Commitments

$

1-3 Years
2022-2023

More than 5
years
2026 & over

3-5 Years
2024-2025

- $

- $

- $

- $

-

-

-

-

-

-

- $

- $

-

79
79 $

79
79 $

(1)

Although the Company makes cash advances to Minera Juanicipio as cash called by the operator Fresnillo (based on approved Minera
Juanicipio budgets), they are not contractual obligations. The Company intends, however, to continue to fund its share of cash calls and avoid
dilution of its ownership interest in Minera Juanicipio.

(2)

According to the operator, Fresnillo, contractual commitments for processing equipment and development contractors are $192,173 with respect
to the Juanicipio Project on a 100% basis as at December 31, 2020.
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The Company also has optional commitments for property option payments and exploration expenditures as outlined above in Note 7 Exploration
and Evaluation Assets. There is no obligation to make any of those payments or to conduct any work on its optioned properties. As the Company
advances them, it evaluates exploration results and determines at its own discretion which option payments to make and which additional
exploration work to undertake in order to comply with the funding requirements.
The Company could be subject to various investigations, claims and legal and tax proceedings covering matters that arise in the ordinary course of
business activities. Each of these matters would be subject to various uncertainties and it is possible that some matters may be resolved unfavourably
to the Company. Certain conditions may exist as of the date of the financial statements are issued, which may result in a loss to the Company but
which will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. The Company is not aware of any such claims or investigations,
and as such has not recorded any related provisions and does not expect such matters to result in a material impact on the results of operations, cash
flows and financial position.
16. INCOME TAXES
The income taxes recognized in profit or loss is as follows:

Deferred tax (expense) benefit
Total income tax (expense) benefit

$
$

December
31,
2020
(1,026) $
(1,026) $

December
31,
2019
131
131

The provision for income taxes reported differs from the amounts computed by applying statutory Canadian federal and provincial tax rates to the
loss before tax provision due to the following:

Loss for the year before income taxes
Statutory tax rate
Recovery of income taxes computed at statutory rates
Share based payments
Mexican inflationary adjustments
Differing effective tax rate on loss in foreign jurisdiction
Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Impact of foreign exchange and other
Total income tax (expense) benefit

December 31,
December 31,
2020
2019
$
(6,071) $
(4,557)
27%
27%

$

1,639
(843)
(699)
(34)
1,120
(2,209)
(1,026)

$

1,230
(694)
(600)
4
(2,680)
2,871
131
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The approximate tax effect of each item that gives rise to the Company’s unrecognized and recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities as at
December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
December 31,
2020
Deferred income tax assets
Exploration and evaluation assets
Non-capital losses

$
$

Deferred income tax liabilities
Exploration and evaluation assets
Investment in associate
Investments

$

$
$

Net deferred income tax liability

828
2,070
2,898

December 31,
2019
$
$

1,004
301
1,305

(219) $
(5,870)
(1,530)
(7,619) $
(4,721) $

(95)
(3,192)
(3,287)
(1,982)

December
31,
2020
(1,982) $
(1,026)
(1,713)
(4,721) $

December
31,
2019
(2,113)
131
(1,982)

The Company's movement of net deferred tax liabilities is described below:

At January 1
Deferred income tax (expense) benefit through income statement
Deferred income tax (expense) benefit through OCI
At December 31

$

$

The Company has the following deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets have been recognized:
December 31,
2020
Non-capital losses
Exploration and evaluation assets
Financing fees
Other
Total

$

$

93,602
7,171
3,453
7,490
111,716

December 31,
2019

expiry dates
2021-2040
no expiry
2040 - 2044
no expiry

$

$

85,611
13,040
934
3,352
102,937

At December 31, 2020, the Company has non-capital loss carry forwards in Canada aggregating $49,947 (December 31, 2019: $39,572) which
expire over the period between 2026 to 2040, available to offset future taxable income in Canada, and the Company has capital loss carry forwards
in Canada of $943 (December 31, 2019: nil) which are available only to offset future capital gains for Canadian tax purposes and may be carried
forward indefinitely.
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At December 31, 2020, the Company has tax loss carry forwards in Mexico aggregating $49,837 (December 31, 2019: $46,779) which expire over
the period 2021 to 2030, available to offset future taxable income in Mexico.
At December 31, 2020, the Company has $33 (December 31, 2019: $274) included in cash that is held by foreign subsidiaries, and hence not
available to fund domestic operations unless the funds were repatriated. There are no taxes payable on the funds should the Company choose to
repatriate them, however, the Company does not intend to repatriate these funds in the next year.
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The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) focuses on the financial condition and results of operations of MAG Silver Corp.
(“MAG”, “MAG Silver” or the “Company”) for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. It is prepared as of March 31, 2021 and should be read in
conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, together with the notes
thereto which are available on SEDAR and EDGAR or on the Company’s website at www.magsilver.com.
All dollar amounts referred to in this MD&A are expressed in thousands of United States dollars (“US$”) unless otherwise stated. The functional
currency of the parent, its subsidiaries and its investment in Juanicipio, is the US$.
The common shares of the Company trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange and on the NYSE American Stock Exchange both under the ticker symbol
MAG. MAG Silver is a reporting issuer in each of the provinces and territories of Canada and is a reporting “foreign issuer” in the United States of
America. The Company believes that MAG was a Passive Foreign Investment Company (“PFIC”), as that term is defined in Section 1297 of the U.S.
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, for the 2019 and prior financial years. With the start of the underground production at Juanicipio and the
Company’s attributable revenue under the PFIC determination rules, the Company no longer believes it is a PFIC as of the 2020 fiscal year. For an
explanation of these effects on taxation, U.S. shareholders and prospective U.S. holders of the Company’s common shares are encouraged to consult their
own tax advisers.
Qualified Person
Unless otherwise specifically noted herein, all scientific or technical information in this MD&A, including assay results and Mineral Resource estimates,
if applicable, is based upon information prepared by or under the supervision of, or has been approved by Dr. Peter Megaw, Ph.D., C.P.G., a Certified
Professional Geologist who is a “Qualified Person” for purposes of National Instrument 43-101, Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (“National
Instrument 43-101” or “NI 43-101”). Dr. Megaw is not independent as he is an officer and a paid consultant of MAG Silver (see Related Party
Transactions below).
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
Certain information contained in this MD&A, including any information relating to MAG’s future oriented financial information are forward-looking
statements within the meaning of the US Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and applicable Canadian securities laws (collectively “forwardlooking statements”). All statements in this MD&A, other than statements of historical facts are forward-looking statements, including statements
regarding the anticipated time and capital schedule to production; estimated project economics, including but not limited to, mill recoveries, payable
metals produced, production rates, payback time, capital and operating and other costs, Internal Rate of Return (“IRR”), anticipated life of mine, and mine
plan; expected upside from additional exploration; expected capital requirements and adequacy of current working capital for the next year; and other
future events or developments. Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as “seek”, “anticipate”, “plan”,
“continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “predict”, “potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, “could”, “might”, “should”, “believe” and similar
expressions. These forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or events
to differ materially from results projected in such forward-looking statements. Although MAG believes the expectations expressed in such forwardlooking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, such statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results or developments
may differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in forwardlooking statements including, but not limited to, commodities prices; changes in expected mineral production performance; unexpected increases in
capital costs or cost overruns; exploitation and exploration results; continued availability of capital and financing; risks related to holding a minority
investment interest in the Juanicipio Property; and general economic, market or business conditions. In addition, forward-looking statements are subject
to various risks, including but not limited to operational risk; environmental risk; pandemic risks (and COVID-19); political risk; currency risk; capital
cost inflation risk; construction delays; that data is incomplete or inaccurate; the limitations and assumptions within drilling, engineering and socioeconomic studies relied upon in preparing the 2017 PEA (as defined herein); and market risks. The reader is referred to the Company’s filings with the
SEC and Canadian securities regulators for disclosure regarding these and other risk factors. There is no certainty that any forward-looking statement will
come to pass and investors should not place undue reliance upon forward-looking statements. MAG Silver does not undertake to provide updates to any
of the forward-looking statements in this MD&A, except as required by law.
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Assumptions have been made including, but not limited to, MAG’s ability to carry on its various exploration and development activities including project
development timelines, the timely receipt of required approvals and permits, the price of the minerals produced, the costs of operating, exploration and
development expenditures, the impact on operations of the Mexican Tax Regime, MAG’s ability to obtain adequate financing, outbreaks or threat of an
outbreak of a virus or other contagions or epidemic disease will be adequately responded to locally, nationally, regionally and internationally. MAG
Silver cannot assure you that actual events, performance or results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements, and management’s
assumptions may prove to be incorrect. The forward-looking statements in this MD&A speak only as of the date hereof and we do not assume any
obligation to update forward-looking statements if circumstances or management’s beliefs, expectations or opinions should change other than as required
by applicable law. There is no certainty that any forward-looking statement will come to pass and investors should not place undue reliance upon
forward-looking statements.
Note regarding Non-GAAP Measures
This MD&A references a technical report which presents certain financial performance measures, including all in sustaining costs (“AISC”), cash cost
and total cash cost that are not recognized or standardized measures under International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and therefore may not be comparable to data presented by other silver producers. MAG Silver
believes that these generally accepted industry measures are relevant indicators of potential operating performance. Non-GAAP financial performance
measures should be considered together with other data prepared in accordance with IFRS. This MD&A contains non-GAAP financial performance
measure information for a project under development incorporating estimated cost, pricing and other information that will vary over time as the project is
developed and mined. It is therefore not practicable to reconcile these forward-looking non-GAAP financial performance measures to GAAP measures.
More information about the Company including its annual information form (“AIF”) and recent financial reports is available on the System for Electronic
Document Analysis and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at www.sedar.com and on the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s (“SEC”) EDGAR website at
www.sec.gov.
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Cautionary Note to Investors Concerning Estimates of Indicated and Inferred Mineral Resources
This MD&A uses the terms "Indicated Mineral Resources” and “Inferred Mineral Resources". MAG advises investors that although these terms are
recognized and required by Canadian regulations (under National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects), the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission does not recognize these terms. Investors are cautioned not to assume that any part or all of the mineral deposits in these
categories will ever be converted into Mineral Reserves. In addition, “Inferred Mineral Resources” are Mineral Resources for which quantity and grade or
quality are estimated on the basis of limited geological evidence and sampling. Geological evidence is sufficient to imply but not verify geological and
grade or quality continuity. “Inferred Mineral Resources” are based on limited information and have a great amount of uncertainty as to their existence
and great uncertainty as to their economic and legal feasibility. An Inferred Mineral Resource has a lower level of confidence than that applying to an
Indicated Mineral Resource and must not be converted to a Mineral Reserve. It is reasonably expected that the majority of “Inferred Mineral Resources”
could be upgraded to “Indicated Mineral Resources” with continued exploration. Under Canadian rules, estimates of Inferred Mineral Resources are
considered too geologically speculative to have the economic considerations applied to them to enable them to be categorized as Mineral Reserves and,
accordingly, “Inferred Mineral Resources” must not be included in the economic analysis, production schedules, or estimated mine life in publicly
disclosed feasibility or pre-feasibility studies, or in the life of mine plans and cash flow models of developed mines. “Inferred Mineral Resources” can
only be used in economic studies as provided under NI 43-101. Investors are cautioned not to assume that part or all of an Inferred Mineral
Resource exists, or is economically mineable.
Currently, there are no Mineral Reserves (within the meaning of NI 43-101) on any of the properties in which the Company has an interest. Only those
mineral deposits that the Company can economically and legally extract or produce, based on a comprehensive evaluation of cost, grade, recovery and
other factors, are considered Mineral Reserves. Although Fresnillo plc (“Fresnillo”) has made statements that “Mineral Reserves” exist at Juanicipio
Project, they are not “Mineral Reserves” within the meaning of NI 43-101, and as such, no reliance should exist that they will in fact become “Mineral
Reserves” within with meaning of NI 43-101.
1.

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

MAG is an advanced stage development and exploration company, that is focused on the acquisition, development and exploration of high-grade, highmargin, district-scale projects located in the Americas. MAG’s principal asset is a 44% interest in the Juanicipio project (the “Juanicipio Project”) located
in Zacatecas state, Mexico, with Fresnillo plc (“Fresnillo”) owning the remaining 56% and the project Operator. A processing facility is being constructed
at the Juanicipio Project that is expected to commence commissioning in late Q4-2021, and the project is currently processing development material from
the underground mine at an average nominal rate of 16,000 tonnes per month at a nearby processing plant (see Underground Mine Production Juanicipio Project below). MAG also has the right to earn a 100% interest in the Deer Trail Carbonate Replacement-Porphyry Project in central Utah,
USA.
Juanicipio Project
MAG owns 44% of Minera Juanicipio S.A. de C.V. (“Minera Juanicipio”), an incorporated joint venture under the laws of Mexico, which owns the highgrade silver Juanicipio Project located in the Fresnillo District, Zacatecas State, Mexico. Fresnillo is the project operator and holds the remaining 56% of
Minera Juanicipio. As shareholders of Minera Juanicipio, Fresnillo and MAG jointly approved project mine development on April 11, 2019. Fresnillo, as
operator, subsequently announced the expectation to commence underground production from the mine in 2020, with the processing facility or plant
being commissioned during the fourth quarter 2021 and reaching 40 to 50% of nameplate capacity by the end of 2021 (and reaching 90 to 95% of its
4,000 tonnes per day (“tpd”) nameplate capacity in 2022).
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As of August 2020, mineralized material from the underground development is being processed, refined and sold. This underground production from the
mine is being processed in the nearby Fresnillo plant and it is expected to continue to be processed at a targeted average rate of 16,000 tonnes per month
until the Minera Juanicipio plant is commissioned in the fourth quarter of 2021. The actual amount of material processed on a monthly basis may vary
due to the variability of mineralization encountered in the development headings from month to month (see Underground Mine Production - Juanicipio
Project below). The exploration, development and construction of the Juanicipio Project are all being carried out by the project operator, Fresnillo, with
MAG participating in all board and technical committee meetings.
The geology of the Juanicipio Project consists of high-grade silver-gold-lead-zinc epithermal vein deposits. The principal vein, the Valdecañas Vein, has
dilatant zones (bulges) at its east and west extremes and several en echelon vein splays and cross-veins– the term “Valdecañas Vein” is used to refer to
this combined vein system. The Juanicipio Project underground mine development to date consists of over 35 kilometres (“km”) of ramps, with numerous
cross-cuts through the Valdecañas vein now complete and installation of long-term underground mine infrastructure well advanced. The first production
stope was completed in the third quarter of 2020. Surface construction, focused on the installation of the 4,000 tpd processing facility (plant) and all
associated support infrastructure, is well advanced. The layout and earthworks are largely complete with most footings and foundations having been
poured. All the internationally sourced process equipment is located on the joint venture ground where the plant is being constructed. In addition,
exploration continues on both the Valdecañas Vein system and on other prospective targets within the joint venture property.
On April 22, 2020, in response to the Mexican Government’s National COVID-19 order (see ‘COVID-19 – Juanicipio Project’ below), the Company
announced a temporary suspension at Juanicipio through May 30, 2020 of exploration and surface construction work, while underground operations were
temporarily reduced to a minimum working level under rigid hygienic protocols. In May 2020, the Mexican Government declared Construction and
Mining as essential activities, and the restart of all activities began on June 1, 2020 in a phased manner. Subsequent to the year end, on January 27, 2021,
the Company announced that according to the operator Fresnillo, commissioning of the Juanicipio processing plant was expected to commence in Q42021, a few months later than previously reported as some infrastructure contracts had been delayed due to COVID-19-related restrictions and
preventative measures implemented at site.
Oversight of the project is provided from the Minera Juanicipio Technical Committee, which is represented by both MAG and Fresnillo. Construction of
the processing plant is under the guidance of an Engineering, Procurement and Construction Management (“EPCM”) contract entered into with an
affiliate of Fresnillo to oversee the mine construction and development. The Company’s share of project costs is funded primarily by quarterly cash calls
through its 44% interest in Minera Juanicipio, and to a lesser extent, incurred directly by MAG to cover expenses related to its own commissioned
technical studies and analyses, as well as direct project oversight. Minera Juanicipio is governed by a shareholders’ agreement and corporate by-laws,
pursuant to which each shareholder is to provide funding pro-rata to its ownership interest, and if either party does not fund pro-rata, their ownership
interest will be diluted in accordance with the shareholders’ agreement.
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In 2017, MAG commissioned AMC Mining Consultants (Canada) Ltd. to prepare a Resource Estimate and Preliminary Economic Assessment for the
Juanicipio Project (collectively, the “2017 PEA”), which was completed according to the NI 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects and
announced by the Company on November 7, 2017 (see Press Release of said date), with the MAG Silver Juanicipio NI 43-101 Technical Report
(Amended and Restated) filed on SEDAR on January 19, 2018.
The 2017 PEA incorporates major overall project upgrades over prior assessments, highlighted by the delineation and provision for mining of greatly
expanded Indicated and Inferred Mineral Resources discovered in the Deep Zone, as defined in the 2017 PEA. The independent estimates of the Mineral
Resources of the Juanicipio Project in the 2017 PEA were compiled using exploration data available up to December 31, 2016 and do not include the
results of drilling programs undertaken since then (2017-2020) designed to further expand and infill the Deep Zone (see Exploration – Juanicipio Project
below). The volume of these new base metal-rich Deep Zone Mineral Resources identified in the 2017 PEA contributed to a significant expansion of
project scope and enhancements to most aspects of the mine design. Truck haulage, shaft hoisting, and underground conveying, along with underground
crushing of the mineralized rock are all projected to be utilized for delivering the mineralized material to the surface processing plant. As envisioned in
the 2017 PEA, the proposed process plant has a planned production rate of 4,000 tpd, and will include a semi-autogenous grinding (“SAG”)/ball mill
comminution circuit followed by sequential flotation to produce a silver-rich lead concentrate, a zinc concentrate and a gold-rich pyrite concentrate. The
plant and the expected tailings storage facility are being built on open and flat joint venture owned land just north of the conveyor ramp portal.
Based on the 2017 PEA, MAG views the Juanicipio Project as a robust, high-grade, high-margin underground silver project exhibiting low development
risks. While the results of the 2017 PEA are promising, by definition a Preliminary Economic Assessment is preliminary in nature and includes Inferred
Mineral Resources that are considered too geologically speculative to have the economic considerations applied to them that would enable them to be
categorized as Mineral Reserves. Mineral Resources that are not Mineral Reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability and there is no certainty
that Mineral Resources will ever become Mineral Reserves. There can therefore be no certainty that the results in the 2017 PEA will be realized. In
addition, the 2017 PEA was commissioned independently by MAG, and not by Minera Juanicipio. Fresnillo is the project operator and the actual
development plan and timeline may be materially different from the scope, design and results envisaged in the 2017 PEA (see ‘Risks and Uncertainties’
below).
Deer Trail Project
MAG executed an earn-in agreement (the “Agreement”) effective December 20th, 2018 to consolidate and acquire 100% of the historic Deer Trail Mine
and surrounding Alunite Ridge area in Piute County, Utah (the “Deer Trail Project”). The counterparties to the Agreement (the “Parties”) contributed
their respective Deer Trail claims and property rights to a newly formed company for a 99% interest in the company, with MAG holding the other 1%
interest. MAG is the Project Operator and has the right to earn a 100% interest in the company and the Deer Trail Project, with the Parties retaining a 2%
NSR at such time. In order to earn in 100%, MAG must make a total of $30 million in escalating annual expenditures ($4,459 expended to December 31,
2020) and $2 million in royalty payments ($300 paid to December 31, 2020), both over 10 years, which commenced December 2018. The combined
optional annual commitments do not exceed $2.5 million/year until after 2025. All minimum obligatory commitments under the Agreement have been
satisfied (see ‘Exploration and Evaluation Assets’ below).
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The combined property package came with decades of information generated through prior exploration programs focused on the historic Deer Trail mine
itself, the inferred Porphyry centres and veins scattered throughout the property. This data includes: extensive surface and underground geological maps;
geochemical sampling results; logs, core and chips from over 20,000 meters of historic drilling; a districtwide airborne magnetic survey; 15 line
kilometers of Audio Magneto-Telluric (AMT) geophysics; 2.5 km of U.S. Mine Safety and Health Administration (MSHA) certified underground
workings; and an active mining permit. Infrastructure and access to the property are excellent. Disturbances identified by MAG are being proactively
remedied and reviewed by governmental regulators, leaving no significant environmental legacy issues.
Deer Trail is a silver-rich Carbonate Replacement Deposit (“CRD”) project potentially related to a Molybdenum-Copper Porphyry system or systems
immediately to the west.. Consolidating the property package allows MAG to apply its integrated district scale exploration model and apply new
technology to the search for an entire suite of mineralization styles expected to occur on the property (see ‘Deer Trail Project’ below).
Cinco de Mayo Project
A full impairment was recognized on the Cinco de Mayo property in Mexico in prior years, although the concessions are still maintained in good
standing.
2.

HIGHLIGHTS - DECEMBER 31, 2020 & SUBSEQUENT TO THE YEAR END

OPERATIONAL


Processing of mineralized material from development headings through the nearby Fresnillo plant was a new initiative at Juanicipio
implemented in August 2020.



During the period from August through December 2020, on a 100% basis:


71,859 tonnes of mineralized material with a head grade of 328 grams per tonne (“g/t”) were processed through the Fresnillo plant, with
616,341 payable silver ounces, 1,029 payable gold ounces, 163 tonnes of lead and 224 tonnes of zinc produced and sold.



Significantly faster ramp-up expected than previously guided due to the de-risking of Juanicipio’s metallurgical performance by virtue of batch
processing the mineralized material through the Fresnillo plant.



Pre-commercial production sales of $15,335 (net of treatment and processing costs) on a 100% basis less $3,873 in mining and transportation
costs, netting $11,462 that was recorded as gross profit by the Juanicipio Joint Venture for the period August through December 2020.



Construction of the 4,000 tonne per day (“tpd”) Juanicipio plant continues to advance, with the plant foundations completed, and with fabrication
for the plant in process. SAG and ball mills, flotation cells, all associated vessels, thickeners and ancillary process equipment are now secured on
site. The lead and zinc flotation cell lines have been installed and are now being connected to the hydraulic circuit.
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Underground development at Juanicipio now exceeds 35 km (22 miles) with preparation of the first production stope concluded during the third
quarter of 2020.



Juanicipio capex is estimated at $440,000 (100% basis) as of January 1, 2018, less approximately $228,000 in development expenditures
incurred from then to December 31, 2020 leaving approximately $212,000 of remaining initial capital on a 100% basis (MAG’s 44% estimated
at $93,280) as at December 31, 2020. The cash required will be reduced by:
 Existing cash held in Minera Juanicipio as at December 31, 2020 ($51,503 on a 100% basis); and,
 Expected cashflow generated from mineralized material being processed through the Fresnillo plant up until the Juanicipio plant
commences commissioning in Q4-2021.



As reported by the operator Fresnillo, the Juanicipio plant is now expected to commence commissioning in Q4-2021, reaching 40 to 50% of its
4,000 tpd nameplate capacity by the end of 2021 and reaching 90 to 95% of its nameplate capacity in 2022.



A further 24,680 tonnes with a silver head grade of 498 g/t (52% higher head grade than material processed in 2020) were processed in January
and February 2021.



Mineralized material from development will continue to be batch processed on commercial terms at a targeted rate of 16,000 tonnes per month at
the nearby Fresnillo plant until the Juanicipio plant is commissioned.

EXPLORATION


Assays from a 33,864 metre, 28-hole 2019 exploration program were released March 3, 2020 (see Press Release of same date), with the
following highlights:
 Confirmed and expanded the continuous wide, high-grade mineralization in the Valdecañas Deep Zone;
 Confirmed and expanded the wide, high-grade zones in the Anticipada Vein;
 Confirmed and expanded the Venadas vein to the south with strong silver and gold grades; and
 Discovered the new northeast-trending Valentina and Venadas II veins through drilling and development.



After temporary COVID-19 restrictions established by the Mexican Government were lifted late in the second quarter, drilling resumed in the
third quarter and the full Juanicipio 2020 exploration program was completed as planned in 2020 (all assays pending).



Deer Trail Project in Utah was announced in September 2020, a silver-rich CRD target with potential for a related Copper-Molybdenum
Porphyry. Phase I drilling commenced in November, 2020 and continues in process (assays and interpretations pending).
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COVID-19


Mexican Government’s national COVID-19 Order announced in April 2020 resulted in a temporary suspension through May 30, 2020 of surface
exploration and construction work at the Juanicipio Project and reduced underground operations.



Phased Juanicipio Project restart commenced June 1, 2020.



Subsequent to the year end, Fresnillo reported that commissioning of the Juanicipio processing plant is now expected to commence in Q4-2021,
a few months later than previously reported as some infrastructure contracts were delayed due to COVID-19 and COVID-19-related preventive
measures implemented at site.



Juanicipio operator, Fresnillo, has implemented a range of safety measures and monitoring procedures, consistent with the World Health
Organization and Mexican Government COVID-19 directives.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES


On April 30, 2020, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement and issued 4,528,302 common shares at C$13.25 for gross proceeds
of C$60,000,002 ($43,134) to Mr. Eric Sprott, through 2176423 Ontario Ltd., a corporation beneficially controlled by him.



On June 29, 2020, the Company established an at-the-market equity program (the “ATM Program”) and in the quarter ended September 30,
2020 the Company sold and issued 3,092,783 common shares under the ATM Program at an average price of $16.17 per share, for gross and net
proceeds of $50,000 and $48,625 respectively.



As at December 31, 2020, MAG held cash and cash equivalents of $94,008 while Minera Juanicipio had cash on hand on a 100% basis of
$51,503.

CORPORATE


Company continues to refresh its board, with the appointment of three new directors since the beginning of 2020:


Appointed Selma Lussenburg on February 1, 2020. Ms. Lussenburg is a business executive, former general counsel, corporate secretary
and current board director with over 35 years of business experience. She has held various senior level positions encompassing a broad
range of legal, governance, compliance, pension, safety & security and operational responsibilities.



Appointed Susan Mathieu on January 14, 2021. Ms. Mathieu has more than twenty-five years of international mining experience
encompassing due diligence, exploration, project development, permitting, construction and operational positions. Her mining
experience covers the full spectrum from mine-site to corporate leadership roles in governance, environment, sustainability, community,
health and safety, compliance and risk management programs and strategies.



Appointed Tim Baker on March 31, 2021. Mr. Baker has substantial experience in operating international mines and projects. He was
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of Kinross Gold Corporation prior to retiring in 2010. Prior to joining Kinross, he
was with Placer Dome, where he held several key roles including Executive General Manager of Placer Dome Chile, Executive General
Manager of Placer Dome Tanzania and Senior Vice President of the copper producing Compañia Minera Zaldivar.
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3.

JUANICIPIO PROJECT

Total Juanicipio Project expenditures incurred and capitalized directly by Minera Juanicipio (on a 100% basis) for the year ended December 31, 2020
amounted to approximately $120,757 (December 31, 2019: $99,048). Of the total expenditures in the year ended December 31, 2020, $115,937
(December 31, 2019: $93,686) are development expenditures and the remaining $4,820 (December 31, 2019: $5,362) are exploration expenditures. Gross
profit (sales less cost of sales) from underground mine production from August through December 2020 totaled $11,462 on a 100% basis (see
“Underground Mine Production – Juanicipio Project” below).
UNDERGROUND MINE PRODUCTION – Juanicipio Project
In the first quarter of 2020, it was announced that the Juanicipio mine would commence underground production ahead of schedule realizing commercial
and operational de-risking opportunities for the joint venture. It is expected that mineralized material from development will be batch processed on
commercial terms at a targeted rate of 16,000 tonnes per month at the nearby Fresnillo plant twelve kilometres away and continue until the Juanicipio
plant commences commissioning (see Processing Plant Construction and Commissioning below). The actual amount of material processed on a monthly
basis may vary due to the variability of mineralization encountered in the development headings from month to month.
The first processing of development material commenced in early August 2020. In total, 71,859 tonnes of mineralized material that had been previously
stockpiled plus mineralized material from current underground development, were processed from August through December 2020. The average silver
head grade from this development material was 328 g/t. Total underground mine production and sales, on a 100% basis, was 616,341 payable silver
ounces, 1,029 payable gold ounces, 163 tonnes of lead and 224 tonnes of zinc. Sales, net of processing and treatment costs totaled $15,335, and further
costs incurred (including an applied mining cost and transportation costs) totaled $3,873 for a gross profit of $11,462 (see Table 1 below). The sales and
treatment charges for tonnes processed in December were recorded on a provisional basis, and will be adjusted based on final assay and pricing
adjustments in accordance with the offtake contracts. Details of net sales are summarized in Table 1 below.
Table 1: August – December, 2020 Development Material Processed at Fresnillo’s Processing Plant (100% basis)
Quantity
Average Per unit
Silver (oz)(per oz)
616,341 ounces
$25.00
Gold (oz)(per oz)
1,029 ounces
$1,887.00
Lead (tonnes)(per lb)
163 tonnes
$0.84
Zinc (tonnes)(per lb)
224 tonnes
$1.17
Treatment and refining charges (“TCRC”) and other processing costs
Net Sales Revenue to be received
Mining costs and transportation
Gross Profit

Amount
$15,403
$1,941
$ 301
$ 575
$(2,885)
$15,335
$(3,873)
$11,462
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By bringing forward the start-up of the mine and processing mineralized material at the Fresnillo plant, in advance of commissioning the Juanicipio plant,
MAG and Fresnillo expect to secure several positive outcomes for the Juanicipio Project:





generating cash-flow from production to offset some of the cash requirements of the initial project capital;
de-risking the flotation process through a better understanding of the metallurgical characteristics and response of the Juanicipio mineralization;
increased certainty around the geological block model prior to start-up of the processing plant; and,
allowing a quicker and more certain ramp-up to the nameplate 4,000 tonnes per day plant design.

PROCESSING PLANT CONSTRUCTION AND COMMISSIONING – Juanicipio Project
Construction plans for the 4,000 tpd processing plant commenced immediately after the formal project approval in April 2019. Basic engineering was
completed during 2019 and, detailed engineering is now substantially complete. Development and construction of surface infrastructure facilities (power
lines, access roads, auxiliary buildings, etc.) had already begun prior to the formal project approval and continued into 2020. The majority of all major
equipment for the plant, including both SAG and ball mills, flotation cells, process tanks, filters, and thickener mechanisms have been secured on site
since February 2020.
In the second quarter of 2020, surface construction progress at Juanicipio was temporarily limited due to COVID-19 restrictions as noted below (see
COVID-19 – Juanicipio Project). However, construction ramped up again starting June 1, 2020. Once work resumed in June, earthmoving and foundation
pouring continued for the construction of the processing plant. A large portion of the concrete works, structural steel sections and process pipe spools are
being fabricated off-site in controlled workshop conditions. These are now being shipped to site and placed directly into position. The lead and zinc
flotation cell lines have been installed with plant fabrication proceeding.
Subsequent to the year end, Fresnillo reported that commissioning of the Juanicipio processing plant is now expected to commence in Q4-2021, a few
months later than previously reported as some infrastructure contracts were delayed due to COVID-19 related restrictions and preventive measures
implemented at site. The Juanicipio plant is now expected to reach 40 to 50% of nameplate capacity by the end of 2021 and 90-95% in 2022. In the 2017
PEA, ramp-up to full production was originally envisioned over 3 years after commissioning of the processing plant.
A regularly updated photo gallery of current construction progress at Juanicipio is available at https://magsilver.com/projects/photo-gallery/#photogallery.
UNDERGROUND DEVELOPMENT – Juanicipio Project
Access to the mine is via twin underground declines that reach the top of mineralization in the Valdecañas Vein. From the top of the mineralization, the
upper footwall haulage/access drift has been driven the length of the vein from which three internal spiral production ramps are being extended to depth
in the footwall of the mineralized envelope (vein). The three spiral ramps are situated behind the mineralized envelope to provide access to stopes within
the vein and allow a planned mining rate of 4,000 tpd. The first cross-cuts through the vein have been made from a number of points along the footwall
ramps, exposing well-mineralized vein. Initial development indicates that the grade and width of the mineralization is in line with previous drillcorebased estimates, and mineralized material from development was processed for the first time commencing in August 2020 as discussed above (see
Underground Mine Production above).
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Mineralized material from throughout the vein will be conveyed to the underground crushing station (already excavated) and crushed underground. The
crushed material will be trucked to the flotation plant, until the conveyor is completed in 2022. When the conveyor is completed, the crushed mineralized
material will be conveyed directly from the underground crushing station to the process plant area via a third ramp to the surface - the underground
conveyor ramp. The conveyor ramp is approaching 67% completion and is being driven both from the surface and from the underground crushing
chamber. This ramp will also provide access to the entire Valdecañas underground mining infrastructure and serve as a fresh air entry for the ventilation
system. As well, the long-term mine ventilation system is nearing completion, with both main ventilation shafts completed and presently being linked up
to the main ventilation level of the underground infrastructure.
Total underground development to date is now over 35 km (22 miles), including 2.4 km (1.5 miles) completed in the quarter ended December 31, 2020.
Underground development continues to focus on:
 advancing the three internal spiral footwall ramps to be used to further access the full strike length of the Valdecañas Vein system;
 making additional cross-cuts through the vein and establishing the initial mining stopes (preparation of the first production stope was concluded
in the quarter ended September 30, 2020);
 finalizing construction of the underground crushing system, underground warehouse, fuel storage and pumping station;
 advancing the underground conveyor ramp to and from the planned surface processing facility from both faces; and,
 integrating additional ventilation and other associated underground infrastructure.
PROJECT CAPITAL (“CAPEX”) – Juanicipio Project
In the first quarter of 2020, Fresnillo and MAG jointly announced an update to the initial capex required for the project (see Press Release dated
February 24, 2020). The capex or pre-operative project capital cost on a 100% basis of $395,000 as estimated from January 1, 2018 (see Press Release
dated April 11, 2019) was revised to $440,000 from January 1, 2018, to reflect additional expenditures incurred by Minera Juanicipio on the underground
development and bringing forward the full construction costs for the life-of-mine ventilation shafts, as well as some sustaining capital to facilitate the
early underground mine start.
The initial capital already expended from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2020 is approximately $228,000 leaving an estimated $212,000 of remaining
initial capital (MAG’s 44% estimated remaining share is $93,280 as at December 31, 2020). This remaining funding requirement will be reduced by both:
existing cash held in Minera Juanicipio as at December 31, 2020 ($51,503 on a 100% basis); and, expected cash flows generated from mineralized
material processed at an average nominal rate of 16,000 tonnes per month through the Fresnillo processing plant until the Juanicipio plant is
commissioned (see Underground Mine Production above and Liquidity and Capital Resources below).
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EXPLORATION – Juanicipio Project
The Valdecañas Vein System is a multi-stage, high-grade vein swarm comprising the Valdecañas vein, characterized by large dilatant zones (bulges) in its
east and western reaches, the hangingwall Anticipada Vein, the Pre-Anticipada Vein, several en echelon splays and a series of subparallel northeasttrending cross veins that comprise the Venadas-Valentina Vein family. The 2019 discovery of these northeast-trending veins close to the planned
production areas, coupled with the expanding high-grade Anticipada and Pre-Anticipada veins, should add significantly to the growing mineral
endowment of the project and, importantly, provide considerable mining flexibility throughout an extended mine life. Deep mineralization on the
Valdecañas Veins remains open laterally for several hundred metres to the claim boundaries on both ends; to the east claim boundary for Anticipada; and
Pre-Anticipada and to depth across all veins.
2019 28-hole (33,864 metre) diamond drill program – assays released March 3, 2020
The 2019 drill program expanded and upgraded the wide, high-grade Deep Zone and confirmed additional northeast-trending veins. Drill highlights (see
Table 2 below):





Confirm and expand continuous wide, high-grade mineralization in the Valdecañas Deep Zone;
Confirm and expand the wide, high-grade zones in the Anticipada Vein;
Confirm and expand the Venadas Vein to the south with strong silver and gold grades; and,
Discover the northeast-trending Valentina and Venadas II veins through drilling and development.

Exceptional intercepts included:
Table 2 – Highlights 2019 Drill Program Assays Released March 3, 2020
HOLE- ID From (m) 2 To
(m) TW 1 (m)Silver (g/t) 2
Gold (g/t)Lead (%)Zinc
(%) Copper (%)
D5-12
989.45
997.00
5.7
3884
8.4
6.5
9.7
0.3
D1-10
1038.85
1072.80
21.1
129
1.7
3.5
7.8
0.2
D6-6
984.30
1017.55
21.2
147
1.2
3.9
8.8
0.3
D5-9
772.20
774.05
1.0
187
10.6
1.3
4.4
93P
772.45
775.80
2.5
918
1.8
P32
569.20
572.10
1.2
279
0.7
M39
560.95
564.95
0.7
1216
3.6
1 True widths (“TW”) were measured off cross sections
2 Abbreviations used: metres (“m”) and grams per tonne (“g/t”)

VEIN
Valdecañas
Valdecañas
Anticipada
Pre-Anticipada
Venadas
Venadas II
Valentina

The discovery of more northeast-trending veins close to the planned production areas, coupled with the expanding high-grade Anticipada and PreAnticipada veins, should add significantly to the growing mineral endowment of the project and, importantly, provide considerable mining flexibility
throughout an extended mine life.
A complete set of tables by vein of the 2019 drilling results are available at https://magsilver.com/site/assets/files/5810/nr-mar3-2020-table1-sdadds.pdf
along with a new 3D video displaying the entire Valdecañas Vein system, available at https://magsilver.com/site/assets/files/5810/SSMovieHQ2_3-Mar32019-sdsawe.mp4.
Valdecañas Vein
Drilling in 2019 returned the thickest and deepest lateral intercepts to date on the Valdecañas Vein, with deep mineralization now continuous over a 2,000
m strike length and up to 1,100 m vertically from the top of the Bonanza Zone. The 2019 vein intercepts range in width from approximately 1 m to over
21 m (see tables at https://magsilver.com/site/assets/files/5810/nr-mar3-2020-table1-sdadds.pdf ) and the Valdecañas Vein remains open laterally to the
claim boundaries at both ends and to depth. The best 2019 intercept is Hole D5-12, which cut 5.7 m (true width) grading 3,884 g/t (113 ounces per ton
(“opt”)) silver, 8.4 g/t (0.25 opt) gold, 6.5% lead, 9.7% zinc and 0.3% copper. This includes a 0.8m (true width) zone that ran 16,271 g/t (475 opt) silver,
9.2 g/t gold (0.27 opt), 17.8% lead, 11.8% zinc and 0.2% copper. The location of this intercept is important as it greatly expands the thick and high-grade
eastern dilatant zone. Other significant holes include D1-5 and D1-10, both within the western dilatant zone, and D6-6 in the eastern dilatant zone. D5-11
also added very good width and grade above the east dilatant zone.
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Anticipada Vein
The Anticipada Vein is sub-parallel to and lies 50-100 m in the hangingwall of the Valdecañas Vein. In 2019, it was coincidentally cut by 11 holes
targeting the Valdecañas Vein and several of these intercepts significantly expand the vein. This is especially the case in a vertical zone along its western
reaches where it widens and higher grades appear (see tables at https://magsilver.com/site/assets/files/5810/nr-mar3-2020-table1-sdadds.pdf ). The best
intercept is in Hole D6-6 and two other holes (D5-10 and D5-11) extend the well-mineralized zone on the eastern end of the vein. The remaining six holes
tested the western limits of the vein and show moderate to relatively weak mineralization. The Anticipada Vein remains open to depth and to the east.
New Vein Discoveries – 2019
Pre-Anticipada Vein
The Pre-Anticipada Vein (discovered and announced in Press Release, March 4, 2019) is also subparallel to the Valdecañas Vein and is located a further
50-100m into hangingwall above the Anticipada Vein. It was coincidentally cut by five infill holes targeting the Valdecañas Vein but their geometry was
not favourable (see tables at https://magsilver.com/site/assets/files/5810/nr-mar3-2020-table1-sdadds.pdf ). The two easternmost holes (D5-8 and D5-9)
cut appreciable silver and gold values within the coherent high-grade zone that characterizes the Pre-Anticipada Vein but do not significantly expand it.
Pre-Anticipada remains open for 200-300 m to the eastern property boundary and to depth.
Venadas, Venadas II and Valentina Veins
Five surface drill holes from the 2019 program tested the Venadas Vein (see tables at https://magsilver.com/site/assets/files/5810/nr-mar3-2020-table1sdadds.pdf), the first northeasterly-trending vein ever found in the Fresnillo District, to depth and to the south. The hole drilled farthest to the south (93P)
extends the vein to 800 m from its intersection with the Valdecañas Vein and cut high silver and gold grades with no base metals (2.5 m (true width)
grading 918 g/t (27 opt) silver and 1.8 g/t gold). Vein textures and the lack of base metals indicates this is a high-level intercept and that the vein should
have good potential to depth. Hole 97P was the only hole drilled below 93P and it hit only a narrow, pinched-down vein. Additional deeper holes were
drilled in 2020 to determine where the vein opens up again at depth. Assays for these holes are pending.
Importantly, two additional northeast-trending veins (Venadas II and Valentina; see tables at https://magsilver.com/site/assets/files/5810/nr-mar3-2020table1-sdadds.pdf) were discovered during 2019 through a combination of drilling and being cut in development headings. Both had been suspected based
on oblique angle vein intercepts in several holes directed towards the Valdecañas Vein. Drill hole P32, which was designed to intercept Venadas II on the
way to Valdecañas, cut 1.2m (true width) grading 279 g/t (8 opt) silver; 0.7 g/t gold. The Valentina Vein was also cut multiple times by the eastern
development ramp and a number of historic Valdecañas vein drill holes, the best of which is Hole M39 which cut 0.7 m grading 1,215 g/t (35 opt) silver,
and 3.6 g/t gold.
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The intercepts for Venadas, Venadas II and Valentina lack significant base metal grades (with the exception of one intercept) indicating that these holes
have likely cut the veins high in the mineralizing system. Also, all three veins have been intercepted on both the hangingwall and footwall side of the
Valdecañas Vein in drill core and underground workings. This, combined with underground exposures of mineralized cross cutting northeast trending
veinlets, strongly suggest that these veins cross-cut the main-stage of the Valdecañas Vein and may coincide with the long-recognized late gold-rich
mineralization stage. Short-hole underground drilling and drifting is contemplated for fleshing out these veins and determining what relationship they
have with the Valdecañas Vein.
Quality Assurance and Control: The samples (half core) are shipped directly in security-sealed bags to ALS-Chemex Laboratories preparation facility
in Guadalajara, Jalisco, Mexico (Certification ISO 9001). Samples shipped also include intermittent standards and blanks. Pulp samples are subsequently
shipped to ALS-Chemex Laboratories in North Vancouver, Canada for analysis. Two extra pulp samples are also prepared and are analyzed (in progress)
by SGS Laboratories (Certification ISO 9001) and Inspectorate Laboratories (Certification ISO 9001) (or another recognized lab). The remaining half
core is placed back into the core boxes and is stored on site with the rest of the drill hole core in a secured core storage facility. The bulk reject is
subsequently sent to the Center for Investigation and Technical Development (“CIDT”) of Peñoles in Torreon, Mexico for metallurgical testing where a
fourth assay for each sample is analyzed and a calculated head grade is received on the basis of a concentrate balance. The CIDT also does a full
microscopic, XRF and XRD mineralogical analysis.
2020 Exploration Program
Exploration drilling at Juanicipio resumed in May of 2020 after a temporary COVID-19 halt imposed by the Mexican Government (see COVID-19
Juanicipio Project above). Full drilling resumed mid-year with five rigs, including three dedicated to Devico directional drilling. Drilling was focused on
continued step-out and infill drilling of the Valdecañas Deep Zone. Holes were also directed at the Anticipada Vein and NE-trending Venadas Vein
family targeting them independently from the Valdecañas Vein. Despite the temporary COVID-19 restrictions noted above, the full Juanicipio 2020
drilling program was completed as planned in 2020. All assays are pending.
COVID-19 – Juanicipio Project
In response to the COVID-19 virus outbreak, in April 2020 the Mexican Government ordered a temporary suspension of all “non-essential” operations
nationwide in Mexico, including mining operations, until May 30, 2020. Fresnillo, the Juanicipio Project operator, was in regular consultation with
Mexican Government officials to ensure Minera Juanicipio’s compliance with the Order. Fresnillo advised the Company that while the Order was in
effect, underground development continued under government mandated hygiene protocols, while surface construction work and surface-based drilling
were temporarily halted. All work resumed late in the second quarter with a phased restart having commenced on June 1, 2020.
In further response to the COVID-19, Fresnillo as operator, continues to closely monitor the spread of the virus and implement a range of safety measures
following guidelines in accordance with the World Health Organization and Mexican authorities. These include stringent monitoring & hygiene,
temperature screening and social distancing. Testing and contact tracing have been used to identify potential cases and prevent the spread of the virus.
Fresnillo maintains an open dialogue with government officials at both the Federal and local level.
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As noted above, according to Fresnillo the commissioning timetable was deferred a few months to Q4-2021 as some infrastructure contracts were delayed
due to COVID-19 related restrictions as well as preventive measures put into place. The further impact of this pandemic could create or include
significant COVID-19 specific costs, volatility in the prices for silver and other metals, further restrictions or temporary closures, additional travel
restraints, supply chain disruptions and workforce interruptions, including loss of life. Depending on the duration and extent of the impact of COVID-19,
this could materially impact the Company’s financial performance, cash flows and financial position, and could result in material changes to the costs and
time for the completion of development at Juanicipio. The total amount that the Company is required to finance in order to maintain its proportionate
ownership in the project may increase from these and other consequences of the COVID-19 outbreak. See “Virus outbreaks may create instability in work
markets and may affect the Company’s Business” in “Risk and Uncertainties” below.
4.

DEER TRAIL PROJECT

The Deer Trail Project includes 111 patented and 682 unpatented claims (approximately 5,600 Ha) encompassing the historic Deer Trail Mine and the
adjoining Alunite Ridge area in Piute County, Utah. The Deer Trail Project displays and satisfies MAG’s top criteria when exploring for large CRD
systems, specifically: the presence of high silver grades; location on a deep-penetrating regional-scale fault known to host major CRD-family deposits;
location at the top of a thick section of favorable host rocks; and an identifiable plumbing network of faults and mineralization (see Press Release
September 10, 2020).
MAG’s initial exploration strategy on this property is already well advanced, and is to project the geometry of the feeder structures of the known CRD
mineralization to depth into inferred underlying limestone host rocks to seek larger scale silver-rich massive sulfide replacements and potentially
mineralized skarn. A deep-looking underground 2-D seismic survey was completed in October 2020 to assist in determining depth to, and geometry of the
favorable host rocks predicted to exist at depth. The underground seismic survey results are being processed to help refine final drill hole angles and
depths for subsequent holes in the Phase I drill program.
2020 PHASE I DRILL PROGRAM
With drill roads completed and drill pads fully permitted, a 6,500-metre Phase I surface-based core drilling program commenced in November 2020 and
is approximately 50% complete (all assays pending). Initial targeting is based on an integrated 3D Leapfrog Geo® project combining a large historic data
set with MAG’s CRD exploration model plus extensive new surface and underground mapping, core relogging and geophysical reprocessing.
MAG’s Phase I drilling priorities include: determining the depth to the thick section of high-potential limestone host formations known regionally to lie
just below the comparatively unfavorable host rocks of the Deer Trail mine; tracing the known steeply-dipping feeder structures to depth into these
limestones; and, locating massive sulfide mineralization controlled by the above.
COVID-19: Deer Trail Project
Safety is one of MAG’s key core values and MAG has implemented strict COVID-19 protocols for the Deer Trail Project in line with guidance from
governmental public health agencies. The Company established its COVID-19 response plan for Deer Trail in June 2020 with safety measures that
include mandatory mask use, COVID-19 testing for contractors and new employees prior to returning to site, temperature screening, employee health
surveys, antibody rapid test for team members to track exposure and social distancing. The Company continues to monitor the Utah Center for Disease
Control and Word Health Organization recommendations, updating the protocol in September 2020 and again in early January 2021. These updates
include additional controls for positive result cases and a safe return to the workplace plan (post COVID-19). Most project employees and contractors
have now received their first vaccination shots.
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5.

OUTLOOK

MAG’s principal focus is the successful development of the Juanicipio Project and to further explore the Juanicipio property. The Company continually
looks to enhance its project portfolio by evaluating new projects and through successful exploration of its current property holdings. However, MAG
continues to execute its business plan prudently, with on-going project evaluations focusing primarily on potential high-grade, high-margin, district-scale
opportunities.
Minera Juanicipio
Under the terms of an EPCM agreement, Fresnillo and its affiliates are overseeing the construction of the Juanicipio 4,000 tpd processing plant and
associated surface and underground infrastructure. The Juanicipio processing plant is expected to commence commissioning in fourth quarter 2021
reaching 40 to 50% of nameplate capacity by the end of 2021 and achieving 90 to 95% of nameplate capacity in 2022. An Operator Services agreement
has been finalized which will become effective upon initiation of commercial production.
In the year ended December 31, 2020, further progress was made on construction of the flotation plant and other surface infrastructure. The major
concrete foundations are completed and curing, and the erection of structural steel commenced. Underground development to date at Juanicipio now
exceeds 35 km (22 miles) with access to the upper portion of the resource now achieved. Initial development indicates that the grade and width of the vein
are in line with previous drilling-derived estimates, and preparation of the first production stope was concluded during the third quarter of 2020.
Underground production from the mine commenced during the third quarter ahead of the original schedule, with 71,859 tonnes with a silver head grade of
328 g/t of mineralized development material successfully processed through the Fresnillo plant from August through December 2020 (see Underground
Mine Production above). The Joint Venture produced and sold 616 thousand silver ounces, 1,029 gold ounces, 163 tonnes of lead and 224 tonnes of zinc
from August through December 2020. Mineralized material from the mine is expected to be processed at a targeted average rate of 16,000 tonnes per
month at the Fresnillo plant facility (100% owned by Fresnillo) until the Juanicipio plant is commissioned in the fourth quarter of 2021. The actual
amount of material processed on a monthly basis may vary due to the variability of mineralization encountered in the development headings from month
to month. Subsequent to the year end, a further 24,680 tonnes with a silver head grade of 498 g/t (52% higher head grade than the period August through
December 2020) were processed in January and February 2021. Both lead and zinc concentrate off-take agreements have been executed by Minera
Juanicipio with Met-Mex Peñoles, S.A. De C.V., under which both concentrates are being treated at benchmark market terms in Torreón, Mexico.
Although all activities have resumed at Juanicipio, the COVID-19 impacts could result in additional medical and other costs, project delays, cost
overruns, and operational restart costs. The total amount that the Company is required to finance in order to maintain its proportionate ownership in the
project may increase from these and other consequences of the COVID-19 outbreak. See “Virus outbreaks may create instability in work markets and
may affect the Company’s Business” in “Risk and Uncertainties” below.
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According to Fresnillo, the Juanicipio development is expected to create approximately 2,750 jobs during construction and 1,720 jobs once at full
production, with potential to scale-up operations in the future beyond 4,000 tpd.
On the exploration front, most of the Juanicipio property remains unexplored with many untested exploration targets still to be pursued by the joint
venture. Exploration drilling in recent years has been primarily designed to both convert the Inferred Mineral Resources included in the Deep Zone into
Indicated Mineral Resources, and to further trace the Deep Zone laterally and to depth.
After a temporary halt in exploration activity in the second quarter due to COVID-19 restrictions, (see COVID-19 Juanicipio Project above), drilling on
the property resumed in the third quarter with five rigs. Drilling is focused on continued step-out and infill drilling of the Valdecañas Deep Zone. Holes
were also being directed at the Anticipada Vein and NE-trending Venadas Vein family targeting them independently from the Valdecañas Vein. With the
temporary COVID-19 restrictions noted above lifted, the full Juanicipio 2020 drilling program was completed as planned in 2020, and all assays are still
pending.
Deer Trail
With drill roads completed and drill pads fully permitted, the 6,500-metre Phase I surface drilling program commenced in November 2020 and is
currently in process, approximately 50% complete with all assays pending. The Phase I drilling priorities include: determining the depth to the thick
section of high-potential limestone host formations known regionally to lie just below the comparatively unfavorable host rocks of the Deer Trail mine;
tracing the known steeply-dipping feeder structures to depth into these limestones; and, locating massive sulfide mineralization controlled by the above.
6.

INVESTMENT IN JUANICIPIO

Minera Juanicipio
Minera Juanicipio is the corporate entity through which MAG Silver records and holds its Investment in Juanicipio (see Notes 2(b) and 6 in the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company as at December 31, 2020).
Year Ended December 31
2020
2019
Joint venture oversight expenditures incurred 100% by MAG
Interest earned on advance to Minera Juanicipio
Cash contributions to Minera Juanicipio
Total for the year
Equity pick up of current income for the year
Balance, beginning of year
Balance, end of year

$

$

568 $
(567)
63,712
63,713
2,214
136,643
202,570 $

345
53,200
53,545
1,884
81,214
136,643

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company incurred Juanicipio oversight expenditures of $568 (December 31, 2019: $345). In addition,
Fresnillo and the Company advanced $144,800 as shareholder loans (MAG’s 44% share $63,712) to Minera Juanicipio, bearing interest at Libor + 2%.
The interest accrued within Minera Juanicipio was capitalized to ‘Mineral Interests, plant and equipment’ and the interest recorded by the Company on
the loan totaling $567 has therefore been credited to the Investment in Juanicipio account, as an eliminating related party entry.
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In the year ended December 31, 2020, MAG recorded an equity income pick-up of $2,214 from its Investment in Juanicipio (December 31, 2019: $1,884)
as outlined in Table 3 below.
Table 3: MAG’s equity pick-up from Minera Juanicipio
Gross Profit from processing development material (see Underground Mine Production –
Juanicipio Project above)
Administrative and selling expenses
Interest and foreign exchange loss
Net Income before tax
Income tax (expense) benefit (including deferred income tax)
Net Income for the year (100% basis)
MAG’s 44% equity pick-up
7.

December 31, 2020

December 31, 2019

$11,462
$ (315)
$(623)
$10,524
$(5,492)
$ 5,032
$ 2,214

Nil
Nil
$946
$946
$3,337
$4,283
$1,884

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

Option Earn-in Project
In 2017, the Company entered into an option earn-in agreement with a private group whereby the Company can earn up to a 100% interest in a
prospective land claim package. To December 31, 2020, the Company has incurred $8,010 in exploration expenditures on the property and there are no
further exploration funding requirements under the agreement. However, to earn a 100% interest in the property package, the Company must make
remaining cash or share payments of $100 and $150 on or before the fourth and fifth annual anniversaries of the agreement, at which time the vendors
would retain a 2% net smelter returns royalty (“NSR”). In May 2020, the Company elected to settle the third option payment of $100 in shares rather than
cash and issued 8,241 shares in July 2020 to the vendors in settlement of the payment.
Deer Trail Project
In late 2018, the Company entered into an option agreement with another private group whereby MAG has the right to earn 100% ownership interest in a
company which owns the Deer Trail project in Utah. MAG paid $150 upon signing the agreement and another $150 in October 2020. To earn 100%
interest in the property, MAG must make remaining cash payments of $1,700 over the next 8 years and fund a cumulative of $30,000 of eligible
exploration expenditures ($4,459 incurred to December 31, 2020) by 2028. Upon MAG’s 100% earn-in, the vendors would retain a 2% NSR.
Cinco de Mayo Project
A full impairment was recognized on the Cinco de Mayo property in Mexico in prior years, although the concessions are still maintained in good
standing.
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8.

SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION

The following table summarizes selected financial data for the Company’s three most recently completed financial years. The information set forth below
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated audited financial statements and related notes thereto. All figures are reported under IFRS.

Revenues(1)
Net Loss(2)
Net Loss per Share
Total Assets(3)
Long Term Debt
Dividends(4)

Year ended
Dec. 31, 2020
$637
($7,097)
($0.08)
$323,082
Nil
Nil

Year ended
Dec. 31, 2019
$2,627
($4,426)
($0.05)
$218,810
Nil
Nil

Year ended
Dec. 31, 2018
$3,118
($5,802)
($0.07)
$217,557
Nil
Nil

Notes:
(1) The Company’s only source of reported revenue during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2019 and 2020 was interest income from cash and
term deposits held by the Company. The amount of interest earned correlates directly to the amount of cash on hand during the year referenced and
prevailing interest rates. Pre-production sales earned in the Juanicipio Joint Venture where MAG owns 44%, is recognized through MAG’s equity
pick-up from its Investment in Juanicipio (see Investment in Juanicipio above).
(2) The Company’s normal course of business is to develop, explore and evaluate its mineral properties as appropriate. The loss variation from year to
year above reflects, amongst other things, the periodic impairment of exploration and evaluation assets (a non-cash charge), and share based
payment expense (a non-cash charge). The current year’s net loss also includes share-based payment expense of $3,122 compared to $2,572 and
$2,109 in 2019 and 2018 respectively.
(3) Included in ‘Total Assets’ at the end of 2020, the Company held $94,008 in cash and cash equivalents, compared to $72,360 at December 31, 2019
and $130,180 at December 31, 2018. In the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company closed a private placement and completed an at-themarket (“ATM”) program for an aggregate gross proceeds of $93,134. No financings were completed in the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018. Also included in ‘Total Assets’ at the end of 2020, the Company’s Investment in Juanicipio totaled $202,570 compared to $136,643 and
$81,214 at December 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively.
(4) The Company has not declared or paid dividends on its common shares, and has no intent on paying dividends in the immediate future, as it
anticipates that all available funds will be used to finance the operations and growth of its business until positive operating cash flow is achieved
from its projects.
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9.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

Year Ended December 31, 2020 vs. Year Ended December 31, 2019
Year Ended December 31
2020
2019
EXPENSES
Accounting and audit
Amortization
Filing and transfer agent fees
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
General office expenses
Legal
Management compensation and consulting fees
Mining taxes and other property costs
Share based payment expense
Shareholder relations
Travel

$

Interest income
Change in fair value of warrants
Equity pick up from Investment in Juanicipio
Loss for the year before income tax

$

442 $
121
301
(171)
1,083
371
3,259
38
3,122
298
58
8,922
637
2,214
(6,071) $

Deferred income tax (expense) benefit
Loss for the year

$

(1,026)
(7,097) $

466
106
232
21
902
363
3,076
577
2,572
470
244
9,029
2,627
(39)
1,884
(4,557)
131
(4,426)

The Company’s net loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 amounted to $7,097 (December 31, 2019: $4,426). MAG recorded a 44% equity income
pick-up of $2,214 (December 31, 2019: $1,884) from Minera Juanicipio which included MAG’s 44% share of income from the sale of pre-production
development material (see Underground Mine Production and Investment in Juanicipio above).
Share-based payment expense (a non-cash item) recorded in the year ended December 31, 2020 increased to $3,122 (December 31, 2019: $2,572) and is
determined based on the fair value of equity incentives granted and vesting in the period. In the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company granted
572,503 stock options (December 31, 2019: 392,967), 146,755 performance share units (“PSUs”) (December 31, 2019: 91,406), and 39,063 restricted
share units (“RSUs”) (December 31, 2019: 10,000) under its equity compensation plans. There were two grants in 2020: the 2020 annual grant; and, one
reflecting the 2019 equity incentive grant which due to a Company imposed blackout period was granted in 2020. As well, the Company granted 64,757
DSUs (December 31, 2019: 141,386) to directors of the Company, and an additional 10,482 DSUs (December 31, 2019: 19,955) were granted to directors
who elected to receive their retainer fees in DSUs in lieu of cash.
Mining taxes and other property costs decreased to $38 (December 31, 2019: $577) as the Company no longer carries the cost of several non-core
concessions. General office expenses increased to $1,083 (December 31, 2019: $902) in the year ended December 31, 2020 as insurance costs increased
significantly, and there were also additional costs related to the Company holding its Annual General and Special Meeting on a virtual platform due to
COVID-19.
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Other expenses incurred during the year ended December 31, 2020 included accounting and audit of $442 (December 31, 2019: $466), amortization of
$121 (December 31, 2019: $106), filing & transfer agent fees of $301 (December 31, 2019: $232), foreign exchange gain of $171 (December 31, 2019:
$21 foreign exchange loss), legal expense of $371 (December 31, 2019: $363), management compensation and consulting fees of $3,259 (December 31,
2019: $3,076), shareholder relations expenses of $298 (December 31, 2019: $470) and travel of $58 (December 31, 2019: $244), and were all either
comparable with the prior year’s expense or declined during the period in line with certain reduced business activities in response to the COVID-19
pandemic.
Interest income earned by MAG on its cash and cash equivalents decreased to $637 (December 31, 2019: $2,627) during the year ended December 31,
2020 primarily due to lower interest rates in 2020. MAG recorded a deferred income tax expense of $1,026 for the year ended December 31, 2020
(December 31, 2019: $131 deferred income tax benefit) related to the weakening of the Mexican peso during the year relative to the U.S. dollar.
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):

Loss for the year

$

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Unrealized gain (loss) on equity securities
Net of deferred tax expense
Total comprehensive income (loss)

Year Ended December 31
2020
2019
(7,097) $
(4,426)

14,493
(1,713)
$

5,683

(334)
$

(4,760)

In Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) during the year ended December 31, 2020, MAG recorded an unrealized market gain $12,780 (net of $1,713 tax)
(December 31, 2019: $334 unrealized market loss, net of tax) on equity securities held. The majority of the unrealized gain relates to a 2018 transaction
whereby the Company sold various non-core concessions to a private company in return for convertible preferred shares of the private company should
they become publicly listed in the future. On June 8, 2020, Reyna Silver Corp. (“Reyna”), listed on the TSX Venture Exchange, and MAG converted its
preferred shares into common shares of Reyna which subsequently increased in value.
10.

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

The following table sets forth selected quarterly financial information for each of the last eight quarters (as determined under IFRS (expressed in
US$000’s except Net (Loss) Income per Share):
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Quarter Ending
December 31, 2020
September 30, 2020
June 30, 2020
March 31, 2020
December 31, 2019
September 30, 2019
June 30, 2019
March 31, 2019

Revenue (1)

Net Income (Loss) (2)
$120
$133
$110
$274
$412
$589
$782
$844

$6,593
$(89)
$1,297
$(14,898) (3)
$(1,018)
$(2,005)
$(961)
$(442)

Net Income (Loss) per Share
$0.07
$0.00
$0.01
$(0.17)
$(0.01)
$(0.02)
$(0.01)
$(0.01)

Notes:
(1) The Company’s only source of revenue during the quarters listed above was interest earned on cash, cash equivalents and term deposits. The
amount of interest revenue earned correlates directly to the amount of cash, cash equivalents and term deposits on hand during the period
referenced and prevailing interest rates at the time. Pre-production sales earned in the Juanicipio Joint Venture where MAG owns 44%, is
recognized through MAG’s equity pick-up from its Investment in Juanicipio (see Investment in Juanicipio above), and is reflected above in the
quarters ended September 30 and December 31, 2020.
(2) Net income (loss) by quarter is often materially affected by the timing and recognition of large non-cash expenses (specifically share-based
payments, exploration and evaluation property impairments, and deferred tax changes) as discussed above when applicable in “Review of
Financial Results.”
(3) The net loss for the quarter ended March 31, 2020 includes the deferred tax effects of a significant devaluation of the Mexican peso against the
US dollar (from 18.87 Pesos/US$ on December 31, 2019 to 24.29 on March 31, 2020), and the resulting devaluation of certain tax assets
denominated in Mexican Pesos.
11.

FOURTH QUARTER

Three Months Ended December 31, 2020 vs Three Months Ended December 31, 2019
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Three months ended December 31
2020
2019
EXPENSES
Accounting and audit
Amortization
Filing and transfer agent fees
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
General office expenses
Legal
Management compensation and consulting fees
Mining taxes and other property costs
Share based payment expense
Shareholder relations
Travel
Interest income
Change in fair value of warrants
Equity pick up from Investment in Juanicipio
Income (Loss) for the period before income tax
Deferred income tax benefit
Income (Loss) for the period

$

$
$

272 $
30
6
(220)
249
11
1,729
13
860
84
2
3,036
120
5,586
2,670 $
3,923
6,593 $

275
27
13
1
209
136
1,497
39
557
165
57
2,976
412
1,388
(1,176)
158
(1,018)

The Company’s net income for the three months ended December 31, 2020 amounted to $6,593 (December 31, 2019: $1,018 net loss).
MAG recorded a deferred income tax benefit of $3,923 for the quarter ended December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019: $158), primarily driven by the
non-cash valuation increase of various tax assets denominated in Mexican Pesos, as the Mexican Peso strengthened against the US dollar in the quarter
(from 22.36 Pesos/US$ on September 30, 2020 to 19.94 Pesos/US$ on December 31, 2020).
MAG recorded a 44% equity income pick-up of $5,586 (December 31, 2019: $1,388) from Minera Juanicipio which included MAG’s 44% share of
income from the sale of pre-production development material in the quarter ended December 31, 2020 (see Underground Mine Production and
Investment in Juanicipio above). The 44% equity income pick-up from Minera Juanicipio also includes the recognition of a deferred tax benefit from the
non-cash valuation increase of tax assets denominated in the Mexican Pesos as described in the preceding paragraph.
Share-based payment expense (a non-cash item) recorded in the three months ended December 31, 2020 increased to $860 (December 31, 2019: $557)
and is determined based on the fair value of equity incentives (stock options, restricted share units, performance share units, and deferred share units)
granted and vesting in the period.
The Company recorded a foreign exchange gain of $220 (December 31, 2019: $1 foreign exchange loss), resulting from holding cash denominated in
Canadian dollars (“C$”) required to fund Canadian corporate expenses, while the C$ strengthened slightly relative to the U.S. dollar. The C$ cash held is
exposed to exchange risk relative to the US$, and results in a gain or loss as the exchange rate fluctuates.
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Other expenses incurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2020 included accounting and audit of $272 (December 31, 2019: $275), amortization of
$30 (December 31, 2019: $27), filing and transfer agent fees of $6 (December 31, 2019: $13), general office expenses of $249 (December 31, 2019:
$209), legal of $11 (December 31, 2019: $136), management compensation and consulting fees of $1,729 (December 31, 2019: $1,497), mining
concession taxes and other property costs of $13 (December 31, 2019: $39); shareholder relations of $84 (December 31, 2019: $165), and travel of $2
(December 31, 2019: $57) and were all either comparable with the prior period’s expense or declined during the period in line with certain reduced
business activities in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Interest income earned by MAG on its cash and cash equivalents decreased to $120 (December 31, 2019: $412) during the quarter ended December 31,
2020 primarily due to lower interest rates in 2020.
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):
In Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the quarter ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded an unrealized market gain of $3,707 (net of
$579 tax) (December 31, 2019: $245 unrealized market gain, net of tax) on equity securities held as strategic investment.
12.

CASH FLOWS

The following table summarizes MAG Silver’s cash flow activities for the year ended December 31, 2020:
Year Ended December 31
2020
2019
Operations
Changes in non-cash working capital
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

$

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Change in cash and cash equivalents during the year
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

(5,780) $
(434)
(6,214)
(65,312)
92,429

(3,469)
262
(3,207)
(57,133)
2,748

745

(228)

21,648

(57,820)

72,360
94,008

$

130,180
72,360

Operating Activities
During the year ended December 31, 2020, MAG used $5,780 in cash for operations before changes in non-cash working capital, compared to $3,469 in
the year ended December 31, 2019. More cash was expended in operations in the year ended December 31, 2020 than the comparable period, as in the
prior period, interest income ($2,627) was considerably higher than in the current year ($637) thereby offsetting cash used in operations. MAG’s non-cash
working capital (accounts receivable, prepaid expenses less trade and other payables) in the year ended December 31, 2020 decreased by $434 (December
31, 2019: increased by $262). The total use of cash from operating activities in the year ended December 31, 2020 was $6,214 (December 31, 2019:
$3,207).
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Investing Activities
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the net cash used in investing activities amounted to $65,312 (December 31, 2019: $57,133). During the year
ended December 31, 2020, the Company received proceeds of $3,905 (December 31, 2019: nil) from the sale of certain equity securities originally
acquired as part of its divestiture of non-core concessions in prior years. The Company used cash to fund advances to Minera Juanicipio, which combined
with the Company’s Juanicipio expenditures on its own account, totaled $64,270 (December 31, 2019: $53,549). In the year ended December 31, 2020,
MAG also purchased equipment totaling $74 (December 31, 2019: $354) and expended $4,873 (December 31, 2019: $3,230) on its other exploration and
evaluation properties.
Financing Activities
On April 30, 2020, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement offering and issued 4,528,302 common shares at C$13.25 for gross proceeds of
C$60 million ($43,134) to Mr. Eric Sprott, through 2176423 Ontario Ltd., a corporation beneficially controlled by him.
On September 8, 2020, the Company completed a $50,000 at-the-market equity program (“the ATM Program”) previously established on June 29, 2020.
From June 30, 2020 to September 8, 2020, the Company sold and issued 3,092,783 common shares under the ATM Program at an average price of $16.17
per share for gross proceeds of $50,000.
The aggregate gross and net proceeds from the combined private placement and ATM Program offerings amounted to $93,134 and $89,164 respectively.
In the year ended December 31, 2020, 418,294 stock options were exercised for cash proceeds of $3,337 (December 31, 2019: 442,052 stock options
exercised for cash proceeds of $2,819). In addition, 365,483 stock options (December 31, 2019: 812,323) were exercised under a less dilutive cashless
exercise provision of the plan whereby 139,273 shares (December 31, 2019: 428,934) were issued and the remaining 226,210 stock options (December
31, 2019: 383,389) were cancelled.
In the year ended December 31, 2020, cash used in financing activities was to pay an office lease obligation of $72 (December 31, 2019: $71).
13.

FINANCIAL POSITION

The following table summarizes MAG’s financial position as at:
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December 31,
2020
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets
Total current assets
Investments
Investment in Juanicipio
Exploration and evaluation assets
Property and equipment
Total assets
Total current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

$

$

94,008
1,406
95,414
11,951
202,570
12,472
675
323,082

$

901
5,513
6,414
316,668
323,082

December 31,
2019
$

$

72,360
352
72,712
1,408
136,643
7,266
781
218,810

$

854
2,709
3,563
215,247
218,810

Total current assets increased from $72,712 at December 31, 2019 to $95,414 as at December 31, 2020. Cash and cash equivalents totaled $94,008 at
December 31, 2020 compared to $72,360 at December 31, 2019, with the increase primarily attributable to proceeds received from the financings referred
to above in ‘Financing Activities’ received in excess of funds expended in the year. Other current assets as at December 31, 2020 included prepaid
insurance and other expenses of $509 (December 31, 2019: $269) and accounts receivable of $897 (December 31, 2019: $83). The accounts receivable is
comprised primarily of a receivable from Minera Juanicipio related to interest on MAG’s shareholder advances in 2020.
Investments of $11,951 are comprised of equity securities held by MAG acquired primarily from its divestiture of non-core concessions in prior years
(December 31, 2019: $1,408).
The Investment in Juanicipio balance increased from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2020 from $136,643 to $202,570 and reflects MAG’s ongoing
investment in Minera Juanicipio as discussed above in ‘Investing Activities’ and ‘Investment in Juanicipio.’ Exploration and evaluation assets as at
December 31, 2020 increased to $12,472 (December 31, 2019: $7,266) reflecting exploration expenditures incurred on the properties described above in
‘Exploration and Evaluation Assets.’
Property and equipment of $675 (December 31, 2019: $781) includes a right-of-use asset recognized under IFRS 16 and exploration camp and equipment.
Current liabilities at December 31, 2020 amounted to $901 (December 31, 2019: $854) and are attributable to accrued exploration and administrative
expenses and the current portion of the IFRS 16 lease obligations referred to above. Non-current liabilities at December 31, 2020 of $5,513 (December
31, 2019: $2,709) include the non-current lease obligation of $383 (December 31, 2019: $467), $409 for a reclamation provision (December 31, 2019:
$260) and a deferred income tax liability of $4,721 (December 31, 2019: $1,982), the later resulting from temporary timing differences between the book
and tax base of its Mexican non-monetary assets.
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14.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at December 31, 2020, MAG had working capital of $94,513 (December 31, 2019: $71,858) including cash and cash equivalents of $94,008
(December 31, 2019: $72,360) and no long-term debt. As well, as at December 31, 2020 Minera Juanicipio had cash of $51,503 (MAG’s attributable 44%
share $22,661). MAG is not currently receiving any dividends or cash flow from operations, and therefore the Company may require additional capital in
the future to meet its future project and other related expenditures. Future liquidity may depend therefore upon the Company’s ability to arrange debt or
additional equity financings.
Financings 2020
On April 30, 2020, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement offering and issued 4,528,302 common shares at C$13.25 for gross proceeds of
C$60,000,002 ($43,134) to Mr. Eric Sprott, through 2176423 Ontario Ltd., a corporation beneficially controlled by him.
On September 8, 2020, the Company completed a $50,000 at-the-market equity program (“the ATM Program”) previously established on June 29, 2020.
In the three months ended September 30, 2020, the Company sold and issued 3,092,783 common shares under the ATM Program at an average price of
$16.17 per share for gross and net proceeds of $50,000 and $48,625 respectively. Under the ATM Program, the Company was permitted to issue up to an
aggregate of $50 million worth of common shares from treasury at prevailing market prices to the public through the NYSE American or any other
marketplace on which the common shares are listed, quoted or otherwise traded in the United States. The volume and timing of distributions under the
ATM Program was determined at the Company’s sole discretion, subject to applicable regulatory limitations. There is no remaining availability under the
ATM Program.
Funding of the Juanicipio Project Capex
The initial capital expenditure requirements for the Juanicipio Project, as revised and announced by the joint venture shareholders on February 24, 2020 is
estimated as of January 1, 2018 to be $440,000 (100% basis) including all mine development-related costs to be incurred prior to the envisaged
commencement of commercial operations in mid- 2021. Capital costs incurred after commercial production are assigned to sustaining capital and are
projected to be paid out of operating cash-flows.
This initial capital expenditure estimate of $440,000 does not take into account the capital expenditures incurred since January 1, 2018 which total
approximately $228,000 to December 31, 2020. MAG therefore estimates the remaining initial capital expenditures on a 100% basis for the Juanicipio
Project to be approximately $212,000 (MAG’s 44% share being $93,280 as at December 31, 2020). This funding balance will be reduced by both existing
cash held in Minera Juanicipio as at December 31, 2020 ($51,503 on a 100% basis), and by expected cash flows generated from mineralized material sold
and processed through the Fresnillo processing plant at a nominal rate of approximately 16,000 tonnes per month (see above Underground Mine
Production – Juanicipio Project).
As noted above in COVID-19 – Juanicipio Project, in response to the COVID-19 virus outbreak, mine development and construction at Juanicipio was
impacted by a Mexican Government temporary suspension order of all “non-essential” operations in Mexico to May 30, 2020. Although operations
resumed after June 1, 2020, the Juanicipio plant commissioning timetable was deferred a few months to Q4-2021 as some infrastructure contracts were
delayed due to COVID-19 related restrictions as well as preventive measures put into place. The impact of possible other consequences of COVID-19 on
the development of the mine cannot be fully assessed at this time. The COVID-19 virus outbreak and possible additional work stoppages or restrictions
could result in additional medical and other costs, project delays, cost overruns, and operational restart costs. The total amount that the Company is
required to finance in order to maintain its proportionate ownership in the project may increase from these and other consequences of the COVID-19
outbreak. The Company may need to raise additional capital in the future in order to meet its full share of initial capital required to develop the Juanicipio
Project, and accordingly, future liquidity may depend upon its ability to arrange debt or additional equity financings.
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The inability of MAG to fund its 44% share of cash calls would result in dilution of its ownership interest in Minera Juanicipio in accordance with the
shareholders’ agreement.
Expected Use of Proceeds – Financings
As noted above, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement on April 30, 2020 to Mr. Eric Sprott, through 2176423 Ontario Ltd., a corporation
beneficially controlled by him and issued 4,528,302 common shares at C$13.25 for gross proceeds of C$60 million (US$43,134). The designated use of
the net proceeds of this offering was to fund exploration and development of the Juanicipio Project and for working capital and general corporate
purposes. On October 7, 2020 the Company advanced $40,524 to Minera Juanicipio in order to fund its 44% of ongoing development expenditures at
Juanicipio. Given this advance and general overhead expended by the Company since April 30, 2020, the funds raised from this offering have been fully
expended in accordance with the initially laid out expected use of proceeds.
In the Company’s June 29, 2020 Prospectus Supplement to a Short Form Base Shelf Prospectus, MAG established an ATM Program and provided the
expected use of net proceeds with respect to the offering as follows:
o
o
o

Development expenditures at the Juanicipio Project (2020-21) – up to $34,725 of net proceeds;
Exploration expenditures at the Juanicipio and other projects – up to $8,500; and,
Working capital and general corporate purposes – up to $5,000.

The ATM was completed on September 8, 2020, although to date these proceeds have not yet been expended.
15.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table discloses the contractual obligations of MAG and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2020 for committed exploration work and other
committed obligations.
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Less than 1 year
2021

Total
Committed exploration expenditures

$

Minera Juanicipio (1)&(2)
Other commitments
Total Obligations and Commitments

-

$

-

$

79
79

-

1-3 Years
2022-2023
$

-

$

79
79

3-5 Years
2024-2025
-

$

-

$

-

More than 5 years
2026 & over
-

$

-

$

-

-

$

-

1)
Although MAG Silver makes cash advances to Minera Juanicipio as cash called by the operator Fresnillo (based on approved Minera Juanicipio
budgets), they are not contractual obligations. MAG intends, however, to continue to fund its share of cash calls and avoid dilution of its ownership
interest in Minera Juanicipio.
(2)
According to the operator, Fresnillo, contractual commitments for processing equipment and development contractors are $192,173 with respect to the
Juanicipio Project on a 100% basis as at December 31, 2020.

The Company also has optional commitments for property option payments and exploration expenditures as outlined above in Exploration and
Evaluation Assets. There is no obligation to make any of those payments or to conduct any work on its optioned properties. As the Company advances the
projects, it evaluates exploration results and determines at its own discretion which option payments to make and which additional exploration work to
undertake in order to comply with the earn-in requirements.
MAG may provide guarantees and indemnifications in conjunction with transactions in the normal course of operations. These are recorded as liabilities
when reasonable estimates of the obligations can be made. Indemnifications that the Company has provided include an obligation to indemnify directors
and officers of the Company for potential liability while acting as a director or officer of the Company, together with various expenses associated with
defending and settling such suits or actions due to association with the Company. The Company has a comprehensive director and officers’ liability
insurance policy that could mitigate such costs if incurred.
16.

SHARE CAPITAL INFORMATION

MAG Silver’s authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares without par value. As at March 31, 2021, the following common
shares, stock options, RSUs, PSUs and DSUs were outstanding:

Capital Stock
Stock Options
Performance Share Units(“PSUs”) (1)
Restricted Share Units(“RSUs”)
Deferred Share Units (“DSUs”) (2)
Fully Diluted

Number of
Shares
94,839,944
1,027,180
249,276
52,396
574,862
96,743,658

Exercise Price or
Conversion Ratio
n/a
$12.75 - $23.53
1:1
1:1
1:1

Remaining
Life
n/a
.7 to 4.7 years
.7 to 4.7 years
3.1 to 4.8 years
n/a (2)

(1)
Includes 87,664 PSU grants where vesting is subject to a market price performance factor, each measured over a three-year performance period which
will result in a PSU payout range from 0% (nil PSUs) to 200% (175,328 PSUs) and 48,918 PSU grants where vesting is also subject to market price
performance factor, measured over a three-year performance period with PSU payout target range from 50% (24,459 PSUs) to 150% (73,377 PSUs).
(2)

To be share settled, but no common shares are to be issued in respect of a participant in the DSU Plan prior to such eligible participant’s termination
date.
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17.

OTHER ITEMS

The Company is not aware of any undisclosed liabilities or legal actions against MAG and MAG has no legal actions or cause against any third party at
this time other than the claims of the Company with respect to its purchase of 41 land rights within the Cinco de Mayo property boundaries, and the
associated efforts to regain surface access with the local ejido.
The Company is not aware of any condition of default under any debt, regulatory, exchange related or other contractual obligation.
Value Added Tax (“VAT”) also known as “IVA”
In Mexico, VAT is charged on the sale of goods, rendering of services, lease of goods and importation of the majority of goods and services at a rate of
16%. Proprietors selling goods or services must collect VAT on behalf of the government. Goods or services purchased incur a credit for VAT paid. The
resulting net VAT is then remitted to, or collected from, the Government of Mexico through a formalized filing process.
The Company has traditionally held a VAT receivable balance due to the expenditures it incurs whereby VAT is paid to the vendor or service provider.
Collections of these receivables from the Government of Mexico often take months and sometimes years to recover, but MAG has to date been able to
recover all of its VAT paid. Minera Juanicipio also holds a VAT receivable balance, and the collections of these receivables, if not recovered on a timely
basis, can be credited against VAT payable as Minera Juanicipio becomes a producing mine.
18.

TREND INFORMATION

As both the price and market for silver are volatile and difficult to predict, a significant decrease in the silver price and to a lesser extent gold, zinc and
lead prices, could have an adverse material impact on the Company’s operations and market value.
The nature of MAG’s business is demanding of capital for property acquisition costs, exploration commitments, development and holding costs. MAG
Silver’s liquidity is affected by the results of its own acquisition, exploration and development activities. The acquisition or discovery of an economic
mineral deposit on one of its mineral properties may have a favourable effect on the Company’s liquidity, and conversely, the failure to acquire or find
one may have a negative effect. In addition, access to capital to fund exploration and development companies remains difficult in current public markets,
which could limit the Company’s ability to meet its objectives.
Surface rights in Mexico are often owned by local communities or “ejidos” and there has been a trend in Mexico of increasing ejido challenges to existing
surface right usage agreements. The Company has already been impacted by this trend at its Cinco de Mayo Project. Any further challenge to the access
to any of the properties in which MAG has an interest may have a negative impact on the Company, as the Company may incur delays and expenses in
defending such challenge and, if the challenge is successful, the Company’s interest in a property could be materially adversely affected.
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Apart from these and the risks referenced below in “Risks and Uncertainties,” management is not aware of any other trends, commitments, events or
uncertainties that would have a material effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.
19.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Company’s securities should be considered a highly speculative investment and investors are directed to carefully consider all of the information
disclosed in the Company’s Canadian and U.S. regulatory filings prior to making an investment in the Company, including the risk factors discussed
under the heading “Risk Factors” in the Company’s most recent AIF dated March 31, 2021 available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and www.sec.gov
and incorporated by reference herein.
The volatile global economic environment has created market uncertainty and volatility in recent years. The Company remains financially strong and will
monitor the risks and opportunities of the current environment carefully. These macro-economic events have in the past, and may again, negatively affect
the mining and minerals sectors in general. The Company will consider its business plans and options carefully going forward.
The Company examines the various financial instruments and risks to which it is exposed and assesses the impact and likelihood of those risks. These
risks may include credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, commodity price risk, and interest rate risk (see Note 11 in the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company as at December 31, 2020). In the normal course of business, the Company enters into transactions for the purchase of supplies
and services denominated in Canadian dollars or Mexican Pesos. The Company also has cash and other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
Canadian dollars and Mexican Pesos. As a result, the Company is subject to foreign exchange risk on these currencies from fluctuations in foreign
exchange rates.
In addition, there is increasing environmental regulation as a result of public concern over climate change. The Company may have increased costs
associated with the compliance of these regulations and a failure to comply may have a material adverse impact on the Company’s performance.
Juanicipio Development Decision
The actual scope, design and operating results of the Juanicipio Project may differ from the scope, design and results envisaged in the 2017 PEA. While
the results of the 2017 PEA are promising, by definition a Preliminary Economic Assessment is preliminary in nature and includes Inferred Mineral
Resources that are considered too geologically speculative to have the economic considerations applied to them that would enable them to be categorized
as Mineral Reserves. Mineral Resources that are not Mineral Reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability and there is no certainty that Mineral
Resources will ever become Mineral Reserves. There can therefore be no certainty that the results in the 2017 PEA will be realized. In addition, the 2017
PEA was commissioned independently by MAG, and not by Minera Juanicipio. Fresnillo is the project operator and the actual development plan and
timeline may be materially different. As a result, there are additional risks as to the extent of capital and operating costs, mineral recovery and financial
viability of the project.
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Cyber Security
The Company’s operations depend, in part, on the efficient operation and management of the Company’s information technology and operational systems
in a secure manner that minimizes cyber risks. A breach of the Company’s systems could have a material adverse impact on the Company, its operations
and reputation.
There has been an increase in cyber security incidents globally over the past several years and this trend is expected to continue and intensify as global
reliance on technology continues to increase. The Company has programs and strategies designed to mitigate the risk of cyber-attacks and to allow the
Company to recover from cyber security incidents as rapidly as possible. The Company monitors, assesses and works to improve the effectiveness of its
technology programs and strategies, taking into account best industry practices. To date, the Company has not experienced any known material losses
relating to cyber-attacks or other data/information security breaches.
The Company has policies and programs in place to manage cyber risks; these programs are subject to oversight by management and the Board. The
Company’s current cyber programs primarily focus on the following:
 protecting the Company’s assets from cyber-attacks and safeguarding sensitive information;
 improving cyber security protection, detection, incident response and recovery capabilities to minimize impact of adverse cyber events;
 adopting practices to reduce third-party cyber security risks;
 ongoing cyber security awareness in the workforce and the annual distribution of an information technology security policy; and
 embedding security by design across the Company to proactively assess and manage cyber risk.
There is no assurance that the Company’s policies and programs will be sufficient to eliminate the risk of cyber-attack nor to protect the Company’s
assets or operations.
Virus outbreaks may create instability in world markets and may affect the Company’s business.
MAG’s operations and the operations it has an interest in are subject to the risk of emerging infectious diseases or the threat of outbreaks of viruses or
other contagions or epidemic diseases, including COVID-19. The current outbreak of COVID-19 that was first reported in Wuhan, China on December
31, 2019, and any future emergence and spread of similar pathogens, could have an adverse impact on global economic conditions which may adversely
impact the Company’s operations, and the operations of the Company’s suppliers, contractors and service providers and may negatively impact future
fiscal periods in the event of prolonged disruptions associated with the outbreak. The Chinese market is a significant source of global demand for
commodities, including silver, gold and other metals. A sustained slowdown in China’s growth or demand, or a significant slowdown in other markets, in
either case, that is not offset by reduced supply or increased demand from other regions could have an adverse effect on the price and/or demand for the
Company’s products. COVID-19 and efforts to contain it, including restrictions on travel and other advisories issued may have a significant effect on
metal prices and demand in China and other markets and potentially broader impacts on the global economy.
In response to the COVID-19 virus outbreak, in April 2020 the Federal Government of Mexico issued an administrative order for the temporary
suspension of all “non-essential activities” until May 30, 2020 as part of its nationwide effort to slow the spread of the COVID-19 virus. The Juanicipio
Project operator, Fresnillo, was in regular consultation with Mexican Government officials to ensure Minera Juanicipio’s compliance with the order.
Fresnillo advised the Company that while the order was in effect, underground development continued under government mandated hygiene protocols,
surface construction work was reduced and surface-based drilling was temporarily halted. These changes could have a material adverse impact on the
Company as it could result in delays in the development timeline and increased costs. Any such delays could result in the failure to meet the previously
announced timetable for beginning production and processing at Juanicipio. Although all work has since resumed, the impact of this pandemic could
include significant COVID-19 specific costs, volatility in the prices for silver and other metals, further restrictions or temporary closures, additional travel
restraints, other supply chain disruptions and workforce and contractor interruptions, including possible loss of life. Depending on the duration and extent
of the impact of COVID-19, this could materially impact the Company’s financial performance, cash flows and financial position, and could result in
material impairment charges to the Company’s assets.
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In May 2020, the Mexican Government declared Construction and Mining as essential activities and allowed the restart of all operations beginning June
1, 2020. However, if Mexican authorities were to reinstate the suspension order caused by the COVID-19 virus outbreak, or if a further suspension of
mine development at Juanicipio was implemented for an undefined period of time, there could be additional medical and other costs to be incurred,
project delays, cost overruns, and operational restart costs. Alternatively, in the event of an outbreak of COVID-19 at Juanicipio, Fresnillo could
determine that a full suspension of all of its operations is necessary for the safety and protection of the workers. A complete suspension of underground
development at Juanicipio could result in delays in the development of the project, result in additional increases in costs and have a material adverse
effect on the financial position of the Company. The total amount that the Company is required to finance in order to maintain its proportionate ownership
in the project may increase from these and other consequences of the COVID-19 outbreak.
20.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

MAG Silver has no off-balance sheet arrangements.
21.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company does not have offices or direct personnel in Mexico, but rather is party to a Field Services Agreement, whereby it has contracted
administrative and exploration services in Mexico with MINERA CASCABEL S.A. de C.V. (“Cascabel”) and IMDEX Inc. (“IMDEX”). Dr. Peter
Megaw, the Company’s Chief Exploration Officer, is a principal of both IMDEX and Cascabel, and is remunerated by the Company through fees to
IMDEX. In addition to corporate executive responsibilities with MAG, Dr. Megaw is responsible for the planning, execution and assessment of the
Company’s exploration programs, and he and his team developed the geologic concepts and directed the acquisition of the Juanicipio Project.
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During the year, the Company incurred charges with Cascabel and IMDEX as follows:
December 31,
2020
Fees related to Dr. Megaw:
Exploration and marketing services
Travel and expenses
Other fees to Cascabel and IMDEX:
Administration for Mexican subsidiaries
Field exploration services

$

505
12
54
160
731

$

December 31,
2019
$

420
72
59
298
849

$

All transactions are incurred in the normal course of business, and are negotiated on terms between the parties which are believed to represent fair market
value for all services rendered. A portion of the expenditures are incurred on the Company’s behalf, and are charged to the Company on a “cost + 10%”
basis. The services provided do not include drilling and assay work which are contracted out independently from Cascabel and IMDEX. Included in trade
and other payables at December 31, 2020 is $78 related to these services (December 31, 2019: $102).
Any amounts due to related parties arising from the above transactions are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are due upon receipt of invoices.
The Company holds various mineral property claims in Mexico upon which full impairments have been recognized. The Company is obligated to a 2.5%
NSR royalty on the Cinco de Mayo property payable to the principals of Cascabel under the terms of an option agreement dated February 26, 2004,
whereby the Company acquired a 100% interest in the property from Cascabel, and under the terms of assignment agreements entered into by Cascabel
with its principals.
The immediate parent and ultimate controlling party of the consolidated group is MAG Silver Corp. (incorporated in British Columbia, Canada).
Significant subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:
Name
Minera Los Lagartos, S.A. de C.V.

Country of Incorporation

Principal
Project

Mexico

Juanicipio (44%)

MAG's effective interest
2020 (%)
2019 (%)
100%

100%

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation
and are not disclosed in this note.
Minera Juanicipio, S.A. de C.V. (“Minera Juanicipio”), created for the purpose of holding and operating the Juanicipio Property, is held 56% by Fresnillo
plc (“Fresnillo”) and 44% by the Company through Minera Los Lagartos, S.A. de C.V. Fresnillo is the operator of Minera Juanicipio, and with its
affiliates, beneficially owns 10.3% of the common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2020, as publicly reported. Minera Juanicipio is governed
by a shareholders’ agreement. All costs relating to the project and Minera Juanicipio are required to be shared by the Company and Fresnillo pro-rata
based on their ownership interests in Minera Juanicipio.
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During the year, Fresnillo and the Company advanced $144,800 as shareholder loans (MAG’s 44% share $63,712) to Minera Juanicipio, bearing interest
at Libor + 2%. The interest accrued within Minera Juanicipio was capitalized to ‘Mineral Interests, plant and equipment’ and the interest recorded by the
Company on the loan totaling $567 has therefore been credited to the Investment in Juanicipio account as an eliminating related party entry. The loans
mature on June 24, 2021.
During the year, compensation of key management personnel (including directors) was as follows:

Salaries and other short term employee benefits
Share based payments

$
$

December 31,
2020
1,726 $
1,853
3,579 $

December 31,
2019
1,694
1,429
3,123

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company,
directly or indirectly, and consists of its Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer.
22.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS, requires Management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenditures during the reporting period. Management has identified (i) mineral property acquisition and deferred exploration and evaluation costs, (ii)
commercial production, (iii) provision for reclamation and closure, (iv) deferred income tax provision (v) share-based payments, (vi) equity investments,
and (vii) financial instruments, as the main estimates for the following discussion. Please refer to Note 2 of the Company’s audited consolidated financial
statements as at December 31, 2020 for a description of all of the significant accounting policies.
(i) Under IFRS, the Company defers all costs relating to the acquisition and exploration of its mineral properties (“exploration and evaluation” assets).
When commercial production commences on any of the Company’s properties, any previously capitalized costs would be charged to operations using a
unit-of-production method. The Company reviews and assesses when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying values of its properties
may exceed their estimated net recoverable amount, and a provision is made for any impairment in value. IFRS also requires the reversal of impairments
if conditions that gave rise to those impairments no longer exist.
The existence of uncertainties during the exploration stage and the lack of definitive empirical evidence with respect to the feasibility of successful
commercial development of any exploration property does create measurement uncertainty concerning the estimate of the amount of impairment to the
value of any mineral property. The Company relies on its own or independent estimates of further geological prospects of a particular property and also
considers the likely proceeds from a sale or assignment of the rights before determining whether or not impairment in value has occurred.
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(ii) The determination of the date on which a mine enters the commercial production stage is a significant judgement as capitalization of certain costs
ceases and the recording of expenses commences upon entering commercial production. In determining commercial production and when the mine is
available for use in the manner intended by management, the following factors are considered:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)

Operational commissioning of major mine and plant components is complete;
Operating results are being achieved consistently for a period of time;
There are indicators that these operating results will be continued; and
Other factors are present, including one or more of the following: A significant portion of plant/mill capacity has been achieved; a
significant portion of available funding is directed towards operating activities; a pre-determined, reasonable period of time has passed; or
significant milestones for the development of the mining property have been achieved.

(iii) Reclamation and closure costs have been estimated based on the Company’s interpretation of current regulatory requirements, however changes in
regulatory requirements and new information may result in revisions to estimates. The Company recognizes the fair value of liabilities for reclamation
and closure costs in the period in which they are incurred. A corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the related assets is generally recorded and
depreciated over the production life of the asset.
(iv) The deferred income tax provision is based on the liability method. Deferred taxes arise from the recognition of the tax consequences of temporary
differences by applying enacted or substantively enacted tax rates applicable to future years to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts and the tax bases of certain assets and liabilities. The Company records only those deferred tax assets that it believes will be probable, that
sufficient future taxable profit will be available to recover those assets.
(v) Under IFRS 2 - Share-based Payments, stock options are accounted for by the fair value method of accounting. Under this method, the Company is
required to recognize a charge to the statement of loss based on an option-pricing model based on certain assumptions including dividends to be paid,
historical volatility of the Company’s share price, an annual risk free interest rate, forfeiture rates, and expected lives of the options. The fair value of
performance share units awarded with market price conditions is determined using a risk-neutral asset pricing model, based on certain assumptions
including dividends to be paid, historical volatility of the Company’s share price, a risk free interest rate, and correlated stock returns.
(vi) The Company may invest in equity investments for strategic reasons. In such circumstances, management considers whether the facts and
circumstances pertaining to each investment result in the Company obtaining control, joint control or significant influence over the investee entity. In
some cases, the determination of whether or not the Company has control, joint control or significant influence over the investee entities requires the
application of significant management judgment to consider individually and collectively, a variety of factors.
(vii) Under IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments, the Company is required to value warrants that meet the definition of derivatives at fair value with unrealized
gains and losses recognized in the statement of loss. To measure this fair value, warrants listed on a recognized exchange are valued at the latest available
closing price. Warrants not listed on a recognized exchange, but where a secondary market exists, are valued at independent broker prices (if available)
traded within that secondary market. If no secondary market exists, the warrants are valued using the Black Scholes option pricing model.
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23.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the Financial Statements are consistent with those applied and disclosed in the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, except for standards newly adopted as stated below:
Adoption of New Accounting Policy and Restatement
During the fourth quarter of 2020, the Company early adopted Amendments to International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 16, Property, Plant &
Equipment, Proceeds Before Intended Use. The amended standard prohibits the Company from deducting any proceeds from selling items produced from
the cost of building an item of mineral interest, plant and equipment, while bringing that asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. The Company adopted the accounting policy retrospectively with respect to applicable transactions occurring on or after the earliest period
presented herein, being January 1, 2019. With the adoption of the amended standard, pre-commercial production sales of silver, gold, lead and zinc
produced and sold, and related costs while bringing a mine into a condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management, are recognized in profit or loss in accordance with applicable standards to the extent those sales occurred on or after January 1, 2019. The
entity measures the cost of those items applying the measurement requirements of “IAS 2 Inventories”.
There is no impact of this adoption on the comparative financial information presented for 2019 or the current year through June 30, 2020.
However, previously in the third quarter of 2020, proceeds from the sales of silver, gold, lead and zinc in the Company’s 44% interest in the Juanicipio
joint venture (see Note 6) in the total amount of $9,525 (on a 100% basis) net of mining and transport costs of $1,530 were netted against mineral interest,
plant and equipment on the books of the Juanicipio Joint Venture. Accordingly, financial information for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2020 are restated as follows representing the 44% impact on the Company’s Equity Pick-up from its Investment in Juanicipio as a result of adopting the
IAS 16 amendments:
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Equity pick up from Investment in Juanicipio

Amount previously
disclosed for the three
Effect of
months ended
early adoption of an
September 30, 2020
amendment to IAS 16
$
(3,392) $
3,518

Net (loss) income
Net (loss) income per share
Investment in Juanicipio
Deficit
Total Equity

Equity pick up from Investment in Juanicipio

$

Net (loss) income per share

3,518

(0.04)

0.04

-

153,384

3,518

156,902

(217,062)

3,518

(213,544)

300,958

$

(17,208)
$

Investment in Juanicipio
Deficit
Total Equity

(3,607)

3,518

Amount previously
disclosed for the nine
Effect of
months ended
early adoption of an
September 30, 2020
amendment to IAS 16
$
(6,890) $
3,518

Net (loss) income

$

Restated balance for
the three months
ended September 30,
2020 following the
adoption of IAS 16
Amendments
$
126
(89)

$

Restated balance for
the nine months ended
September 30, 2020
following the adoption
of IAS 16
Amendments
$
(3,372)

3,518

(0.19) $

0.04

304,476

(13,690)
$

(0.15)

153,384

3,518

156,902

(217,062)

3,518

(213,544)

300,958

$

3,518

$

304,476

IFRS 3 Business Combinations. On October 22, 2018, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations that intend to assist
entities to determine whether a transaction should be accounted for as a business combination or an asset acquisition. The amendments include an election
to use a concentration test. This is a simplified assessment that results in an asset acquisition if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets is
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of identifiable assets. If a preparer chooses not to apply the concentration test, or the test is failed,
then the assessment focuses on the existence of a substantive process. The amendments apply to businesses acquired in annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2020, and the Company will apply these amendments to applicable acquisition transactions.
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24.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
MAG Silver maintains a set of disclosure controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in
the reports that it is required to file or submit under applicable securities laws is recorded, processed, summarized and reported in the manner specified by
such laws. The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under their supervision, the design and
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2020 through inquiry and review, as well as by drawing upon their
own relevant experience. The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures are effective as at December 31, 2020.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
MAG Silver also maintains a system of internal controls over financial reporting, as defined by National Instrument 52-109 - Certification of Disclosure
in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings in order to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and financial information is accurate and
reliable and in accordance with IFRS. The Company retains a third-party specialist annually to assist in the assessment of its internal control procedures.
The Board of Directors approves the financial statements and MD&A before they are publicly filed and ensures that management discharges its financial
responsibilities. The audited consolidated financial statements and MD&A for the years ended December 31, 2020 were approved by the Board on March
26, 2021. The Board’s review is accomplished principally through the Audit Committee, which is composed of independent non-executive directors. The
Audit Committee meets periodically with management and auditors to review financial reporting and control matters.
The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under their supervision, the design and effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control – Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and have concluded that the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting is effective.
There have been no changes in internal controls over financial reporting during the year ended December 31, 2020 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, MAG’s internal control over financial reporting.
25.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information on the Company is available for viewing under MAG’s profile on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com and on SEC’s EDGAR
website at www.sec.gov.
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